
 
 

 

 

CABINET 

AGENDA 
 

Wednesday, 17 July 2013 
 
The Jeffrey Room, St. Giles Square, Northampton, 

NN1 1DE. 
 

6:00 pm 
 

 
 
 
Members of the Cabinet: 

 
Councillor: David Mackintosh (Leader of the Council) 

Councillor: Mary Markham (Deputy Leader) 

Councillors: Alan Bottwood, Tim Hadland, Mike Hallam, Brandon Eldred.  

 
Chief Executive David Kennedy 

 
 
If you have any enquiries about this agenda please contact 
democraticservices@northampton.gov.uk or 01604 837722  
 



 
PORTFOLIOS OF CABINET MEMBERS 
 

CABINET MEMBER TITLE 

Councillor D Mackintosh Leader 
 

Councillor M Markham Deputy Leader 
Housing 

Councillor A Bottwood Finance 
 

Councillor T Hadland Regeneration, Enterprise and Planning 
 

Councillor M Hallam Environment 
 

Councillor B Eldred Community Engagement 
 

 

 
SPEAKING AT CABINET MEETINGS 
Persons (other than Members) wishing to address Cabinet must register their intention to do so by 12 noon on the day of 
the meeting and may speak on any item on that meeting’s agenda. 
 
Registration can be by: 
 
Telephone:  (01604) 837722 
   (Fax 01604 838729) 
 
In writing:  Democratic Services Manager 

The Guildhall, St Giles Square, Northampton NN1 1DE 
For the attention of the Democratic Services Officer 
 

By e-mail to  democraticservices@northampton.gov.uk 
 
Only thirty minutes in total will be allowed for addresses, so that if speakers each take three minutes no more than ten 
speakers will be heard.  Each speaker will be allowed to speak for a maximum of three minutes at each meeting.  Speakers 
will normally be heard in the order in which they registered to speak.  However, the Chair of Cabinet may decide to depart 
from that order in the interest of hearing a greater diversity of views on an item, or hearing views on a greater number of 
items.  The Chair of Cabinet may also decide to allow a greater number of addresses and a greater time slot subject still to 
the maximum three minutes per address for such addresses for items of special public interest. 
 
Members who wish to address Cabinet shall notify the Chair prior to the commencement of the meeting and may speak on 
any item on that meeting’s agenda.  Such addresses will be for a maximum of three minutes unless the Chair exercises 
discretion to allow longer.  The time these addresses take will not count towards the thirty minute period referred to above 
so as to prejudice any other persons who have registered their wish to speak. 
 

KEY DECISIONS 
 � denotes the issue is a ‘Key’ decision: 
 
• Any decision in relation to the Executive function* which results in the Council incurring expenditure which is, or the 

making of saving which are significant having regard to the Council’s budget for the service or function to which the 
decision relates. For these purpose the minimum financial threshold will be £250,000;   

 

• Where decisions are not likely to involve significant expenditure or savings but nevertheless are likely to be significant 
in terms of their effects on communities in two or more wards or electoral divisions; and 

 

• For the purpose of interpretation a decision, which is ancillary or incidental to a Key decision, which had been 
previously taken by or on behalf of the Council shall not of itself be further deemed to be significant for the purpose of 
the definition. 

 



 

NORTHAMPTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 

CABINET 

Your attendance is requested at a meeting to be held: 
 

in The Jeffrey Room, St. Giles Square, Northampton, NN1 1DE. 
 

on Wednesday, 17 July 2013 
 

at 6:00 pm. 
 

D Kennedy 
Chief Executive  

AGENDA 

 
1. APOLOGIES   
 

2. MINUTES   

(Copy herewith)  
 

3. INTENTION TO HOLD PART OF THE MEETING IN PRIVATE   
 

4. DEPUTATIONS/PUBLIC ADDRESSES   
 

5. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 

6. ISSUES ARISING FROM OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEES   
 

(A) RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE - SERIOUS ACQUISITIVE CRIME, VIOLENT CRIME AND 
COMMUNITY SAFETY   

Report of Chair of Overview and Scrutiny (Copy herewith)  
 

(B) RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE - INFRASTRUCTURE REQUIREMENTS AND SECTION 106 
AGREEMENTS   

Report of Chair of Overview and Scrutiny (Copy herewith) 
  
 

(C) RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE - RETAIL EXPERIENCE   

Report of Chair of Overview and Scrutiny (Copy herewith) 
  
 

7. NORTHAMPTON TOWN FOOTBALL CLUB AND NORTHAMPTON SAINTS 
RUGBY CLUB - EXPANSION PLANS   

Report of Director of Regeneration, Enterprise and Planning and Chief Executive (Copy 
herewith)  
 

8. NORTHAMPTON TOWN CENTRE - THE NEXT STEPS   

Report of Director of Customers and Communities (Copy herewith)  
 
 



9. CORPORATE OUTTURN PERFORMANCE REPORT   

Report of the Chief Executive (Copy herewith)  
 

10. FINANCE AND MONITORING OUTTURN REPORT   

Report of Director of Resources (Copy herewith)   
 

11. EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC AND PRESS   

THE CHAIR TO MOVE: 
“THAT THE PUBLIC AND PRESS BE EXCLUDED FROM THE REMAINDER OF THE 
MEETING ON THE GROUNDS THAT THERE IS LIKELY TO BE DISCLOSURE TO 
THEM OF SUCH CATEGORIES OF EXEMPT INFORMATION AS DEFINED BY 
SECTION 100(1) OF THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 AS LISTED AGAINST 
SUCH ITEMS OF BUSINESS BY REFERENCE TO THE APPROPRIATE PARAGRAPH 
OF SCHEDULE 12A TO SUCH ACT.”  
 

 SUPPLEMENTARY AGENDA 
 

 Exempted Under Schedule  
12A of L.Govt Act 1972 
Para No:- 



 
 

 
 



1 
Cabinet Minutes - Wednesday, 12 June 2013 

NORTHAMPTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

CABINET 

 

Wednesday, 12 June 2013 
 

 
PRESENT: Councillor Mackintosh (Chair); Councillor Markham (Deputy Chair); 

Councillors Hadland and Hallam 
 

1. APOLOGIES 

Apologies were received from Councillors Eldred and Bottwood.   
 

2. MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on the 8th May 2013 were agreed and signed by the Chair.   
 

3. INTENTION TO HOLD PART OF THE MEETING IN PRIVATE 

There were no items to be heard in private.    
 

4. DEPUTATIONS/PUBLIC ADDRESSES 

Dr Marie Dickie addressed Cabinet in respect of Item 7- Northampton 'Heritage Gateway' 
Feasibility Study and Options Appraisal and commented that she welcomed the 
recommendations contained within the report and stated that it had been an exemplary 
illustration of the Council and voluntary groups working together. She further noted that the 
‘Heritage Gateway’ would instil a sense of pride in the past, present and future of the 
historical Town.  
 
The Leader thanked Dr Dickie for her comments and the ‘Friends of Northampton Castle’.   
 

5. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were none.  
 

6. ISSUES ARISING FROM OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEES 

There were none  
 

7. NORTHAMPTON 'HERITAGE GATEWAY' FEASIBILITY STUDY AND OPTIONS 
APPRAISAL 

Councillor Stone addressed Cabinet and commented that the project was exciting and 
endorsed the process and hoped that it would come to fruition. She asked for clarification 
whether the Neighbourhood Forum would be consulted, whether the issue or displaced 
parking would be dealt with, relating to the car parks in Spring Boroughs and whether the 
demolished houses would be replaced.  
 
Councillor Glynane addressed Cabinet and commented that there were some good ideas 
that needed to be expanded. He requested that other groups be asked to contribute to the 
Heritage Trails and asked for more community engagement.  
 
Councillor Hadland, as the relevant Cabinet Member submitted a report and addressed 
Councillor Glynane’s concerns. He commented that it was an exemplary piece of 
partnership working. In response to Councillor Stone’s concerns, he commented that the 
Neighbourhood Forum would be involved, car parking was currently under review and 
commented that he would explore the possibility of more cycle routes. 
 
The Leader commented that he welcomed the report and there was a need to recognise 

Agenda Item 2

1



2 
Cabinet Minutes - Wednesday, 12 June 2013 

Northampton’s history, heritage and culture. 
 
RESOLVED: 

 
1. That section 3.3.1 of the outlined proposals for the ‘Heritage Gateway’ as set out in 

the report be approved. 
 

2. That regular progress reports on the implementation of the Heritage Gateway Project 
be received. 

  
 

8. IMPROVING NORTHAMPTON'S PARKS AND OPEN SPACES 

Councillor Stone addressed Cabinet and commented that Northampton was blessed with 
the parks within the town. She requested that an Equality Impact Assessment be 
undertaken to ensure that all park users are consulted and asked that more be done in 
making provision for younger people. 

Councillor Beardsworth commented that she welcomed the report and asked that the 
voluntary groups who service their local parks be recognised for their work. 

Councillor Glynane requested that more be done to encourage and open up bridal ways into 
the Town Centre which he considered would be a unique selling point of the Town. 

Councillor Hallam, as the relevant Cabinet Member submitted a report and explained that 
the report was a reinforcement of the administrations dedication to continual improvements 
to the parks.  

 

RESOLVED: 

1. That the refreshed Northampton Parks and Open Spaces Strategy, attached at 
appendix 1 of the report be approved. 

2. That the establishment of park management committees for Abington Park, Delapre 
Abbey and the Racecourse and for any other parks in the town, where there would be 
evidence of strong community support be agreed. 

3. That authority be delegated to the Director of Customers and Communities, in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Environment, the task of establishing park 
committees, to include the  appointment of park committee members, developing 
terms of reference and setting up meetings. 

  
 

9. DISPOSAL OF LAND ADJACENT TO THE A43 AT ROUND SPINNEY 

Councillor Hadland, as the relevant Cabinet Members submitted a report which was a 
response to the public consultation and explained that not one of the objections received 
was concerned with the loss of land. 

RESOLVED: 

1. That the objections received to the proposed disposal of freehold land designated 
as public open space adjacent to the A43 at Round Spinney, (shown edged red 
upon the attached plan at Appendix 1 of the report) were considered. 

2. That Cabinets earlier decision to support the disposal of land shown on the plan 
referred to at 2.1 (Appendix 1 of the report) be confirmed.  

3.  

  
 

2



3 
Cabinet Minutes - Wednesday, 12 June 2013 

10. PROPOSED GRANT OF LEASE TO NORTHAMPTONSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL - 
PUBLIC OPEN SPACE AT FAR COTTON RECREATION GROUND 

Councillor Glynane addressed Cabinet, speaking on behalf of the Far Cotton Residents 
Association. He commented that in section 3.1.4 of the Cabinet report, no reference of the 
involvement of local Councillors or community representatives was made. He further 
commented that the expired lease was unclear with regards to who was responsible for its 
operation and that clarification needed to be included in the lease agreement to ensure 
those responsible had a clear understanding of their obligations.  

RESOLVED:   

1. That the objections received to the proposed disposal of land at Far Cotton 
Recreation Ground comprising 1,860 sq.m.(shown edged red upon the attached plan 
at Appendix 1 of the report) and designated as public open space, by way of grant of 
a new five years lease to Northamptonshire County Council be considered. 

2. That a renewal of a lease of part of Far Cotton Recreation Ground (comprising that 
area referred to at 2.1 of the report) may be completed to Northamptonshire County 
Council, upon the terms referred to including provision for a rolling mutual break 
provision be confirmed. 

  
 

The meeting concluded at 6.25pm 
 
 

3



 

Scrutiny Panel 1 SAC, violent crime and community safety   

     

 
 
 

 

OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY VIEWS AND 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
TO CABINET 17 JULY 2013 

 
 

Report Title RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  – 
SERIOUS ACQUISITIVE CRIME, VIOLENT CRIME AND COMMUNITY 
SAFETY 
 

 
Agenda Status:  PUBLIC  

  

1.          Purpose 
 
1.1   To present to Cabinet for consideration, the comments and recommendations of the 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee on the findings of the Review – Serious Acquisitive 
Crime (SAC), violent crime and community safety. 

 
1.2   The Executive Summary to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s report is attached at 

Appendix A.  Members of Cabinet have been issued with a copy of the full report.  All 
Overview and Scrutiny Review reports are published on the Overview and Scrutiny 
page on the Council’s Webpage and a copy of the this report can be located:  
www.northampton.gov.uk/scrutiny - Previous Scrutiny Reviews. 

 
2.         Recommendations  
 
2.1  The Overview and Scrutiny Committee recommends to Cabinet that: 
 

Northampton Borough Council (NBC) 
 
2.1.1   A funding pot is identified to provide target hardening  for properties that  are located 

within hot spot areas. 
 

2.1.2   Northampton Borough Council ensures active engagement with the Troubled Families 
Agenda. 

 
2.1.3 Prior to any physical works being undertaken, consideration to long-term maintenance 

is given and resources identified. 
 
2.1.4   Councillors are issued  with regular updated information on  the demographics of their 

wards. 
 
 
 

Appendices:  1 

 

Agenda Item 6a

4



 

Scrutiny Panel 1 SAC, violent crime and community safety   

            Housing  
 
2.1.5   Obsolete signs in place around the Council’s housing stock are removed and all    

relevant signage is in situ and is clearly visible.  
 
2.1.6   An enhanced and responsive maintenance service is implemented in “hotspot” areas. 

 
2.1.7   A funding pot is identified to provide target hardening on Council properties that are 

located within hot spot areas. 
 

            Planning/Regeneration 
 
2.1.8    It is ensured that when land or buildings is transferred, it is stipulated that the land must 

be cleared and properly secured. 
 
2.1.9   Consideration is given to utilising unused open spaces in residential areas across the 

town for public use. 
 
2.1.10 Planning continues to work with and seek advice and guidance from the Police 

Architectural Liaison Officer to ensure new developments meet ‘Design out Crime’ 
standards. 

 
            Neighbourhood Wardens 
 
2.1.11 Clarification is given on the role of the Neighbourhood Wardens. This information is 

disseminated to ward Councillors. 
 
2.1.12   Neighbourhood Wardens undertake annual refresher training on crime prevention 

matters. 
 

2.1.13  An on-going professional training and development plan, with specific focus on crime 
prevention and community safety, for Neighbourhood Wardens is produced and 
implemented. 

 
  Partners and Agencies 
 

2.1.14  Following completion of projects in hotspot locations, an exit plan is developed outlining 
support and maintenance post project, in order that the positive results are maintained. 

 

2.1.15  On-going maintenance budgets are included with any environmental improvements such 
as fencing. 

 

2.1.16  A directory for young people is developed that provides information on services and 
facilities available to young people.   

 

2.1.17  There is timelier sharing of data from Accident and Emergency with the Community 
Safety Partnership.  This means weekly highlight reports and full details on a monthly 
basis. 

 

5



 

Scrutiny Panel 1 SAC, violent crime and community safety   

2.1.18  A mechanism is introduced to ensure that the Health and Wellbeing Board can provide 
information and feedback to the Community Safety Partnership (CSP). 

 

2.1.19  Membership of the CSP be revisited to ensure that it includes all relevant Agencies and 
service areas, including the Voluntary Sector. 

 

2.1.20  When training/education around crime prevention issues is undertaken, consideration is 
always be given to the audience and the trainer is mindful to use appropriate language 
that is universally understood. 

 
2.1.21  Information systems between the Police and local Councillors are reviewed and further 

developed. 
 
2.1.22 Support is given to the Intensive Community Engagement programme hosted by 

Northamptonshire Police. 
 

2.1.23 Formal links between Enterprise Management Services (EMS) and Northampton 
Borough Council are developed around situational crime to ensure faster information 
sharing and faster responses to dealing with service issues, therefore resulting in a 
positive outcome for the community. 

 
            Community Forums 
 
2.1.24  Residents Associations, Community Groups and Forums are encouraged to use open 

spaces which in turn will assist in community development and ownership of their local 
areas. 

 
 Northants Probation Service 
 
2.1.25 A programme of works on the priority locations identified by Northampton Borough 

Council is built into the Community Pay Back Initiative.  
 
            Police and Crime Commissioner, Northamptonshire 
 
2.1.26  A copy of this report is provided to the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner, 

Northamptonshire. 
 

3.         Background and Issues 
 
3.1       The purpose of the Review was: 
 

• To investigate, as a benchmark, Northampton's crime statistics in relation to 
serious acquisitive and violent crime 

 

• To identify `hotspots' in relation to serious acquisitive and violent crime 
 

• To identify the impact that serious acquisitive crime and violent crime has on the 
residents of Northampton 

 

• To identify the serious acquisitive crime and violent crime issues that Northampton 
Borough Council, in partnership with other Agencies, can have an impact upon 

6



 

Scrutiny Panel 1 SAC, violent crime and community safety   

 
3.2      The Overview and Scrutiny Committee  agreed  at its work  programming event  in  

March 2012 agreed to include a review of serious acquisitive crime, violent crime and 
community safety.  These were issues that had been identified by a number of 
members of the public as key concerns.  The Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
commissioned Scrutiny Panel 1 to undertake the review.   An in-depth review 
commenced in May 2012 and concluded in April 2013. 

 
 

3.3     A Scrutiny Panel was established comprising Councillor  Danielle Stone  (Chair); 
Councillor David Palethorpe (Vice Chair); Councillors Mick Ford, Brendan Glynane, 
Christopher Malpas, Dennis Meredith, Brian Sargeant and  Chief Inspector Max 
Williams, Northants Police, Sharon Henley, Northants Police, and Neil Bartholomey, 
Chair, Northampton PubWatch, (Co-Optees).  

 
3.4         This review links to the Council’s corporate priorities - Corporate Priority 2 - Invest in 

safer, cleaner neighbourhoods, creating an attractive, clean and safe environment. 
 
3.5         The Scrutiny Panel established that the following needed to be investigated and linked 

to the realisation of the Council’s corporate priorities: 
 

•  Context: 
       Local statistics 
       Demographics – local and national 

•  Baseline data: 
       National crime statistics 
       Local crime statistics 

•  Synopsis of various research documents and other published documents 

•  Evidence from expert internal witnesses 

•  Evidence from expert external witnesses 

•  Evidence from ward Councillors 

•  Site visits 
 

3.6          Evidence was collated from a variety of key advisors, including: 
 

• Leader of the Council, NBC 

• Chair of Community Safety Partnership  

• Key Officers, Northants Police 

• IOM Team, Northants Probation 

• Neighbourhood Wardens 

• Head of Offender Management Services, Northampton Prisons 
Accident and Emergency, Northampton General Hospital 

• Victim Support 

• Northampton Youth Forum 

• The Police and Crime Commissioner 

• Housing Services, Northampton Borough Council 

• Sunflower Centre 

• Ward Councillors 
 
 
 
 

7



 

Scrutiny Panel 1 SAC, violent crime and community safety   

3.7         In considering the evidence the following conclusions were made: - 
   

3.7.1    The Scrutiny Panel acknowledged that this Review should concentrate on wider issues 
and that if initial figures indicated that the domestic abuse was disproportionately high it 
would be relevant for a future Scrutiny Review to be undertaken on interpersonal 
violence. The Scrutiny Panel felt that the remit of this Review could include how 
improved education on domestic violence issues could be provided for the non-British 
White population. 

  
3.7.2 The Scrutiny Panel felt that it would be useful for ward Councillors to have regularly 

updated information on the demographics of their areas. It was however noted that this 
information is available on the Northamptonshire Observatory and that a permanent link 
is detailed within each edition of the monthly Councillor E-Newsletter, (Councillor 
Connect). 

 
3.7.3 From the evidence provided in the statistical data there is evidence that there has been 

an increase in Serious Acquisitive Crime (SAC), especially vehicle crime which impacts 
negatively upon the residents of the town. 

 
 

3.7.4 It was concluded that it would be useful for all Councillors to be informed of when 
initiatives are being undertaken in their wards by the Community Safety Partnership. 

 
3.7.5 It was concluded that target hardening of properties in hotspot locations was effective in 

reducing burglary. 
   
3.7.6 The need for a representative from Housing Services, Northampton Borough Council, to 

be a member of the Community Safety Partnership was emphasised.  It was highlighted 
that access to safe and adequate housing is an essential element in building positive 
community cohesion and discouraging crime.  The Scrutiny Panel further agreed that 
there is a need for all service areas involved in community safety activity to attend 
meetings of the Community Safety Partnership (CSP). 

 
3.7.7 The Scrutiny Panel welcomed that training will be provided to all Community Safety 

Partnership members who work on the frontline.  It felt, however, that awareness training 
on domestic abuse should be made available for Councillors.   

 
3.7.8 It was recognised that when training correct use of terminology should be emphasised.  
 
3.7.9 The value of whole family interventions be emphasised and that such cases require 

multi-Agency intervention, including Policing, education, profiling, training and support. 
 
3.7.10 It was welcomed that the CSP is currently undertaking work endeavouring to engage 

with Eastern/Central Europeans.  Those who are economic migrants do not appear to 
be engaged with any community, simply being here to work.  Data is showing this ethnic 
group as being of being vulnerable to crime either as a perpetrator or a victim.  The 
numbers involved/affected are disproportionately higher than the population figures. 

 
3.7.11 It is a statutory requirement that Accident and Emergency data is provided to the 

Community Safety Partnership and it was felt that data should be provided on a more 
regular basis. 

 

8



 

Scrutiny Panel 1 SAC, violent crime and community safety   

3.7.12 The Scrutiny Panel noted that there appears to be a gap between Public Health and 
Housing Services but realised that steps were in place to address this. 

 
3.7.13 The Scrutiny Panel conveyed concerns that it appeared that Neighbourhood Wardens 

are being expected to take on a much wider role. Whilst they have received some 
training the Scrutiny Panel felt that they are not crime prevention professionals and 
should not be giving advice on that basis. The role of the Wardens should be about 
working with partner Agencies and signposting the public to the correct service and not 
actually solving crime issues directly. 

   
3.7.14 It was acknowledged that Neighbourhood Wardens sit on a number of Partnership sub 

groups and feed into action plans and the overarching process. 
 
3.7.15 It was generally felt that members of the public will often speak to Neighbourhood 

Wardens when they would otherwise be reluctant to engage with the Police. 
Neighbourhood Wardens are in regular contact with an area and are generally trusted. 

  
3.7.16 Further to the site visits undertaken by the Panel it was felt that disused property needs 

to be secured so that it does not become a target for vandalism and anti-social 
behaviour. Such sites should be protected or screened.  It would be beneficial for best 
practice advice to be sought from the relevant department within Northampton Borough 
Council. 

 
3.7.17 The evidence gathered from the site visits concluded that there are issues in areas 

where fencing has been erected in order to try and solve problems.   .These had not 
been maintained or panels had been removed to allow easier routes through.  This 
highlighted the need for ensuring that on-going maintenance is identified prior to any 
schemes being undertaken.  

 
3.7.18 The evidence gathered highlighted that there is a need to reduce the impact of the 

“broken window syndrome” on members of the community; such issues are identified 
through Environmental Audits produced by Crime Prevention Officers for the Community 
Safety Partnership (CSP).    It was felt that a possible improvement is an enhanced, 
responsive maintenance service in “hotspot” areas.  

    
3.7.19 Vice and drug issues appear to be prominent in some areas of the town and the `broken 

window syndrome’ appears to be the forerunner to crime. 
 
3.7.20 The Scrutiny Panel felt that the unused open spaces should be utilised to create public 

use with a view to reducing the “broken window syndrome.” 
 
3.7.21 The Scrutiny Panel highlighted the importance of educating residents in security so the 

purpose of security measures are understood and used.  Examples such as locking 
doors, windows and gates, securing vehicles and the removal of visible property. 

 
3.7.22 Lack of maintenance management in areas is an issue, for example:  
  

• Access controlled car park not working 

• Lack of maintenance to fencing 

• Littering 

• Landscaping maintenance issues    
 

9



 

Scrutiny Panel 1 SAC, violent crime and community safety   

3.7.23 The development of a Neighbourhood Forum for the Spring Boroughs area is currently 
taking place.  There is a need for it to comprise at least 21 individuals who either work or 
reside in the area.  The Scrutiny Panel felt it would be useful for at least one individual 
from each of the houses (block of flats) to be elected to the Forum. 

 
3.7.24 The Scrutiny Panel agreed that there is a need to understand NBC’s maintenance 

programme for housing stock and estates, including communal doors, garage blocks, 
street cleansing, and grounds maintenance.  For example - when repairs are undertaken 
there is a need for them to be made, not only to the front access communal doors but 
also to the rear. 

 
3.7.25 The Panel welcomed the trial of the Intensive Community Engagement programme that 

is currently taking place in the South West Sector of the Northampton.  Part of the 
programme includes ‘Rich Picturing’, where the community is asked to draw pictures of 
their neighbourhood currently, and also what they would like it to look like. These 
pictures can reveal issues that the Police are unaware of.  Matters that are not 
considered to be within the Police’s remit will be passed to the relevant Agency. The 
Panel considered this initiative would help to engage with the community and identify 
problems and the ward Councillors could be a long term strategic link. 

 
3.7.26 It was emphasised that in certain areas, the completion of a CASPAR project had been 

very positive but no further support was provided to the community following completion 
of the project.   The Scrutiny Panel felt that an exit strategy should always be put in 
place, ensuring a level of support and on-going maintenance if required.  

 
3.7.27 The Scrutiny Panel was disappointed that, due to the lack of current projects such as 

CASPAR in Spring Boroughs, coupled with the current economic climate and lack of 
officer presence that the area had begun to deteriorate.  

 
3.7.28 The previous benefits of a Community Group undertaking gardening activities in the 

Pocket Park on Spring Boroughs were realised. 
  

3.7.29 The Scrutiny Panel acknowledged that it would be beneficial to encourage Residents 
Associations and Community Forums to use open space facilities which in turn would 
assist in developing community spirit.  

  

3.7.30 Collection of alcohol related incidents data is carried out in Accident and Emergency 
(A&E).  The value of this is limited because the data is   not shared in a timely manner. 

 
3.7.31 The Panel recognised that, on occasions, victims of domestic abuse presenting at A&E 

are not referred to supporting Agencies.  
  
3.7.32 The Scrutiny Panel realised that a lot of anti-social behaviour is connected to litter and 

environmental problems. There needs to be a process for the information flow to 
Enterprise Management Services (EMS) be stronger and with faster responses.   

 
3.7.33 The Scrutiny Panel noted that work is underway to ascertain whether the large number 

of fly tipping incidents relate to problems which people have with access to home waste 
and recycling centres.  There are problems with shared areas at housing complexes and 
in private alleyways. These areas can cause a series of problems and a solution needs 
to be implemented to ensure that issues are dealt with quickly when reported. 

 

10



 

Scrutiny Panel 1 SAC, violent crime and community safety   

3.7.34 EMS provides schedules to the Council detailing work that is being undertaken in each 
area.  The Scrutiny Panel felt it would be useful for this information to be disseminated to 
all Council departments. 

 
3.7.35 The Scrutiny Panel concluded that working with partners and other Agencies is vital in 

providing a holistic approach to making improvements.  
 

3.7.36 Significant progress has been made regarding the issues surrounding people attending 
pubs and clubs in the town centre area. The introduction of Night Watch, which includes 
the traffic light system and the banning of some key violent offenders from the town 
centre, has created a positive effect, was welcomed. 

 
3.7.37 Good communication between door staff and the Police was recognised. 
   
 
4.          Options 
 
4.1 Cabinet will need to consider the possible options as part of its response to the 

recommendations.   
 
5.         Implications  (including financial implications) 
 
 
5.1 Policy 
 
5.1.1 The work of Overview and Scrutiny plays a major part in the development of the 

Council’s policy framework through its work programme. 
 
5.1.2 The report and its recommendations have policy implications in relation serious 

acquisitive crime, violent crime and community safety.   Cabinet’s response will need to 
consider these issues in detail. 

 
5.2  Resources and Risk 
 
5.2.1  Cabinet will need to consider the resourcing issues for the recommendations made. 
 
5.3   Legal 
 
5.3.1 Legal issues will need to be considered as part of Cabinet’s response to the 

recommendations. 
 
5.4   Equality 
 
5.4.1 Equality issues will need to be considered as part of Cabinet’s response to the 

recommendations. 
 
5.5       Consultees (Internal and External) 
 
5.5.1  The Committee consulted and took evidence from a variety of sources as detailed in 

paragraph 3.6 of this report. 
 
 
 

11



 

Scrutiny Panel 1 SAC, violent crime and community safety   

6.        Background Papers 
 
 • Overview and Scrutiny Committee Report – Serious Acquisitive Crime, violent 

crime and community safety (April 2013 ) 

• Minutes of the meeting of Overview and Scrutiny Committee  
      – 25 April 2013 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Report Author and Title:     Tracy Tiff, Scrutiny Officer, on behalf of Councillor Jamie Lane,  Chair,  
                                           Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

 

  

 

12



 4 

Appendix A 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  
 
The purpose of the Review was to: 
 

• To investigate, as a benchmark, Northampton's crime statistics in 
relation to serious acquisitive and violent crime 

 

• To identify `hotspots' in relation to serious acquisitive and violent crime 
 

• To identify the impact that serious acquisitive crime and violent crime 
has on the residents of Northampton 

 

• To identify the serious acquisitive crime and violent crime issues that 
Northampton Borough Council, in partnership with other Agencies, can 
have an impact upon 

 
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee agreed at its work programming event in March 
2012 to include a review of serious acquisitive crime, violent crime and community 
safety.  These were issues that had been identified by a number of members of the 
public as key concerns.  The Overview and Scrutiny Committee commissioned 
Scrutiny Panel 1 to undertake the review.   An in-depth review commenced in May 
2012 and concluded in April 2013. 
 

 

A Scrutiny Panel was established comprising Councillor Danielle Stone (Chair); 
Councillor David Palethorpe (Vice Chair); Councillors Mick Ford, Brendan Glynane, 
Christopher Malpas, Dennis Meredith, Brian Sargeant and  Chief Inspector Max 
Williams, Northants Police, Sharon Henley, Northants Police, and Neil Bartholomey, 
Chair, Northampton PubWatch, (Co-Optees).  
 
The Scrutiny Panel established that the following needed to be investigated and linked 
to the realisation of the Council’s corporate priorities: 
 

• Context: 
� Local statistics 
� Demographics – local and national 

• Baseline data: 
� National crime statistics 
� Local crime statistics 

• Synopsis of various research documents and other published 
documents 

• Evidence from expert internal witnesses 

• Evidence from expert external witnesses 

• Evidence from ward Councillors 

• Site Visits 
 
This review links to the Council’s corporate priorities - Corporate Priority 2 - Invest in 
safer, cleaner neighbourhoods, creating an attractive, clean and safe environment. 
 

13



 5 

 
     CONCLUSIONS AND KEY FINDINGS 
 

 
A significant amount of evidence was heard, details of which are contained in the 
report.  After gathering evidence the Scrutiny Panel established that: - 

 
          
6.1          The purpose of the Scrutiny Panel was: 

 

• To investigate, as a benchmark, Northampton's crime statistics in 
relation to serious acquisitive and violent crime 

 

• To identify `hotspots' in relation to serious acquisitive and violent 
crime 

 

• To identify the impact that serious acquisitive crime and violent crime 
has on the residents of Northampton 

 

• To identify the serious acquisitive crime and violent crime issues that 
Northampton Borough Council, in partnership with other Agencies, 
can have an impact upon 

 
    Scrutiny Panel 1 recommends to Cabinet that: 
 
Northampton Borough Council (NBC) 
 

6.1.1      A funding pot is identified to provide target hardening for properties that are located within 
hot spot areas. 

 
6.1.2       Northampton Borough Council ensures active engagement with the Troubled Families 

Agenda. 
 
6.1.3 Prior to any physical works being undertaken, consideration to long-term maintenance is 

given and resources identified. 
 
6.1.4 Councillors are issued with regular updated information on the demographics of their  

wards. 
 
                Housing  
 
6.1.5 Obsolete signs in place around the Council’s housing stock are removed and all   relevant 

signage is in situ and is clearly visible.  
 

6.1.6     An enhanced and responsive maintenance service is implemented in “hotspot” areas. 
 
6.1.7 A funding pot is identified to provide target hardening on Council properties that 

are located within hot spot areas. 
 

 
 
 

14



 6 

 
Planning/Regeneration 

 
6.1.8      It is ensured that when land or buildings is transferred, it is stipulated that the land 

must be cleared and properly secured. 
 
6.1.9      Consideration is given to utilising unused open spaces in residential areas across 

the town for public use. 
 
6.1.10 Planning continues to work with and seek advice and guidance from the Police 

Architectural Liaison Officer to ensure new developments meet ‘Design out Crime’ 
standards. 

 
               Neighbourhood Wardens 
 
6.1.11 Clarification is given on the role of the Neighbourhood Wardens. This information 

is disseminated to ward Councillors. 
 

6.1.12 Neighbourhood Wardens undertake annual refresher training on crime prevention 
matters. 

 
6.1.13 An on-going professional training and development plan, with specific focus on 

crime prevention and community safety, for Neighbourhood Wardens is produced 
and implemented 

 
               Partners and Agencies 
 

6.1.14 Following completion of projects in hotspot locations, an exit plan is developed 
outlining support and maintenance post project, in order that the positive results 
are maintained. 

 

6.1.15 On-going maintenance budgets are included with any environmental 
improvements such as fencing. 

 

6.1.16     A directory for young people is developed that provides information on services 
and facilities available to young people.   

 

6.1.17     There is timelier sharing of data from Accident and Emergency with the 
Community Safety Partnership.  This means weekly highlight reports and full 
details on a monthly basis. 

 

6.1.18     A mechanism is introduced to ensure that the Health and Wellbeing Board can 
provide information and feedback to the Community Safety Partnership (CSP). 

 

6.1.19    Membership of the CSP be revisited to ensure that it includes all relevant Agencies 
and service areas, including the Voluntary Sector. 

 

15



 7 

6.1.20    When training/education around crime prevention issues is undertaken, 
consideration is always be given to the audience and the trainer is mindful to use 
appropriate language that is universally understood. 

 
6.1.21     Information systems between the Police and local Councillors are reviewed and 

further developed. 
 
6.1.22    Support is given to the Intensive Community Engagement programme hosted by 

Northamptonshire Police. 
 

6.1.23    Formal links between Enterprise Management Services (EMS) and Northampton 
Borough Council are developed around situational crime to ensure faster 
information sharing and faster responses to dealing with service issues, therefore 
resulting in a positive outcome for the community. 

 
              Community Forums 
 
6.1.24    Residents Associations, Community Groups and Forums are encouraged to use 

open spaces which in turn will assist in community development and ownership of 
their local areas. 

 
 Northants Probation Service 
 
6.1.25 A programme of works on the priority locations identified by Northampton Borough 

Council is built into the Community Pay Back Initiative.  
 
 

              Police and Crime Commissioner, Northamptonshire 
 
6.1.26     A copy of this report is provided to the Office of the Police and Crime 

Commissioner, Northamptonshire. 
 
 

               Recommendations to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
      
6.1.27 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee be asked to consider the inclusion of a 

Scrutiny Review of Interpersonal Violence in its Work Programme for 2013/2014. 
. 
6.1.28 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee, as part of its monitoring regime, reviews 

the impact of this report in six months’ time. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
  

16



 

Scrutiny Panel 3 – Infrastructure Requirements and S106  

     

 
 
 

 

OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY VIEWS AND 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
TO CABINET 17 JULY 2013 

 
 

Report Title RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  – 
INFRASTRUCTURE REQUIREMENTS AND SECTION 106 AGREEMENTS 
 

 
Agenda Status:  PUBLIC  

  

1.          Purpose 
 
1.1   To present to Cabinet for consideration, the comments and recommendations of the 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee on the findings of the Review – Infrastructure 
Requirements and Section 106 Agreements. 

 
1.2   The Executive Summary to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s report is attached at 

Appendix A.  Members of Cabinet have been issued with a copy of the full report.  All 
Overview and Scrutiny Review reports are published on the Overview and Scrutiny 
page on the Council’s Webpage and a copy of the this report can be located:  
www.northampton.gov.uk/scrutiny - Previous Scrutiny Reviews. 

 
2.         Recommendations  
 
2.1  The Overview and Scrutiny Committee recommends to Cabinet that: 
 
             Infrastructure Requirements 

 

2.1.1 The Scrutiny Panel formally informs Cabinet that it is satisfied that the infrastructure 

requirements are identified in the West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy 

Infrastructure Delivery Plan up to 2026. 

 

2.1.2   Infrastructure cannot be totally funded through Section 106 Agreements or Community 

Infrastructure Levy (CIL).  Cabinet investigates other funding sources to meet the 

funding gap of £439.6 million. 

 

2.1.3 It is ensured that the North West Bypass is fully funded and built, when required, to 

serve new developments and that appropriate arrangements are agreed with South 

Northants Council and Daventry District Council to ensure funding CIL infrastructure is 

given priority across the partnership. 

 

 

Appendices:  1 

Agenda Item 6b

17



 

Scrutiny Panel 3 – Infrastructure Requirements and S106  

2.1.4 Section 106 Agreements and CIL contribute to improvements to the Strategic Highways 

Network via the A45/M1 Growth Management Strategies. 

 

 Affordable Housing 

 

2.1.5 Cabinet satisfies itself that the introduction of Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) will 

not have an adverse impact on the provision of affordable housing; whilst recognising 

that the existing S106 Policy allows for flexibility in accordance with Government Policy. 

 

2.1.6   Cabinet recognises that  the introduction of CIL will  have corporate implications and 

these must be identified and addressed. 

 
3.      Background and Issues 
 
3.1    The purpose of the Review was: 

 

• To identify the  infrastructure requirements to Northampton and the  
surrounding areas 

• To evaluate how the infrastructure will be delivered through Section 106 
Agreements/Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 

• To identify any funding gaps and how these will be filled  

• To understand the management of S106 funding 
 
3.2    The Overview and Scrutiny Committee agreed at its work programming event in March 

2012 to include a review of infrastructure requirements and S106 Agreements.    A 
number of proposals around these issues had been proposed by members of the public 
as a key suggestion for a future Scrutiny Review.  The Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
commissioned Scrutiny Panel 3 to undertake the Review.  An in-depth Review 
commenced in July 2012 and concluded in May 2013. 

 
3.3   A Scrutiny Panel was established comprising Councillor Phil Larratt (Chair); Councillor 

Elizabeth Gowen (Vice-Chair); Councillors Ifty Choudary, Matt Lynch, Jonathan Nunn, 
David Palethorpe, Suresh Patel, Terry Wire DL, together with co-opted Members, 
Councillor Alan Chantler (Daventry District Council) and Councillor Marion Minney 
(Northamptonshire County Council). 
 

3.4 This Review links to a number of the Council’s corporate priorities including Priority 1 – 
Northampton on track – a vibrant town, Priority 2 – invest in safer, cleaner 
neighbourhoods and Priority 5 – better homes for the future. 

 
3.5    The Scrutiny Panel established that the following needed to be investigated and linked to 

the realisation of the Council’s corporate priorities: 
 

• Purpose and scope of S106 Agreements and introduction to CIL 

• Joint Core Strategy Infrastructure Schedule 

• Central Area Action Plan Infrastructure Schedule 

• Sources of funding for infrastructure 

• Table of existing NBC S106 obligation monies and information relating to NCC and 
WNDC S106 monies  

• Developer Obligations Supplementary Planning Document 

18



 

Scrutiny Panel 3 – Infrastructure Requirements and S106  

• Future provision of skills and training programmes 

• Affordable housing 

• Memorandum of Understanding for the Growth Management Scheme for the 
A45/M1 

• Sports and Playing Pitch Strategy 

• Map: defended and undefended areas 

• Drainage Strategy (summary) 

• A copy of a Section 106 Agreement 

• Desktop research – best practice elsewhere  

• Evidence from a variety of key partners and Agencies 
 

3.6        Evidence was collated from a variety of key advisors, including: 
 

• Various Utilities – Gas, Water, Electricity and Sewerage Providers 

• Assistant Director of Education Services, Northamptonshire County Council (NCC) 

• Childcare providers 

• Developer 

• Homes and Communities Agency 

• Housing Strategy Manager, Northampton Borough Council (NBC) 

• Nene Commissioning 

• General Manager, Construction Futures 

• Assistant Director of Highways, NCC 

• Assistant Director of Environment, NCC 

• Highways Agency 

• Assistant Chief Constable, Northants Police 

• S106 Officer, NBC 
 

 
 3.7         In considering the evidence the following conclusions were made: - 
   
               Infrastructure Requirements 
 
3.7.1 The Scrutiny Panel concluded that infrastructure requirements are identified up to 2026, 

in the West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy Infrastructure Delivery Plan, covering 
the administrative areas of Northampton Borough Council, South Northants Council and 
Daventry District Council, including: 

 

• Highways 

• Drainage/Water management 

• Flood defences 

• Schools  

• Primary Health Care 

• Leisure 

3.7.2   The Scrutiny Panel welcomed that the West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy 

Infrastructure Development Plan will be updated annually, which it realised, is a 

necessity to ensure that priorities are continually aligned with changes in development 

priorities or pace of development.  It emphasised that flexibility to re-prioritise 

accordingly will be important. 

19



 

Scrutiny Panel 3 – Infrastructure Requirements and S106  

              Highways 
 
3.7.3 The Scrutiny Panel identified that there is  a significant funding gap in respect of the 

building of highways.    Section 106 Agreements and CIL will have to contribute to 
improvements to the Strategic Highways Network via the A45/M1 Growth Management 
Scheme.  It is recognised that the funding gap remains challenging for growth beyond 
2026 and further work will have to be undertaken in this area. 

 
              Joint working and early engagement 
 
3.7.4 The evidence gathered accentuated  the need for joint working, in particular, joint 

working when drawing up charging schedules;  joint review of Infrastructure Delivery 

Plans and housing/employment delivery performance / development trajectories, could 

be helpful  in ensuring proper cross boundary funding of key infrastructure.  The need 

for all partners to be involved in planning stages for infrastructure to design the most 

efficient and cost effective schemes as possible was highlighted. 

 
3.7.5  The evidence gathered identified the need for early engagement between the developer, 

Council and relevant authorities (such as the Environment Agency, Northamptonshire 

County Council and water company) to promote efficiency, help to understand the 

requirements for the site and identify a solution that meets the needs of the proposed 

development whilst operating within environmental limits.   

               Schools 

3.7.6   The Scrutiny Panel noted that it is vital to continue to encourage development and try to 

ensure developments take place and developers are able  to deliver viable schemes  

The importance of partnership involvement in order to make this happen was realised.  It 

was further realised that there is some capacity in secondary schools, but the 

increasingly steady growth in primary numbers means this will be an issue in the future. 

3.7.7  The evidence gathered highlighted a major increase in inward migration.  There is a 

requirement for more school places in Northampton. 

              Drainage/Water management 
              Flood defences 
 
3.7.8   The evidence collected identified that future developments need to be planned carefully 

so that they do not add to the pressures already on the water environment, i.e. flood 

water resources and increased volumes of sewage effluent that may lead to any 

compromise in water quality. 

3.7.9   It was recognised that the funding of water and wastewater infrastructure identified, will 

be managed within the Water Industry Act 1991 and will not be required to form part of 

CIL provisions. 

             Western Power 
 
3.7.10  The Scrutiny Panel highlighted that Western Power’s infrastructure improvements are put 

in place through a cost supporting factor, which means that the customer is required to 

20



 

Scrutiny Panel 3 – Infrastructure Requirements and S106  

pay a percentage of the cost of providing the infrastructure.  This upgraded 

infrastructure cost via new load activity can be “clawed back” by subsequent users over 

a five year period. 

              Policing 
 
3.7.11  The Scrutiny Panel noted that generally, small scale development can be absorbed 

within existing Policing resources but larger scale developments generate additional 

policing resource requirements. 

3.7.12  The Police would welcome any opportunity to occupy shared spaces in public buildings. 

              Leisure 
 
3.7.13   The Scrutiny Panel was pleased to note that all leisure facilities are well used, with most 

of the pitches and courts fully booked. However, some current leisure provision, such as 

that at the Lings Centre, which has a limited life span, will need to be reviewed in the 

next 5-10 years. 

              Primary Health Care 
 
3.7.14   It was acknowledged that the Trust, East Midlands Ambulance Service (EMAS) is 

currently in the process of an estates restructure targeted at more efficient support to the 

public.  Any funding from Section 106 and infrastructure projects will be used to support 

its on-going effects. 

3.7.15   The evidence gathered identified that for large housing developments, Milton Keynes 

and Northamptonshire Primary Care Trust (PCT) would prefer a ‘turn key’ ready to 

occupy a health centre. 

3.7.16   Location of new facilities should be planned to ensure connectivity within new and 

existing communities. 

               Funding gap 

 

3.7.17 In noting the infrastructure funding gap of £439.6 million as identified in the 

Infrastructure Delivery Plan, the Scrutiny Panel concluded that infrastructure cannot be 

totally funded through Section 106 Agreements or Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 

and that other sources of funding are required.    

  

              Section 106 Agreements 

 

3.7.18   Currently, Section 106 delivers contributions to strategic infrastructure requirements, as 

well as site specific requirements. 

 

3.7.19    Section 106 is managed through the Section 106 Board and projects.  The infrastructure 

is delivered through Northampton Borough Council or Northamptonshire County 

Council’s capital programme.  S106 Agreements will still be used for on-site mitigation 

following the introduction of CIL. 

21



 

Scrutiny Panel 3 – Infrastructure Requirements and S106  

               Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 

 

3.7.20   The Scrutiny Panel realised that although it was in no way anticipated that CIL will be 

adopted throughout the country, Section 106 arrangements will change in 2014, which 

will restrict the pooling of S106 agreements to five for any one type of infrastructure or 

infrastructure project. The advantage of CIL is that it allows flexibility on where it can be 

spent as it does not have to be in the same locality as the development. 

 

3.7.21   The Scrutiny Panel  acknowledged that  a recent Government speech, January 2013, 

made it clearer as to the proposed level of meaningful proportion of CIL to be spent in 

the local area. Figures indicated a 15% levy, within Parished areas, up to £100 per 

existing household, with that percentage rising to 25% if there was a local 

neighbourhood plan has been adopted, with no upper cap. This was a much higher 

figure than had previously been anticipated. 

 

3.7.22    The evidence gathered highlighted that determining and administering CIL needs to be a 

corporate exercise for the whole Council, not just planning services, with required 

adequate administrative support.   The Scrutiny Panel emphasised that the process of 

introducing CIL needs to be properly resourced. 

 

3.7.23  The Joint Planning Unit is looking at how CIL will be implemented across West 

Northamptonshire. 

 

3.7.24 The Scrutiny Panel acknowledged that in order to deliver schools, CIL is the only 

realistic method to deliver secondary schools. 

 

              Affordable Housing 

 

3.7.25 The evidence received alluded to a potential shortfall in affordable housing once CIL is 

introduced. This was of particular concern to the Scrutiny Panel because affordable 

housing provision is a Council priority.    The Scrutiny Panel was concerned that the 

amount of affordable housing may fall. 

 

3.7.26    The Scrutiny Panel realised that the demand for affordable housing is likely to increase. 

The Localism Act, the slow-down in new building, difficult economic climate and changes 

to Welfare Reform are likely to increase demand for all forms of affordable housing.  If 

new affordable homes are not delivered, the Council may have to use expensive bed 

and breakfast accommodation and temporary accommodation. 

  
4.          Options 
 
4.1 Cabinet will need to consider the possible options as part of its response to the 

recommendations.   
 
 
 

22



 

Scrutiny Panel 3 – Infrastructure Requirements and S106  

5.         Implications  (including financial implications) 
 
5.1 Policy 
 
5.1.1 The work of Overview and Scrutiny plays a major part in the development of the 

Council’s policy framework through its work programme. 
 
5.1.2 The report and its recommendations have policy implications in relation to infrastructure 

requirements.   Cabinet’s response will need to consider these issues in detail. 
 
5.2   Resources and Risk 
 
5.2.1   Cabinet will need to consider the resourcing issues for the recommendations made. 
 
5.3 Legal 
 
5.3.1 Legal issues will need to be considered as part of Cabinet’s response to the 

recommendations. 
 
5.4   Equality 
 
5.4.1 Equality issues will need to be considered as part of Cabinet’s response to the 

recommendations. 
 
5.5       Consultees (Internal and External) 
 
5.5.1   The Committee consulted and took evidence from a variety of sources as detailed in 

paragraph 3.6 of this report. 
 
6.         Background Papers 
 
 • Overview and Scrutiny Committee Report – Infrastructure Requirements and 

Section 106 Agreements (May 2013 ) 

• Minutes of the meeting of Overview and Scrutiny Committee  
      – 10 June 2013 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Report Author and Title:     Tracy Tiff, Scrutiny Officer, on behalf of Councillor Jamie Lane,  Chair,  
                                           Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

 

  

 

23



 4 

Appendix A 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  
 
The purpose of the review was: 

 

•  To identify the  infrastructure requirements to Northampton and the 

surrounding areas 

• To evaluate how the infrastructure will be delivered through Section 

106 Agreements/Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 

• To identify any funding gaps and how these will be filled  

• To understand the management of S106 funding 

 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee agreed at its work programming event in 

March 2012 to include a review of infrastructure requirements and S106 

Agreements.    A number of proposals around these issues had been put forward 

by members of the public as a key suggestion for a future Scrutiny Review.  The 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee commissioned Scrutiny Panel 3 to undertake 

the review.  An in-depth review commenced in July 2012 and concluded in May 

2013. 

 

A Scrutiny Panel was established comprising Councillor Phil Larratt (Chair); 

Councillor Elizabeth Gowen (Vice-Chair); Councillors Ifty Choudary, Matt Lynch, 

Jonathan Nunn, David Palethorpe, Suresh Patel, Terry Wire DL, together with co-

opted Members, Councillor Alan Chantler (Daventry District Council) and 

Councillor Marion Minney (Northamptonshire County Council). 

 

This review links to a number of the Council’s corporate priorities including Priority 

1 –  Putting Northampton back  on track – a vibrant town, Priority 2 – Invest in 

safer, cleaner neighbourhoods and Priority 5 – Better homes for the future. 

 

The Scrutiny Panel established that the following needed to be investigated and 

linked to the realisation of the Council’s corporate priorities: 

Baseline data: 

 

• purpose and scope of S106 Agreements and introduction to 

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 

• Joint Core Strategy Infrastructure Schedule 

• Central Area Action Plan Infrastructure Schedule 

• Sources of funding for infrastructure 

• Table of existing NBC S106 obligation monies and information 

relating to NCC and WNDC S106 monies  

• Developer Obligations Supplementary Planning document 

• Future provision of skills and training programmes 

• Affordable housing 

24



 5 

• Memorandum of Understanding for the Growth Management 

Scheme for the A45/M1 

• Sports and Playing Pitch Strategy 

• Map: defended and undefended areas 

• Drainage Strategy (summary) 

• A copy of a Section 106 Agreement 

• Desktop research – best practice elsewhere  

• Evidence from a variety of key partners and Agencies 

  

 
     CONCLUSIONS AND KEY FINDINGS 
 

 
A significant amount of evidence was heard, details of which are contained in the 
report.  After gathering evidence the Scrutiny Panel established that: - 
 
               Infrastructure Requirements 
 
5.1.1 The Scrutiny Panel concluded that infrastructure requirements are 

identified up to 2026, in the West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy 
Infrastructure Delivery Plan, covering the administrative areas of 
Northampton Borough Council, South Northants Council and Daventry 
District Council, including: 

 

• Highways 

• Drainage/Water management 

• Flood defences 

• Schools  

• Primary Health Care 

• Leisure 

5.1.2     The Scrutiny Panel welcomed that the West Northamptonshire Joint Core 

Strategy Infrastructure Development Plan will be updated annually, which 

it realised, is a necessity to ensure that priorities are continually aligned 

with changes in development priorities or pace of development.  It 

emphasised that flexibility to re-prioritise accordingly will be important. 

Highways 
 
5.1.3     The Scrutiny Panel identified that there is  a significant funding gap in 

respect of the building of highways.    Section 106 Agreements and CIL 
will have to contribute to improvements to the Strategic Highways 
Network via the A45/M1 Growth Management Scheme.  It is recognised 
that the funding gap remains challenging for growth beyond 2026 and 
further work will have to be undertaken in this area. 

 
 

 

25



 6 

 
 
               Joint working and early engagement 
 
5.1.4     The evidence gathered accentuated  the need for joint working, in 

particular, joint working when drawing up charging schedules;  joint 

review of Infrastructure Delivery Plans and housing/employment delivery 

performance / development trajectories, could be helpful  in ensuring 

proper cross boundary funding of key infrastructure.  The need for all 

partners to be involved in planning stages for infrastructure to design the 

most efficient and cost effective schemes as possible was highlighted. 

 
5.1.5     The evidence gathered identified the need for early engagement between 

the developer, Council and relevant authorities (such as the Environment 

Agency, Northamptonshire County Council and water company) to 

promote efficiency, help to understand the requirements for the site and 

identify a solution that meets the needs of the proposed development 

whilst operating within environmental limits.   

              Schools 

5.1.6     The Scrutiny Panel noted that it is vital to continue to encourage 

development and try to ensure developments take place and developers 

are able  to deliver viable schemes  The importance of partnership 

involvement in order to make this happen was realised.  It was further 

realised that there is some capacity in secondary schools, but the 

increasingly steady growth in primary numbers means this will be an 

issue in the future. 

5.1.7     The evidence gathered highlighted a major increase in inward migration.  

There is a requirement for more school places in Northampton. 

               Drainage/Water management 
               Flood defences 
 
5.1.8     The evidence collected identified that future developments need to be 

planned carefully so that they do not add to the pressures already on the 

water environment, i.e. flood water resources and increased volumes of 

sewage effluent that may lead to any compromise in water quality. 

5.1.9     It was recognised that the funding of water and wastewater infrastructure 

identified, will be managed within the Water Industry Act 1991 and will 

not be required to form part of CIL provisions. 

              Western Power 
 
5.1.10    The Scrutiny Panel highlighted that Western Power’s infrastructure 

improvements are put in place through a cost supporting factor, which 

means that the customer is required to pay a percentage of the cost of 

26



 7 

providing the infrastructure.  This upgraded infrastructure cost via new 

load activity can be “clawed back” by subsequent users over a five year 

period. 

Policing 
 
5.1.11     The Scrutiny Panel noted that generally, small scale development can be 

absorbed within existing Policing resources but larger scale 

developments generate additional policing resource requirements. 

5.1.12     The Police would welcome any opportunity to occupy shared spaces in 

public buildings. 

Leisure 
 
5.1.13     The Scrutiny Panel was pleased to note that all leisure facilities are well 

used, with most of the pitches and courts fully booked. However, some 

current leisure provision, such as that at the Lings Centre, which has a 

limited life span, will need to be reviewed in the next 5-10 years. 

               Primary Health Care 
 
5.1.14      It was acknowledged that the Trust, East Midlands Ambulance Service 

(EMAS) is currently in the process of an estates restructure targeted at 

more efficient support to the public.  Any funding from Section 106 and 

infrastructure projects will be used to support its on-going effects. 

5.1.15     The evidence gathered identified that for large housing developments, 

Milton Keynes and Northamptonshire Primary Care Trust (PCT) would 

prefer a ‘turn key’ ready to occupy a health centre. 

5.1.16     Location of new facilities should be planned to ensure connectivity within 

new and existing communities. 

               Funding gap 

 

5.1.17 In noting the infrastructure funding gap of £439.6 million as identified in 

the Infrastructure Delivery Plan, the Scrutiny Panel concluded that 

infrastructure cannot be totally funded through Section 106 Agreements 

or Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) and that other sources of funding 

are required.    

  

              Section 106 Agreements 

 

5.1.18   Currently, Section 106 delivers contributions to strategic infrastructure 

requirements, as well as site specific requirements. 

 

5.1.19    Section 106 is managed through the Section 106 Board and projects.  

The infrastructure is delivered through Northampton Borough Council or 

27



 8 

Northamptonshire County Council’s capital programme.  S106 

Agreements will still be used for on-site mitigation following the 

introduction of CIL. 

 

              Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 

 

5.1.20    The Scrutiny Panel realised that although it was in no way anticipated that 

CIL will be adopted throughout the country, Section 106 arrangements 

will change in 2014, which will restrict the pooling of S106 agreements to 

five for any one type of infrastructure or infrastructure project. The 

advantage of CIL is that it allows flexibility on where it can be spent as it 

does not have to be in the same locality as the development. 

 

5.1.21   The Scrutiny Panel acknowledged that a recent Government speech, 

January 2013, made it clearer as to the proposed level of meaningful 

proportion of CIL to be spent in the local area. Figures indicated a 15% 

levy, within Parished areas, up to £100 per existing household, with that 

percentage rising to 25% if there was a local neighbourhood plan has 

been adopted, with no upper cap. This was a much higher figure than 

had previously been anticipated. 

 

5.1.22    The evidence gathered highlighted that determining and administering 

CIL needs to be a corporate exercise for the whole Council, not just 

planning services, with required adequate administrative support.   The 

Scrutiny Panel emphasised that the process of introducing CIL needs to 

be properly resourced. 

 

5.1.23    The Joint Planning Unit is looking at how CIL will be implemented across 

West Northamptonshire. 

 

5.1.24 The Scrutiny Panel acknowledged that in order to deliver schools, CIL is 

the only realistic method to deliver secondary schools. 

 

               Affordable Housing 

 

5.1.25 The evidence received alluded to a potential shortfall in affordable 

housing once CIL is introduced. This was of particular concern to the 

Scrutiny Panel because affordable housing provision is a Council priority.    

The Scrutiny Panel was concerned that the amount of affordable housing 

may fall. 

 

5.1.26   The Scrutiny Panel realised that the demand for affordable housing is 

likely to increase. The Localism Act, the slow-down in new building, 

difficult economic climate and changes to Welfare Reform are likely to 

increase demand for all forms of affordable housing.  If new affordable 

28



 9 

homes are not delivered, the Council may have to use expensive bed 

and breakfast accommodation and temporary accommodation. 

 

  

 
             RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

 
The above overall findings have formed the basis for the following 

recommendations: - 

 

6.1      The purpose of this Scrutiny Panel was: 

 

• To identify the  infrastructure requirements to Northampton 

and the surrounding areas 

• To evaluate how the infrastructure will be delivered through 

Section 106 Agreements/Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 

• To identify any funding gaps and how these will be filled  

• To understand the management of S106 funding 

 

             Scrutiny Panel 3 recommends to Cabinet that: 

 

   Infrastructure Requirements 

 

6.1.1 The Scrutiny Panel formally informs Cabinet that it is satisfied that the 

infrastructure requirements are identified in the West Northamptonshire 

Joint Core Strategy Infrastructure Delivery Plan up to 2026. 

 

6.1.2    Infrastructure cannot be totally funded through Section 106 Agreements or 

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL).  Cabinet investigates other funding 

sources to meet the funding gap of £439.6 million. 

 

6.1.3 It is ensured that the North West Bypass is fully funded and built, when 

required, to serve new developments and that appropriate arrangements 

are agreed with South Northants Council and Daventry District Council to 

ensure funding CIL infrastructure is given priority across the partnership. 

 

6.1.4 Section 106 Agreements and CIL contribute to improvements to the 

Strategic Highways Network via the A45/M1 Growth Management 

Strategies. 

 

 Affordable Housing 

 

6.1.5 Cabinet satisfies itself that the introduction of Community Infrastructure 

Levy (CIL) will not have an adverse impact on the provision of affordable 

29



 10 

housing; whilst recognising that the existing S106 Policy allows for 

flexibility in accordance with Government Policy. 

 

6.1.6  Cabinet recognises that the  introduction of CIL will have corporate 

implications and these must be identified and addressed. 

 

 Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 

6.1.7 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee, as part of its monitoring regime, 

reviews the impact of this report in six months’ time. 

 

30



Scrutiny Panel 2 – Retail Experience  – Report to Cabinet  

     

 
 
 

 

OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY VIEWS AND 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
TO CABINET 17 JULY 2013 

 
 

Report Title RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  – 
RETAIL EXPERIENCE 
 

 
Agenda Status:  PUBLIC  

  

1.          Purpose 
 
1.1   To present to Cabinet for consideration, the comments and recommendations of the 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee on the findings of the Review – Retail Experience. 
 
1.2   The Executive Summary to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s report is attached at 

Appendix A.  Members of Cabinet have been issued with a copy of the full report.  All 
Overview and Scrutiny Review reports are published on the Overview and Scrutiny 
page on the Council’s Webpage and a copy of the this report can be located:  
www.northampton.gov.uk/scrutiny - Previous Scrutiny Reviews. 

 
2.         Recommendations  
 
2.1  The Overview and Scrutiny Committee recommends to Cabinet that: 
 
            Retail Experience 
 
2.1.1 The wider town centre experience is promoted and includes retail, leisure, culture, 

events and eating out. 
 
2.1.2 Improved promotion of National and International events/activities. 
 
2.1.3 Improved marketing of Northampton in relation to events held in the town centre. 
 
2.1.4 Review the possibility of street entertainment (buskers) in the town centre. 
 
2.1.5  Ensure town centre retailers and residents are informed on any proposed major 

developments/building projects in the town centre 
 
2.1.6    Actively promote the hour’s free parking and free parking on Sundays to Community 

Groups and Residents’ Associations.   
 

 

Appendices:  1 

Agenda Item 6c

31



Scrutiny Panel 2 – Retail Experience  – Report to Cabinet  

2.1.7 Investigate the opportunity to display local artists’ artwork in vacant shop front   
windows in the town centre. 

 
2.1.8        Promote Enterprise funding  to the retail sector, Northampton  BID and the University 

of Northampton. 
  
2.1.9        Review Planning Policies with a  particular focus on restricting changes of use from 

retail to other use particularly where there is saturation. 
 
2.1.10 The success of the current Pop-up Shops is widely advertised and further promoted. 

It is also promoted to the Voluntary Sector so that it can run short-term campaigns 
using the Pop-up model. 

 
2.1.11       A Town Centre Czar is appointed, in an advisory capacity. 
   

               Cleansing 
 
2.1.12       The standard of street cleansing is maintained at a consistent level across the town 

centre. 
 
2.1.13      Appropriate systems are in place to monitor the street cleansing contract. 
 
2.1.14 Enterprise Management Services (EMS) works closely with partners (i.e. Town 

Centre BID) to improve engagement and understanding of partners’ needs. 
  
2.1.15 NBC works with town centre businesses around trade waste and where necessary 

takes the appropriate enforcement action. 
   

2.1.16 Any cleaning matters be reported immediately to EMS to ensure a swift response is 
delivered. 

 

2.1.17 An additional Town Centre Ranger is employed with a particular focus on litter.  The 
Town Ranger is issued with a smart, clearly identifiable uniform and where possible 
existing Rangers are also issued with smart, clearly identifiable uniforms. 

 

2.1.18      The “Report It” App is promoted to the wider community. 

 

2.1.19      Northampton Borough Council has dialogue with retailers regarding the cleanliness of 
their forecourts. 

 

2.1.20       The current status of Byelaws in relation to cleansing is investigated and enforced as 
appropriate or where Byelaws do not exist, consideration is given to the 
implementation of suitable Byelaws. 

 

               Partnership Working 
 
2.1.21 NBC works closely with the Town Centre BID regarding any new business 

initiatives/opportunities. 

32



Scrutiny Panel 2 – Retail Experience  – Report to Cabinet  

 

2.1.22    NBC continues to work closely with all partners. 

 

2.1.23 NBC develops an education package for primary schools around the importance of 
recycling and the prevention of littering. 

 

2.1.24    Councillors and Officers from Northamptonshire County Council (NCC) and NBC work 
closely with town centre businesses around traffic and pedestrian movement 
throughout the redevelopment building projects in the town centre. 

 
3.           Background and Issues 
 
3.1         The purpose of the Review was: 
 

• To investigate how NBC can support the town centre business community 

• To investigate how NBC can support local businesses throughout the 
development period of any major building projects in and close by to the town 
centre (i.e. Grosvenor; bus interchange; university accommodation etc.) 

• To identify and examine good practice from other boroughs   

• To identify ways to develop greater involvement / engagement with local, 
regional and national businesses in public land improvement initiatives 

 
3.2          The Overview and Scrutiny Committee agreed at its work programming event in March 

2012 to include a review of the retail experience at Northampton.  This was an issue 
that had been identified by a number of members of the public as a key suggestion for 
a future Scrutiny review.  The Overview and Scrutiny Committee commissioned 
Scrutiny Panel 2 to undertake the review.   An in-depth review commenced in May 
2012 and concluded in May 2013. 

3.3     A Scrutiny Panel was established comprising Councillor Matt Lynch (Chair); Councillor 
Suresh Patel (Vice Chair); Councillors Tony Ansell, Sally Beardsworth, Elizabeth 
Gowen, Dennis Meredith and Danielle Stone and Sheridan New, former Grosvenor 
Centre Manager, (Co-optee.) 

3.4     This review links to the Council’s corporate priorities - Priority 1 – Northampton on track 
– a vibrant town. 

 
3.5         The Scrutiny Panel established that the following needed to be investigated and linked 

to the realisation of the Council’s corporate priorities: 
 

• Context: 
Local statistics 

Demographics – local and national 

• Baseline data: 
National statistics 

Definition of the Town Centre 

Vision for the Town Centre 

33



Scrutiny Panel 2 – Retail Experience  – Report to Cabinet  

• Synopses of various research documents and other published documents 

• Evidence from expert internal witnesses 

• Evidence from residents 

• Evidence from Councillors regarding their shopping experience 

• Evidence from the Town Centre Challenge Event 

• Best practice data 

• Site visits 

• Desktop research 
 

3.6         Evidence was collated from a variety of key advisors, including: 
 

• Cabinet Member (Regeneration, Planning and Enterprise), Northampton Borough 
Council (NBC) 

• Cabinet Member (Environment), NBC 

• Northampton BID 

• Former Director, Northampton BID 

• Various local businesses and retailers 

• Highways, Northamptonshire County Council 

• Northampton Community Forums 

• Enterprise Management Services 

• Northants Police 

• Neighbourhood Warden (town centre), NBC 

• Association of Town and City Management (ATCM) 

• Councillors regarding their shopping experience 

• Community Safety Manager, NBC 

• University of Northampton 
 

 
  3.7       In considering the evidence the following conclusions were made: - 
   
3.7.1    The Scrutiny Panel acknowledged that evidence from the Policy Briefing produced by the 

Centre for Public Scrutiny (CfPS) that as the recession continues, the health and vitality 
of local high streets is likely to be an issue which scrutiny will wish to investigate.  One of 
the approaches suggested by the Policy Briefing that Scrutiny may wish to look at is 
local issues.  This was the approach that this Scrutiny Review concentrated on – looking 
at Northampton town centre and focusing on a range of key issues. 

 

3.7.2 The Scrutiny Panel highlighted the Central Area Action regarding town centre 
regeneration, in particular the section “Delivering a Vibrant Retail Centre: 

 Defining and strengthening Northampton’s Primary Shopping Area (as shown on the 
‘Proposals Map’) is vital if the Central Area is to fulfil its role as a town centre (as 
defined by PPS4: Planning for Sustainable Economic Growth) and the principal 
shopping centre for Northamptonshire.  To show the distinction between the types of 
use classes within Northampton Central Area, the Primary Shopping Area has been 
broken down into Primary and Secondary Frontages: 

• Primary Frontages are the focus for retail uses   

• Secondary Frontages will have a retail focus but provide opportunities for a greater 

34



Scrutiny Panel 2 – Retail Experience  – Report to Cabinet  

diversity of uses away from retailing, such as financial services, restaurants and 
drinking establishments “  

3.7.3 It was realised that creating better shop fronts may be an expense that cannot be 
afforded for some small retailers, it might therefore be necessary to decide which should 
be given priority getting a shop back into use or having an improved shop front. 

 
3.7.4 Evidence collated indicated the need for more to be done to make the town centre a 

more visually attractive place. The Scrutiny Panel acknowledged that de-cluttering of 
street furniture/signage was very important and   gave a much better perception if the 
street scene was cleared.   The Scrutiny Panel welcomed the announcement that was 
made during the evidence gathering of this Review that the Council was making £50,000 
available for a town centre face lift.  This funding will be spent on a general upgrade of 
street furniture.  

 
3.7.5 The Scrutiny Panel felt that it was very important to encourage a much wider town 

centre experience, rather than just concentrate on the retail offer. It is important to 
promote a sense of place and having specific events helped to do this. There could also 
be a wider tie in to National and International events or “days”. 

 
3.7.6 The Scrutiny Panel felt that it was very important to raise the profile of retailing as a 

career and that it should not be seen as a job of last resort. They referred to the 
presentation that they had received from Skillsmart who provide retail training 
opportunities. Since this presentation, Skillsmart confirmed that it would liaise with 
Northampton BID to see how retail training could be promoted within Northampton. 

 
3.7.7 The Scrutiny Panel welcomed the introduction of “pop up shops”, acknowledging that 

“pop up shops” are relatively low cost short term leases to get a retail property back into 
use.  The Scrutiny Panel felt that it would be beneficial for services, such as the 
voluntary sector, to be signposted to the opportunity for pop-up campaigns. 

 
3.7.8 During one of its meetings, the Scrutiny Panel heard of the town rangers that Rugby 

Town Centre BID had introduced.  The Town Rangers were felt to be a very positive 
feature.  

 
3.7.9   The Council’s good communication methods were acknowledged. It was felt that there 

was a dynamic relationship with the media, with the Council being proactive in media on 
Northampton Alive. 

 
3.7.10 The Scrutiny Panel acknowledged that free parking is having an impact on the numbers 

of people using the town. Every survey that has been conducted by the town centre 
management has referred to the perception that parking is expensive. Often this is not 
the case and parking in several other towns is more expensive than Northampton.   

   
3.7.11 It was emphasised that more needs to be done with partnerships. The Police is a key 

partner in controlling anti-social behaviour in the town centre.  The Scrutiny Panel noted 
the responses from Northants Police that a cared for town centre can alleviate misuse of 
the environment and anti-social behaviour. 

  
3.7.12 The Scrutiny Panel recognised that it is important that any negative perceptions of the 

town centre are dealt with, but at the same time everyone should be made to feel 
welcome in the town centre area, it was particularly encouraging to see activities such 
as the Northampton by the Sea event which had been held in summer 2011 as it 

35



Scrutiny Panel 2 – Retail Experience  – Report to Cabinet  

encouraged families into the town centre.  Northampton had used an approach to attract 
consumers to the town during the Christmas shopping period 2012 by providing 
Christmas entertainment, such as the ice rink.  The benefit of this initiative was 
welcomed by the Scrutiny Panel.  

 
3.7.13   Town Centre events have an impact of increased footfall. 
 
3.7.14 The Scrutiny Panel acknowledged the enthusiasm of students of the recent student lock 

in at the Grosvenor Centre and noted from the evidence received that should future 
events be held that the overall success of such events be promoted. 

 
3.7.15  The evidence collated alluded that people would like a vibrant town centre comprising 

both chain stores and independent traders, with a variety of good eating and drinking 
venues and is family orientated at the weekends.  A number of respondents made 
reference to the town becoming a centre for culture. 

 
3.7.16 Northampton has some attractive architecture and should be promoted to its full 

advantage. 
 
3.7.17  Like a number of towns and cities, Northampton has a number of vacant shops. 
 
3.7.18  Evidence received suggested the erection of artwork, created by local artists, on display 

boards, would enhance the aesthetics of the town centre. 
  
3.7.19 From the evidence collated, the Scrutiny Panel is aware of the threats to traditional 

retailing that has already come from the expansion of the Internet for shopping. It was 
realised that there could be further threats due to forthcoming changes in technology. 

3.7.20 It is highlighted that street entertainers in Norwich gave a nice atmosphere to the 
shopping experience and the Scrutiny Panel felt that this could be investigated for 
Northampton.  

 
3.7.21 The Scrutiny Panel supported the provision of Litter Wardens that were employed in 

Norwich.   
  
3.7.22 During the visit to the car park area at the Grosvenor Centre, it was noted that some 

lights were not working.  A boarded up window was observed, as was an out of date 
maintenance sign.  The advertising boards inside the lifts were empty.    The Scrutiny 
Panel felt that the area around the lifts could benefit from a deep clean.  

 
3.7.23 The evidence obtained from the site visits that the Scrutiny Panel undertook determined 

that a number of town centres visited had good signage in situ.   The signage in the 
Grosvenor Centre, Northampton, was felt to be very good.  Initiatives to enhance the 
retail experience that take place in the Grosvenor Centre were supported. 

 
3.7.24 The Scrutiny Panel acknowledged that the public is encouraged to report incidents in 

relation to street cleansing.  
 
3.7.25 The Scrutiny Panel noted that reduction of signage work is on-going and is a key 

initiative not only within Northampton but across the county. 
 
3.7.26 The Scrutiny Panel acknowledged the experience gained from the witnesses and the co-

optee to this Review, particularly the wealth of knowledge and experience of the retail 

36



Scrutiny Panel 2 – Retail Experience  – Report to Cabinet  

sector.  It was recognised that it would be useful to continue this invaluable relationship 
to assist with the implementation of the recommendations of this Review. 

 
4.          Options 
 
4.1 Cabinet will need to consider the possible options as part of its response to the 

recommendations.   
 
5.         Implications  (including financial implications) 
 
5.1 Policy 
 
5.1.1 The work of Overview and Scrutiny plays a major part in the development of the 

Council’s policy framework through its work programme. 
 
5.1.2 The report and its recommendations have policy implications in relation to the retail 

experience.   Cabinet’s response will need to consider these issues in detail. 
 
5.2   Resources and Risk 
 
5.2.1   Cabinet will need to consider the resourcing issues for the recommendations made. 
 
5.3  Legal 
 
5.3.1 Legal issues will need to be considered as part of Cabinet’s response to the 

recommendations. 
 
5.4   Equality 
 
5.4.1 Equality issues will need to be considered as part of Cabinet’s response to the 

recommendations. 
 
5.5       Consultees (Internal and External) 
 
5.5.1  The Committee consulted and took evidence from a variety of sources as detailed in 

paragraph 3.6 of this report. 
 
 
 
6.        Background Papers 
 
 • Overview and Scrutiny Committee Report – Retail Experience (May 2013 ) 

• Minutes of the meeting of Overview and Scrutiny Committee  
      – 10 June 2013 

 
 
 
 
Report Author and Title:     Tracy Tiff, Scrutiny Officer, on behalf of Councillor Jamie Lane,  Chair,  
                                           Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

 

  

                                                        

37



 4 

Appendix A 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  
 
The purpose of the Review was to: 
 

o  To investigate how NBC can support the town centre business 
community 

o To investigate how NBC can support local businesses throughout the 

development period of any major building projects in and close by to 

the town centre (i.e. Grosvenor; bus interchange; university 

accommodation etc.) 

o To identify and examine good practice from other boroughs   

o To identify ways to develop greater involvement / engagement with 

local, regional and national businesses in public land improvement 

initiatives 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee agreed at its work programming event in 
March 2012  to  include a review of the retail experience at Northampton.  This 
was an issue that had been identified by a number of members of the public as a 
key suggestion for a future Scrutiny review.  The Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee commissioned Scrutiny Panel 2 to undertake the review.   An in-depth 
review commenced in May 2012 and concluded in May 2013. 

A Scrutiny Panel was established comprising Councillor Matt Lynch (Chair); 
Councillor Suresh Patel (Vice Chair); Councillors Tony Ansell, Sally Beardsworth, 
Elizabeth Gowen, Dennis Meredith and Danielle Stone and Sheridan New, former 
Grosvenor Centre Manager, (Co-optee.) 

This review links to the Council’s corporate priorities - Priority 1 – Northampton on 
track – a vibrant town. 
 
The Scrutiny Panel established that the following needed to be investigated and 
linked to the realisation of the Council’s corporate priorities: 
 

• Context: 
� Local statistics 

� Demographics – local and national 

• Baseline data: 
� National statistics 

� Definition of the Town Centre 

� Vision for the Town Centre 

• Synopses of various research documents and other published 
documents 

• Evidence from expert internal witnesses 

• Evidence from residents 

38



 5 

• Evidence from Councillors regarding their shopping experience 

• Evidence from the Town Centre Challenge Event 

• Best practice data 

• Site visits 

• Desktop research 
 
 

 
     CONCLUSIONS AND KEY FINDINGS 
 

 
A significant amount of evidence was heard, details of which are contained in the 
report.  After gathering evidence the Scrutiny Panel established that: - 
 

5.1 
 

5.1.1 
 
 
 

5.1.2 
 
 

5.1.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

5.1.4 
 
 
 

5.1.5 
 
 
 
 
 
 

After all of the evidence was collated the following conclusions were drawn: 
 
The Scrutiny Panel acknowledged that evidence from both the Policy Briefing produced 
by the Centre for Public Scrutiny (CfPS) that as the recession continues, the health and 
vitality of local high streets is likely to be an issue which scrutiny will wish to investigate.  
One of the approaches suggested by the Policy Briefing that Scrutiny may wish to look at 
is local issues.  This was the approach that this Scrutiny Review concentrated on – 
looking at Northampton town centre and focusing on a range of key issues. 

The Scrutiny Panel highlighted the Central Area Action regarding town centre 
regeneration, in particular the section “Delivering a Vibrant Retail Centre: 

 

 Defining and strengthening Northampton’s Primary Shopping Area (as shown on the 
‘Proposals Map’) is vital if the Central Area is to fulfil its role as a town centre (as 
defined by PPS4: Planning for Sustainable Economic Growth) and the principal 
shopping centre for Northamptonshire.  To show the distinction between the types of 
use classes within Northampton Central Area, the Primary Shopping Area has been 
broken down into Primary and Secondary Frontages : 

 

• Primary Frontages are the focus for retail uses   

• Secondary Frontages will have a retail focus but provide opportunities for a 
greater diversity of uses away from retailing, such as financial services, 
restaurants and drinking establishments “  

 
 
It was realised that creating better shop fronts may be an expense that cannot be afforded 
for some small retailers, it might therefore be necessary to decide which should be given 
priority getting a shop back into use or having an improved shop front. 
 
Evidence collated indicated the need for more to be done to make the town centre a more 
visually attractive place. The Scrutiny Panel acknowledged that de-cluttering of street 
furniture/signage was very important and   gave a much better perception if the street 
scene was cleared.   The Scrutiny Panel welcomed the announcement that was made 
during the evidence gathering of this Review that the Council was making £50,000 
available for a town centre face lift.  This funding will be spent on a general upgrade of 
street furniture.  

 

39



 6 

 
5.1.6 
 
 
 
 

5.1.7 
5. 

5.1.8 
 
 
 
 
5.1.9 
 
 
5.1.10 
 
 
 
5.1.11 
 
 
 
 
5.1.12 

 

 

 

 

 

5.1.13 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5.1.14 

 

5.1.15 

 

 

 

 

5.1.16 

 
 

 
The Scrutiny Panel felt that it was very important to encourage a much wider town centre 
experience, rather than just concentrate on the retail offer. It is important to promote a 
sense of place and having specific events helped to do this. There could also be a wider 
tie in to National and International events or “days”. 
 
The Scrutiny Panel felt that it was very important to raise the profile of retailing as a career 
and that it should not be seen as a job of last resort. They referred to the presentation that 
they had received from Skillsmart who provide retail training opportunities. Since this 
presentation, Skillsmart confirmed that it would liaise with Northampton BID to see how 
retail training could be promoted within Northampton. 
 
The Scrutiny Panel welcomed the introduction of “pop up shops”, acknowledging that “pop 
up shops” are relatively low cost short term leases to get a retail property back into use.  
The Scrutiny Panel felt that it would be beneficial for services, such as the voluntary 
sector, to be signposted to the opportunity for pop-up campaigns. 

 
During one of its meetings, the Scrutiny Panel heard of the town rangers that Rugby Town 
Centre BID had introduced.  The Town Rangers were felt to be a very positive feature.  
 
The Council’s good communication methods were acknowledged. It was felt that there 
was a dynamic relationship with the media, with the Council being proactive in media on 
Northampton Alive. 
 
The Scrutiny Panel acknowledged that free parking is having an impact on the numbers of 
people using the town. Every survey that has been conducted by the town centre 
management has referred to the perception that parking is expensive. Often this is not the 
case and parking in several other towns is more expensive than Northampton.   
   
It was emphasised that more needs to be done with partnerships. The Police is a key 
partner in controlling anti-social behaviour in the town centre.  The Scrutiny Panel noted 
the responses from Northants Police that a cared for town centre can alleviate misuse of 
the environment and anti-social behaviour. 
  
The Scrutiny Panel recognised that it is important that any negative perceptions of the 
town centre are dealt with, but at the same time everyone should be made to feel 
welcome in the town centre area, it was particularly encouraging to see activities such as 
the Northampton by the Sea event which had been held in summer 2011 as it encouraged 
families into the town centre.  Northampton had used an approach to attract consumers to 
the town during the Christmas shopping period 2012 by providing Christmas 
entertainment, such as the ice rink.  The benefit of this initiative was welcomed by the 
Scrutiny Panel.  
 
Town Centre events have an impact of increased footfall. 
 
The Scrutiny Panel acknowledged the enthusiasm of students of the recent student lock 
in at the Grosvenor Centre and noted from the evidence received that should future 
events be held that the overall success of such events be promoted. 
 
The evidence collated alluded that people would like a vibrant town centre comprising 
both chain stores and independent traders, with a variety of  good eating and drinking 
venues and is family orientated at the weekends.  A number of respondents made 

40



 7 

 
 
5.1.17 
 
 
5.1.18 
 
 
 
5.1.19 
 
 
5.1.20 
 
 
 
5.1.21 
 
 
 
5.1.22 
 
 
 
 
5.1.23 
 
 
 
 

5.1.24 

 

 

 

5.1.25 

 

 

 

5.1.26 

 

reference to the town becoming a centre for culture. 
 
Northampton has some attractive architecture and should be promoted to its full 
advantage. 
 
Like a number of towns and cities, Northampton has a number of vacant shops. 
Evidence received suggested the erection of artwork, created by local artists, on display 
boards, would enhance the aesthetics of the town centre. 
  
From the evidence collated, the Scrutiny Panel is aware of the threats to traditional 
retailing that has already come from the expansion of the Internet for shopping. It was 
realised that there could be further threats due to forthcoming changes in technology. 

It is highlighted that street entertainers in Norwich gave a nice atmosphere to the 
shopping experience and the Scrutiny Panel felt that this could be investigated for 
Northampton.  
 
The Scrutiny Panel supported the provision of Litter Wardens that were employed in 
Norwich.   
  
During the visit to the car park area at the Grosvenor Centre, it was noted that some lights 
were not working.  A boarded up window was observed, as was an out of date 
maintenance sign.  The advertising boards inside the lifts were empty.    The Scrutiny 
Panel felt that the area around the lifts could benefit from a deep clean.  
 
The evidence obtained from the site visits that the Scrutiny Panel undertook determined 
that a number of town centres visited had good signage in situ.   The signage in the 
Grosvenor Centre, Northampton, was felt to be very good.  Initiatives to enhance the retail 
experience that take place in the Grosvenor Centre were supported. 
 
The Scrutiny Panel acknowledged that the public is encouraged to report incidents in 
relation to street cleansing.  
 
 
The Scrutiny Panel noted that reduction of signage work is on-going and is a key initiative 
not only within Northampton but across the county. 
 
The Scrutiny Panel acknowledged the experience gained from the witnesses and the co-
optee to this Review, particularly the wealth of knowledge and experience of the retail 
sector.  It was recognised that it would be useful to continue this invaluable relationship to 
assist with the implementation of the recommendations of this Review. 
 
  

 
             RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

 
The above overall findings have formed the basis for the following 
recommendations: - 
 

6.1          The purpose of the Scrutiny Panel was: 
 

41



 8 

o To investigate how NBC can support the town centre business 
community 

o To investigate how NBC can support local businesses throughout the 
development period of any major building projects in and close by to 
the town centre (i.e. Grosvenor; bus interchange; university 
accommodation etc.) 

o To identify and examine good practice from other boroughs   
o To identify ways to develop greater involvement / engagement with 

local, regional and national businesses in public land improvement 
initiatives 
 

Scrutiny Panel 2 recommends to Cabinet that: 
 
Retail Experience 
 

6.1.1 The wider town centre experience is promoted and includes retail, leisure, culture, 
events and eating out. 

 
6.1.2 Improved promotion of National and International events/activities. 
 
6.1.3 Improved marketing of Northampton in relation to events held in the town centre. 
 
6.1.4 Review the possibility of street entertainment (buskers) in the town centre. 
 
6.1.5     Ensure town centre retailers and residents are informed on any proposed major 

developments/building projects in the town centre 
 

6.1.6      Actively promote the hour’s free parking and free parking on Sundays to 
Community Groups and Residents’ Associations.   

 
6.1.7 Investigate the opportunity to display local artists’ artwork in vacant shop front 

windows in the town centre. 
 
6.1.8    Promote the Enterprise funding to the retail sector, Northampton BID and the 

University of Northampton. 
  
6.1.9      Review Planning Policies with a particular focus on restricting changes of use from 

retail to other use particularly where there is saturation. 
 
6.1.10 The success of the current Pop-up Shops is widely advertised and further 

promoted. It is also promoted to the Voluntary Sector so that it can run short-term 
campaigns using the Pop-up model. 

 
6.1.11     A Town Centre Czar is appointed, in an advisory capacity. 
 
   

Cleansing 
 

6.1.12    The standard of street cleansing is maintained at a consistent level across the town 
centre. 
 

6.1.13     Appropriate systems are in place to monitor the street cleansing contract. 
 

42



 9 

6.1.14 Enterprise Management Services (EMS) works closely with partners (i.e. Town 
Centre BID) to improve engagement and understanding of partners’ needs. 

 6.1.15 NBC works with town centre businesses around trade waste and where necessary 
takes the appropriate enforcement action. 
   

6.1.16 Any cleaning matters be reported immediately to EMS to ensure a swift response 
is delivered. 

6.1.17 An additional Town Centre Ranger is employed with a particular focus on litter.  
The Town Ranger is issued with a smart, clearly identifiable uniform and where 
possible existing Rangers are also issued with smart, clearly identifiable uniforms. 

 

6.1.18    The “Report It” App is promoted to the wider community. 

 

6.1.19    Northampton Borough Council has dialogue with retailers regarding the cleanliness 
of their forecourts. 

 

6.1.20    The current status of Byelaws in relation to cleansing is investigated and enforced 
as appropriate or where Byelaws do not exist, consideration is given to the 
implementation of suitable Byelaws. 

 

    Partnership Working 
 

6.1.21 NBC works closely with the Town Centre BID regarding any new business 
initiatives/opportunities. 
 

6.1.22     NBC continues to work closely with all partners. 

 

6.1.23 NBC develops an education package for primary schools around the importance of 
recycling and the prevention of littering. 

 

6.1.24    Councillors and Officers from Northamptonshire County Council (NCC) and NBC 
work closely with town centre businesses around traffic and pedestrian movement 
throughout the redevelopment building projects in the town centre. 

 

 Recommendation to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 

6.1.25 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee, as part of its monitoring regime, reviews 
the impact of this report in six months’ time. 
 

43



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/10/07/13  

 

 

CABINET REPORT 

 

AGENDA STATUS: PUBLIC 
 

 
Cabinet Meeting Date: 
 
Key Decision: 
 
Within Policy: 
 
Policy Document: 
 
Directorate: 
 
Accountable Cabinet Member:  
 
 
Ward(s) 

  
17th July  2013 
 
Yes 
 
Yes 
 
No 
 
Regeneration, Enterprise & Planning 
and Chief Executive 
 
Leader of the Council – Cllr David 
Mackintosh 
 
St James 

 
 

1. Purpose 

 
1.1  The purpose of this report is to seek the authority of Cabinet, in principle, to 

proposed Council approaches to supporting the growth of Northampton Saints 
plc and Northampton Town Football Club Limited, including associated financial 
arrangements, to help promote the wider economic and social wellbeing of 
Northampton. 

 
2. Recommendations 

 
2.1 That Cabinet approve the principle of providing loan finance to Northampton 

Saints plc (“Saints”) and Northampton Town Football Club Limited (“NTFC”) to 
support stadia expansion and associated development on land presently within 
their control. 

 
2.2 That Cabinet delegates to the Chief Executive the authority, in consultation with 

the Section 151 Officer and the Leader of the Council, to approve the amounts 
and terms of any loan finance arrangements on a basis that takes into full 
account the matters set out at 3.2.1 of this report. 

 

Report Title 
 

Northampton Town Football Club and Northampton 
Saints Rugby Club – expansion plans 

Appendices 

2 

Agenda Item 7

44



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/10/07/13  

2.3 That Cabinet supports the principle - pursuant to a previous Cabinet authority 
given to enter into a collaboration agreement with Homes & Communities 
Agency (“HCA”) - of this Council entering  into a Joint Venture  (“JV”) 
Agreement with a private company, HCA (as necessary) and NTFC for the 
development of that land forming part of Sixfields Stadium (shown edged red 
upon the attached plan at Appendix 1), together with other adjoining HCA land, 
on the basis that an agreement relating to a disposal at nominal initial value of 
the freehold interest (in the land edged red) to the private party concerned may 
be required to be completed prior to the commencement of physical 
development. 

 
2.4 That Cabinet delegates to the Director of Regeneration Enterprise and Planning 

the authority, in consultation with the Leader of the Council, to agree the terms 
of transfer of the land referred to at 2.3 and to contract generally with JV 
partners, on the basis that: 
 

(i)      this Council is first satisfied that the proposed comprehensive 
development scheme will be viable and generate a positive value for 
the land owners   

(ii)      that this Council is not exposed to any risk of financial loss or liability 
from its participation within the JV Agreement 

(iii)      that adequate arrangements are made to re-provide suitable 
athletics facilities at an appropriate location as part of an overall 
approach to development. 
 

2.5 That Cabinet supports in principle, subject to the legal considerations set out in 
clause 4.3.3. of this report, that the net value generated for this Council from 
any Joint Venture Agreement that may be entered into (consistent with 2.4 
above), may be used in whole or part to reduce any the levels of debt owed by 
NTFC to this Council (pursuant to 2.1 and 2.2 above), in support of the 
promotion of the wider economic and social benefits that would be generated 
for the Town. 

 
2.6 That Cabinet delegates to the Chief Executive the authority, acting in 

consultation with the Section 151 Officer and the Leader of the Council, to 
agree the basis of any reduction of debt owed to this Council by NTFC in the 
potential circumstances envisaged at 2.5 above. 

 
2.7  That Cabinet supports the principle of varying the existing lease of Sixfields 

Stadium to NTFC to permit the sharing of the facility by NTFC with another 
professional sports club and delegates to the Director of Regeneration 
Enterprise and Planning the authority, in consultation with the Cabinet Member 
for Regeneration Enterprise and Planning, to agree the terms of any lease 
variation. 

 
2.8 That Cabinet, subject to the final loan agreements, delegates to the Section 151 

Officer, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources, 
authority to incorporate the loans into the Council’s Capital Programme and 
notes the potential impact of the loans on the Council’s Affordable Borrowing 
Limit. 

 

45



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/10/07/13  

2.9 That Cabinet welcomes the proposed partnership between the Saints and 
Northampton Borough Council to promote the town to visitors, in order to 
enhance the economic well-being of the Borough and delegates to the Chief 
Executive in consultation with the Leader of the Council the completion of this 
agreement. 

 
3. Issues and Choices 

 
3.1 Report Background 
 
3.1.1 This Council wishes to support the growth of the Saints and NTFC. It has 

sought to work with both clubs to identify financially sustainable ways for them 
to expand their existing stadia and to develop additional facilities.  The 
Football Club wish to expand the Stadium and to construct a hotel facility on 
immediately adjacent land, within their leased area. The lease granted to 
NTFC in April 2004 by this Council specifically permits the sub-letting of 
certain identified land for hotel and conference facilities. In January 2008, the 
Cabinet of this Council also agreed to a varied methodology of how this 
transaction might be achieved commercially, to assist the Club. That 
envisaged the grant of a long lease of land for hotel development by others 
and the receipt of a capital payment by NTFC. However, the structure of the 
hotel market in the UK has changed in recent years and NTFC’s aspiration is 
now to construct and own a hotel/ conference facility, generating revenue 
income through an agreement with a branded operator.  NTFC have indicated 
that they would like to have an agreed facility with this Council for loan finance 
of up to £12 million to support these stadium and hotel/ conference centre 
plans.  

 
3.1.2 The Saints considerable sporting success has led to the need for additional 

spectator capacity to enable them to continue to compete at the very highest 
levels.  Their present plans include the expansion of Franklins Gardens. This 
Council has worked closely with Saints and HCA in the last eighteen months 
to help facilitate forms of enabling development on land that the Club owns or 
already leases from others. Agreements between the Saints and suitable third 
party developer/ occupiers have not yet been achievable. The Saints have 
indicated that they like to have an agreed facility with this Council for loan 
finance of up to £5 million to support these plans. 

 
3.1.3 The revenue that could be generated from such increased spectator capacity 

together with ancillary developments such as hotel and conference facilities, 
could help to underpin both clubs operational income and support their 
success in the future. Consequently, whilst also aiming to promote the wider 
growth and employment objectives within the Northampton Waterside 
Enterprise Zone, Cabinet agreed on 11 July 2012 to support a collaboration 
agreement approach with HCA. This approach included, amongst other things, 
the development of land within this Council’s freehold ownership, already let to 
Northampton Town Football Club Limited, which is presently laid out and used 
as an athletics facility. 
 

3.1.4 A developer has been identified that wishes to both work with NTFC in relation 
to their stadium plans and to take forward the development of land edged red 
on the attached plan, in combination with larger areas of HCA owned land. 

46



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/10/07/13  

Further detailed work needs to be completed to ensure that this company’s 
projections of value are judged to be deliverable and that the forms of physical 
development are acceptable in broad planning policy terms. 
 

3.1.5   A Joint Venture Agreement could deliver value for HCA and for this Council, 
on a basis that does not expose this Council to development risk and provides 
a cost efficient way of NTFC completing their stadium works and hotel scheme 
as part of a broader package of development. The value generated from such 
development, could help to support the costs of stadium improvements. That 
would require this Council to agree, after first sharing appropriate value with 
NTFC to reflect their legitimate long leasehold interest in the land edged red, 
to use its residual proceeds of development to reduce the club’s debt 
associated with the stadia expansion. Similarly, HCA could choose to apply its 
larger pro rata share of development proceeds to effectively support 
investment in Stadia improvements.  
 

3.1.5 NTFC and Saints would both wish to fund their own development proposals 
with loan finance from this Council. The Council is able to access funding on 
more favourable terms than those obtainable in the general market. The 
market for development funding is, in any event, very restricted at present 
save for certain limited commercial building types in London and in prestige 
locations in a few major cities. The expansion of the stadia and ancillary 
facilities of both clubs would provide an important short term and longer term 
boost to the local economy, within the Northampton Waterside Enterprise 
Zone. It would help to generate new employment and stimulate and sustain 
wider economic activity in the Town. The expansion of the stadia and the 
enhanced facilities would also have positive social benefits, resulting from the 
improved sporting facilities created and the associated opportunities that they 
can generate for community sport in Northampton. 
 

3.1.6 NTFC may wish to agree a basis with another professional sports club to 
share the use of sporting facilities at Sixfields Stadium. This could provide 
benefits for NTFC, the other Club and support additional economic activity in 
the Town over an agreed period. Importantly, it would generate additional 
revenue income for NTFC. 
 

3.1.7 Alongside these important physical developments, proposals have been 
developed to connect the “Love Northampton” brand, developed to promote 
Northampton to residents, county residents, and visitors, with the 
internationally recognised brand of Northampton Saints. It is proposed to enter 
into a one-year agreement. This partnership involves the provision of a series 
of significant promotional opportunities and benefits which will be used to 
promote Northampton to visitors (whether visiting supporters or from the 
county and the region), to inward investors and to town residents who are 
Saints supporters.  
 

3.1.8 This programme, detailed at Appendix 2, will give a considerable boost to the 
promotion of the town and thereby the economic well-being of the Borough. 
The agreement contains the option to renew this agreement in 2014. A fee of 
£100,000 has been agreed with Northampton Saints for this innovative 
partnership, possibly the first of its kind. This fee and any other associated 

47



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/10/07/13  

costs will be met from reserves earmarked for the economic development of 
Northampton. 

 
 
3.2 Issues 
 
3.2.1 The loan sums sought by the two clubs are significant. The Council would 

need to ensure that it is satisfied, before advancing funding to either club, that: 
 

(i)      There would be no net initial or later costs to the Council of setting up, 
administering and servicing any borrowing it in turn makes,  whether via 
the Public Works Loans Board or from any other external source, to in turn 
provide loan finance to the clubs. 
 

(ii)      There is sufficient tangible security offered by the clubs to the Council from 
the time of taking loan finance until full repayment is made. In the case of 
the Saints this could be through the Council being granted a legal charge 
on Franklins Gardens. In the case of NTFC this may be via legal charges 
on a combination of assets or other appropriate arrangements. 

 
(iii)      The length of the loan and its repayment are linked to the timing of 

additional revenue generated by both clubs from the expansion, with the 
principle being any monies loaned should be repaid in the shortest 
possible time. 

 
(iv)      The income projections from additional revenue generated by both clubs as 

a result of expansion is sufficient to service debt owed to the Council, after 
taking into account any capital sums that are, objectively, judged very likely 
to become available to the clubs in the short to medium term. 

 
(v)      In the case specifically of NTFC’s proposed hotel development, there are 

robust contractual arrangements in place between NTFC and a financially 
sufficient third party concerning certainty of minimum levels of income for a 
suitable minimum period of years. 

 
3.2.2 Land at Sixfields was subject to many years of tipping and landfill. Whilst 

waste material was removed from the area of the Stadium complex prior to its 
construction in the early 1990’s, surrounding land owned by HCA has only 
being subject to very limited remediation. The resulting abnormal ground 
conditions create additional challenges and costs for development. The 
Council and HCA would need to be sufficiently confident that any development 
proposals would be deliverable in practice, prior to entering into any formal JV 
arrangement. 
 

3.2.3 The relocation of the athletics facilities and the availability of alternative 
facilities during development stages would need to be addressed, as part of 
any comprehensive development scheme. There are existing contractual 
rights in favour of Rugby and Northampton Athletics Club enforceable against 
NTFC in respect of the facilities within the land edged red upon the attached 
plan. 

 

48



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/10/07/13  

3.2.4 The potential issues associated with “State Aid” within European law would 
need to be properly considered in the context of (i) the Council providing loan 
finance to private and public companies and (ii) any financial support that the 
Council may choose to provide by way of using its development proceeds 
from any Joint Venture Agreement at Sixfields to reduce the quantum of debt 
owed by NTFC to the Council. There may be limitations on the amounts that 
may be made available in both situations. 
 

3.2.5 This Council owes a duty to the many supporters of both clubs resident in the 
Town to avoid providing finance arrangements to either Club that they are not 
objectively able to repay. Due to the stringent rules of the relevant governing 
bodies of the clubs any financial insolvency would lead to significant 
detrimental penalties, this could in turn lead to the risks of relegation and 
associated negative impacts. 
 

3.2.6  The existing Lease of Sixfields Stadium dated 13 April 2004 made between 
this Council and NTFC contains restrictions on sub-letting or sharing 
possession of the sporting facilities, save in relatively limited circumstances 
and for particular purposes. A variation of the lease would be required to 
permit NTFC to complete any ‘ground share’ agreement with another 
professional sports club. 
 

 
3.3 Choices (Options) 
 

3.3.1   
(a) This Council could choose not to make loan finance available to one or both 
clubs. This would avoid or limit any financial risk being taken by the Council. It 
would though similarly limit the scope of expansion plans, by one or both clubs, to 
only the funding/ enabling developments they could attract in the private market.   
(b) This Council could choose not to enter into any JV Agreement with HCA, 
private developer and NTFC. Rationally it would not do so nor agree to transfer 
land at nominal initial value, if the projections from development were not judged 
to be realisable and/or the types of development were not supported in general 
terms.  
(c) This Council could choose not to agree the principle of using any development 
proceeds it would receive from a viable JV Agreement to reduce the balance of 
any loan debt owed to the Council by NTFC. This would provide the Council, in 
those circumstances, with additional capital receipts to invest in other priorities in 
the Town. It would not however, help to generate the wider economic and social 
benefits arising from less indebted clubs and their consequent ability to generate 
employment and opportunities of different kinds for local people. 

 
3.3.2  
(a) This Council could choose to make loan finance available to the clubs on 
suitable, prudent terms to protect the position of this Council and the clubs. This 
would help support stadium expansion plans, create construction and permanent 
jobs and support wider benefits within the Enterprise Zone.  
(b) This Council could choose to enter into JV arrangements with HCA, private 
developer and NTFC, provided it considered that the terms were acceptable and 
the prospect of generating positive returns were sufficiently strong to justify the 
transfer of freehold land at the outset at nominal value. Participation in a 

49



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/10/07/13  

successful JV would deliver significant development within the Sixfields area. This 
would not only generate value for this Council, but would support the expansion of 
employment and other opportunities within this part of the Town. 
(c) This Council could choose to agree, subject to any legal restrictions, the 
principle of using any proceeds from a successful JV Agreements at Sixfields to 
indirectly support NTFC’s aspirations for stadia expansion and greater financial 
sustainability.  
 
3.3.3 
(a) The Council could choose not to enter into a partnership agreement to 
promote Northampton through connecting the Northampton Saints and “Love 
Northampton” brand, but this would preclude a significant opportunity to get 
county, national and international promotional benefits for Northampton with 
consequent economic well-being benefits. 

 
 
4. Implications (including financial implications) 

 
4.1 Policy 
 
4.1.1 Any wider land development proposals that would arise under the proposed 

JV arrangements would need to be consistent with the National Planning 
Policy Framework and with relevant local planning policies.  

 
4.2 Resources and Risk 
 
4.2.1 Capital:  Depending on the final loan agreement it is likely the loan will need to 

be treated as capital expenditure for the Council under Section 25 (1) (b) of 
the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) Regulations 2003. If 
this is the case the Council will need to approve the amount of the loans into 
its Capital Programme. Subject to the level of interest charged on the loans it 
may be classified as a “soft” loan which is likely to require separate disclosure 
in the Council’s Accounts. A capital sum might be realised from participation in 
a successful JV arrangement involving development of Council land (in 
combination with other adjacent land). This receipt could – if retained - provide 
a means of supporting other capital investment plans. 

 
4.2.2 Prudential Indicators: If the loans are treated as capital expenditure it will 

impact on the Council’s Prudential Indicators which it set in February 2013 as 
part of the Budget setting process. The loan will increase the Council’s Capital 
Financing Requirement (CFR), its underlying need to borrow to finance capital 
expenditure, and could lead to the Council breaking its Affordable Borrowing 
Limit (ABL). The ABL is the maximum the Council can borrow. When the 
budget was set for 2013/14 in February 2013 the position was as follows: 
 

Affordable Borrowing Limit (ABL)  £250.0m 
Forecast Long Term Borrowing  £215.8m 
 
Headroom        £34.2m 
 

The Council should have sufficient headroom in its ABL for 2013/14 to 
incorporate the loans without having to change its ABL, which would require a 

50



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/10/07/13  

full Council decision, during the financial year. In addition to its long term 
borrowing the Council may, from time to time, have to borrow temporarily short 
term to manage its cash flow commitments. This short term borrowing would 
impact on the headroom available. However, based on current forecasts there 
should be sufficient head room and this will be kept under review through the 
monitoring of the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy throughout the 
year.  
 

4.2.3 Treasury Management Strategy: If the loans are treated as capital expenditure 
the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Policy may need to be updated to 
reflect the repayment provisions of the loan. 
 

4.2.4 Revenue: If the Council was to provide loan finance to one or either Club it 
would need to ensure that this was provided in such a way so as to marry with 
the timing and extent of revenue impacts on the Council, arising from any 
external borrowing that it needed to make to fund this. The structure of any 
borrowing made would need to have regard to the business plan of the 
stadium improvements and any other developments for which loan finance 
was provided to either club.  
 

4.2.5  Risk: The security provided by either club for any loan finance provided to 
them would need to be sufficient to ensure that the Council was not exposed 
to the risk of default. Without such security being in place, the consequential 
ongoing revenue liabilities of the Council servicing debt as a result could 
negatively affect delivery of other services to the public. 
 

4.2.6 The connecting of the “Love Northampton” and Northampton Saints brands 
through the proposed partnership agreement provides very significant 
promotional benefits in a complete package, which will greatly enhance 
promotion of the Town and thereby the local economy. Funding will be from 
the Council’s reserves earmarked for economic development purposes. Given 
the immense standing of the Saints brand locally, nationally and 
internationally, no significant risks are associated with this partnership and it is 
for the Council to work with the Saints to maximise the benefits to the Town 
and local business, 

 
4.3 Legal 

 
4.3.1 Local authorities have powers under the Localism Act 2011 to act in the same 

manner as any other legal person, save where those powers are specifically 
limited by statute.  The making of loans would be permissible, subject to any 
statutory financial services or similar regulations that may be relevant. The 
fiduciary duty of the Council to the tax payer would require that there should 
be sufficiently robust arrangements concerning the repayment of any loans 
provided and adequate tangible security in place to cover the position in the 
event of default. 
 

4.3.2 The Council is under a general duty to achieve best value from the disposal of 
its land and property, arising under s.123 of the Local Government Act 1972. 
Any agreement to dispose of an interest in land for an initial nominal 
consideration, as part of a Joint Venture agreement with other parties, would 
only be legitimate where there was considered to be a strong objective 

51



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/10/07/13  

prospect of that agreement leading to a development return reflective of what 
could be achieved in the market generally.  
 

4.3.3 The Council would need to comply with EU law in relation to “State Aid” in the 
methodology of providing any direct or indirect financial support to either club, 
to assist in the promotion of the wider economic and social well-being of the 
Town. There are certain exemptions from ‘State Aid’ and the Council would 
need to ensure that the terms of any support provided were consistent with 
those. In some circumstances applications for exemptions may need to be 
made to EU bodies. If this was relevant, it could be a potentially delaying 
factor. Depending upon the quantum of actual loan finance sought, there may 
be a requirement to undertake an economic impact assessment.  
 

4.3.4 The Council has the necessary powers to undertake promotional activity to 
promote the town to residents, visitor and investors.  

 
4.4 Equality 
 
4.4.1 There are none specifically. Any development proposals linked to the 

proposals above would need to have regard to accessibility issues for disabled 
persons. 

 
4.5 Consultees (Internal and External) 
 
4.5.1 Rugby & Northampton Athletics Club 
 
4.6 How the Proposals deliver Priority Outcomes 
 
4.6.1 The proposals above would support: 

(a) The stated commitment of the Council to help support the aspirations of 
the major sport clubs in the Town. 

(b) The promotion of development, growth and job creation within the 
Northampton Waterside Enterprise Zone and in the wider Northampton 
economy, particularly the visitor economy. 

(c) Effective working with a key partner (HCA) to bring forward development 
on under-utilised publicly owned land for a variety of uses. 

 
4.7 Other Implications 
 
4.7.1 There are none specifically. 
 
 
5. Background Papers 
 

5.1 Cabinet Report dated 28 January 2008 -  Sixfields Stadium – Request for 
Lease Variations 

5.2 Cabinet Report dated 11 July 2012 -  Land at Sixfields – Development 
Strategy 

 
David Kennedy, Chief Executive 

Steven Boyes, Director of Regeneration, Enterprise and Planning 
Simon Dougall, Corporate Asset Manager 

52



Appendix 1

53



Appendix 1 

 
PARTNERSHIP AGREEMENT 

 
DATED:                       2013   
 
PARTIES: 
 
(1) NORTHAMPTON BOROUGH COUNCIL of Guildhall, Northampton NN1 1DE (“NBC”) 
 
(2) NORTHAMPTON RUGBY FOOTBALL CLUB LTD (Company number: 3139409) of Franklin’s 

Gardens, Weedon Road, Northampton, NN5 5BG (“the Club”). 
 
WHEREAS: 
 
(A) NBC wishes to have the support and co-operation of the Club in order; a) to attract supporters of 

opposing clubs to visit and stay in Northampton around the Club’s Home Games; b) to promote 
Northampton to the Club’s supporters who live outside Northampton; and c) to promote Northampton 
and its Enterprise Zone generally. 

 
(B) The Club has agreed to grant NBC the Rights set out below on the terms and conditions set out in 

this Agreement. 
 
IT IS AGREED AS FOLLOWS: 
 
1. DEFINITIONS 

 
1.1. In this Agreement the following terms shall have the meanings set out below: 
 

“Club Logo” means the logo attached at schedule 1 or such other logo as may be substituted 
therefore by the Club. 
 
“Composite Logo” means the logo attached as Schedule 3 or such other logo as substituted 
therefor by the parties to this Agreement.” 

 
“Force Majeure” means fire, flood, unavoidable accident, breakdown of equipment, riot, Act of God, 
enactment of an Act of Parliament, a cause or event arising attributable to war or any other event 
outside the reasonable control of the parties. 

 
“Ground” means the Club’s ground situated at Franklin’s Gardens or at any other stadium 
substituted by the Club therefore, including but not limited to all bars, hospitality suites, surrounding 
areas and car parks directly controlled by the Club. 

 
“Home Game” means any competitive rugby game played by the first team of the Club at the 
Ground. 

 
“Rights” means the rights set out in clause 4 of this Agreement. 

 
“Promotion Fees” means the fees payable by NBC as described in clause 3.1 (as may be adjusted 
in accordance with the remainder of clause 3). 

 
“NBC Logo” means either the logos attached at schedule 2 or such other logo as may be 
substituted therefore by NBC. 
 
“Term” means the period 1 July 2013 to 30 June 2014. 
 
“Year”  means each 12 month period commencing 1 July during the Term. 

 
2. TERM AND RIGHT OF FIRST NEGOTIATION 
 

54



2.1 This Agreement is exclusive to the parties and shall have effect for the Term, unless terminated 
earlier in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement. 

 
 
2.2 Provided this Agreement has not been terminated, the parties to this Agreement agree to enter into 

good faith negotiations during the period 1 February 2014 to 31 March 2014 to negotiate a new 
agreement on market terms acceptable to both parties.  In the event that terms of a new agreement 
have not been agreed by 1 April 2014 the Club will be free to negotiate and enter into a similar 
sponsorship agreement with a third party. 

 
3 PROMOTION FEE & PERFORMANCE BONUS 
 
3.1 In consideration of the Club undertaking to provide NBC with the Rights set out in this Agreement, 

NBC agrees, subject to the terms of this Agreement, to pay the Club £100,000 (one hundred 
thousand pounds) as a Promotion Fee. 

 
3.2 The Promotion Fees shall be paid in four equal instalments on 1 July, 1 October, 1 January and 1 

April during the Term. 
 
4. RIGHTS 
 
4.1 In consideration of the payment of the Promotion Fee, the Club hereby grants to NBC the following 

Rights during the Term: 
 

4.1.1 The right to refer to the Club as a “Partner” and/or “Love Northampton Ambassador”.  NBC 
shall have the right to use such designation, the Club Logo and/or Club Name and the 
images of players and staff in their capacity as players and staff of the Club in all advertising, 
marketing and promotional materials.  NBC agrees that such advertising, marketing and 
promotional materials shall not be detrimental to the image of the Club in any way.  NBC 
acknowledges that except for any rights conferred on NBC under this Agreement the Club 
Logo shall remain the exclusive property of the Club. 

 
4.1.2 The right to display on the perimeter of the Ground an advertising board, the costs of 

production, installation, repair and removal of such to be borne by NBC.   
 

4.1.3 Subject only to permission by the competition organisers, the right to promotional 
opportunities at Heineken Cup matches played at the Ground. 

 
4.1.4 The right to a visitor information stand at Home Games.  
 
4.1.5 The right to have the Composite Logo displayed on the Club’s official media backdrop. 
 
4.1.6 The right for the NBC Logo to appear on the front cover of all official Club programmes for 

each Home Game. 
 
4.1.7 The right to a half page column advertisement in each edition of the Club’s programme at 

each Home Game. 
 

4.1.8 The right to have a 20 second long NBC advertisement displayed on the Club’s Big Screen 6 
times at each Home Game. 

 
4.1.9 The right to have a NBC Promotional article displayed on the Club’s internet website and, at 

NBC’s cost, to establish a hotlink between NBC’s website and the Club’s official website. 
 
4.1.10 The right for NBC to use an Executive Box at no further cost for a maximum of 16 guests at 

four Home Games.  Food, beverage and catering costs are to be met by NBC. 
 
4.1.11 The right to have conference and meeting rooms made available at no hire charge provided 

that NBC shall meet all catering and other costs incurred by the Club in hosting such 
functions. 

55



 
4.1.12 The right to request the involvement of Club directors and players in promotional activity, 

including but not limited to attending special functions and meeting invited guests.   NBC 
shall give the Club as much notice as possible and the Club shall respond to all requests in 
good faith but it is acknowledged that the Club shall put playing commitments and player 
welfare requirements as priority over non-playing appearances. 

 
4.1.13 The right to have the Club distribute a NBC promotional leaflet to its supporter base and to 

visiting clubs for the purpose of encouraging its supporters to visit Northampton on Home 
Match days. 

 
4.1.14 The right to host a private lunch, dinner or function for a select party including Saints players 

and directors at cost only. 
 
4.1.15 The right to promotional opportunities with and through the Club’s supporters travelling 

under the Club’s arrangements to matches played at away grounds in the Heineken Cup 
competition. 
 

4.1.16 The right to 40 match tickets free of charge at a Home Game of the Club’s choice for the use 
of such guests as approved by the Club. 
 

4.1.17 The right to discuss and develop the commercial use of the Composite Logo on 
merchandise sold by the Club through its normal retail channels provided always that NBC 
may at its own cost produce and supply to and require the Club to offer for sale such 
merchandise items and the Club shall be entitled to retain proceeds of the sale therefrom. 

 
4.2 NBC acknowledges that the Club may be contractually obliged to deliver a ‘clean stadium’ (free of 

branding) or otherwise be restricted in delivering  certain rights from time to time by the organisers 
of any competition in which the Club may participate and further acknowledges that such 
contractual obligations shall not constitute a breach of this Agreement. 
 

5.  CLUB OBLIGATIONS 
 
The Club represents, warrants and undertakes to NBC: 
 

 5.1 That it has and will continue to have full authority to enter into this Agreement and to undertake all of 
the obligations on its part contained herein. 

 
5.2 That the Club will not enter into any agreement to play any of its designated home fixtures in the 

Aviva Premiership, the Heineken Cup pool rounds or the LV=Cup at any venue other than the 
Ground. 

 
5.3 That all press releases to the media directly involving NBC shall be agreed in advance by NBC. 
 
5.4 That it shall take all responsible steps to ensure that the Club and its officials and players will uphold 

the good name, image and reputation of NBC and the town of Northampton and shall not make any 
defamatory or derogatory statements or engage in conduct which is likely to bring into disrepute the 
name and/or image and/or reputation of either. 

 
6.  TERMINATION  
 
6.1 Either party may, without prejudice to any other rights or remedies which may arise pursuant to this 

Agreement or otherwise, terminate this Agreement forthwith by giving written notice to the other 
party in the event that the other party commits a material breach of this Agreement and, in the case 
of such breach being capable of remedy, does not remedy such breach within 30 days of being 
given notice in writing specifying the breach and requiring its remedy. 

 
6.2 Either party may terminate this Agreement forthwith by notice in writing to the other if: 
 

56



6.2.1 The others enter into liquidation or dissolution otherwise than for the purpose of an 
amalgamation or reconstruction. 

 
6.2.2 The other ceases to carry on business, has a receiver or administrator appointed over all or 

any part of its assets or undertaking, or enters into any compromise arrangement with its 
creditors. 

 
 
 

7.   NOTICE 
  
7.1 Any notice to be received under this Agreement shall be in writing and served either by hand or by 

first class post or by facsimile and shall be deemed served 48 hours after posting if sent by post, on 
delivery if delivered by hand and on completion of transmission if sent by facsimile. 

  
7.2 For the purpose of clause 7.1 the parties’ contact details are 

 
7.2.1 Northampton Borough Council, Guildhall, Northampton NN1 1DE for the attention of the Chief 

Executive or such person as NBC may notify the Club from time to time. 
 
7.2.2 Northampton Rugby Football Club Limited, Franklin’s Gardens, Weedon Road, Northampton, 

NN5 5BG, for the attention of Allan Robson or such other person as the Club may notify NBC 
from time to time. 

 
8.  FORCE MAJEURE 
 
8.1 If an event of Force Majeure occurs which is outside the reasonable control of a party, then the party 

prevented from complying with its obligations shall give immediate notice of the Force Majeure event 
to the other party in writing setting out the consequences or likely consequence thereof. 

 
8.2 In the event that either Party is prevented from complying with any or all of its obligations under this 

Agreement by a Force Majeure event it shall take all reasonable steps to minimise the 
consequences of such Force Majeure event. 

 
 
 
9.  CONFIDENTIALITY 
  
Except as otherwise agreed in writing the parties agree to keep all terms of this Agreement strictly 
confidential at all times, subject to any disclosure which may be required by the law. 
 
10. ENTIRE AGREEMENT 
  
10.1 This Agreement contains the entire agreement of the parties with respect to the subject matter of this 

Agreement and cancels and supersedes all prior agreements between the parties. 
 
10.2 This Agreement shall not be amended, modified or supplemented except in writing signed by duly 

authorised representatives of the parties. 
 
11. WAIVER 
 

 Failure of the either party at any time to demand strict performance by the other of any of the obligations 
herein shall not be constituted as an ongoing waiver and each party may at any time demand strict and 
complete performance by the other of its obligations. 
 
12. JURISDICTION  
  
The construction, validity and performance of this Agreement shall be governed in all respects by English 
law and the parties hereby submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of the English courts with regard to any claim 
or matter arising in connection with this Agreement. 

57



 
Signed by      ) 
For and on behalf of      ) 
NORTHAMPTON BOROUGH COUNCIL  ) 
 
 
Signed by ALLAN ROBSON    ) 
For and on behalf of      ) 
NORTHAMPTON RUGBY FOOTBALL CLUB LTD ) 

SCHEDULE 1 
 

“Club Logo” 
 
 
 
 

THE CREST 

 
 

NAME LOGO 

NORTHAMPTON 

SAINTS 
 

THE STICKMAN 

 
 
 
 
 
 

  

58



SCHEDULE 2 
 

“NBC Logo” 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

  

59



SCHEDULE 3 
 

“Composite Logo” 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

60



 

61



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/09/07/13 

 
 

CABINET REPORT 

 
AGENDA STATUS:  PUBLIC 

 

Cabinet Meeting Date: 
 
Key Decision: 
 
Within Policy: 
 
Policy Document: 
 
Directorate: 
 
 
Accountable Cabinet Members:  
 
 
 
 
Ward(s) 

 

 

17th July 2013 
 
Yes 
 
Yes 
 
No 
 
Regeneration, Enterprise & Planning 
and Customers and Communities 
 
Councillor David Mackintosh 
Councillor Tim Hadland 
Councillor Brandon Eldred 
Councillor Mike Hallam 

Castle 

 
 
 

1. Purpose 

 
1.1 To set out the council’s strategic proposals for improving Northampton Town 

Centre, incorporating its response to Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s May 
2013 Retail Experience report. 

 
 
2. Recommendations 

 
That Cabinet: 
 
2.1 Reaffirms the town centre as a major strategic priority for the council and 

agrees to add it as an improvement project to Northampton Alive. 

2.2 Agrees to establish a Town Team to lead the town centre improvement 
agenda, as per paragraphs 3.1.76/7 to provide the strategic vision and 
operational management for Northampton town centre and to oversee a 
detailed plan for implementing the actions arising from this report. 

Report Title 
 

 
Northampton Town Centre – The Next Steps 

Appendices 

0 

Agenda Item 8

62



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/09/07/13 

2.3 In accordance with the Administration’s manifesto commitment to appoint a 
High Street Czar, agrees to appoint local businessman Stephen Church for a 
period of four months, for the purpose of producing an independent report 
proposing a strategic and collaborative vision for the town centre and agrees 
that the position will be known as Town Centre Summit Chairman. 
 

2.4 Further to paragraph 2.3, agrees to host a Town Centre Summit, on 20th 
September 2013, led by the Town Centre Summit Chairman, to allow partners 
and stakeholders to actively inform the town centre vision.  

2.5 Agrees to introduce a regular town centre newsletter from the council to town 
centre businesses to keep stakeholders well informed and up to date about 
what is going on.  

2.6 Agrees to a summer trial of free car parking all day Saturday and for two hours 
on week days during the whole of August 2013 in the council’s pay on exit car 
parks (St John’s, Mayorhold and St Michaels), with Sundays continuing to be 
free all day, leading to a reduction in income that could be £180,000. 

2.7 Further to recommendation 2.6, agrees to review the impact of car parking 
reductions following the August 2013 trial. 

2.8 In partnership with Northamptonshire County Council (subject to agreement of 
the detailed business case), approves the utilisation of the £100,000 received 
by the council from the Town Centre Innovation Fund to implement pay on exit 
at the Grosvenor Centre Car Park, including the option to pay by credit and 
debit card. 

2.9 Further to recommendation 2.8, agrees that pay on exit machines are procured 
from Metric Group Limited for the reasons set out in paragraphs 4.2.5/6. 

2.10 Endorses the proposals in the council’s 2013/14 Capital Programme to install 
improved car park signs on the main entrance roads into the town centre to 
direct motorists to their most convenient car park and provide up to the minute 
information on where spaces are available.  

2.11 Acknowledges the contribution that Northampton Town Centre Limited (the 
Town Centre BID), has made to improving the Town Centre. 

2.12 Agrees to commence consultation with local businesses on the creation of a 
business improvement district for Wellingborough Road. 

2.13 Acknowledges the challenge that empty shops and negligent and/or absent 
landlords present to the council’s ambitions for a vibrant and thriving town 
centre and requests that an action plan is promptly developed to address the 
problem with a public register of landlords. 

2.14 Approves proposals for major improvements to the public realm in the 
Cultural Quarter, to be delivered in partnership with Northamptonshire County 
Council, set to be outlined later this year. 

2.15 Endorses the establishment of a town centre ranger post, dedicated to 
keeping the town centre in pristine condition. 

63



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/09/07/13 

2.16 Makes a commitment to try to reduce the blight of discarded chewing gum on 
town centre streets. 

2.17 In partnership with Northamptonshire County Council, agrees to launch a formal 
consultation process to determine whether to re-open the middle section of 
Abington Street to vehicles to allow easier access for shoppers and visitors to 
the town centre. 

2.18 Further to recommendation 2.17, agrees to relocate the Francis Crick 
Memorial Statue to a suitable location.  

2.19 Agrees to rollout free Wi-Fi across the entire town centre.  

2.20 Agrees that an exciting programme of summer events is developed to bring 
more visitors into the town centre, including regular performances provided 
from a town centre bandstand.   

2.21 Agrees that dedicated busker spots are created around the town centre to 
encourage more and better quality buskers. 

2.22 Agrees that a review of the town’s night time economy is undertaken to make 
certain the council, local businesses, Northamptonshire Police and other 
partners work together effectively to ensure the town centre is safe, as well as 
vibrant, and has something to attract a wide cross section of visitors. 

2.23 Acknowledges the problem of street drinkers and beggars in the town centre 
and requests that an action plan is promptly developed to address the problem. 

2.24 Endorses the work currently being undertaken, in partnership with 
Northamptonshire County Council, on a pioneering urban bicycle-hire 
scheme, to be implemented in the town centre during the summer. 

2.25 Agrees that a public consultation is undertaken on future of the Market Square 
fountain during the summer of 2013. 

2.26 Accepts all of the recommendations made in Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee’s May 2013 Retail Experience report and thanks Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee for its valuable work. 
 

2.27 Endorses the allocation of £195,000 from the New Homes Bonus Reserve, in 
accordance with the delegations in the Constitution, to fund recommendations 
2.6, 2.18 and 2.19 in 2013/14 and, for all of the remaining recommendations 
that have a financial impact, with the exception of recommendation 2.8, agrees 
that they will be funded from previously approved revenue and capital budgets. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

64



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/09/07/13 

3. Issues and Choices 

 
3.1 Report Background 
  

Current position  
 
3.1.1 Determined partnership working between the council, businesses, the Town 

Centre Business Improvement District and other partners has enabled 
Northampton town centre to perform better than many other similar size town 
centres since the onset of the economic downturn in 2007.  Nonetheless, 
Northampton has not escaped the recession entirely unscathed, evidenced by 
factors such as a reduction in footfall and a rise in the empty shop rate. 

3.1.2 A change in political leadership of the town has brought to bear renewed 
energy and ambition for the future of the town centre.  There is now clear 
recognition of the contribution a vibrant, thriving town centre will make to the 
economic and social prosperity of Northampton, and the wider county. 

3.1.3 In the past two years, many improvements to the town centre have been 
implemented or set in train, including:  

3.1.3.1 Free and reduced price car parking successfully introduced in the council’s 
town centre car parks in October 2011 to attract visitors to the town centre 
and to encourage them to dwell longer. 

3.1.3.2 Designation of the prestigious Waterside Enterprise Zone to promote 
investment, jobs and growth in the town. 

3.1.3.3 Redevelopment of Northampton Railway Station on the site of the historic 
castle, which now forms a heritage gateway to the town. 

3.1.3.4 Worked with Northamptonshire County Council on developing proposals 
for the Angel Street office accommodation regeneration project which will 
bring thousands of office workers into the town centre, having a major 
impact on the town centre economy. 

3.1.3.5 Worked with the University of Northampton to enable the construction of 
student residential accommodation for nearly 500 students on the former 
St John’s surface car park site. 

3.1.3.6 Supported the University of Northampton’s relocation proposals that will 
see them move in 2018 to a modern new campus at Avon Nunn Mills, 
within the Waterside Enterprise Zone. 

3.1.3.7 Secured agreement for a 105 bed hotel at Albion Place, bringing both 
visitors and jobs to the town centre. 

3.1.3.8 Designation of a Cultural Quarter in the town centre, encompassing 
Northampton’s key cultural venues. 

3.1.3.9 Extensively refurbished Northampton Museum and Art Gallery, significantly 
improving one of the town centre’s main visitor attractions. 

3.1.3.10 Launch of the Love Northampton web site and tourist information guide to 
encourage more visitors to the town centre. 

65



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/09/07/13 

3.1.3.11 Construction underway of a smart, new, fit for purpose, bus interchange, 
enabling demolition of the dilapidated and outdated Greyfriars bus station. 

3.1.3.12 Provision of free Wi-Fi on the Market Square.  

3.1.3.13 Delivered major improvements to Abington Street public realm, giving the 
town centre a welcome makeover. 

3.1.3.14 Major improvements proposed to public realm in the Drapery to enhance 
the appearance of the area around the new bus interchange. 

3.1.3.15 The creation of a town centre ranger post, dedicated to keeping the town 
centre in pristine condition 

3.1.3.16 Resolved the issues caused by skateboarders in the town centre by 
creating a modern skate park, with café and toilet facilities set to open 
shortly. 

3.1.3.17 In partnership with the police and the Town Centre BID, supported the 
‘Don’t Kill with Kindness’ campaign, highlighting the dangers of giving 
money to beggars. 

3.1.3.18 Addressed the problem of chuggers in the town centre by entering into a 
voluntary agreement with the Public Fundraising Regulatory Association 
(PFRA) which controls the behaviour of and severely restricts the number 
and location of chuggers operating in the town centre. 

3.1.3.19 In accordance with the Administration’s manifesto commitment to support 
the Northampton Arts Collective (now known as NN), worked with 
Northamptonshire County Council to find them a suitable new home in the 
heart of the town’s recently designated Cultural Quarter.  

3.1.3.20 Hosted our biggest ever programme of events in 2012, including Godiva, 
Olympic Torch, Music Festival, bringing thousands of visitors into the town 
centre. 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee – Retail Experience (May 2013) 

3.1.4 Between May 2012 and May 2013 an overview and scrutiny panel undertook 
an in depth review to:  

• Investigate how NBC can support the town centre business community 

• Investigate how NBC can support local businesses throughout the 
development period of any major building projects in and close by to the 
town centre (i.e. Grosvenor; bus interchange; university accommodation)  

• Identify and examine good practice from other boroughs   

• Identify ways to develop greater involvement / engagement with local, 
regional and national businesses in public land improvement initiatives 
 
 
 

66



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/09/07/13 

3.1.5 As a result of the retail experience review, Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
has today made recommendations to this Cabinet meeting.  It is proposed that 
all recommendations are accepted by Cabinet, although it should be noted 
that virtually all of the recommendations have already been implemented or 
are currently in the process of being implemented. 

3.1.6 Information about how the recommendations have already been implemented 
is provided below: 

3.1.6.1 Love Northampton is the high profile promotion campaign developed by 
the council and key partners to market and publicise the town’s offer and 
attractions and what’s going on here (O&S recommendations 6.1.1-3). 

3.1.6.2 There are already busking locations identified in the town centre which are 
in regular use.  There are plans this summer to further enhance the town 
centre street entertainment offer by raising the profile of busking locations, 
to encourage more buskers into the town centre (O&S recommendation 
6.1.4). 

3.1.6.3 There are also exciting plans in development to create a town centre 
equivalent of the successful Bands in the Park programme (O&S 
recommendation 6.1.4). 

3.1.6.4 Retailers (other town centre businesses) and residents are routinely 
notified of major developments through a variety of mechanisms including 
letters, flyers, emails and notices.  A town centre newsletter will be 
launched later in the year to further improve communication with town 
centre businesses, residents and visitors (O&S recommendation 6.1.5). 

3.16.5 Free and reduced price car parking has, and continues to be, broadly 
advertised to residents of the town.  Indeed, the offer has been well utilised 
by the public, leading to a significant increase in ticket sales (O&S 
recommendation 6.1.6). 

3.1.6.6 In the past, local artists have utilised empty shops.  Various other initiatives 
have also been implemented to approve the appearance of empty shops 
(O&S recommendation 6.1.7). 

3.1.6.7 Funding is currently promoted to local businesses through the council’s 
connections with Northamptonshire Enterprise Partnership (O&S 
recommendation 6.1.8). 

3.1.6.8 The council’s planning policies are under regular review to ensure, in so far 
as the law permits, they support the council’s ambitions for a thriving and 
vibrant town centre (O&S recommendation 6.1.9). 

3.1.6.9 The council has been involved in and has assisted with the communication 
of pop up shops and exhibitions (O&S recommendation 6.1.10). 

3.1.6.10 The intention to appoint a town centre Czar was clearly stated in the 
manifesto that saw the current Administration elected to power and, 
indeed, this Cabinet report proposes an appointment to the position (O&S 
recommendation 6.1.11). 

67



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/09/07/13 

3.1.6.11 EMS, the council’s environmental services partner, is contractually 
required to provide a consistent standard of cleansing and maintenance to 
the town centre and effective monitoring and reporting arrangements are in 
place to ensure standards are met.  EMS works closely with the council, its 
partners and the Town Centre BID via a variety of mechanisms to 
understand needs.  Robust resources and systems are in place to ensure 
enforcement action is used as an effective tool in maintaining cleanliness 
in the town centre and arrangement are in place to allow problems to be 
reported and dealt with quickly, including an innovative ‘report it’ app (O&S 
recommendations 6.1.12-20). 

3.1.6.12 The council actively works with its town centre partners on an ad hoc basis 
and in more formal arenas such as the town centre forum and the town 
centre BID to drive improvements in the town centre on a broad range of 
matters, including traffic management and improvements to the public 
realm (O&S recommendations 6.1.21, 22 and 24). 

3.1.6.13 Through the Northamptonshire Waste Partnership, the council contributes 
funding to a number of waste education officers who work closely with 
schools to encourage recycling (O&S recommendation 6.1.23).  

Central Area Action Plan 

3.1.7 The adoption of the Central Area Action Plan (CAAP) earlier this year marks a 
key milestone in the future development of the town centre, providing a robust, 
but flexible, planning framework from which further town centre development 
can flow. 

Northampton Alive 

3.1.8 In March 2012 Northampton Alive was launched, providing an aspirational 
vision for the regeneration of Northampton, marking the start of a far more 
coherent and determined approach to the town’s future development. 

3.1.9 Focused around Northampton’s major regeneration projects, Northampton 
Alive has unequivocally set out the town’s ambitious regeneration agenda. 

3.1.10 The new bus interchange is an early success of Northampton Alive.  Enabling 
the demolition of the outdated 1970s Greyfriars bus station and creating space 
for prime location retail development in its place, the smart new facility will 
open for business in spring 2014. 

3.1.11 Under the Northampton Alive banner, the Council continues to work with Legal 
and General to bring the Grosvenor Centre extension forward, but the 
proposed large out of town retail development at Rushden Lakes is making 
progress on this project more difficult. 

3.1.12 With strong political leadership in place and the planning and regeneration 
context firmly set, the environment is now considered right for the town centre 
to be reaffirmed as a major strategic priority for the council and to therefore be 
added to Northampton Alive. 

 

 

68



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/09/07/13 

Waterside Enterprise Zone 

3.1.13 The largest in the UK, the Waterside Enterprise Zone was launched in 2011.  
It stretches from the western edge of Northampton across to the town centre. 
Focused on innovation and enterprise, its purpose is to promote investment, 
jobs and growth in the town.   

3.1.14 The Enterprise Zone offers a broad range of benefits to attract new 
businesses to Northampton, as well as the pre-existing advantages of 
investing in a well-connected dynamic town. 

3.1.15 Covering more than 20 sites along the River Nene, the Enterprise Zone offers 
an ideal location to encourage businesses to relocate and grow in 
Northampton.  With the potential to significantly enhance the economic 
viability of the town centre, the council is confident that it will lead to the 
creation of a vibrant commercial district, including both small and medium size 
businesses and major global brands. 
 

3.1.16 The University of Northampton has announced that it will relocate to Avon 
Nunn Mills, a prime site within the Enterprise Zone, bringing more jobs to the 
town centre and massively increasing town centre footfall when it opens for 
business in its modern new campus in 2018. 
 

3.1.17 Nationwide has also announced plans to look at the potential to relocate to the 
Enterprise Zone, bringing in excess of 2,000 jobs into the town centre, which 
will be another large boost to the Town Centre economy. 
 
Cultural Quarter 

3.1.18 In January 2013 the council designated an area of the town centre as the 
Cultural Quarter.  Located in Guildhall Road and Derngate, the following key 
cultural venues are located within it: 

• The Northampton Museum and Art gallery (the council’s main museum) 

• NN  (the newly located Northampton Arts Collective) 

• The award winning Royal and Derngate Theatres 

• 78 Derngate (the restored Rennie Mackintosh designed house) 

• The recently opened, Errol Flynn Film House, dubbed ‘a film house for film 
lovers’ 
 

3.1.19 Emerging opportunities exist for the Northampton Cultural Quarter arising from 
the Waterside Enterprise Zone and development initiatives such as the Angel 
Street and St John’s regeneration projects. 

3.1.20 A three dimensional master planning exercise is currently underway which will 
set out both the physical development of the area and the activities and 
interactions that will go on there. 

3.1.21 One of the early successes of the Cultural Quarter will be major improvements 
to the public realm that will be implemented later this year. 

69



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/09/07/13 

Business Improvement District 

3.1.22 A business improvement district (BID) is a defined area within which 
businesses, following a successful ballot, pay an additional one percent 
business rates in order to fund projects within the levy area to enhance the 
area and promote business activity. 

3.1.23 In January 2011, a BID was established for the town centre.  Known as 
Northampton Town Centre Ltd (NTCL), the town centre BID has worked 
effectively with the council to deliver many improvements, adding to the 
economic prosperity of the town centre. 

3.1.24 Northampton Independents Day, held on July 4, is a great example of the type 
of campaign undertaken by NTCL.  It promoted the town centre’s independent 
traders, championing their individuality, customer service and commitment to 
quality.  Part of the third national Independents’ Day, NTCL organised a series 
of events aimed at raising the profile of local traders and putting smaller firms 
in the spotlight. 

3.1.25 On the edge of the town centre, Wellingborough Road is a busy and diverse 
part of the town, comprising mainly small independent businesses, such as 
bars, restaurants, cafes, high fashion retail and other specialist shops.  It is 
entirely different in character and culture from the area within the boundary of 
the town centre BID.   

3.1.26 It was therefore appropriate that it was not included in the town centre BID 
boundary.  It is however an area that potentially could benefit from its own BID 
and so it is proposed that consultation is undertaken with local businesses on 
the creation of a separate business improvement district for Wellingborough 
Road, with a decision to progress to a ballot of those businesses impacted by 
the end of September 2013.   

Town Centre Parking  

3.1.27 The council understands that convenient and reasonably priced car parking is 
one of the keys to improving access to the town centre and plays an important 
part in attracting visitors and supporting the local economy. 
 

3.1.28 An approach to car parking is required in the town centre that will support and 
enable economic growth and which will encourage and enhance the viability 
and vibrancy of the town centre.  
 

3.1.29 Two years ago, the council introduced free first hour and Sunday car parking 
and reduced price second hour car parking across its town centre car parks. 
 

3.1.30 This bold initiative has been a huge success in increasing usage of the town 
centre car parks generally and, particularly, in encouraging visitors to the town 
centre on Sundays. 

3.1.31 Car park ticket sales for all council car parks increased by nearly 29,000 (9%) 
for the first two months of 2012/13, compared to the same period in 2011/12. 

 

70



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/09/07/13 

3.1.32 Encouraged by the success of this initiative, it is now proposed to extend the 
free car parking offer during August 2013 to all day Saturday and two hours 
free on week days in the council’s pay on exit car parks (St John’s, Mayorhold 
and St Michaels).  Sunday Parking will, of course, continue to be free in all 
council car parks. 

3.1.33 An hour of free car parking, for technical reasons, has had to be limited to 
those multi-storey car parks that have pay on exit machines (St John’s, 
Mayorhold and St Michaels).  One of the main shoppers’ car parks, the 
Grosvenor Centre Car Park, therefore had to be excluded from this aspect of 
the initiative. 
 

3.1.34 It is proposed that investment is now made in upgrading the Grosvenor Centre 
car park to pay on exit so that it can be added to the one hour free initiative in 
time for the commencement of the Christmas shopping period in late 
November. 
 

3.1.35 The introduction of pay on exit to the Grosvenor Centre car park will also 
enable shoppers to dwell longer and will facilitate the introduction of credit and 
debit card payments. 
 

3.1.36 As part of this initiative, it is also proposed to introduce credit and debit card 
payments to the council’s existing pay on exit car parks (i.e. St John’s, 
Mayorhold and St Michaels) and to potentially provide pay on exit solutions in 
the Royal and Derngate Theatre and in the new hotel at Albion Place. 
 

3.1.37 It is proposed that the new pay on exit machines are procured from Metric 
Group Limited, who are the suppliers of the council’s existing pay on exit 
machines.   
 

3.1.38 Other imminent improvements to the town centre car parking offer, include 
already approved proposals in the council’s 2013/14 Capital Programme to 
install car park signs later in the year on the main entrances to the town centre 
to improve the visitor experience by directing motorists to their most 
convenient car park and by providing up to the minute information on where 
spaces are available. 
 

3.1.39 It is also likely that at least one new multi-storey car park will be provided 
adjacent to the town centre to ensure all car parking needs can be catered for. 
 
Empty Shops 
 

3.1.40 Empty shops present a challenge to the council’s ambitions for a vibrant and 
thriving town centre.   
 

3.1.41 Over the past two years, the council has supported the Town Centre BID to 
reduce the visible impact of empty shops through the hanging of attractive 
vinyls in empty shop windows. 
 

3.1.42 Empty town centre shops can often be a problem associated with negligent 
and/or absent landlords.  The Portas Review asserts that councils need to be 
proactive in managing the problem of empty town centre shops, using the 
powers and tools at their disposal.   

71



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/09/07/13 

3.1.43 Portas also brings new thinking on this issue, putting forward ideas about 
‘landlord registers’ and ‘empty shop management orders’.  Such ideas are 
worthy of further exploration. 
 

3.1.44 It is proposed that we introduce a public register of landlords for the town 
centre and undertake research to establish what else can be done to address 
this problem in Northampton. 
 
Night Time Economy 
 

3.1.45 The town centre is a vibrant and thriving night time destination.  The night time 
offer comprises a broad range of bars, restaurants, night clubs and other 
leisure venues, which make an important contribution to the economic viability 
of the town. 

3.1.46 It is proposed that a review of the night time economy is undertaken to ensure 
the council works as effectively as possible with night time economy 
businesses, the police and other partners in order to ensure the town centre 
remains as safe, clean and attractive at night time as it is during the day. 

3.1.47 Examples of effective partnership working include Pubwatch and Best Bar 
None, voluntary schemes, which promote and support good practice in 
licensed premises, to try to ensure a safe and secure environment. 

3.1.48 Alongside its more general responsibilities, the council recognises that it has 
an important role to play in the town centre as the Licensing Authority.   

3.1.49 The council understands that it is important to continue to be innovative and 
proactive in the way it uses its licensing powers and that it needs to actively 
consider using all of the authorities and tools available to it to try to ensure 
that night time visitors to the town centre feel welcome and are kept safe 
throughout their visit. 

3.1.50 Examples of this innovative and proactive approach are evidenced in the work 
recently undertaken to enable the council’s licensing committee to consider 
progressing to statutory consultation on the implementation of an Early 
Morning Restriction Order (although the committee, at its meeting on 18th 
June 2013, decided not to proceed with the proposal). 

3.1.51 Other innovative examples include ‘Reducing the Strength’, a partnership   
strategy, aimed at reducing violent crime and antisocial behaviour in the town 
centre associated with the consumption of super strength alcohol.  It is an 
entirely voluntary measure that encourages retailers to agree to stop selling 
cheap beers, lagers and ciders with 6.5% or more alcohol volume. 

Making the Town Centre Safe and Clean 

3.1.52 Working with the police and other partners, the council is committed to 
ensuring the town centre is a safe place to visit, live and work during both the 
day and night. 

3.1.53 Investment in CCTV and the appropriate deployment of staff, such as 
neighbourhood wardens, environmental crime officers and the new town 
centre ranger, help to reduce crime and the fear of crime in the town centre. 

72



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/09/07/13 

3.1.54 The council is aware that the presence of street drinkers and beggars detract 
from the attractiveness of the town centre and can make people feel 
threatened and unsafe. 

3.1.55 Campaigns such as ‘Don’t Kill with Kindness’ and ‘Reducing the Strength’, 
along with the provision of outreach workers are some of the ways in which 
the council has addressed this problem, which continues to be a priority for 
action. 

3.1.56 The council, with the support of the Police, implemented a Designated Public 
Places Order (DPPO) in March 2009 as an additional power to deal with the 
problem of alcohol related anti-social behaviour (ASB).  The DPPO gives 
Police and other accredited officers the power to confiscate alcohol from those 
drinking in a public place if it is associated with ASB or looks as though it 
could lead to ASB. 

3.1.57 As the order has been in place for over three years, in accordance with best 
practice, It is now proposed that the council undertake a public consultation on 
the impact of the DPPO on 17th and 18th July, to coincide with this year’s 
‘Don’t Kill with Kindness’ campaign.   

3.1.58 The council is also committed to high standards of cleanliness in the town 
centre.  Staff such as neighbourhood wardens, environmental crime officers 
and the new town centre ranger also help to keep the town centre clean and 
tidy. 

3.1.59 Chewing gum is recognised as a particular blight on town centre streets.  It is 
proposed that work is undertaken to identify best practice so that the effective 
action can be taken to address the problem on a sustainable basis. 

Britain in Bloom 

3.1.60 The council, working with Northampton Town Centre Ltd, other partners and 
local communities, enters Britain in Bloom each year.   The colourful floral 
displays have an impact borough-wide but there is a very strong focus on the 
town centre and its main entry roads.  

3.1.61 The rows of jardinières and the cascading hanging baskets that adorn the 
town centre throughout the spring and summer have become a popular 
attraction, bringing additional footfall and encouraging visitors to dwell longer. 

3.1.62 Last year, Northampton was awarded Silver Gilt in East Midlands in Bloom 
and silver in the national competition.  It is hoped to do even better this year, 
both regionally and nationally, and for the first time Northampton has entered 
the prestigious International Bloom competition.  

The Market 

3.1.63 In accordance with the Administration’s manifesto commitment, a review has 
taken place of the market governance arrangements, leading to the 
establishment of the Market Advisory Group.   

3.1.64 An independent chair was appointed to the Market Advisory Group, who 
worked diligently with market traders, elected members and council officers to 
agree an action plan, the implementation of which is well underway.   

73



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/09/07/13 

3.1.65 Until March 2013, the role of independent chair was undertaken by Raymond 
Everall.  It is now Dick Roberts. The council is grateful to them both for their 
hard work in helping the Market Advisory Group kick start a number of 
initiatives for the Market Square with market traders and the council.  

3.1.66 Many improvements to the market have already been delivered, including a 
rent reduction for stall holders plus new initiatives to attract shoppers and new 
traders to support the economic viability of the market, which is recognised as 
an important asset of the town centre. 

3.1.67 On 25th May 2013, the council, with the support of market traders, took part in 
the national Love Your Local Market campaign by organising family activities 
and entertainment on the Market Square.   

3.1.68 The purpose of the event was to promote the fresh produce and quality goods 
on sale in order to attract shoppers back to the market. 

3.1.69 A key feature of the Market Square is the fountain.  Installed in 2010, there 
have unfortunately been on-going problems with its operation associated with 
water quality.  These problems remain unresolved.  Work continues to find a 
solution. 

3.1.70 Clarity needs to be provided over the future of the fountain, therefore the 
council will undertake a public consultation on the fountain’s future during the 
summer of 2013. 

Bridge Street 

3.1.71 As well as the general economic situation around the world, other external 
challenges, outside of the council’s direct control, have caused difficulties for 
local businesses, including the fire at the former Angel Hotel on Bridge Street 
in January 2012  

3.1.72 A Listed Building Application has now been submitted to bring about the 
refurbishment of the former Angel Hotel and, subject to Listed Building 
Consent, it is hoped the owners will start work shortly. 

Town Centre Vision 
 

3.1.73 It is proposed that a High Street Czar, to be known as the Town Centre 
Summit Chairman, is appointed, for a period of four months, for the purpose of 
producing a report recommending a strategic and collaborative vision for the 
town centre. 
 

3.1.74 It is also proposed that the council hosts a Town Centre Summit, on 20th 
September 2013, led by the Town Centre Summit Chairman, to allow partners 
and stakeholders to actively inform the town centre vision.  

3.1.75 Once a vision is agreed, the next steps will be to quickly develop both the 
physical and economic regeneration strategies that are capable of delivering 
the level of innovation and improvement required to make the town centre 
vision a reality.   
 

3.1.76 Appropriate governance arrangements will also be put in place for the Town 
Centre in the form of a Portas style Town Team.   

74



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/09/07/13 

3.1.77 The town team’s membership will be drawn from senior politicians, leaders 
from key partner organisations, such as the University of Northampton 
(including representation from the leadership of the student union), 
Northamptonshire County Council, Northamptonshire Police, Northampton 
Town Centre Ltd and other town centre partners.  The Town Team’s purpose 
will be to drive swift progress and to constantly monitor and re-evaluate what 
needs to be done. 
 
 

3.2      Choices (Options) 

3.2.1 Cabinet can choose to accept or reject any or all of the 27 recommendations 
of this report, which provide a raft of major and more minor proposals for 
improving the town centre. 

3.2.2 The main choice for Cabinet to make is to decide if it wishes to determine the 
town centre to be amongst its key regeneration priorities and to therefore 
agree that the town centre should be added to the portfolio of strategic 
regeneration projects that comprise Northampton Alive. 

3.2.3 If indeed it does, then it should agree the major recommendations of this 
report which provide an effective way forward for the council to achieve this 
aim in collaboration with key town centre partners. 
 
 

4.  Implications (including financial implications) 

4.1 Policy 

4.1.1 Northampton Alive sets out the council’s policy position on regeneration.  The 
implications of this report would be to add to Northampton Alive the town 
centre as an additional improvement priority.   

 
4.1.2 The proposed town centre summit will lead to the establishment of a strategic 

and collaborative vision for the town centre and the subsequent development 
of both the physical and economic regeneration strategies that will translate 
the vision into reality.   

 
 
4.2 Resources and Risk 
 
 4.2.1 Most of the financial implications of this report have already been approved 

through the council’s revenue budget and/or its capital programme.  There are 
though some significant financial implications, not yet budgeted for, arising 
from the car park proposals set out in recommendations 2.6 - 2.8. 

 
4.2.2 The loss of budgeted income arising from increasing free car parking during 

the whole of August 2013 in the council’s pay on exit car parks (St John’s, 
Mayorhold and St Michaels) to all day Saturday and for two hours on week 
days could be £180,000 which will be met from the council’s New Homes 
Bonus (recommendation 2.6). 

 
 

75



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/09/07/13 

4.2.3 It should also be noted the review of the car parking changes following the 
August 2013 trial may have an impact on the Council’s future revenue budget 
position. This impact will be assessed as part of the review (recommendation 
2.7). 

 
4.2.4 The cost of implementing a pay on exit system at the Grosvenor Centre Car 

Park and associated enhancements is assessed at just under £200,000.  This 
will be funded using the £100,000 awarded to the council from the Town 
Centre Innovation Fund and with a £100,000 contribution from 
Northamptonshire County Council, subject to agreement of the business case 
(recommendation 2.8).   

 
4.2.5 It is proposed that the new pay on exit machines are procured from Metric 

Group at a cost of approximately £68,000.  Metric Group is the supplier of the 
council’s existing pay on exit machines.  This way forward will enable a more 
coherent, flexible and resilient approach to the future management of the car 
parking system in relation to matters such as information management, asset 
utilisation, processes and system compatibility, training and development and 
management maintenance of IT infra-structure. 

 
4.2.6 For reasons of best value, due consideration has been given to tendering for 

the supply of the new pay on exit machines, however it is judged that it would 
not be practicable to work with a different supplier and the benefits that may 
be achieved from testing the market would very likely be far outweighed by the 
dis-benefits. 

 
4.2.7 The council’s 2013/14 Capital Programme includes investment of £200,000 to 

fund car park signs that direct motorists to the most convenient car park. This 
investment was announced in the Budget for 2013/14. 

 
4.2.8  The cost of rolling out free Wi-fi across the town centre will be approximately 

£10,000 (recommendation 18) and will be met from the council’s New Homes 
Bonus. 

 
4.2.9 The cost of the summer events programme will be £5,000 (recommendation 

19) and will be met from the council’s New Homes Bonus. 
 
4.2.10 Funding for the town centre ranger post will be met from in year efficiencies 

achieved in the Director of Customer and Communities revenue budget. 
 
4.2.11 All risks arising from proposals set out in this report will be appropriately 

assessed and managed prior to implementation and on an on-going basis as 
deemed necessary. 

 
 
4.3      Legal 

 
4.3.1 The main legal implications arising from this report relate to the procurement 

of pay on exit machines and associated peripheries and changes to traffic 
regulation orders, arising from the proposed reduction in car park charges. 
 

4.3.2 These legal implications will be appropriately addressed if the relevant 
recommendations of this report are agreed. 

76



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/09/07/13 

4.4 Equality  
 
4.4.1 There are no equality implications directly arising from this report. 

 
4.4.2 Improvement of the town centre has the potential to bring benefits to all 

sections of Northampton’s communities and the wider county.  It will be 
important for these benefits to be understood and realised. 
 

4.4.3 The council has stringent standards in relation to equalities and any changes 
introduced will be appropriately screened, assessed and addressed to ensure 
they are fully consistent with these standards. 
 
 

4.5 Consultees (Internal and External) 
 

4.5.1 Consultation will take place with key partners and stakeholders in the town 
centre. 
 

4.5.2 The key consultation vehicle will be the Town Centre Summit which will be 
held on 20th September, 2013. 

4.5.3 Information gathered will be used to inform the vision and strategies that will 
be used to drive the regeneration of the town centre. 

 
 
4.6      How the Proposals Deliver Priority Outcomes 

 
4.6.1 One of the council’s main priorities is to ensure a successful vibrant town 

centre economy for Northampton to promote growth and prosperity for the 
town.   
 

4.6.2 Implementation of the proposals contained in this report has the potential to 
significantly contribute to this priority. 
 
 

4.7 Other Implications 
 

4.7.1 None  
 
 
Background Papers 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee – Retail Experience (May 2013) 
The Portas Review (available at www.communities.gov.uk/portasreview) 
 
 
 

Contact officers:  
 Steven Boyes (Director or Regeneration, Enterprise and Planning 

and Julie Seddon(Director of Customers and Communities) 
0300 330 7000 

77



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/09/07/13  

 

 

CABINET REPORT 

 

AGENDA STATUS: Public 
 

 
Cabinet Meeting Date: 
 
Key Decision: 
 
Within Policy: 
 
Policy Document: 
 
Directorate: 
 
Accountable Cabinet Member:  
 
Ward(s) 

  
17 July 2013 
 
No 
 
Yes 
 
No 
 
Chief Executive 
 
Cllr Alan Bottwood 
 
n/a 

 
 

1. Purpose 

 
1.1 To inform Cabinet of the Council’s outturn performance for 2012-13 monthly 

and quarterly performance indicators (1 April 2012 to 31 March 2013). 
 
2. Recommendations 

 
2.1 That Cabinet note the contents of the report and recommends actions to be 

taken, if any, to address the issues arising. 
 
3. Issues and Choices 

 
3.1 Report Background 
 
3.1.1 Performance data is collected across a range of locally developed indicators 

which are collected on a monthly, quarterly or annual basis and they form the 
basis of our performance monitoring process. Cabinet members receive 
detailed information on all the measures monitoring the Corporate Plan within 
their portfolios on a regular basis. 

 

Report Title Corporate Performance Outturn 2012-13 

Appendices 1 
 

 

Agenda Item 9

78



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/09/07/13  

3.1.2. This report summarises the outturn performance data for 2012-13 (1 April 2012 
to 31 March 2013). The appended report details: 

 
Introduction – Summary of overall corporate priority performance 

 Part 1 – Performance overview by corporate priority – A performance 
dashboard overview for each of the corporate priorities and summary detail 
against the priority outcomes 

 Part 2 – Summary of all corporate measures performance by priority – 
Scorecards by priority detailing all corporate measure performance for the 
year  

  
3.2 Issues 
 
3.1.1 Progress against Corporate Plan priorities 
 

Overall, both Corporate Plan priorities met their targets (blue, green, or amber 
status). 82% of measures (where data is available) have met target, this 
translates to an overall rating of “Performing”. 

 
3.2.2 Overall indicator performance against targets 
 

• 66% of indicators have ‘blue’ or ‘green’ status  

• 16% of indicators have ‘amber’ status 

• 18% of indicators have ‘red’ status  
 
3.2.3 Data Quality 

The Council has processes in place to ensure that the data and information it 
provides to support management decision-making is as reliable as possible. 
The Council has a strategy to improve data quality and service areas are 
working to achieve the objectives within it. This is closely linked to the 
Council’s risk assessment processes and is monitored each month as part of 
the Council’s Performance Management Framework. 

 
3.3 Choices (Options) 
 
3.3.1 Cabinet are recommended to review the appended performance report 
 
4. Implications (including financial implications) 

 
4.1 Policy 
 
4.1.1 A number of corporate measures are monitored on a monthly basis to track 

progress towards delivering our priorities, as detailed in the Council’s 
Corporate Plan. Service areas annually develop objectives, measures and 
targets to ensure the delivery of the Corporate Plan through the service 
planning process. The monitoring of progress is through the Performance 
Management Framework.  

 
4.2 Resources and Risk 

 
4.2.1 The service areas Service Plans underpin the delivery of the Corporate Plan 

priorities. All objectives, measures and actions within the Service Plans are 

79



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/09/07/13  

risked accessed and challenged before final approval.  The challenge process 
includes the agreement of performance targets and the capacity / ability to 
deliver the plans with appropriate resource set aside to do so. 

 
4.3 Legal 

 
4.3.1 There are no specific legal implications arising from this report 
 
4.4 Equality 
 
4.4.1 There are no specific equalities implications arising from this report. 

 
4.5 Consultees (Internal and External) 
 
4.5.1 Heads of Service and Management Board are consulted as part of the 

performance monitoring process on a monthly basis. 

4.5.2 Performance data (financial and non financial) is published on the NBC 
website. 

 
4.6 How the Proposals deliver Priority Outcomes 
 
4.6.1 Performance monitoring (financial and non financial) by exception and using it 

to improve performance is good practice in terms of efficient and effective 
management.  It focuses on the key areas and therefore contributes directly to 
the 2012-13 priority of “Making every £ go further” 

4.7 Other Implications 
 
4.7.1 There are no other implications arising from this report. 

 
5. Background Papers 

 
5.1 Outturn Performance Report for 2012-13. 
 

 
Francis Fernandes,  
Borough Secretary  

 

 
 

80



2
0

1
2

 -
 2

0
1

3
 O

u
tt

u
rn

 R
e

p
o

rt

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix

1

81



P
a
rt

 1
 

In
tr

o
d

u
c

ti
o

n

A
re

 w
e

 a
c

h
ie

v
in

g
 o

u
r 

p
ri

o
ri

ti
e

s
?

P
u
tt

in
g
 N

o
rt

h
a
m

p
to

n
 b

a
c
k
 o

n
 t

ra
c
k

8
2
 %

N
B
C
 C

o
rp

o
ra

te
 P

la
n

S
c
o
re

Y
T
D

Y
o
u
r 

T
o
w

n
 -

 A
 t

o
w

n
 t

o
 b

e
 p

ro
u
d
 o

f

Y
o
u
 -

 H
o
w

 y
o
u
r 

C
o
u
n
c
il
 w

il
l 
s
u
p
p
o
rt

 a
n
d
 e

m
p
o
w

e
r 

y
o
u
 a

n
d
 y

o
u
r 

c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y

T
h
e
m

e

Y
T
D

T
o
ta

l

9
8

1
1
  

2
3
  

5
1

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 I

n
d
ic

a
to

r 
a
le

rt
 s

u
m

m
a
ry

P
a
g
e
 2

 o
f 

1
8

82



 Y
O

U
R

 T
O

W
N

K
e
y

Y
o
u
r 

T
o
w

n

Jo
in
t
P
la
n
n
in
g
U
n
it

T
h
e
Jo
in
t
P
la
n
n
in
g
U
n
it
,
th
ro
u
g
h
d
e
li
v
e
ry

o
f
th
e
W
e
st
N
o
rt
h
a
m
p
to
n
sh
ir
e
Jo
in
t
C
o
re

S
tr
a
te
g
y
(w

it
h
D
a
v
e
n
tr
y
D
is
tr
ic
t,
N
o
rt
h
a
m
p
to
n
B
o
ro
u
g
h
,

S
o
u
th

N
o
rt
h
a
m
p
to
n
sh
ir
e
a
n
d
N
o
rt
h
a
m
p
to
n
sh
ir
e
C
o
u
n
ty

C
o
u
n
ci
ls
):

·
H
a
s
p
ro
g
re
ss
e
d
st
ra
te
g
ic
a
n
d
sp
a
ti
a
l
p
o
li
ci
e
s
th
a
t
re
la
te

to
th
e
N
o
rt
h
a
m
p
to
n
R
e
la
te
d
D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t
A
re
a
th
a
t
in
cl
u
d
e
s
N
o
rt
h
a
m
p
to
n

B
o
ro
u
g
h
to

a
n
o
n
g
o
in
g
P
u
b
li
c
E
xa
m
in
a
ti
o
n

·
Is
in
st
ru
m
e
n
ta
l
in
d
e
li
v
e
ri
n
g
a
n
e
co
n
o
m
ic
a
ll
y
p
ro
sp
e
ro
u
s
a
n
d
v
ib
ra
n
t
N
o
rt
h
a
m
p
to
n
a
s
it
w
il
l
e
n
a
b
le
th
e
d
e
li
v
e
ry

o
f
n
e
w
jo
b
s,
h
o
m
e
s,

b
u
si
n
e
ss
v
ib
ra
n
cy
,
n
e
w
in
fr
a
st
ru
ct
u
re

a
n
d
o
th
e
r
e
le
m
e
n
ts
th
a
t
w
il
l
e
n
a
b
le
N
o
rt
h
a
m
p
to
n
(a
n
d
th
e
re
st
o
f
W
e
st
N
o
rt
h
a
m
p
to
n
sh
ir
e
)
to

m
a
xi
m
is
e
it
s
p
o
te
n
ti
a
l

·
E
n
a
b
le
s
th
e
to
w
n
to

b
e
re
co
g
n
is
e
d
a
s
a
n
e
co
n
o
m
ic
h
u
b

·
W
il
l
re
su
lt
in
in
cr
e
a
se
d
n
u
m
b
e
r
o
f
v
is
it
o
rs
co
m
in
g
to

N
o
rt
h
a
m
p
to
n
a
s
th
e
p
ro
fi
le
o
f
th
e
to
w
n
g
ro
w
s

·
C
o
n
tr
ib
u
te
s
w
it
h
p
a
rt
n
e
rs
to

th
e
d
e
li
v
e
ry

o
f
th
e
to
w
n
ce
n
tr
e
re
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
:
it
in
fo
rm

s
a
n
d
a
ct
s
a
s
a
st
ra
te
g
ic
co
n
te
xt
fo
r
th
e

N
o
rt
h
a
m
p
to
n
C
e
n
tr
a
l
A
re
a
A
ct
io
n
P
la
n
a
n
d
a
ll
th
a
t,
th
a
t
P
la
n
se
e
k
s
to

a
ch
ie
v
e

·
Is
ce
n
tr
a
l
to

p
ro
m
o
ti
o
n
o
f
th
e
T
o
w
n
's
h
is
to
ry
,
cu
lt
u
re

a
n
d
h
e
ri
ta
g
e
th
ro
u
g
h
it
s
ca
re
fu
ll
y
fo
rm

u
la
te
d
E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t
p
o
li
ci
e
s

·
C
o
n
tr
ib
u
te
s
to

a
n
e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t
w
h
e
re

h
ig
h
q
u
a
li
ty

u
rb
a
n
d
e
si
g
n
ca
n
fl
o
u
ri
sh

a
n
d
co
n
tr
ib
u
te

to
a
sa
fe
,
se
cu
re

a
n
d
p
ro
te
ct
e
d

N
o
rt
h
a
m
p
to
n

·
W
il
l
sa
fe
g
u
a
rd

th
e
T
o
w
n
's
h
e
ri
ta
g
e
to

fa
ci
li
ta
te

it
s
p
ro
m
o
ti
o
n
,
in
te
rp
re
ta
ti
o
n
,
p
ro
te
ct
io
n
a
n
d
a
tt
ra
ct
iv
e
n
e
ss

·
E
n
su
re

th
a
t
g
ro
w
th

a
n
d
it
s
d
e
li
v
e
ry

is
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
ly
m
a
n
a
g
e
d
a
n
d
it
ca
n
b
e
d
e
m
o
n
st
ra
te
d
th
a
t
e
v
e
ry

£
sp
e
n
t
w
il
l
d
e
li
v
e
r
m
a
xi
m
u
m

b
e
n
e
fi
t
to

th
e
T
o
w
n
a
n
d
it
s
re
si
d
e
n
ts
a
n
d
v
is
it
o
rs

·
E
n
su
re

th
a
t
a
m
o
d
e
rn

a
n
d
d
iv
e
rs
e
w
o
rk
fo
rc
e
is
a
v
a
il
a
b
le
to

th
e
C
o
u
n
ci
l
th
ro
u
g
h
p
a
rt
n
e
r
C
o
u
n
ci
ls
a
n
d
th
e
w
id
e
r
a
n
d
g
re
a
te
r

p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
b
e
y
o
n
d
in
o
rd
e
r
to

a
ss
is
t
th
e
C
o
u
n
ci
l
d
e
v
e
lo
p
a
n
in
cl
u
si
v
e
a
n
d
e
n
g
a
g
in
g
S
tr
a
te
g
ic
P
la
n
n
in
g
P
o
li
cy

F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
,
in
cl
u
d
in
g

p
ro
g
re
ss
in
g
th
e
C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
In
fr
a
st
ru
ct
u
re

Le
v
y
a
cr
o
ss
W
e
st
N
o
rt
h
a
m
p
to
n
sh
ir
e
w
h
ic
h
w
il
l
e
n
su
re

th
a
t
th
e
C
o
u
n
ci
l
se
cu
re
s

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t
v
ia
b
il
it
y
se
n
si
ti
v
e
b
e
n
e
fi
ts
fr
o
m

e
li
g
ib
le
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
ts
b
ro
u
g
h
t
fo
rw

a
rd

a
cr
o
ss
th
e
B
o
ro
u
g
h
.

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
&
D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t

A
ch
ie
v
e
m
e
n
ts
in
2
0
1
2
/1
3
w
e
re

a
s
fo
ll
o
w
s:

·
E
n
te
rp
ri
se

Z
o
n
e
w
e
b
si
te

la
u
n
ch
e
d

·
E
Z
M
a
rk
e
ti
n
g
P
la
n
a
n
d
B
u
si
n
e
ss
M
o
d
e
l
co
m
p
le
te
d

P
E
R
F
O

R
M

A
N

C
E
 S

U
M

M
A
R
Y

T
o
ta

l

8
5

6
1
7

3
6

Y
o
u
r 

T
o
w

n
: 

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 A

le
rt

 S
u
m

m
a
ry

P
a
g
e
 3

 o
f 

1
8

83



·
O
v
e
r
£
1
.5
m

ra
te

re
li
e
f
a
w
a
rd
e
d
to

b
u
si
n
e
ss
e
s
in
th
e
E
Z
in
2
0
1
2
/1
3

·
D
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
N
o
rt
h
a
m
p
to
n
A
li
v
e
B
ra
n
d

·
F
ir
st
tr
a
n
ch
e
o
f
E
Z
la
n
d
su
cc
e
ss
fu
ll
y
m
a
rk
e
te
d

·
F
u
n
d
in
g
fo
r
E
Z
in
fr
a
st
ru
ct
u
re

se
cu
re
d

·
P
u
b
li
sh
e
d
E
Z
S
k
il
ls
S
tr
a
te
g
y
a
g
re
e
d

·
£
7
m

se
cu
re
d
fr
o
m

S
E
M
LE
P
fo
r
In
v
e
st
m
e
n
t
fo
r
h
ig
h
w
a
y
s
a
n
d
in
fr
a
st
ru
ct
u
re

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
th
ro
u
g
h
G
ro
w
in
g
P
la
ce
s
F
u
n
d
to

h
e
lp
u
n
lo
ck

si
te
s
w
it
h
in
th
e
E
Z

·
N
e
w
B
u
s
in
te
rc
h
a
n
g
e
co
n
st
ru
ct
io
n
co
m
m
e
n
ce
d

·
S
t
Jo
h
n
s

u
n
iv
e
rs
it
y
st
u
d
e
n
t
a
cc
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
le
a
se

co
m
p
le
te
d
a
n
d
co
n
st
ru
ct
io
n
co
m
m
e
n
ce
d

·
H
e
a
d
s
o
f
te
rm

s
a
g
re
e
d
w
it
h
d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
r
fo
r
n
e
w
h
o
te
l
a
n
d
le
g
a
l
w
o
rk

a
d
v
a
n
ce
d

·
S
k
a
te

P
a
rk

co
m
p
le
te
d
a
n
d
o
p
e
n
e
d
.
C
o
n
ti
n
u
e
s
to

b
e
v
e
ry

w
e
ll
u
se
d

·
C
o
n
st
ru
ct
io
n
o
f
th
e
su
st
ra
n
s
n
a
ti
o
n
a
l
cy
cl
e
w
a
y
b
ri
d
g
e
o
v
e
r
th
e
R
iv
e
r
N
e
n
e
a
n
d
G
ra
n
d
U
n
io
n
C
a
n
a
l
co
m
p
le
te
d

·
D
e
li
v
e
ry

o
f
th
e
C
o
u
n
ci
l'
s
ca
p
it
a
l
p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
in
cl
u
d
in
g
im

p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
a
n
d
re
n
e
w
a
ls
a
t
A
b
in
g
to
n
P
a
rk
,
th
re
e
C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
C
e
n
tr
e
s,

V
ic
to
ri
a
P
a
rk
,
G
ro
sv
e
n
o
r
li
ft
s
a
n
d
G
u
il
d
h
a
ll
w
o
rk
s.

·
C
o
n
tr
ib
u
te
d
to

C
o
u
n
ci
l'
s
a
ch
ie
v
e
m
e
n
t
o
f
C
a
rb
o
n
C
e
rt
if
ic
a
ti
o
n
in
cl
u
d
in
g
d
e
li
v
e
ry

o
f
e
n
e
rg
y
e
ff
ic
ie
n
tl
y
p
ro
je
ct
s
in
ca
r
p
a
rk
s.

·
A
ss
e
t
D
is
p
o
sa
l
p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
g
e
n
e
ra
te
d
o
v
e
r
£
1
.7
m

in
co
m
p
le
te
d
sa
le
s
in
y
e
a
r
a
n
d
a
g
re
e
d
fo
r
sa
le
s
in
2
0
1
3
/1
4
.

·
M
a
n
a
g
e
d
in
v
e
st
m
e
n
t
p
ro
p
e
rt
y
e
ff
e
ct
iv
e
ly
,
m
e
e
ti
n
g
ta
rg
e
t
in
v
e
st
m
e
n
t
re
tu
rn
s,
k
e
e
p
in
g
a
rr
e
a
rs
b
e
lo
w
ta
rg
e
t
a
n
d
im

p
ro
v
in
g
b
u
si
n
e
ss

te
n
a
n
t
sa
ti
sf
a
ct
io
n
le
v
e
ls
.

·
D
e
la
p
re

A
b
b
e
y

D
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
H
LF

S
ta
g
e
2
b
id
to

a
d
v
a
n
ce
d
st
a
g
e
.
S
u
cc
e
ss
fu
ll
y
a
tt
ra
ct
e
d
E
n
g
li
sh

H
e
ri
ta
g
e
F
u
n
d
in
g
o
f
£
2
0
0
k
,
£
1
8
0
k
T
ra
v
is

T
ru
st
,
£
3
3
k
S
y
lv
ia
W
o
lf
st
a
n
,
a
n
d
th
e
C
o
u
n
tr
y
H
o
u
se

F
o
u
n
d
a
ti
o
n
£
7
5
k
.

·
H
e
lp
e
d
se
cu
re

£
2
0
m

fo
r
R
a
il
w
a
y
S
ta
ti
o
n
w
it
h
p
a
rt
n
e
rs

·
S
t
P
e
te
rs
W
a
te
rs
id
e
a
n
d
A
v
o
n
N
u
n
n
M
il
ls

m
a
jo
r
re
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
su
p
p
o
rt
e
d
th
ro
u
g
h
a
g
re
e
in
g
la
n
d
tr
a
n
sf
e
rs
a
n
d
a
g
re
e
m
e
n
ts
in
su
p
p
o
rt

o
f
C
P
O
p
ro
ce
ss
.

·
C
u
lt
u
ra
l
Q
u
a
rt
e
r

S
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
T
h
e
a
tr
e
T
ru
st
to

b
ri
n
g
fo
rw

a
rd

cu
lt
u
ra
l
ci
n
e
m
a
("
C
in
e
p
o
d
)

·
C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
C
e
n
tr
e
s

su
p
p
o
rt
e
d
p
ro
ce
ss
o
f
tr
a
n
sf
e
r
o
f
m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t
o
f
fu
rt
h
e
r
ce
n
tr
e
s
to

co
m
m
u
n
it
y
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s.

·
M
a
in
ta
n
ce

o
f
A
ss
e
ts

D
e
li
v
e
re
d
e
ff
e
ct
iv
e
p
la
n
n
e
d
m
a
in
te
n
a
n
ce

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
,
e
n
su
ri
n
g
sa
fe

a
n
d
fu
n
ct
io
n
a
l
b
u
il
d
in
g
s

·
R
a
ce
co
u
rs
e
P
a
v
il
io
n

H
e
lp
e
d
to

d
e
v
e
lo
p
a
n
d
su
p
p
o
rt
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
le
d
in
it
ia
ti
v
e
s
fo
r
in
n
o
v
a
ti
v
e
u
se
s.

P
la
n
n
in
g

2
0
1
2
1
3
w
a
s
th
e
fi
rs
t
y
e
a
r
si
n
ce

2
0
0
5
0
6
w
h
e
n
th
e
C
o
u
n
ci
l
h
a
s
e
xe
rc
is
e
d
a
ll
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t
m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t
fu
n
ct
io
n
s
a
n
d
th
e
re

w
e
re

n
o
ta
b
le

a
ch
ie
v
e
m
e
n
ts
w
it
h
th
e
is
su
in
g
o
f
p
la
n
n
in
g
p
e
rm

is
si
o
n
fo
r
a
p
p
li
ca
ti
o
n
s
/
p
ro
p
o
sa
ls
th
a
t
h
a
d
b
e
e
n
tr
a
n
sf
e
rr
e
d
fr
o
m

W
N
D
C
su
ch

a
s
th
e
n
e
w

co
m
m
u
n
it
y
a
t
P
in
e
h
a
m

(u
p
to

6
5
0
n
e
w
h
o
m
e
s,
lo
ca
l
ce
n
tr
e
,
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
fa
ci
li
ti
e
s
a
n
d
p
ri
m
a
ry

sc
h
o
o
l)
,
th
e
re
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
o
f
th
e
fo
rm

e
r

so
rt
in
g
o
ff
ic
e
si
te

o
n
B
a
rr
a
ck

R
o
a
d
a
n
d
th
e
n
e
w
H
in
d
u
W
e
lf
a
re

C
e
n
tr
e
o
n
Li
n
g
s
W
a
y
.

O
th
e
r
n
o
te
w
o
rt
h
y
a
p
p
li
ca
ti
o
n
s
a
re

th
e
st
u
d
e
n
t
a
cc
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t
a
t
S
t
Jo
h
n
's
a
n
d
th
e
N
o
rt
h
a
m
p
to
n
B
u
s
In
te
rc
h
a
n
g
e
.
B
o
th

o
f

th
e
se

a
p
p
li
ca
ti
o
n
s
a
re

m
a
jo
r
re
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
p
ro
je
ct
s
a
p
p
ro
v
e
d
w
it
h
in
th
e
st
a
tu
to
ry

d
e
te
rm

in
a
ti
o
n
p
e
ri
o
d
a
n
d
co
n
tr
ib
u
te

to
N
o
rt
h
a
m
p
to
n

A
li
v
e
.

In
sp
it
e
o
f
th
e
ir
in
cr
e
a
se
d
q
u
a
n
ti
ty

a
n
d
co
m
p
le
xi
ty
,
th
e
p
ro
ce
ss
in
g
o
f
th
e
a
p
p
li
ca
ti
o
n
s
w
it
h
in
a
ll
th
re
e
o
f
th
e
D
C
LG

ca
te
g
o
ri
e
s
(M

a
jo

r 

N
I1

5
7
a
, 

M
in

o
r 

N
I1

5
7
b
 a

n
d
 O

th
e
r 

N
I1

5
7
c
)
e
xc
e
e
d
e
d
n
a
ti
o
n
a
l
ta
rg
e
ts
d
u
ri
n
g
2
0
1
2
1
3
,
a
n
d
w
e
re

o
n
ta
rg
e
t
fo
r
th
e
m
o
re

d
e
m
a
n
d
in
g
ta
rg
e
ts

se
t
lo
ca
ll
y
.
A
p
p
e
a
ls
p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
ce
,
w
h
ic
h
is
a
m
e
a
su
re

o
f
th
e
q
u
a
li
ty

o
f
d
e
ci
si
o
n
m
a
k
in
g
,
a
ls
o
re
m
a
in
e
d
o
n
ta
rg
e
t.

P
E
R
F
O

R
M

A
N

C
E
 S

U
M

M
A
R
Y

P
a
g
e
 4

 o
f 

1
8

84



T
h
e
C
o
u
n
ci
l
a
d
o
p
te
d
th
e
N
o
rt
h
a
m
p
to
n
C
e
n
tr
a
l
A
re
a
A
ct
io
n
P
la
n

a
si
g
n
if
ic
a
n
t
st
e
p
g
iv
e
n
th
a
t
th
e
la
st
p
la
n
w
a
s
a
d
o
p
te
d
in
1
9
9
7
.
T
h
is
cl
e
a
rl
y

se
ts
o
u
t
a
v
is
io
n
fo
r
th
e
to
w
n
ce
n
tr
e
in
cl
u
d
in
g
m
u
ch

o
f
th
e
E
n
te
rp
ri
se

Z
o
n
e
u
n
ti
l
2
0
2
6
a
n
d
su
p
p
o
rt
s
a
si
g
n
if
ic
a
n
t
a
m
o
u
n
t
o
f
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t
to

su
p
p
o
rt
e
co
n
o
m
ic
g
ro
w
th
,
so
ci
a
l
n
e
e
d
s
a
n
d
im

p
ro
v
in
g
th
e
e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t.

In
a
d
d
it
io
n
a
S
u
p
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ry

P
la
n
n
in
g
D
o
cu
m
e
n
t
to

e
n
su
re

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t
co
n
tr
ib
u
te
s
to
w
a
rd
s
n
e
ce
ss
a
ry

so
ci
a
l
a
n
d
p
h
y
si
ca
l
in
fr
a
st
ru
ct
u
re

a
n
d
a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
h
o
u
si
n
g
in
a
ss
o
ci
a
ti
o
n
w
a
s
a
d
o
p
te
d
.
T
h
e

D
iv
is
io
n
a
ls
o
su
p
p
o
rt
e
d
th
e
W
e
st
N
o
rt
h
a
m
p
to
n
sh
ir
e
Jo
in
t
P
la
n
n
in
g
U
n
it
in
it
s
su
b
m
is
si
o
n
o
f
th
e
Jo
in
t
C
o
re

S
tr
a
te
g
y
fo
r
W
e
st
N
o
rt
h
a
m
p
to
n
,

in
cl
u
d
in
g
N
o
rt
h
a
m
p
to
n
's
fu
tu
re

to
2
0
2
6
fo
r
e
xa
m
in
a
ti
o
n
b
y
th
e
S
e
cr
e
ta
ry

o
f
S
ta
te
,
a
g
a
in
cr
it
ic
a
l
to

th
e
fu
tu
re

o
f
th
e
to
w
n
a
n
d
d
e
li
v
e
ry

o
f

th
e
C
o
u
n
ci
l'
s
co
rp
o
ra
te

o
b
je
ct
iv
e
s
fo
r
N
o
rt
h
a
m
p
to
n
.

C
u
st
o
m
e
r
&
C
u
lt
u
ra
l
S
e
rv
ic
e
s

A
w
id
e
ra
n
g
e
o
f
e
v
e
n
ts
w
e
re

su
cc
e
ss
fu
ll
y
d
e
li
v
e
re
d
d
u
ri
n
g
1
2
/1
3
in
cl
u
d
in
g
th
e
O
ly
m
p
ic
T
o
rc
h
R
e
la
y
,
th
e
Q
u
e
e
n
s
D
ia
m
o
n
d
Ju
b
il
e
e
,
Li
o
n
h
e
a
rt
,

G
o
d
iv
a
a
n
d
th
e
C
h
ri
st
m
a
s
li
g
h
t
sw

it
ch

o
n
.
T
h
e
fr
e
e
p
a
rk
in
g
o
ff
e
r
h
a
s
b
e
e
n
a
g
re
a
t
su
cc
e
ss
w
it
h
in
cr
e
a
se
d
n
u
m
b
e
rs
o
f
v
is
it
o
rs
in
to

th
e
to
w
n

ce
n
tr
e
a
s
a
re
su
lt
.
A
M
a
rk
e
t
A
ct
io
n
G
ro
u
p
w
a
s
e
st
a
b
li
sh
e
d
w
h
ic
h
h
a
s
d
e
li
v
e
re
d
n
u
m
e
ro
u
s
im

p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
in
cl
u
d
in
g
W
iF
i
in
th
e
m
a
rk
e
t

sq
u
a
re
,
a
n
e
n
h
a
n
ce
d
cl
e
a
n
in
g
p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
in
cl
u
d
in
g
st
re
e
t
fu
rn
it
u
re

a
n
d
v
a
ri
o
u
s
p
ro
m
o
ti
o
n
a
l
a
ct
iv
it
ie
s.

T
h
e
ca
r
p
a
rk
s
w
e
re

su
cc
e
ss
fu
ll
y

a
w
a
rd
e
d
th
e
p
re
st
ig
io
u
s
P
a
rk

M
a
rk

st
a
n
d
a
rd
s
a
g
a
in
.
W
o
rk
in
g
in
p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
w
it
h
th
e
B
u
si
n
e
ss
Im

p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t
D
is
tr
ic
t
(B
ID
)
a
w
id
e
ra
n
g
e
o
f

in
it
ia
ti
v
e
s
w
e
re

su
p
p
o
rt
e
d
a
n
d
d
e
li
v
e
re
d
in
cl
u
d
in
g
N
o
rt
h
a
m
p
to
n
in
B
lo
o
m
,
su
p
p
o
rt
fo
r
T
o
w
n
C
e
n
tr
e
R
a
n
g
e
rs
,
fu
n
d
in
g
fo
r
a
P
C
S
O
a
n
d
th
e

M
u
si
c
F
e
st
iv
a
l.

A
w
id
e
ra
n
g
e
o
f
e
xh
ib
it
io
n
s
a
n
d
e
v
e
n
ts
w
e
re

d
e
li
v
e
re
d
th
ro
u
g
h
th
e
M
u
se
u
m

S
e
rv
ic
e
a
n
d
cu
st
o
m
e
r
sa
ti
sf
a
ct
io
n
a
n
d
v
is
it
o
r
n
u
m
b
e
rs
w
e
re

b
o
th

h
ig
h
.

In
te
rm

s
o
f
th
e
to
w
n
's
cu
lt
u
ra
l
h
e
ri
ta
g
e
,
p
ro
g
re
ss
h
a
d
b
e
e
n
m
a
d
e
in
se
cu
ri
n
g
th
e
lo
n
g
te
rm

fu
tu
re

o
f
D
e
la
p
re

A
b
b
e
y
th
ro
u
g
h
a
£
2
0
0
K
g
ra
n
t

fr
o
m

E
n
g
li
sh

H
e
ri
ta
g
e
to

re
p
a
ir
th
e
ro
o
f
a
n
d
g
o
o
d
p
ro
g
re
ss
m
a
d
e
in
re
la
ti
o
n
to

th
e
m
u
lt
i
m
il
li
o
n
p
o
u
n
d
S
ta
g
e
2
H
e
ri
ta
g
e
Lo
tt
e
ry

F
u
n
d
b
id

w
h
ic
h
w
il
l
b
e
su
b
m
it
te
d
la
te
r
th
is
y
e
a
r.

In
o
rd
e
r
to

a
ss
is
t
th
e
ir
lo
n
g
te
rm

st
e
w
a
rd
sh
ip
,
a
N
o
rt
h
a
m
p
to
n
B
a
tt
le
fi
e
ld
a
ss
e
ss
m
e
n
t
/
m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t

p
la
n
h
a
s
b
e
e
n
co
m
m
is
si
o
n
e
d
in
a
d
d
it
io
n
to

o
n
e
fo
r
H
u
n
sb
u
ry

H
il
lf
o
rt
.

P
u
b
li
c
P
ro
te
ct
io
n

T
h
e
se
rv
ic
e
s
p
ro
v
id
e
d
b
y
E
n
te
rp
ri
se

u
n
d
e
r
th
is
co
n
tr
a
ct
h
a
v
e
h
a
d
so
m
e
in
it
ia
l
te
e
th
in
g
p
ro
b
le
m
s
a
lt
h
o
u
g
h
d
u
ri
n
g
th
is
p
e
ri
o
d
th
e
se
rv
ic
e
h
a
s

a
ls
o
b
e
e
n
e
xp
a
n
d
e
d
to

in
cl
u
d
e
th
e
co
ll
e
ct
io
n
o
f
fo
o
d
w
a
st
e
.
T
h
e
co
u
n
ci
l
h
a
s
ch
a
n
g
e
d
th
e
w
a
y
th
e
co
n
tr
a
ct
is
m
a
n
a
g
e
d
w
it
h
in
cr
e
a
se
d

m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
o
f
p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
ce

a
n
d
q
u
a
li
ty

o
f
w
o
rk

p
ro
v
id
e
d
.
E
n
te
rp
ri
se

h
a
s
a
ls
o
re
st
ru
ct
u
re
d
it
s
m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t
lo
ca
ll
y
a
n
d
h
a
v
e
b
e
e
n
ta
sk
e
d
b
y

th
e
co
u
n
ci
l
to

co
n
ti
n
u
e
w
it
h
it
s
se
rv
ic
e
im

p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t
p
la
n
s.

T
h
o
u
g
h
th
e
C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
sa
fe
ty

p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
th
a
t
th
e
co
u
n
ci
l
h
o
st
s,
a
ll
m
e
m
b
e
rs
h
a
v
e
w
o
rk
e
d
to
g
e
th
e
r
to

a
d
d
re
ss
id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
to

re
d
u
ce

a
ll
a
sp
e
ct
s
o
f
cr
im

e
.
T
h
e
co
u
n
ci
l
h
a
s
a
ls
o
in
cr
e
a
se
d
th
e
n
u
m
b
e
r
o
f
N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
W
a
rd
e
n
s
a
n
d
re
in
tr
o
d
u
ce
d
P
a
rk

R
a
n
g
e
rs
th
a
t

p
a
tr
o
l
o
u
r
st
re
e
ts
a
n
d
o
p
e
n
sp
a
ce
s.
T
h
e
se

se
rv
ic
e
s
h
e
lp
to

p
ro
v
id
e
a
lo
ca
l
p
re
se
n
ce

to
d
e
te
r
cr
im

in
a
l
b
e
h
a
v
io
u
r
a
n
d
h
a
v
e
a
d
ir
e
ct
im

p
a
ct
o
n

e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l
cr
im

e
su
ch

a
s
li
tt
e
ri
n
g
a
n
d
fl
y
ti
p
p
in
g
.

P
E
R
F
O

R
M

A
N

C
E
 S

U
M

M
A
R
Y

P
a
g
e
 5

 o
f 

1
8

85



 Y
O

U
K

e
y

Y
o
u

H
o
u
si
n
g

2
0
1
2
h
a
s
b
e
e
n
a
h
u
g
e
p
e
ri
o
d
o
f
ch
a
n
g
e
a
n
d
ch
a
ll
e
n
g
e
fo
r
H
o
u
si
n
g
b
y
re
sp
o
n
d
in
g
to

th
e
Lo
ca
li
sm

A
ct
,
W
e
lf
a
re

R
e
fo
rm

A
ct
a
n
d

ch
a
n
g
e
s
to

h
o
w
A
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
H
o
u
si
n
g
is
d
e
li
v
e
re
d
.
D
e
sp
it
e
a
ll
th
e
se

ch
a
n
g
e
s
w
e
h
a
v
e
m
a
n
a
g
e
d
to

co
p
e
w
it
h
in
cr
e
a
se
d
le
v
e
ls
o
f

h
o
m
e
le
ss
n
e
ss
,
co
n
ti
n
u
e
d
to

d
e
li
v
e
r
n
e
w
h
o
m
e
s
fo
r
h
o
u
se
h
o
ld
s
in
h
o
u
si
n
g
n
e
e
d
a
n
d
ra
d
ic
a
ll
y
re
fo
rm

e
d
th
e
w
a
y
w
e
a
ll
o
ca
te

a
n
d
p
ro
v
id
e
so
ci
a
l
h
o
u
si
n
g
in
N
o
rt
h
a
m
p
to
n
.
In
2
0
1
2
/1
3
w
e
h
a
v
e
m
a
n
a
g
e
d
to
:

·
D
e
v
e
lo
p
a
T
e
n
a
n
cy

S
tr
a
te
g
y
a
n
d
T
e
n
a
n
cy

P
o
li
cy

w
h
ic
h
se
ts
o
u
t
th
e
le
n
g
th

a
n
d
te
n
a
n
cy

ty
p
e
s
w
e
w
il
l
o
ff
e
r
n
e
w
te
n
a
n
ts

a
n
d
w
h
a
t
w
e
a
d
v
is
e
o
u
r
R
S
L
p
a
rt
n
e
rs
to

o
ff
e
r
th
ro
u
g
h
th
e
ir
o
w
n
te
n
a
n
cy

p
o
li
ci
e
s;

·
W
e
h
a
v
e
st
a
rt
e
d
to

h
e
lp
th
o
se

cu
st
o
m
e
rs
th
a
t
a
re

im
p
a
ct
e
d
b
y
th
e
W
e
lf
a
re

R
e
fo
rm

ch
a
n
g
e
s
o
n
U
n
d
e
r
o
cc
u
p
a
n
cy

a
n
d

m
o
v
e
th
e
m

to
m
o
re

su
it
a
b
le
si
ze
d
a
cc
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
;

·
W
e
h
a
v
e
co
n
ti
n
u
e
d
to

d
e
li
v
e
r
o
u
r
D
e
ce
n
t
H
o
m
e
s
P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
a
n
d
re
m
a
in
o
n
ta
rg
e
t
to

h
a
v
e
a
ll
o
u
r
h
o
m
e
s
d
e
ce
n
t
b
y

2
0
1
5
;

·
W
e
h
a
v
e
e
xc
e
e
d
e
d
th
e
d
e
li
v
e
ry

o
f
n
e
w
a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
h
o
m
e
s
a
g
a
in
st
o
u
r
ta
rg
e
t
o
f
1
0
0
,
w
h
ic
h
is
e
xt
re
m
e
ly
p
o
si
ti
v
e
g
iv
e
n
th
e

e
co
n
o
m
ic
co
n
d
it
io
n
s
w
e
a
re

fa
ce
d
w
it
h
;

·
O
v
e
r
th
e
la
st
1
2
m
o
n
th
s
th
e
m
a
jo
ri
ty
o
f
si
te
s
co
m
in
g
th
ro
u
g
h
th
e
p
la
n
n
in
g
ro
u
te
,
w
e
h
a
v
e
se
cu
re
d
3
5
%
a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le

h
o
u
si
n
g
o
n
.

·
W
e
h
a
v
e
st
a
rt
e
d
th
e
S
to
ck

O
p
ti
o
n
s
p
ro
ce
ss
to

lo
o
k
a
t
h
o
w
b
e
st
th
e
C
o
u
n
ci
l'
s
st
o
ck

co
u
ld
b
e
m
a
n
a
g
e
d
in
th
e
fu
tu
re

·
W
e
h
a
v
e
co
m
p
le
te
d
th
e
fi
rs
t
st
a
g
e
o
f
th
e
S
h
e
lt
e
re
d
H
o
u
si
n
g
R
e
v
ie
w
;

·
W
e
h
a
v
e
a
m
e
n
d
e
d
o
u
r
H
o
u
si
n
g
A
ll
o
ca
ti
o
n
P
o
li
cy

a
n
d
th
is
h
a
s
re
su
lt
e
d
in
o
u
r
H
o
u
si
n
g
R
e
g
is
te
r
g
o
in
g
fr
o
m

1
0
,0
0
0

h
o
u
se
h
o
ld
s
d
o
w
n
to

ju
st
o
v
e
r
4
,0
0
0
a
n
d
g
iv
e
n
m
o
re

p
ri
o
ri
ty

to
h
o
u
se
h
o
ld
s
th
a
t
a
re

w
o
rk
in
g
;

·
W
e
h
a
v
e
st
a
rt
e
d
to

re
v
ie
w
o
u
r
H
o
u
si
n
g
S
tr
a
te
g
y
w
h
ic
h
w
il
l
se
t
o
u
t
th
e
o
v
e
ra
ll
v
is
io
n
fo
r
h
o
u
si
n
g
o
v
e
r
th
e
n
e
xt
3
y
e
a
rs
,

a
n
d
th
is
w
il
l
in
cl
u
d
e
o
u
r
a
p
p
ro
a
ch

to
m
a
n
a
g
in
g
th
e
P
ri
v
a
te

R
e
n
te
d
S
e
ct
o
r,
In
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t
Li
v
in
g
,
H
o
m
e
le
ss
n
e
ss
,
S
u
p
p
ly
o
f

n
e
w
a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
h
o
u
si
n
g
,
F
u
e
l
P
o
v
e
rt
y
,
H
e
a
lt
h
a
n
d
W
e
ll
b
e
in
g
a
n
d
E
m
p
ty

H
o
m
e
s

C
u
st
o
m
e
r
&
C
u
lt
u
ra
l
S
e
rv
ic
e
s

C
u
st
o
m
e
r
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
w
e
re

o
n
ce

a
g
a
in
a
w
a
rd
e
d
th
e
p
re
st
ig
io
u
s
C
u
st
o
m
e
r
S
e
rv
ic
e
E
xc
e
ll
e
n
ce

A
cc
re
d
it
a
ti
o
n
.
P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
ce

im
p
ro
v
e
d
in
b
o
th

ca
ll
h
a
n
d
li
n
g
a
n
d
fa
ce

to
fa
ce

e
n
q
u
ir
ie
s
w
it
h
in
cr
e
a
se
d
n
u
m
b
e
r
o
f
cu
st
o
m
e
rs
a
cc
e
ss
in
g
a
ll
se
rv
ic
e
s.

P
E
R
F
O

R
M

A
N

C
E
 S

U
M

M
A
R
Y

T
o
ta

l

1
3

5
6

1
5

Y
O

U
: 

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 A

le
rt

 S
u
m

m
a
ry

P
a
g
e
 6

 o
f 

1
8

86



C
u
st
o
m
e
r
S
a
ti
sf
a
ct
io
n
in
cr
e
a
se
d
a
cr
o
ss
a
ll
a
cc
e
ss
ch
a
n
n
e
ls
a
n
d
ch
a
n
n
e
l
sh
if
t
a
n
d
a
cc
e
ss
v
ia
m
o
b
il
e
te
ch
n
o
lo
g
ie
s
is
a
h
e
a
d
o
f
th
e

cu
rv
e
a
t
3
3
%
a
g
a
in
st
a
n
a
ti
o
n
a
l
a
v
e
ra
g
e
o
f
2
5
%
.

P
u
b
li
c
P
ro
te
ct
io
n

T
h
e
 L

e
is

u
re

 T
ru

s
t 

h
a
s
 b

e
e
n
 v

e
ry

 s
u
c
c
e
s
s
fu

l 
in

 i
ts

 f
ir
s
t 

o
p
e
ra

ti
n
g
 p

e
ri

o
d
 a

n
d
 h

a
s
 n

o
w

 t
a
k
e
n
 o

n
 t

h
e
 n

e
w

 l
e
is

u
re

 c
e
n
tr

e
 

p
ro

v
id

e
d
 b

y
 D

u
s
to

n
 P

a
ri
s
h
 c

o
u
n
c
il
 t

o
 a

d
d
 t

o
 t

h
e
 f

a
c
il
it
ie

s
 i
t 

is
 a

b
le

 t
o
 o

ff
e
r 

th
e
 p

u
b
li
c
 o

f 
N

o
rt

h
a
m

p
to

n
. 

It
 a

ls
o
 c

o
n
ti
n
u
e
s
 t

o
 

ta
k
e
 o

u
t 

le
is

u
re

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 t

o
 l
o
c
a
l 
n
e
ig

h
b
o
u
rh

o
o
d
s
 w

it
h
 o

rg
a
n
is

e
d
 g

a
m

e
s
 i
n
 s

tr
e
e
ts

 a
n
d
 p

a
rk

s
 a

c
ro

s
s
 t

h
e
 t

o
w

n
 d

u
ri
n
g
 t

h
e
 

s
u
m

m
e
r 

m
o
n
th

s

F
in
a
n
ce

&
R
e
so
u
rc
e
s

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
ce

w
it
h
in
th
e
b
e
n
e
fi
ts
se
rv
ic
e
m
e
e
ti
n
g
th
e
n
e
e
d
s
o
f
b
o
th

n
e
w
a
n
d
e
xi
st
in
g
cu
st
o
m
e
rs
re
m
a
in
e
d
h
ig
h
d
u
ri
n
g

2
0
1
2
/1
3
.
T
h
e
in
tr
o
d
u
ct
io
n
o
f
n
e
w
te
ch
n
o
lo
g
y
fr
o
m

th
e
D
e
p
a
rt
m
e
n
t
fo
r
W
o
rk

a
n
d
P
e
n
si
o
n
s
(D
W
P
)
a
n
d
in
it
ia
l
is
su
e
s
w
it
h
th
is

te
ch
n
o
lo
g
y
d
id
cr
e
a
te

so
m
e
p
e
a
k
s
in
w
o
rk

le
v
e
ls
.
H
o
w
e
v
e
r
th
e
se

p
e
a
k
s
w
e
re

q
u
ic
k
ly
a
d
d
re
ss
e
d
to

e
n
su
re

th
e
se
rv
ic
e

co
n
ti
n
u
e
d
to

d
e
li
v
e
r
fo
r
o
u
r
ci
ti
ze
n
s.
T
h
e
se
rv
ic
e
re
m
a
in
s
a
m
o
n
g
st
th
e
to
p
q
u
a
rt
il
e
n
a
ti
o
n
a
ll
y
b
a
se
d
o
n
th
e
la
te
st

b
e
n
ch
m
a
rk
in
g
d
a
ta

fr
o
m

th
e
D
W
P
.
T
h
is
m
e
a
n
s
th
a
t
th
e
C
o
u
n
ci
l
co
n
ti
n
u
e
s
to

d
e
li
v
e
r
th
e
b
e
st
o
f
se
rv
ic
e
s
a
t
a
ti
m
e
w
h
e
n

ca
se
lo
a
d
s
a
n
d
la
rg
e
sc
a
le
n
a
ti
o
n
a
l
re
fo
rm

s
o
f
th
e
w
e
lf
a
re

sy
st
e
m

a
re

a
t
th
e
ir
p
e
a
k
.

T
h
e
se
rv
ic
e
h
a
s
a
ls
o
co
n
ti
n
u
e
d
to

e
n
su
re

th
a
t
in
v
o
ic
e
s
a
re

p
a
id
a
s
so
o
n
a
s
p
o
ss
ib
le
a
n
d
h
a
s
p
e
rf
o
rm

e
d
w
e
ll
a
g
a
in
st
it
s
ta
rg
e
t

fo
r
lo
ca
l
b
u
si
n
e
ss
e
s
o
f
1
0
d
a
y
s,
w
it
h
7
9
%
o
f
in
v
o
ic
e
s
m
e
e
ti
n
g
th
e
st
a
n
d
a
rd
.
T
h
is
is
a
im

e
d
a
t
a
ss
is
ti
n
g
lo
ca
l
b
u
si
n
e
ss
e
s
a
cr
o
ss

N
o
rt
h
a
m
p
to
n
b
y
e
n
su
ri
n
g
th
a
t
th
e
re

a
re

m
in
im

a
l
d
e
la
y
s
to

lo
ca
l
b
u
si
n
e
ss
e
s
re
ce
iv
in
g
p
a
y
m
e
n
t
fo
r
se
rv
ic
e
s.
T
h
e
C
o
u
n
ci
l
a
ls
o

p
ro
ce
ss
e
d
9
8
.6
7
%
o
f
a
ll
in
v
o
ic
e
s
w
it
h
in
3
0
d
a
y
s,
a
g
a
in
st
a
n
a
n
n
u
a
l
ta
rg
e
t
o
f
9
7
%
in
2
0
1
2
/1
3
.

Jo
in
t
P
la
n
n
in
g
U
n
it

T
h
e
Jo
in
t
P
la
n
n
in
g
U
n
it
,
th
ro
u
g
h
d
e
li
v
e
ry

o
f
T
h
e
Jo
in
t
C
o
re

S
tr
a
te
g
y
:

·
W
il
l
e
n
a
b
le
in
cr
e
a
se
d
h
o
u
si
n
g
d
e
li
v
e
ry

to
m
e
e
t
th
e
n
e
e
d
s
o
f
N
o
rt
h
a
m
p
to
n
's
re
si
d
e
n
ts
o
f
to
d
a
y
a
n
d
th
e
fu
tu
re

·
E
n
su
re
s
th
a
t
n
e
w
h
o
u
se
s
a
re

o
f
a
h
ig
h
q
u
a
li
ty

a
n
d
th
a
t
D
e
ce
n
t
H
o
m
e
s
st
a
n
d
a
rd
s
a
re

m
e
t

·
In
co
rp
o
ra
te
s
a
n
e
le
m
e
n
t
o
f
a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
h
o
u
si
n
g
to

h
e
lp
su
p
p
o
rt
re
si
d
e
n
ts
in
h
o
u
si
n
g
n
e
e
d

in
th
e
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t
o
f
n
e
w

h
o
u
si
n
g
a
ro
u
n
d
N
o
rt
h
a
m
p
to
n
a
n
d
a
cr
o
ss
th
e
re
st
o
f
W
e
st
N
o
rt
h
a
m
p
to
n
sh
ir
e

·
E
n
a
b
le
s
a
ll
p
a
rt
ie
s,
in
cl
u
d
in
g
th
e
p
u
b
li
c
to

b
e
in
v
o
lv
e
d
in
th
e
p
re
p
a
ra
ti
o
n
o
f
th
e
P
la
n
a
n
d
th
e
re
b
y
g
e
t
in
v
o
lv
e
d
in

co
m
m
u
n
it
y
li
fe

th
ro
u
g
h
co
n
tr
ib
u
ti
n
g
th
e
p
la
n
n
in
g
p
o
li
cy

a
cr
o
ss
th
e
T
o
w
n

·
E
n
co
u
ra
g
e
s
a
h
e
a
lt
h
y
a
n
d
a
ct
iv
e
li
fe
st
y
le
b
y
m
a
xi
m
is
in
g
o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
to

w
a
lk
,
cy
cl
e
a
n
d
o
th
e
rw

is
e
e
n
g
a
g
e
in
h
e
a
lt
h
y

a
ct
iv
it
y
.
T
h
is
co
n
tr
ib
u
te
s
to

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
to

g
e
n
e
ra
l
p
u
b
li
c
h
e
a
lt
h

P
E
R
F
O

R
M

A
N

C
E
 S

U
M

M
A
R
Y

P
a
g
e
 7

 o
f 

1
8

87



K
e
y

P
a
rt

 2
: 

T
h

e
 m

e
a
s
u

re
s
 t

h
a
t 

te
ll

 u
s
 h

o
w

 w
e
 h

a
v
e
 p

e
rf

o
rm

e
d

 u
n

d
e
r 

e
a
c
h

 p
ri

o
ri

ty

P
a
g
e
 8

 o
f 

1
8

88



 Y
O

U
R

 T
O

W
N

B
ig

g
e
r

is B
e
tt

e
r

 A
S
T
0
5
a
 E

x
te

rn
a
l 
re

n
ta

l 
in

c
o
m

e
 

d
e
m

a
n
d
e
d
 a

g
a
in

s
t 

b
u
d
g
e
te

d
 i
n
c
o
m

e
 

(M
)

9
7
.1

8
 %

1
0
0
.0

0
 %

1
1
2
.7

4
 %

9
8
.1

0
 %

S
m

a
ll
e
r

is B
e
tt

e
r

 A
S
T
0
5
b
 %

 c
o
m

m
e
rc

ia
l 
re

n
t 

d
e
m

a
n
d
e
d
 w

it
h
in

 t
h
e
 l
a
s
t 

1
2
 m

o
n
th

s
 

(m
o
re

 t
h
a
n
 2

 m
o
n
th

s
 i
n
 a

rr
e
a
rs

) 
(M

)

4
.7

5
 %

5
.0

0
 %

3
.3

8
 %

3
.8

1
 %

B
ig

g
e
r

is B
e
tt

e
r

 A
S
T
1
2
 %

 a
c
h
ie

v
e
d
 w

h
e
re

 r
e
tu

rn
 o

n
 

(s
u
b
 g

ro
u
p
) 

in
v
e
s
tm

e
n
t 

p
ro

p
e
rt

ie
s
 

m
e
e
ts

 a
g
re

e
d
 t

a
rg

e
t 

ra
te

 (
M

)

9
1
.2

5
 %

8
6
.0

0
 %

9
2
.5

0
 %

8
7
.5

0
 %

S
m

a
ll
e
r

is B
e
tt

e
r

 B
V
0
1
2
_
1
2
r 

A
v
e
. 

n
o
. 

o
f 

d
a
y
s
/s

h
if
ts

 

lo
s
t 

to
 s

ic
k
n
e
s
s
 f

o
r 

ro
ll
in

g
 1

2
 m

o
n
th

 

p
e
ri

o
d
 (

M
)

1
0
.6

8
1
0
.0

0
1
1
.8

8
1
1
.4

6

S
m

a
ll
e
r

is B
e
tt

e
r

 E
S
C
0
1
 N

o
. 

o
f 

m
is

s
e
d
 B

in
s
/B

o
x
e
s
 a

s
 a

 

%
 o

f 
th

o
s
e
 c

o
ll
e
c
te

d
 (

M
)

0
.0

3
 %

0
.0

2
 %

0
.0

7
 %

0
.0

2
 %

B
ig

g
e
r

is B
e
tt

e
r

 E
S
C
0
2
 %

 m
is

s
e
d
 b

in
s
 c

o
rr

e
c
te

d
 

w
it
h
in

 2
4
h
rs

 o
f 

n
o
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
 (

M
)

8
2
.5

7
 %

1
0
0
.0

0
 %

8
4
.9

2
 %

1
0
0
.0

0
 %

B
ig

g
e
r

 E
S
C
0
4
 %

 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld

 w
a
s
te

 r
e
c
y
c
le

d
 

M
e
a
s
u
re

 I
D

 &
 N

a
m

e
2
0
1
2
-1

3
 

O
u
tt

u
rn

2
0
1
2
-1

3
 

T
a
rg

e
t

2
0
1
1
-1

2
 

O
u
tt

u
rn

2
0
1
0
-1

1
 

O
u
tt

u
rn

D
ir

e
c
ti
o
n
 

o
f 

T
ra

v
e
l 

(1
1
-1

2
 t

o
 

1
2
-1

3
)

L
a
te

s
t 

Q
u
a
rt

il
e

C
o
m

m
e
n
t

P
a
g
e
 9

 o
f 

1
8

89



is B
e
tt

e
r

a
n
d
 c

o
m

p
o
s
te

d
 (

N
I1

9
2
) 

(M
)

4
3
.8

2
 %

4
7
.0

0
 %

4
2
.3

7
 %

3
8
.7

7
 %

S
m

a
ll
e
r

is B
e
tt

e
r

 E
S
C
0
5
 %

 o
f 

L
a
n
d
 a

n
d
 H

ig
h
w

a
y
s
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
e
d
 f

a
ll
in

g
 b

e
lo

w
 a

n
 a

c
c
e
p
ta

b
le

 

le
v
e
l 
- 

L
it
te

r 
(N

I1
9
5
a
) 

(4
M

)

2
.3

3
 %

4
.0

0
 %

4
.3

3
 %

3
.0

0
 %

S
m

a
ll
e
r

is B
e
tt

e
r

 E
S
C
0
6
 %

 o
f 

L
a
n
d
 a

n
d
 H

ig
h
w

a
y
s
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
e
d
 f

a
ll
in

g
 b

e
lo

w
 a

c
c
e
p
ta

b
le

 l
e
v
e
l 

- 
D

e
tr

it
u
s
 (

N
I1

9
5
b
) 

(4
M

)

4
.5

6
 %

6
.0

0
 %

6
.4

4
 %

7
.0

0
 %

M
e
a
s
u
re

 I
D

 &
 N

a
m

e
2
0
1
2
-1

3
 

O
u
tt

u
rn

2
0
1
2
-1

3
 

T
a
rg

e
t

2
0
1
1
-1

2
 

O
u
tt

u
rn

2
0
1
0
-1

1
 

O
u
tt

u
rn

D
ir

e
c
ti
o
n
 

o
f 

T
ra

v
e
l 

(1
1
-1

2
 t

o
 

1
2
-1

3
)

L
a
te

s
t 

Q
u
a
rt

il
e

C
o
m

m
e
n
t

P
a
g
e
 1

0
 o

f 
1
8

90



S
m

a
ll
e
r

is B
e
tt

e
r

 E
S
C
0
7
 %

 o
f 

L
a
n
d
 a

n
d
 H

ig
h
w

a
y
s
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
e
d
 f

a
ll
in

g
 b

e
lo

w
 a

c
c
e
p
ta

b
le

 l
e
v
e
l 

- 
G

ra
ff

it
i 
(N

I1
9
5
c
) 

(4
M

)

1
.8

3
 %

0
.3

3
 %

2
.2

8
 %

4
.0

0
 %

S
m

a
ll
e
r

is B
e
tt

e
r

 E
S
C
0
8
 %

 o
f 

L
a
n
d
 a

n
d
 H

ig
h
w

a
y
s
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
e
d
 f

a
ll
in

g
 b

e
lo

w
 a

c
c
e
p
ta

b
le

 l
e
v
e
l 

- 
F
ly

P
o
s
ti
n
g
 (

N
I1

9
5
d
) 

(4
M

)

0
.1

7
 %

0
.3

3
 %

0
.6

1
 %

1
.0

0
 %

B
ig

g
e
r

is B
e
tt

e
r

 E
S
C
0
9
 %

 o
f 

F
ly

 T
ip

p
in

g
 i
n
c
id

e
n
ts

 

re
m

o
v
e
d
 w

it
h
in

 2
 w

o
rk

in
g
 d

a
y
s
 o

f 

n
o
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
 (

S
O

2
) 

(M
)

1
0
0
.0

0
 %

1
0
0
.0

0
 %

9
9
.3

5
 %

1
0
0
.0

0
 %

S
m

a
ll
e
r

is B
e
tt

e
r

 E
S
C
1
0
 L

e
v
e
l 
o
f 

q
u
a
li
ty

 a
g
a
in

s
t 

a
n
 

a
g
re

e
d
 s

ta
n
d
a
rd

 -
O

p
e
n
 S

p
a
c
e
s
 &

 P
a
rk

s

- 
L
it
te

r 
(%

) 
(Q

)

0
.4

1
 %

4
.0

0
 %

1
.3

9
 %

5
.0

0
 %

S
m

a
ll
e
r

is B
e
tt

e
r

 E
S
C
1
1
 L

e
v
e
l 
o
f 

q
u
a
li
ty

 a
g
a
in

s
t 

a
n
 

a
g
re

e
d
 s

ta
n
d
a
rd

 -
O

p
e
n
 S

p
a
c
e
s
 &

 P
a
rk

s

- 
D

e
tr

it
u
s
 (

%
) 

(Q
)

2
.8

7
 %

6
.0

0
 %

4
.5

1
 %

4
.0

0
 %

S
m

a
ll
e
r

is B
e
tt

e
r

 E
S
C
1
2
 L

e
v
e
l 
o
f 

q
u
a
li
ty

 a
g
a
in

s
t 

a
n
 

a
g
re

e
d
 s

td
 -

 O
p
e
n
 S

p
a
c
e
s
 &

 P
a
rk

s
 -

 

G
ra

ff
it
i 
&

 F
ly

 P
o
s
ti
n
g
 (

%
) 

(Q
)

0
.8

2
 %

3
.3

3
 %

6
.2

5
 %

B
ig

g
e
r

is B
e
tt

e
r

 E
S
C
1
5
 N

o
. 

o
f 

G
re

e
n
 F

la
g
 a

w
a
rd

s
 (

A
)

0
2

0

S
m

a
ll
e
r

is B
e
tt

e
r

 H
I 

0
1
 A

v
e
ra

g
e
 t

im
e
 t

a
k
e
n
 t

o
 r

e
-l

e
t 

lo
c
a
l 
a
u
th

o
ri
ty

 h
o
m

e
s
 (

d
a
y
s
) 

(M
)

1
5
.8

4
2
0
.0

0
2
1
.3

2
2
3
.6

1
U

p
p

e
r 

Q
u

a
rt

il
e

B
ig

g
e
r

is B
e
tt

e
r

 H
I 

1
2
 R

e
n
t 

c
o
ll
e
c
te

d
 a

s
 a

 p
ro

p
o
rt

io
n
 

o
f 

re
n
t 

o
w

e
d
 o

n
 H

R
A
 d

w
e
ll
in

g
s
 %

 

e
x
c
.a

rr
e
a
rs

 b
ro

u
g
h
t 

fo
rw

a
rd

 (
M

)

9
9
.7

0
 %

1
0
0
.1

0
 %

9
9
.8

7
 %

1
0
0
.2

9
 %

U
p

p
e

r 
M

id
d

le
 Q

u
a

rt
il

e

M
e
a
s
u
re

 I
D

 &
 N

a
m

e
2
0
1
2
-1

3
 

O
u
tt

u
rn

2
0
1
2
-1

3
 

T
a
rg

e
t

2
0
1
1
-1

2
 

O
u
tt

u
rn

2
0
1
0
-1

1
 

O
u
tt

u
rn

D
ir

e
c
ti
o
n
 

o
f 

T
ra

v
e
l 

(1
1
-1

2
 t

o
 

1
2
-1

3
)

L
a
te

s
t 

Q
u
a
rt

il
e

C
o
m

m
e
n
t

P
a
g
e
 1

1
 o

f 
1
8

91



S
m

a
ll
e
r

is B
e
tt

e
r

 H
I 

1
3
 R

e
n
t 

a
rr

e
a
rs

 a
s
 a

 p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
 o

f

th
e
 a

n
n
u
a
l 
d
e
b
it
 (

M
)

2
.8

3
 %

2
.6

5
 %

2
.9

7
 %

3
.1

5
 %

L
o

w
e

r 
M

id
d

le
 Q

u
a

rt
il

e

S
m

a
ll
e
r

is B
e
tt

e
r

 N
I1

5
4
 N

e
t 

a
d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
h
o
m

e
s
 p

ro
v
id

e
d
 

(A
)

5
1
6
.0

0
6
4
1
.0

0
4
2
3
.0

0
3
2
3
.0

0

B
ig

g
e
r

is B
e
tt

e
r

 N
I1

5
7
: 

P
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
 o

f 
a
ll
 p

la
n
n
in

g
 

a
p
p
li
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 d

e
te

rm
in

e
d
 w

it
h
in

 1
3
 

w
e
e
k
s
 (

M
)

9
5
.4

1
 %

7
4
.0

0
 %

9
4
.0

2
 %

9
7
.2

6
 %

B
ig

g
e
r

is B
e
tt

e
r

 N
I1

5
7
a
 L

M
 P

e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
 o

f 
'l
a
rg

e
 s

c
a
le

' 

m
a
jo

r 
p
la

n
n
in

g
 a

p
p
s
 d

e
te

rm
in

e
d
 w

it
h
in

 

1
3
 w

e
e
k
s
 (

M
)

6
9
.2

3
 %

6
0
.0

0
 %

0
.0

0
 %

0
.0

0
 %

B
ig

g
e
r

is B
e
tt

e
r

 N
I1

5
7
a
 S

M
 P

e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
 o

f 
's

m
a
ll
 s

c
a
le

'

m
a
jo

r 
p
la

n
n
in

g
 a

p
p
s
 d

e
te

rm
in

e
d
 w

it
h
in

 

1
3
 w

e
e
k
s
 (

M
)

7
6
.7

4
 %

6
0
.0

0
 %

5
7
.8

9
 %

7
5
.0

0
 %

B
ig

g
e
r

is B
e
tt

e
r

 N
I1

5
7
b
 P

e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
 o

f 
'm

in
o
r'
 

p
la

n
n
in

g
 a

p
p
s
 d

e
te

rm
in

e
d
 w

it
h
in

 8
 

w
e
e
k
s
 (

M
)

8
5
.5

4
 %

8
6
.0

0
 %

8
5
.1

4
 %

8
7
.1

5
 %

B
ig

g
e
r

is B
e
tt

e
r

 N
I1

5
7
c
 P

e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
 o

f 
'o

th
e
r'
 p

la
n
n
in

g

a
p
p
s
 d

e
te

rm
in

e
d
 w

it
h
in

 8
 w

e
e
k
s
 (

M
)

9
2
.9

6
 %

9
0
.0

0
 %

9
0
.1

6
 %

9
2
.8

9
 %

B
ig

g
e
r

is B
e
tt

e
r

 N
I1

5
9
 S

u
p
p
ly

 o
f 

re
a
d
y
 t

o
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
 

h
o
u
s
in

g
 s

it
e
s
 (

A
)

4
8
.7

2
1
0
0
.0

0
4
6
.4

5
4
7
.0

6

S
m

a
ll
e
r

is B
e
tt

e
r

 N
I1

7
0
 P

re
v
io

u
s
ly

 d
e
v
e
lo

p
e
d
 l
a
n
d
 t

h
a
t 

h
a
s
 b

e
e
n
 v

a
c
a
n
t 

o
r 

d
e
re

li
c
t 

fo
r 

m
o
re

 

th
a
n
 5

 y
e
a
rs

 (
A
)

0
.7

2
 %

1
.0

0
 %

0
.4

9
 %

0
.5

2
 %

M
e
a
s
u
re

 I
D

 &
 N

a
m

e
2
0
1
2
-1

3
 

O
u
tt

u
rn

2
0
1
2
-1

3
 

T
a
rg

e
t

2
0
1
1
-1

2
 

O
u
tt

u
rn

2
0
1
0
-1

1
 

O
u
tt

u
rn

D
ir

e
c
ti
o
n
 

o
f 

T
ra

v
e
l 

(1
1
-1

2
 t

o
 

1
2
-1

3
)

L
a
te

s
t 

Q
u
a
rt

il
e

C
o
m

m
e
n
t

P
a
g
e
 1

2
 o

f 
1
8

92



M
e
a
s
u
re

 I
D

 &
 N

a
m

e
2
0
1
2
-1

3
 

O
u
tt

u
rn

2
0
1
2
-1

3
 

T
a
rg

e
t

2
0
1
1
-1

2
 

O
u
tt

u
rn

2
0
1
0
-1

1
 

O
u
tt

u
rn

D
ir

e
c
ti
o
n
 

o
f 

T
ra

v
e
l 

(1
1
-1

2
 t

o
 

1
2
-1

3
)

L
a
te

s
t 

Q
u
a
rt

il
e

C
o
m

m
e
n
t

P
a
g
e
 1

3
 o

f 
1
8

93



S
m

a
ll
e
r

is B
e
tt

e
r

 P
P
0
6
 %

 c
h
a
n
g
e
 i
n
 s

e
ri

o
u
s
 a

c
q
u
is

it
iv

e
 

c
ri

m
e
 f

ro
m

 t
h
e
 b

a
s
e
li
n
e
 (

M
)

1
7
.1

4
 %

-5
.0

0
 %

5
.6

0
 %

-5
.1

6
 %

B
ig

g
e
r

is B
e
tt

e
r

 P
P
0
7
 %

 c
h
a
n
g
e
 i
n
 a

n
ti
 s

o
c
ia

l 

b
e
h
a
v
io

u
r 

v
ic

ti
m

is
a
ti
o
n
 (

A
)

1
1
.3

2
 %

1
0
.0

0
 %

8
.5

0
 %

S
m

a
ll
e
r

is B
e
tt

e
r

 P
P
0
9
 O

v
e
ra

ll
 c

ri
m

e
 f

ig
u
re

 f
o
r 

th
e
 

p
e
ri

o
d
 (

M
)

2
0
,0

6
8
.0

0
2
0
,5

1
8
.0

0
2
0
,5

1
8
.0

0
2
0
,2

2
2
.0

0

S
m

a
ll
e
r

is B
e
tt

e
r

 P
P
1
4
 %

 c
h
a
n
g
e
 i
n
 V

io
le

n
c
e
 O

ff
e
n
c
e
s
 

(M
)

-1
7
.7

5
 %

-3
.5

0
 %

S
m

a
ll
e
r

is B
e
tt

e
r

 R
B
0
7
 T

o
ta

l 
%

 o
f 

d
e
b
t 

o
u
ts

ta
n
d
in

g
, 

n
o
t 

in
 r

e
c
o
v
e
ry

 a
n
d
 o

v
e
rd

u
e
 (

M
)

4
.4

0
 %

8
.0

0
 %

4
.4

3
 %

7
.9

5
 %

B
ig

g
e
r

is B
e
tt

e
r

 T
C
O

0
1
 N

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

e
v
e
n
ts

 d
e
li
v
e
re

d
 i
n
 

p
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

: 
T
o
w

n
 C

e
n
tr

e
 (

Q
)

1
9

1
0

1
3

B
ig

g
e
r

is B
e
tt

e
r

 T
C
O

0
2
 N

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

e
v
e
n
ts

 d
e
li
v
e
re

d
 i
n
 

p
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

: 
p
a
rk

s
 a

n
d
 o

p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
s
 (

Q
)

1
2

8
5

B
ig

g
e
r

is B
e
tt

e
r

 T
C
O

0
5
n
 T

o
w

n
 C

e
n
tr

e
 f

o
o
tf

a
ll
 (

Q
)

1
4
,6

6
3
,0

6
7

1
5
,4

9
8
,2

8
0

1
5
,3

4
4
,8

3
3

B
ig

g
e
r

is B
e
tt

e
r

 T
: 

A
S
T
1
3
 A

p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 d
is

p
o
s
a
ls

 

a
g
re

e
d
 a

t 
C
o
rp

o
ra

te
 A

s
s
e
t 

B
o
a
rd

 

p
ro

g
re

s
s
e
d
 e

ff
e
c
ti
v
e
ly

1
1
2
.5

0
1
0
0
.0

0
1
1
2
.5

0
1
1
2
.5

0

M
e
a
s
u
re

 I
D

 &
 N

a
m

e
2
0
1
2
-1

3
 

O
u
tt

u
rn

2
0
1
2
-1

3
 

T
a
rg

e
t

2
0
1
1
-1

2
 

O
u
tt

u
rn

2
0
1
0
-1

1
 

O
u
tt

u
rn

D
ir

e
c
ti
o
n
 

o
f 

T
ra

v
e
l 

(1
1
-1

2
 t

o
 

1
2
-1

3
)

L
a
te

s
t 

Q
u
a
rt

il
e

C
o
m

m
e
n
t

P
a
g
e
 1

4
 o

f 
1
8

94



E
Z
 -

 P
ro

g
re

s
s
 t

h
e
 N

O
R
T
H

A
M

P
T
O

N
 W

A
T
E
R
S
ID

E
 E

N
T
E
R
P
R
IS

E
 Z

O
N

E
 w

it
h
 p

a
rt

n
e
rs

 a
s
 a

 k
e
y
 i
n
v
e
s
tm

e
n
t 

a
n
d
 e

m
p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 

o
p
p
o
rt

u
n
it
y
 f

o
r 

N
o
rt

h
a
m

p
to

n
s
h
ir
e

3
 y

e
a
r 

D
e
li
v
e
ry

 P
la

n
 a

n
d
 A

c
ti
o
n
 P

la
n
 p

ro
d
u
c
e
d
 a

n
d
 s

u
b
m

it
te

d
 t

o
 C

L
G

 a
lo

n
g
 w

it
h
 s

it
e
 s

p
e
c
if
ic

 d
e
ta

il
 s

h
e
e
ts

 

O
v
e
r 

£
1
.5

m
 r

a
te

 r
e
li
e
f 

a
w

a
rd

e
d
 t

o
 b

u
s
in

e
s
s
 w

it
h
in

 t
h
e
 E

Z
 i
n
 2

0
1
2
/1

3
. 

T
h
is

 i
s
 p

ro
je

c
te

d
 t

o
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 t

o
 u

p
 t

o
 £

3
m

 p
e
r 

a
n
n
u
m

 i
n
 f

u
tu

re
 y

e
a
rs

 

E
Z
 S

k
il
ls

 S
tr

a
te

g
y
 p

ro
d
u
c
e
d
 a

n
d
 w

o
rk

 o
n
 A

c
ti
o
n
 P

la
n
 c

o
m

m
e
n
c
e
d
. 

C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
n
t'
s
 r

e
p
o
rt

s
 c

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
e
d
 a

n
d
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d
. 

F
u
rt

h
e
r 

re
p
o
rt

s
 d

u
e
 b

y
 S

u
m

m
e
r 

2
0
1
3

R
e
p
o
rt

 o
n
 u

ti
li
ty

 i
n
fr

a
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
 c

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
e
d
 

£
7
m

 G
ro

w
in

g
 P

la
c
e
s
 F

u
n
d
 a

g
re

e
d
. 

£
2
0
m

 s
e
c
u
re

d
 f

o
r 

n
e
w

 r
a
il
w

a
y
 s

ta
ti
o
n
 

L
o
c
a
l 
In

fr
a
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
 F

u
n
d
 b

id
s
 s

u
b
m

it
te

d
 

S
it
e
 1

1
a
 s

o
ld

 s
u
b
je

c
t 

to
 c

o
n
tr

a
c
t 

S
E
M

L
E
P
 -

 P
ro

g
re

s
s
 t

h
e
 N

o
rt

h
a
m

p
to

n
 W

a
te

rs
id

e
 E

n
te

rp
ri
s
e
 Z

o
n
e
 w

it
h
in

 t
h
e
 S

E
M

L
E
P
 a

n
d
 w

it
h
 p

a
rt

n
e
rs

 a
s
 a

 k
e
y
 i
n
v
e
s
tm

e
n
t 

a
n
d
 e

m
p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 

o
p
p
o
rt

u
n
it
y
 f

o
r

N
o
rt

h
a
m

p
to

n
s
h
ir
e
 a

n
d
 S

E
M

L
E
P

P
ro

je
c
t 

c
o
m

p
le

te
d
 

G
ro

s
v
e
n
o
r/

G
re

y
fr

ia
rs

 P
ro

je
c
t 

-
C
o
n
ti
n
u
in

g
 t

o
 w

o
rk

 c
lo

s
e
ly

 w
it
h
 L

e
g
a
l 
&

 G
e
n
e
ra

l 
a
n
d
 p

o
te

n
ti
a
l 
fu

n
d
e
rs

 a
n
d
 p

a
rt

n
e
rs

 t
o
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
 t

h
e
 T

o
w

n
 C

e
n
tr

e
, 

to
g
e
th

e
r 

w
it
h
 a

n

im
p
ro

v
e
d
 r

e
ta

il
 o

ff
e
r

T
h
e
 r

e
lo

c
a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
S
ta

g
e
c
o
a
c
h
 a

n
d
 t

h
e
ir
 m

o
v
e
 o

n
to

 a
 t

e
m

p
o
ra

ry
 l
ic

e
n
c
e
 f

o
r 

u
s
e
 o

f 
th

e
 e

x
is

ti
n
g
 b

u
s
 s

ta
ti
o
n
 h

a
s
 b

e
e
n
 a

c
h
ie

v
e
d
. 

W
o
rk

 w
it
h
 L

e
g
a
l 
&

 G
e
n
e
ra

l 
re

g
a
rd

in
g
 a

 r
e
ta

il
 e

x
te

n
s
io

n
 h

a
s
 b

e
e
n
 a

d
v
a
n
c
e
d
 b

u
t 

n
o
t 

to
 s

u
b
m

is
s
io

n
 o

f 
p
la

n
n
in

g
 a

p
p
li
c
a
ti
o
n
. 

M
a
y
o
rh

o
ld

 C
a
r 

P
a
rk

 w
o
rk

s
 h

a
v
e
 n

o
t 

b
e
e
n
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d
 t

h
is

 y
e
a
r 

d
u
e
 t

o
 c

o
m

p
le

x
 i
n
v
e
s
ti
g
a
to

ry
 i
s
s
u
e
s
, 

p
u
rs

u
e
d
 i
n
 t

h
e
 y

e
a
r 

b
y
 c

o
n
s
u
lt
a
n
ts

 e
m

p
lo

y
e
d
 b

y
 t

h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il
. 

In
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n
s
 a

n
d

p
o
s
s
ib

le
 s

o
lu

ti
o
n
s
 c

o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t

o
 b

e
 p

u
rs

u
e
d
. 

B
u
s
 I

n
te

rc
h
a
n
g
e
 -

 D
e
li
v
e
ry

 o
f 

a
 n

e
w

 B
u
s
 I

n
te

rc
h
a
n
g
e
 a

t 
th

e
 F

is
h
 M

a
rk

e
t 

s
it
e
 w

h
ic

h
 w

il
l 
h
e
lp

 f
a
c
il
it
a
te

 S
ta

g
e
c
o
a
c
h
 r

e
lo

c
a
ti
o
n
 a

n
d
 d

e
li
v
e
ry

 o
f 

a
 n

e
w

 m
ix

e
d
 u

s
e
 r

e
ta

il

c
e
n
tr

e
 a

t 
G

ro
s
v
e
n
o
r/

G
re

y
fr

ia
rs

T
h
e
 d

e
m

o
li
ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 F

is
h
 M

a
rk

e
t 

a
n
d
 t

h
e
 b

u
il
d
in

g
s
 t

o
 t

h
e
 r

e
a
r 

o
f 

5
 a

n
d
 7

 S
h
e
e
p
 S

tr
e
e
t 

is
 n

o
w

 c
o
m

p
le

te
. 

A
s
b
e
s
to

s
 a

n
d
 u

n
c
h
a
rt

e
d
 c

e
ll
a
rs

 r
e
s
u
lt
e
d
 i
n
 a

d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
c
o
s
t 

a
n
d
 t

im
e
 l
o
s
t 

b
u
t 

it
 i
s
 a

n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d
 t

h
a
t 

th
e
 l
o
s
t 

ti
m

e
 w

il
l 
b
e
 r

e
c
o
v
e
re

d
 a

n
d
 t

h
e
 p

ro
je

c
t 

c
o
m

p
le

te
d
 w

it
h
in

 b
u
d
g
e
t.

 

S
t 

Jo
h
n
s
 -

 D
e
li
v
e
ry

 o
f 

th
e
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

w
it
h
 k

e
y
 p

a
rt

n
e
rs

, 
in

c
lu

d
in

g
 t

h
e
 U

n
iv

e
rs

it
y
 o

f 
N

o
rt

h
a
m

p
to

n
, 

to
 p

ro
v
id

e
 r

e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
a
c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
.

T
h
e
 s

tu
d
e
n
t 

a
c
c
o
m

o
d
a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 o

n
 p

ro
g
ra

m
m

e
 f

o
r 

a
n
 o

p
e
n
in

g
 i
n
 J

a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
1
4
. 

H
e
a
d
s
 o

f 
T
e
rm

s
 a

g
re

e
d
 w

it
h
 t

h
e
 h

o
te

l 
d
e
v
e
lo

p
e
r 

a
n
d
 l
a
w

y
e
rs

 i
n
s
tr

u
c
te

d
 t

o
 d

ra
ft

 t
h
e
 A

g
re

e
m

e
n
t 

fo
r 

L
e
a
s
e
. 

P
re

 a
p
p
li
c
a
ti
o
n
 d

is
c
u
s
s
io

n
s
 h

e
ld

 b
e
tw

e
e
n
 t

h
e
 h

o
te

l 
d
e
v
e
lo

p
e
r 

a
n
d
 N

B
C
 P

la
n
n
in

g
 O

ff
ic

e
rs

. 
A
 p

la
n
n
in

g
 a

p
p
li
c
a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 e

x
p
e
c
te

d
 i
n
 l
a
te

 M
a
y
/e

a
rl

y
 J

u
n
e
 2

0
1
3
.

H
o
te

l 
p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
d
 f

o
r 

a
 w

in
te

r 
2
0
1
4
 o

p
e
n
in

g
. 

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra

ti
o
n
 P

ro
je

c
t 

P
ro

g
re

s
s

C
u
rr

e
n
t 

P
ro

g
re

s
s

P
a
g
e
 1

5
 o

f 
1
8

95



 Y
O

U

B
ig

g
e
r 

is

B
e
tt

e
r

 B
V
0
0
8
 P

e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
 o

f 
in

v
o
ic

e
s
 f

o
r 

c
o
m

m
e
rc

ia
l 
g
o
o
d
s
 &

 s
e
rv

. 
p
a
id

 w
it
h
in

 

3
0
 d

a
y
s
 (

M
)

9
8
.6

8
 %

9
8
.5

0
 %

9
8
.0

6
 %

8
7
.0

9
 %

S
m

a
ll
e
r 

is

B
e
tt

e
r

 C
E
X
0
1
 T

o
ta

l 
n
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

L
o
c
a
l 

G
o
v
e
rm

e
n
t 

O
m

b
u
d
s
m

a
n
 F

ir
s
t 

E
n
q
u
ir
ie

s
 

(c
a
s
e
s
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d
) 

(Q
)

1
4

2
0

1
5

S
m

a
ll
e
r 

is

B
e
tt

e
r

 C
E
X
0
2
 A

v
 n

o
. 

o
f 

d
a
y
s
 t

a
k
e
n
 t

o
 d

e
a
l 

w
it
h
 L

G
 O

m
b
u
d
s
m

a
n
 F

ir
s
t 

E
n
q
u
ir

ie
s
 

(c
a
s
e
s
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d
) 

(Q
)

1
9
.6

4
2
8
.0

0
2
0
.6

7

B
ig

g
e
r 

is

B
e
tt

e
r

 C
S
0
5
 P

e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
 s

a
ti
s
fi
e
d
 w

it
h
 t

h
e
 

o
v
e
ra

ll
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 p

ro
v
id

e
d
 b

y
 t

h
e
 

C
u
s
to

m
e
r 

S
e
rv

ic
e
 O

ff
ic

e
r 

(M
)

9
3
.1

1
 %

9
0
.0

0
 %

9
1
.1

6
 %

8
4
.9

3
 %

B
ig

g
e
r 

is

B
e
tt

e
r

 C
S
1
3
 P

e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
 o

f 
A
L
L
 c

a
ll
s
 i
n
to

 t
h
e
 

C
o
n
ta

c
t 

C
e
n
tr

e
 a

n
s
w

e
re

d
 (

M
)

8
5
.0

6
 %

8
9
.8

3
 %

8
8
.0

2
 %

9
3
.5

7
 %

B
ig

g
e
r 

is

B
e
tt

e
r

 C
S
1
4
 O

n
e
-S

to
p
 s

h
o
p
: 

P
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
 o

f 

a
ll
 c

u
s
t.

 w
a
it
in

g
 l
e
s
s
 t

h
a
n
 1

5
 m

in
s
 

(e
x
c
l.
 l
ic

e
n
s
in

g
) 

(M
)

8
6
.6

4
 %

9
0
.0

0
 %

8
5
.1

2
 %

9
6
.9

6
 %

M
e
a
s
u
re

 I
D

 &
 N

a
m

e
2
0
1
2
-1

3
 

O
u
tt

u
rn

2
0
1
2
-1

3
 

T
a
rg

e
t

2
0
1
1
-1

2
 

O
u
tt

u
rn

2
0
1
0
-1

1
 

O
u
tt

u
rn

D
ir

e
c
ti
o
n
 

o
f 

T
ra

v
e
l 

(1
1
-1

2
 t

o
 

1
2
-1

3
)

L
a
te

s
t 

Q
u
a
rt

il
e

C
o
m

m
e
n
t

P
a
g
e
 1

6
 o

f 
1
8

96



S
m

a
ll
e
r 

is

B
e
tt

e
r

 H
I 

0
7
 N

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld

s
 l
iv

in
g
 i
n
 

B
&

B
 a

c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 (

M
)

1
7

5
0

3
8

2
7

B
ig

g
e
r 

is

B
e
tt

e
r

 H
I 

0
9
 H

o
m

e
le

s
s
 h

o
u
s
e
h
o
ld

s
 f

o
r 

w
h
o
m

c
a
s
e
w

o
rk

 a
d
v
ic

e
 r

e
s
o
lv

e
d
 t

h
e
ir

 s
it
u
a
ti
o
n

(M
)

1
,5

8
6

2
,0

0
0

2
,0

0
6

2
,1

4
7

U
p

p
e

r 
Q

u
a

rt
il

e

S
m

a
ll
e
r 

is

B
e
tt

e
r

 H
I 

1
0
 T

o
ta

l 
n
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

p
e
o
p
le

 

s
le

e
p
in

g
 r

o
u
g
h
 o

n
 t

h
e
 s

tr
e
e
ts

 (
A
)

5
5

1
5

4

S
m

a
ll
e
r 

is

B
e
tt

e
r

 H
I 

3
3
 P

e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
 o

f 
n
o
n
-d

e
c
e
n
t 

c
o
u
n
c
il
 h

o
m

e
s
 (

N
I 

1
5
8
)(

A
)

4
8
.9

0
 %

4
6
.0

0
 %

5
0
.7

0
 %

5
1
.7

4
 %

B
ig

g
e
r 

is

B
e
tt

e
r

 H
I 

3
6
 N

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

a
ff

o
rd

a
b
le

 h
o
m

e
s
 

d
e
li
v
e
re

d
 (

N
I 

1
5
5
)(

Q
)

1
9
0

1
5
0

1
0
1

1
1
4

S
m

a
ll
e
r 

is

B
e
tt

e
r

 H
R
3
2
 S

to
n
e
w

a
ll
 E

q
u
a
li
ty

 I
n
d
e
x
 r

a
ti
n
g
 

(A
)

1
9
9

2
0
0

2
1
0

B
ig

g
e
r 

is

B
e
tt

e
r

 L
T
0
1
 T

o
ta

l 
V
is

it
s
 t

o
 L

e
is

u
re

 C
e
n
tr

e
s
 

(M
)

8
8
8
,9

6
1

8
7
5
,1

9
0

8
7
5
,5

6
7

8
6
7
,5

0
3

B
ig

g
e
r 

is
 L

T
0
2
 T

o
ta

l 
N

o
. 

o
f 

p
e
o
p
le

 e
n
ro

ll
e
d
 i
n
 

2
,4

7
9

2
,1

6
5

2
,0

5
4

M
e
a
s
u
re

 I
D

 &
 N

a
m

e
2
0
1
2
-1

3
 

O
u
tt

u
rn

2
0
1
2
-1

3
 

T
a
rg

e
t

2
0
1
1
-1

2
 

O
u
tt

u
rn

2
0
1
0
-1

1
 

O
u
tt

u
rn

D
ir

e
c
ti
o
n
 

o
f 

T
ra

v
e
l 

(1
1
-1

2
 t

o
 

1
2
-1

3
)

L
a
te

s
t 

Q
u
a
rt

il
e

C
o
m

m
e
n
t

P
a
g
e
 1

7
 o

f 
1
8

97



B
e
tt

e
r

s
w

im
m

in
g
 p

ro
g
ra

m
 (

M
)

S
m

a
ll
e
r 

is

B
e
tt

e
r

 R
B
0
1
 T

im
e
 t

a
k
e
n
 t

o
 p

ro
c
e
s
s
 H

o
u
s
in

g
 

B
e
n
e
fi
t/

C
T
B
 n

e
w

 c
la

im
s
 a

n
d
 c

h
a
n
g
e
 

e
v
e
n
ts

 -
 d

a
y
s
 (

M
)

9
.9

1
0
.9

9
.3

1
1
.3

M
e
a
s
u
re

 I
D

 &
 N

a
m

e
2
0
1
2
-1

3
 

O
u
tt

u
rn

2
0
1
2
-1

3
 

T
a
rg

e
t

2
0
1
1
-1

2
 

O
u
tt

u
rn

2
0
1
0
-1

1
 

O
u
tt

u
rn

D
ir

e
c
ti
o
n
 

o
f 

T
ra

v
e
l 

(1
1
-1

2
 t

o
 

1
2
-1

3
)

L
a
te

s
t 

Q
u
a
rt

il
e

C
o
m

m
e
n
t

P
a
g
e
 1

8
 o

f 
1
8

98



 

   

 

 

CABINET REPORT 

 

AGENDA STATUS: PUBLIC 
 

 
Cabinet Meeting Date: 
 
Key Decision: 
 
Within Policy: 
 
Policy Document: 
 
Directorate: 
 
Accountable Cabinet Member: 
 
Ward(s) 

  
10 July 2013 
 
No 
 
Yes 
 
No 
 
Resources 
 
Cllr A Bottwood 
 
N/A 

 
1.  Purpose 

 
1.1   This report sets out the outturn position for the Council’s General Fund, 

Housing Revenue Account (HRA), and Capital Programme for the financial 
year 2012/13. 

 
2. Recommendations 

2.1. That Cabinet note the draft outturn for the General Fund and Housing 
Revenue Account for the financial year 2012/13 as set out at Appendix 1 
and Appendix 7. 

2.2 That Cabinet note the net contribution to General Fund Revenue Reserves of 
£863k, and the detailed movements in Earmarked Reserves shown in 
Appendix 4. 

2.3 That Cabinet note the net movement in Housing Revenue Account Reserves 
and working balances as set out at Appendix 8. 

2.4 That Cabinet note the draft outturn for the Council’s Capital Programme for 
2012/13 and how the expenditure was financed as set out at Appendix 9. 

2.5 That Cabinet approve the carry forward of unfinished capital schemes from 
2012/13 into the 2013/14 Capital Programme as set out at Appendix 9. 

Report Title 
 

FINANCE AND MONITORING  REPORT 2012/2013 

Appendices 
 

9 

Agenda Item 10

99



 

   

3. Issues and Choices 
3.1 The Council’s budget is divided across two accounts, the General Fund and 

the Housing Revenue Account (HRA).  These two accounts, together with 
their respective sources of funding, are kept entirely separate from each other 
as required by statute.  HRA expenditure and income relate solely to the 
Council’s role as a housing landlord, whilst the General Fund encompasses 
all other services.  

3.2 General Fund 
3.2.1 The General Fund forecast outturn for controllable service budgets as at 

Period 10 was an overspend of £35k. 

3.2.2 Draft outturn for 2012/13 in relation to controllable service budgets shows an 
underspend of £423k, as listed in Table 1 below and detailed in Appendix 1. 

Table 1 - Controllable Service Budget 
Outturn 

Revised 
Budget 
£000 

Outturn 
£000 

Variance 
£000 

Director of Regeneration, Enterprise and 
Planning 

3,042 2,808 -234 

Director of Resources 10,441 10,354 -87 

Director of Housing 1,055 1,070 15         

Borough Secretary 1,999 1,958 -41 

Director of Customers and Communities 15,276 15,200 -76 

Total Controllable Spending 31,813 31,390 -423 

Debt Financing and Recharges -30,771 -30,773 -2 

Non-specific Grants (mainly New Homes 
Bonus) 

 1,471 -1,471 

Outturn after technical adjustments 471 -885 -1,326 

 
3.2.3 This figure is £458k less than the outturn forecast at Period 10.  Appendix 2 

provides a comparison between the Period 10 forecast and actual outturn. 

3.2.4 Major variations between the revised budget and outturn, which are set out in 
more detail in Appendix 3, are as follows:- 

3.2.4.1 Regeneration, Enterprise and Planning 

• £197k staff savings across the directorate 

• £100k savings arising from additional income from development control 
fees due to an increase in volume late in the year 

• Offset by insurance claims of £67k in relation to paid and potential 
claims. 

3.2.4.2 Resources 

• £30k savings on Occupational Health and Nurse Led contracts 

• £79k saving in internal and external audit fees 

• £55k saving in bank charges and cash collection 

• £53k saving on energy prices and 

• £76k saving on financial adjustments to clear balances 

• Offset by £262k additional costs of rent rebates in respect bed and 
breakfast accommodation for homeless people  

 
3.2.4.3 Housing 

• Overall savings from staff vacancies £204k across the directorate 

100



 

   

• Savings in relation to the Ecton Lane travellers site of £60k 

• Overspend of £401k in Call Care as a result of loss of income and other 
related costs 

• £92k increased costs as a result of demand from Home Choice and 
Housing Options schemes 

• Additonal income from management fees in relation to capital projects 
capitalisation of £233k 

3.2.4.4 Borough Secretary 

• Additional income from Right To Buy sales of £79k 

• Savings on Members’ training and expenses of £33k 

3.2.4.5 Customers and Communities 

• Net savings on employees of £80k across the directorate. 

• Savings on security and utility bills at the bus station £70k 

• Savings on leasing of IT equipment £90k  

• £37k net savings on telephony through reduced maintenance costs and 
better contracting, offset by additional telephony costs  

• £50k net savings as a result community centre transfers  

• £41k saving arising from lower take up of the rat control service than 
anticipated 

• Net savings of £62k on Markets through the better realisation of 
resources 

• Lower NNDR costs on car parks £102k 

• Reduced car parking income £166k after application of the car park 
reserve. 
 

3.2.5 Many of the outturn variations have already been addressed as part of the 
2013/14 budget setting process.  Nevertheless all outturn variations are being 
reviewed to identify on-going issues which need to be reflected within the 
current forecast and future year budgets. 

3.2.6 Further details regarding recommended budget revisions and management 
actions required to ensure that the budget remains in balance will be included 
in the next budget monitoring report to Cabinet.  This will provide a robust 
basis for the Medium Term Financial Strategy and service delivery planning. 

3.2.7 The General Fund outturn for 2012/13, after technical accounting 
adjustments, is an underspend of £1.326m as detailed in Appendix 1.  

 

General Fund Balances 

3.2.8 The Chief Finance Officer has undertaken a risk-based assessment of 
working balances.  This assessment suggests that, taking all known risks into 
account along with the Council’s gross expenditure requirement, the minimum 
level of balances should be in the order of £3m.  The unaudited outturn shows 
that this can be achieved as at 31 March 2013. 

3.2.9 The Council also holds General Fund earmarked reserves of £17.072m to 
mitigate specific risks to which the Council may be exposed, including the 
need for service improvement.  These are detailed in Appendix 4.  

3.2.10 After a net contribution to earmarked reserves of £863k, it has been 
necessary to draw £8k from general balances, leaving a working balance 

101



 

   

carried forward to underpin the 2013/14 budget of £3.123m, as shown in 
Table 2 below. 

 

 

 
 

3.3 Housing Revenue Account  
3.3.1 The revised 2012/13 budget was balanced to break-even after allowing for a 

contribution of £5.922m to HRA reserves. 

3.3.2 Period 10 budget monitoring (Appendix 7) forecast a net underspend on 
direct costs of £1.084m.  The net underspend, after technical accounting 
adjustments, was forecast at £0.196m, with a revised contribution to 
reserves of £6.118m. 

3.3.3 The draft HRA outturn position shows an underspend on controllable 
spending of £1.499m.  After technical accounting adjustments this 
underspend is £0.287m, an improvement against the period 10 forecast of 
£0.091m.  This allows for an increased contribution to reserves of £6.209m, 
while the HRA working balance remains unchanged at £5m. 

3.3.4 Cabinet is asked to note these contributions to reserve levels.  

3.3.5 Appendix 5 provides a summary of the HRA.  Major variations in HRA 
income and expenditure against revised budget are detailed in the analysis 
and notes contained in Appendix 6. 

 

Major Variances 

3.3.6 Table 3 below summarises the main variances detailed in Appendix 6.  All 
outturn variations are already being reviewed  to identify ongoing issues 
which need to be reflected within the current forecast and future year 
budgets. 

 
Table 3 – HRA Service Budget Outturn 

Revised 
Budget 
£000 

Outturn 
£000 

Variance 
£000  

Rent Income  - Dwellings  -46,572 -46,810 -238 

Service Charge income -2,453 -2,261 192 

General Management 6,469 5,539 -929 

Special Services 3,273 3,474 200 

Rent Rebate Subsidy Deductions 643 0 -643 

Capital Charges 11,394 12,236 842 

Interest and Financing 6,072 6,351 279 

Other Minor Variations 15,252 15,262 10 

HRA Net Expenditure 2012/2013 -5,922 -6,209 -287 

Net Contribution to/(from) Reserves 5,922 6,209 287 

Housing Revenue Account Deficit/(Surplus) 0 0 0 

 

3.3.7   The major variations  between the revised budget and outturn, which are set 
out in more detail in Appendix 6, are as follows:- 

Table 2 - General Fund Balances £000 

Balance as at 1 April 2012 3,131  

Surplus/(Deficit) for the year -8 

Balance as at 31 March 2013 3,123 

102



 

   

3.3.8 General Management:-  

• Savings of £334k as a result of Stock Options works funded by the 
earmarked reserve prudently set up last year end 

• £314k corporate insurance lower costs, and 

• £70k reduction in utilities and Council Tax costs reflecting lower void 
levels than budgeted.  

3.3.9 Other Major Savings:-  

• Rent Rebate Subsidy deductions £643k lower due to the de-pooling of 
service charges 

• £46k net rent and service charge income due to better performance on 
voids than budgeted. 

3.3.10 Offset by:-  

• £842k increase in Capital Charges and £279k Interest and Financing as 
a result of as a result of the implementation of the self-financing HRA, 
as reported throughout the year. 

3.3.11 Further details regarding recommended budget revisions and management 
actions required to ensure that the budget remains in balance will be included 
in the next budget monitoring report to Cabinet.  This will provide a robust 
basis for the Medium Term Financial Strategy and service delivery planning. 

 

Contribution to HRA Working Balances and Reserves. 

3.3.12 The total balance on all HRA reserves and balances at 31 March 2013 is 
£17.549m.  Appendix 8 details the movement to and from HRA reserves, 
excluding working balances. Contributions to and from working balances and 
earmarked reserves are summarised in Table 4 below. 

 
Table 4 – HRA Working Balances and        
Reserves 

Balance 
1 April 
2012 
£000 

Movement 
in Year 
£000 

Balance 
31 March 
2013 
£000 

 Working Balance 5,000 0 5,000 

 Capital Programme Reserve 2,614 6,181 8,795 

 Leaseholders Reserve 168 0 168 

 Service Improvement and Project Reserve 1,000 395 1,395 

 Stock Options Appraisal 2,000 (667) 1,333 

 Supporting People Reserve 558 0 558 

 Insurance reserve 0 300 300 

 Total HRA Balances 11,340 6,209 17,549 

    

3.4 Capital 
3.4.1 The Council’s final approved budget for capital expenditure in 2012/13 was 

£39.96m, a net increase of £12.78m from the original budget of £27.18m. 
The budget initially increased due to carry forwards from 2011/12 of £9.6m, 
but has subsequently been revised downwards by £8.58m to reflect planned 
carry forwards to 2013/14.  

103



 

   

3.4.2 The HRA capital programme increased by £7.95m, due to the re-phasing of 
the Decent Homes grant from central government, and £2.23m in relation to 
the Community Energy Savings Programme (CESP).  Other changes largely 
relate to increases in external financing from grants and contributions. 

3.4.3 The overall Capital Programme includes revenue expenditure funded from 
capital under statute (REFCUS).  This is expenditure, such as grants to 
homeowners for disabled facilities, which can be funded from capital 
resources under statute and regulations. 

3.4.4 Capital expenditure for 2012/13 totalled £37.28m against the final approved 
budget of £39.96m, a net underspend of £2.68m. 

3.4.5 The position by Directorate is summarised in Table 5 below, with further 
details set out in Appendix 9, along with explanations of the reasons for any 
significant variances.  

 

Table 5 - Capital Expenditure by 
Directorate 

Approved 
Budget 
£m 

Outturn 
£m 

Variance 
£m 

Customers & Communities 0.479 0.419 -0.060 

Regeneration, Enterprise & 
Planning 

6.706 6.422 -0.284 

Resources 0.794 0.478 -0.316 
Housing General Fund 3.223 2.510 -0.713 
Total General Fund 11.202 9.828 -1.373 
Housing Revenue Account 28.754 27.446 -1.308 

Gross Expenditure 39.956 37.275 -2.681 

3.4.6 Table 6 below shows how the Capital Programme for 2012/13 has been 
funded. In line with the approved Capital Strategy and the Treasury 
Management Strategy, capital receipts have been utilised to fund 
expenditure on short-life assets, whilst prudential borrowing has been used 
where assets have a longer life.  

Table 6 - Financing of Capital 
Programme 

General 
Fund 
£m 

HRA 
£m 

Total 
£m 

Prudential Borrowing 2.154  2.154 
Capital Receipts 1.734 0.600 2.334 
Major Repairs Allowance  9.901 9.901 
Government Grants 5.117  5.117 
Third Party Contributions 0.523  0.523 
Revenue Contributions 0.301 16.945 17.246 

Total 9.829 27.446 37.275 

 

104



 

   

Capital Carry Forward 2012/13 

3.4.7 Table 7 below shows the amount of carry forward from 2012/13 into the 
2013/14 Capital Programme.  Details are shown on a scheme by scheme 
basis at Appendix 9. 

Table 7 - Capital Carry Forward 2012/13 by 
Directorate 

 
 

£m 

Customers & Communities 0.063 
Regeneration, Enterprise & Planning 0.293 
Resources 0.300 
Housing General Fund 0.713 

Total General Fund 1.369 
Housing Revenue Account 1.882 

Total Carry Forward 3.251 

 

3.4.8 The carry forward request for HRA schemes, which is required to finish 
incomplete schemes, is greater than the net underspend. The overall 
outturn includes an overspend on Decent Homes of £0.35m due to 
additional properties being made decent/additional works identified and 
£0.17m due to additional disabled adaptations required. The impact of the 
additional financing required will be reflected in future updates of the HRA 
Business Plan.  

3.4.9 The carry forward schemes will be incorporated into the 2013/14 agreed 
capital programme and monthly monitoring processes. 

 
3.5 Choices (Options) 
3.5.1 Cabinet is invited to note the report and the explanations of the actual 

outturn and reasons for the changes since the Period 10 forecast for the 
General Fund, Housing Revenue Account and Capital Programme. 

3.5.2 Cabinet is asked to note the proposed movements in the General Fund and 
HRA reserves. 

3.5.3 Cabinet is asked to agree the capital budgets to be carried forward to 
2013/14. 

 
4.  Implications (including financial implications) 

 
4.1 Policy 
4.1.1. Actual outturn impacts upon the level of reserves. 

4.2 Resources and Risk 
4.2.1 This report informs Cabinet of the outturn for the General Fund, Housing 

Revenue Account and Capital Programme for 2012/13.  The impact of 
individual outturn variances needs to be assessed against current and future 
years’ budgets. 

4.3 Legal 
4.3.1 There are no specific legal implications arising from this report. 

105



 

   

4.4 Equality 
4.4.1 There are no specific equality implications arising from this report.  

4.5 Consultees (Internal and External) 
4.5.1 Chief Executive, Directors, Heads of Service and Budget Managers have 

been consulted. 

4.6 How the Proposals Deliver Priority Outcomes 
4.6.1 Annual outturn reporting contributes to the priority of delivering value for 

money to protect local services by sustaining effective and prudent financial 
management. 

4.7 Other Implications 
4.7.1 Not applicable 
 
 
5. Background Papers 

5.1 Cabinet Reports – Budget Setting and Budget Monitoring throughout 
2012/13 

 
 

Isabell Procter, Director of Resources, 01604 838757 

106



General Fund Summary Outturn 2012/13 Appendix 1

Key

"-" figure denotes a budget under spend or an income budget

"+" figure denotes a budget overspend or an expenditure budget

Revised

Budget

Period 10 

Projected

Outturn

Actual

Outturn

(Under) / 

Over

Spend

£000 £000 £000 £000

Director of Regeneration, Enterprise and Planning 3,042 2,942 2,808 -234

Director of Resources 10,441 11,493 10,354 -87

Director of Housing 1,055 1,261 1,070 15

Borough Secretary 1,999 1,993 1,958 -41

Director of Customers and Communities 15,269 15,073 15,200 -68

Total Controllable 31,806 32,763 31,390 -416

Capital Expenditure charged to Revenue Account 0 0 301 301

Provisions 0 0 169 169

Net Support Service Recharges -4,831 -5,436 -5,172 -341

Interest and Financing 1,811 1,575 1,679 -132

Parish Precepts and Grants 956 955 956 0

Government Funding -13,294 -13,296 -13,294 0

Council Tax -15,059 -15,061 -15,059 0

Council Tax Freeze Grant -353 -352 -352 1

Non Specific Grants (Mainly New Homes Bonus) -1,471 -1,471

Technical Accounting Adjustments -30,771 -31,616 -32,245 -1,474

General Fund (under) / over spend 1,035 1,148 -855 -1,889

Net Contribution to/(from) Reserves -1,203 -1,085 863 2,066

General Fund Deficit (Surplus) -100 63 8 176

Balance  b/fwd -3,131

Balance c/fwd -3,123

107



D
R

0
2

D
ir
e
c
to

r 
o
f 

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra

ti
o
n
, 

E
n
te

rp
ri
s
e
 

a
n
d
 P

la
n
n
in

g

D
iv

is
io

n
 T

o
ta

l 
- 

D
ir

e
c
to

r 
o

f 

R
e
g

e
n

e
ra

ti
o

n
, 

E
n

te
rp

ri
s
e
 &

 P
la

n
n

in
g

F
A

0
6

O
th

e
r 

B
u
ild

in
g
s
 &

 L
a
n
d

R
G

0
1

H
e
a
d
 o

f 
M

a
jo

r 
P

ro
je

c
ts

 a
n
d
 

E
n
te

rp
ri
s
e

R
G

0
2

M
a
jo

r 
P

ro
je

c
ts

 a
n
d
 E

n
te

rp
ri
s
e

D
iv

is
io

n
 T

o
ta

l 
- 

M
a
jo

r 
P

ro
je

c
ts

 a
n

d
 

E
n

te
rp

ri
s
e

P
E

0
2

B
u
ild

in
g
 C

o
n
tr

o
l

P
E

0
6

H
e
a
d
 o

f 
P

la
n
n
in

g

P
E

1
5

J
o
in

t 
P

la
n
n
in

g
 U

n
it

P
E

1
7

P
la

n
n
in

g
 &

 R
e
g
n
 P

ro
je

c
t 

S
u
p
p
o
rt

R
G

0
4

P
la

n
n
in

g
 P

o
lic

y
 &

 H
e
ri
ta

g
e

R
G

0
9

B
u
s
 S

e
rv

ic
e
 C

o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n

D
iv

is
io

n
 T

o
ta

l 
- 

H
e
a
d

 o
f 

P
la

n
n

in
g

D
ir

e
c
to

ra
te

 T
o

ta
l 

- 
D

ir
e
c
to

r 
o

f 

R
e
g

e
n

e
ra

ti
o

n
, 

E
n

te
rp

ri
s
e
 &

 P
la

n
n

in
g

F
A

0
1

A
s
s
e
t 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t

P
E

0
3

D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

C
o
n
tr

o
l

G
e
n
e
ra

l 
F

u
n
d
 R

e
v
e
n
u
e
 B

u
d
g
e
t

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix

 2

C
o
m

p
a
ri
s
o
n
 o

f 
2
0
1
2
/1

3
 P

e
ri
o
d
 1

0
 F

o
re

c
a
s
t 

O
u
tt

u
rn

 V
a
ri
a
n
c
e
 a

n
d
  

A
c
tu

a
l 
O

u
tt

u
rn

 V
a
ri
a
n
c
e

K
e
y

"-
" 

fi
g
u
re

 d
e
n
o
te

s
 a

 b
u
d
g
e
t 

u
n
d
e
r 

s
p
e
n
d
 o

r 
a
n
 i
n
c
o
m

e
 b

u
d
g
e
t 

o
r 

im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 

in
 o

u
tt

u
rn

"+
" 

fi
g
u
re

 d
e
n
o
te

s
 a

 b
u
d
g
e
t 

o
v
e
rs

p
e
n
d
 o

r 
a
n
 e

x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

 b
u
d
g
e
t 

o
r 

d
e
te

ri
o
ra

ti
o
n
 i
n
 o

u
tt

u
rn

P
e
ri

o
d

 1
0
 

F
o

re
c
a
s
t

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

O
u

tt
u

rn

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

F
o

re
c
a
s
t 

V
s

O
u

tt
u

rn
E

x
p

la
n

a
ti

o
n

£
0
0
0

£
0
0
0

£
0
0
0

2
4

9
-1

6

2
4

9
-1

6

Y
e
a
r 

e
n
d
 i
n
s
u
ra

n
c
e
 r

e
c
h
a
rg

e
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
e
c
t 

o
f 

p
a
id

 a
n
d
 p

o
te

n
ti
a
l 
c
la

im
s
.

-1
0

-8
2

-2
-7

-5

-7
-1

3
-6

-5
1

1
5
2

-2
4

-8
1
6

In
c
re

a
s
e
d
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

C
o
n
tr

o
l 
in

c
o
m

e
 o

f 
£
1
3
1
k
 i
n
c
o
m

e
 p

a
rt

ly
 d

u
e
 t

o
 s

o
m

e
 h

ig
h
 v

a
lu

e
 

p
la

n
n
in

g
 a

p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s
 r

e
c
e
iv

e
d
 a

t 
y
e
a
r 

e
n
d
; 

£
4
1
k
 S

1
0
6
 c

o
n
tr

ib
u

ti
o
n
 i
n
c
o
m

e
 w

a
s
 a

g
re

e
d
 t

o
 b

e
 

tr
a
n
s
fe

rr
e
d
 t

o
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

C
o
n
tr

o
l 
a
t 

y
e
a
r 

e
n
d
.

0
-6

-6

-0
-1

4
-1

4

-1
9

-2
0

-1

-5
4

-4
9

4

0
-0

-0

-7
6

-2
4
4

-1
6
7

-1
0
3

-2
3
4

-1
3
1

2
9

6
1

2
0

-1
4
7

-1
6
7

-3
2

108



F
A

0
4

N
o
n
 D

is
tr

ib
u
te

d
 C

o
s
ts

D
iv

is
io

n
 T

o
ta

l 
- 

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

D
R

0
3

D
ir
e
c
to

r 
o
f 

R
e
s
o
u
rc

e
s

D
iv

is
io

n
 T

o
ta

l 
- 

D
ir

e
c
to

r 
o

f 

R
e
s
o

u
rc

e
s

G
C

0
8

C
o
m

m
u
n
ic

a
ti
o
n
s

G
C

1
5

E
m

e
rg

e
n
c
y
 P

la
n
n
in

g

H
R

0
1

H
u
m

a
n
 R

e
s
o
u
rc

e
s

H
R

0
2

S
in

g
le

 S
ta

tu
s

H
R

1
4

B
u
s
in

e
s
s
 I

m
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t

P
I2

0
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 a

n
d
 c

h
a
n
g
e

D
iv

is
io

n
 T

o
ta

l 
- 

H
e
a
d

 o
f 

B
u

s
in

e
s
s
 

C
h

a
n

g
e

F
A

0
2

F
in

a
n
c
ia

l 
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

F
A

0
3

A
u
d
it

F
A

0
5

In
v
e
s
tm

e
n
ts

F
A

0
8

O
ff

ic
e
 A

c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n

F
A

1
9

E
x
c
h
e
q
u
e
r 

S
e
rv

ic
e
s

G
e
n
e
ra

l 
F

u
n
d
 R

e
v
e
n
u
e
 B

u
d
g
e
t

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix

 2

C
o
m

p
a
ri
s
o
n
 o

f 
2
0
1
2
/1

3
 P

e
ri
o
d
 1

0
 F

o
re

c
a
s
t 

O
u
tt

u
rn

 V
a
ri
a
n
c
e
 a

n
d
  

A
c
tu

a
l 
O

u
tt

u
rn

 V
a
ri
a
n
c
e

K
e
y

"-
" 

fi
g
u
re

 d
e
n
o
te

s
 a

 b
u
d
g
e
t 

u
n
d
e
r 

s
p
e
n
d
 o

r 
a
n
 i
n
c
o
m

e
 b

u
d
g
e
t 

o
r 

im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 

in
 o

u
tt

u
rn

"+
" 

fi
g
u
re

 d
e
n
o
te

s
 a

 b
u
d
g
e
t 

o
v
e
rs

p
e
n
d
 o

r 
a
n
 e

x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

 b
u
d
g
e
t 

o
r 

d
e
te

ri
o
ra

ti
o
n
 i
n
 o

u
tt

u
rn

P
e
ri

o
d

 1
0
 

F
o

re
c
a
s
t

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

O
u

tt
u

rn

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

F
o

re
c
a
s
t 

V
s

O
u

tt
u

rn
E

x
p

la
n

a
ti

o
n

£
0
0
0

£
0
0
0

£
0
0
0

0
-0

-0

0
-0

-0

-1
9

-8
1
1

-1
9

-8
1
1

3
5

1
9

-1
6

1
0

1
0

-0

4
-2

8
-3

2
T

ra
in

in
g
 e

x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

 w
a
s
 l
o
w

e
r 

th
a
n
 a

n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d
. 

F
u
rt

h
e
r 

u
n

d
e
rs

p
e
n
d
 b

e
c
a
u
s
e
 n

o
 e

m
p
lo

y
e
e
 

s
u
rv

e
y
 w

a
s
 u

n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
n
 a

n
d
 a

 n
e
w

 c
o
n
tr

a
c
t 

fo
r 

R
a
d
o
n
 t

e
s
ti
n
g
 w

a
s
 d

e
la

y
e
d
.

0
0

0

0
0

0

-1
4

-2
4

-1
0

3
5

-2
3

-5
9

-3
0

-7
6

-4
6

T
h
e
re

 h
a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 o

n
e
 o

ff
 a

d
ju

s
tm

e
n
ts

 t
o
 r

e
v
e
n
u
e
 t

o
 c

le
a
r 

b
a
la

n
c
e
s
 o

f 
u
n
id

e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 i
n
c
o
m

e
 a

n
d
 

tr
a
n
s
fe

r 
o
f 

p
ro

c
e
e
d
s
 i
n
 r

e
la

ti
o
n
 t

o
 m

o
rt

g
a
g
e
 r

e
p
o
s
s
e
s
s
io

n
s
 p

re
v
io

u
s
ly

 h
e
ld

 o
n
 t

h
e
 b

a
la

n
c
e
 

s
h
e
e
t.

  
A

ls
o
 t

h
e
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
m

e
n
t 

fo
r 

th
e
 u

s
e
 o

f 
P

ro
fe

s
s
io

n
a
l 
S

e
rv

ic
e
s
 a

n
d
 T

ra
in

in
g
 b

u
d
g
e
ts

 w
e
re

 

le
s
s
 t

h
a
n
 f

o
re

c
a
s
t.

-7
1

-7
9

-7

-2
1

-2
6

-5

-4
4

-5
3

-8

-1
7

-2
9

-1
2

109



H
S

0
1

B
e
n
e
fi
ts

H
S

0
2

H
e
a
d
 o

f 
F

in
a
n
c
e
 &

 R
e
s
o
u
rc

e
s

H
S

0
3

R
e
v
e
n
u
e
s

P
R

0
1

P
ro

c
u
re

m
e
n
t

D
iv

is
io

n
 T

o
ta

l 
- 

H
e
a
d

 o
f 

F
in

a
n

c
e
 &

 

R
e
s
o

u
rc

e
s

D
ir

e
c
to

ra
te

 T
o

ta
l 

- 
D

ir
e
c
to

r 
o

f 

R
e
s
o

u
rc

e
s

D
R

0
5

D
ir
e
c
to

r 
o
f 

H
o
u
s
in

g

D
iv

is
io

n
 T

o
ta

l 
- 

D
ir

e
c
to

r 
o

f 
H

o
u

s
in

g

C
S

0
2

C
a
ll 

C
a
re

H
S

1
2

H
o
u
s
in

g
 O

p
ti
o
n
s

H
S

1
3

H
e
a
d
 o

f 
H

o
u
s
in

g
 N

e
e
d
s

P
E

0
9

T
ra

v
e
lle

rs
 S

it
e
s

H
S

0
5

H
o
m

e
 C

h
o
ic

e
 &

 R
e
s
e
tt

le
m

e
n
t

G
e
n
e
ra

l 
F

u
n
d
 R

e
v
e
n
u
e
 B

u
d
g
e
t

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix

 2

C
o
m

p
a
ri
s
o
n
 o

f 
2
0
1
2
/1

3
 P

e
ri
o
d
 1

0
 F

o
re

c
a
s
t 

O
u
tt

u
rn

 V
a
ri
a
n
c
e
 a

n
d
  

A
c
tu

a
l 
O

u
tt

u
rn

 V
a
ri
a
n
c
e

K
e
y

"-
" 

fi
g
u
re

 d
e
n
o
te

s
 a

 b
u
d
g
e
t 

u
n
d
e
r 

s
p
e
n
d
 o

r 
a
n
 i
n
c
o
m

e
 b

u
d
g
e
t 

o
r 

im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 

in
 o

u
tt

u
rn

"+
" 

fi
g
u
re

 d
e
n
o
te

s
 a

 b
u
d
g
e
t 

o
v
e
rs

p
e
n
d
 o

r 
a
n
 e

x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

 b
u
d
g
e
t 

o
r 

d
e
te

ri
o
ra

ti
o
n
 i
n
 o

u
tt

u
rn

P
e
ri

o
d

 1
0
 

F
o

re
c
a
s
t

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

O
u

tt
u

rn

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

F
o

re
c
a
s
t 

V
s

O
u

tt
u

rn
E

x
p

la
n

a
ti

o
n

£
0
0
0

£
0
0
0

£
0
0
0

3
0

2
5
0

2
2
0

V
a
ri
o
u
s
 b

e
n
e
fi
t 

s
u
b
s
id

y
 v

a
ri
a
ti
o
n
s
 £

2
1
3
k
, 

p
ri
n
c
ip

a
lly

 r
e
fl
e
c
ti
n
g
 t

h
e
 h

ig
h
e
r 

th
a
n
 a

n
tc

ia
p
a
te

d
 n

e
t 

c
o
s
ts

 i
n
 r

e
la

ti
o
n
 t

o
 t

h
e
 u

s
e
 o

f 
B

&
B

 a
c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 a

n
d
 a

 l
a
rg

e
r 

th
a
n
 a

n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d
 c

o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n
 

in
 r

e
la

ti
o
n
 t

o
 u

n
re

c
o
v
e
ra

b
le

 b
e
n
e
fi
t 

o
v
e
rp

a
y
m

e
n
ts

9
9

0

1
6

3
0

1
4

-2
-1

6
-1

4

-1
3
2

9
1
4
1

-1
1
6

-2
2

9
4

0
8

8

0
8

8

2
4
8

2
6
8

2
0

Y
e
a
r 

e
n
d
 s

to
c
k
 a

d
ju

s
tm

e
n
t 

£
1
7
k

-1
2

2
1

3
3

H
ig

h
e
r 

th
a
n
 a

n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d
 D

e
p
o
s
it
 B

o
n
d
 S

c
h
e
m

e
 c

o
s
ts

 £
2
5
k
, 

a
s
 a

 r
e
s
u

lt
 o

f 
a
n
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 i
n
 t

h
e
 

le
v
e
ls

 o
f 

c
o
s
ts

 w
h
ic

h
 w

e
re

 u
n
re

c
o
v
e
ra

b
le

 f
ro

m
 i
n
d
iv

id
u
a
l 
te

n
a
n
ts

. 
O

th
e
r 

m
in

o
r 

v
a
ri
a
ti
o
n
s
 £

8
k
.

4
8

7
-4

1
G

a
te

w
a
y
 p

ro
je

c
t 

c
o
s
ts

 t
h
a
t 

h
a
d
 b

e
e
n
 f

o
re

c
a
s
t 

(£
4
1
k
) 

w
e
re

 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 a

s
 H

R
A

 c
o
s
ts

 a
n
d
 

tr
a
n
s
fe

rr
e
d
 a

c
c
o
rd

in
g
ly

 a
t 

y
e
a
r 

e
n
d

-2
2

-6
0

-3
8

H
ig

h
e
r 

th
a
n
 a

n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d
 r

e
n
ta

l 
in

c
o
m

e
 (

£
1
2
k
),

 r
e
fl
e
c
ti
n
g
 s

u
s
ta

in
e
d
 h

ig
h
 l
e
v
e
ls

 o
f 

o
c
c
u
p
a
n
c
y
 a

t 

th
e
 E

c
to

n
 L

a
n
e
 s

it
e
. 

In
 a

d
d
it
io

n
, 

g
e
n
e
ra

l 
ru

n
n
in

g
 c

o
s
ts

a
t 

th
e
 s

it
e
 w

e
re

 l
o
w

e
r 

th
a
n
 

p
ro

je
c
te

d
(£

1
8
k
) 

, 
w

h
ile

 t
h
e
 c

o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n
 t

o
 t

h
e
 C

o
u
n
ty

 T
ra

v
e
lle

rs
 U

n
it
 a

d
m

in
is

te
re

d
 b

y
 t

h
e
 

C
o
u
n
ty

 C
o
u
n
c
il 

w
a
s
 a

ls
o
 r

e
d
u
c
e
d
 a

s
 a

 r
e
s
u
lt
 o

f 
a
 r

e
fu

n
d
.

£
3
8
k
 p

a
y
m

e
n
t 

to
 N

o
rt

h
a
m

p
to

n
 A

s
s
o
c
ia

ti
o
n
 f

o
r 

th
e
 A

c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 S

in
g
le

 H
o
m

e
le

s
s
 t

o
 

s
u
p
p
o
rt

 r
o
u
g
h
 s

le
e
p
e
rs

 i
n
 t

h
e
 B

o
ro

u
g
h
, 

h
a
d
 n

o
t 

b
e
e
n
 f

o
re

c
a
s
t 

a
t 

P
e
ri
o
d
 1

0
. 

O
th

e
r 

m
in

o
r 

v
a
ri
a
ti
o
n
s
 £

9
k

4
7

-5
-5

1

110



P
E

1
2

P
ri
v
a
te

 S
e
c
to

r 
H

o
u
s
in

g
 S

o
lu

ti
o
n
s

R
G

0
3

H
o
u
s
in

g
 S

tr
a
te

g
y

D
iv

is
io

n
 T

o
ta

l 
- 

H
e
a
d

 o
f 

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 

H
o

u
s
in

g

D
ir

e
c
to

ra
te

 T
o

ta
l 

- 
H

o
u

s
in

g

C
X

0
1

C
h
ie

f 
E

x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

G
C

0
2

C
iv

ic
 a

n
d
 M

a
y
o
ra

l 
E

x
p
e
n
s
e
s

G
C

0
5

O
v
e
rv

ie
w

 &
 S

c
ru

ti
n
y

G
C

0
6

C
o
u
n
c
ill

o
r 

&
 M

a
n
a
g
e
ri
a
l 
S

u
p
p
o
rt

L
D

0
2

E
le

c
to

ra
l 
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

L
D

0
3

L
a
n
d
 C

h
a
rg

e
s

L
D

0
4

L
e
g
a
l

L
D

0
8

D
e
m

o
c
ra

ti
c
 S

e
rv

ic
e
s

D
iv

is
io

n
 T

o
ta

l 
- 

B
o

ro
u

g
h

 S
e
c
re

ta
ry

D
ir

e
c
to

ra
te

 T
o

ta
l 

- 
B

o
ro

u
g

h
 

S
e
c
re

ta
ry

G
C

0
4

P
o
lic

y

G
C

0
9

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 a

n
d
 O

th
e
r 

G
ra

n
ts

G
C

1
0

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
ts

G
C

1
1

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 C

e
n
tr

e
s

L
S

0
1

H
e
a
d
 o

f 
P

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 S
u
p
p
o
rt

S
S

0
1

N
e
ig

h
b
o
u
rh

o
o
d
 M

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t

G
e
n
e
ra

l 
F

u
n
d
 R

e
v
e
n
u
e
 B

u
d
g
e
t

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix

 2

C
o
m

p
a
ri
s
o
n
 o

f 
2
0
1
2
/1

3
 P

e
ri
o
d
 1

0
 F

o
re

c
a
s
t 

O
u
tt

u
rn

 V
a
ri
a
n
c
e
 a

n
d
  

A
c
tu

a
l 
O

u
tt

u
rn

 V
a
ri
a
n
c
e

K
e
y

"-
" 

fi
g
u
re

 d
e
n
o
te

s
 a

 b
u
d
g
e
t 

u
n
d
e
r 

s
p
e
n
d
 o

r 
a
n
 i
n
c
o
m

e
 b

u
d
g
e
t 

o
r 

im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 

in
 o

u
tt

u
rn

"+
" 

fi
g
u
re

 d
e
n
o
te

s
 a

 b
u
d
g
e
t 

o
v
e
rs

p
e
n
d
 o

r 
a
n
 e

x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

 b
u
d
g
e
t 

o
r 

d
e
te

ri
o
ra

ti
o
n
 i
n
 o

u
tt

u
rn

P
e
ri

o
d

 1
0
 

F
o

re
c
a
s
t

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

O
u

tt
u

rn

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

F
o

re
c
a
s
t 

V
s

O
u

tt
u

rn
E

x
p

la
n

a
ti

o
n

£
0
0
0

£
0
0
0

£
0
0
0

-4
9

-2
2
2

-1
7
3

In
c
re

a
s
e
 i
n
 m

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

fe
e
s
 (

£
1
7
5
k
) 

to
w

a
rd

s
 t

h
e
 e

n
d
 o

f 
y
e
a
r 

re
la

ti
n
g
 t

o
 D

F
G

 c
a
p
it
a
l 

p
ro

je
c
ts

, 
a
s
 a

 r
e
s
u
lt
 o

f 
h
ig

h
e
r 

le
v
e
ls

 o
f 

c
o
m

p
le

ti
o
n
s
 o

n
 d

is
a
b
le

d
 f

a
c
ili

ti
e
s
 w

o
rk

s
.

1
-1

-3

1
6
4

7
-1

5
6

1
6
4

1
5

-1
4
9

1
-4

-5

-4
-0

4

1
0

-1

-1
2

-3
8

-2
6

A
d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
re

d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 m

e
m

b
e
rs

' 
e
x
p
e
n
s
e
s
 o

f 
£
1
6
k
 a

n
d
 r

e
d
u
c
e
d
 t

ra
in

in
g
 s

p
e
n
d
 o

f 
£
7
k

1
1

2
6

1
5

-1
0

-0
1
0

-8
-7

9
-7

1

In
c
o
m

e
 w

a
s
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
d
 b

y
 (

£
5
0
k
) 

d
u
e
 t

o
 a

d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
a
d
m

in
is

tr
a
ti
v
e
 i
n
c
o
m

e
 f

ro
m

 R
ig

h
t 

to
 B

u
y
 i
n
 

q
u
a
rt

e
rs

 3
 a

n
d
 4

 o
f 

2
0
1
2
/1

3
. 

 R
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 t

ra
in

in
g
 g

iv
e
s
 s

a
v
in

g
s
 o

f 
(£

6
k
).

 T
h
e
re

 w
a
s
 a

 

fo
re

c
a
s
t 

s
p
e
n
d
 o

f 
(£

1
0
k
) 

fo
r 

p
ro

fe
s
s
io

n
a
l 
s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 t

o
 d

e
a
l 
w

it
h
 L

e
g

a
l 
c
o
m

p
la

in
ts

 h
o
w

e
v
e
r 

th
e
 

c
o
m

p
la

in
ts

 w
ill

 n
o
w

 b
e
 d

e
a
lt
 w

it
h
 i
n
 2

0
1
3
/1

4
 a

n
d
 b

u
d
g
e

t 
h
a
s
 b

e
e
n
 c

a
rr

ie
d
 i
n
to

 a
 r

e
s
e
rv

e
 t

o
 

fu
n
d
 t

h
e
 a

d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
c
o
s
ts

 i
n
 2

0
1
3
/1

4
.

-7
-1

0
-3

-2
8

-1
0
6

-7
8

-2
8

-1
0
6

-7
8

4
0

-2
-4

2
C

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 G

o
v
e
rn

a
n
c
e
 r

e
v
ie

w
 w

a
s
 f

o
re

c
a
s
te

d
 a

s
 a

n
 o

v
e
rs

p
e
n
d
 h

o
w

e
v
e
r 

a
d

d
it
io

n
a
l 
re

s
e
rv

e
 

w
a
s
 a

v
a
ila

b
le

 t
o
 f

u
n
d
 t

h
e
 o

v
e
rs

p
e
n
d
.

7
-1

3
-2

0

-6
2

-5
8

4
 

-6
6

-5
0

1
6

-1
5

1
1
6

-1
0

-2
0

-1
1

111



D
iv

is
io

n
 T

o
ta

l 
- 

H
e
a
d

 o
f 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 

S
u

p
p

o
rt

D
R

0
1

D
ir
e
c
to

r 
o
f 

C
u
s
to

m
e
rs

 &
 

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s

D
iv

is
io

n
 T

o
ta

l 
- 

D
ir

e
c
to

r 
o

f 

C
u

s
to

m
e
rs

 &
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

ie
s

C
E

0
6

M
u
s
e
u
m

s
 a

n
d
 A

rt
s

C
S

0
3

H
e
a
d
 o

f 
C

u
s
to

m
e
r 

&
 C

u
lt
u
ra

l 

S
e
rv

ic
e
s

C
S

0
5

P
ri
n
t 

U
n
it

P
I0

2
In

fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 T

e
c
h
n
o
lo

g
y

P
I1

4
T

e
le

p
h
o
n
e
s

D
iv

is
io

n
 T

o
ta

l 
- 

H
e
a
d

 o
f 

C
u

s
to

m
e
r 

&
 

C
u

lt
u

ra
l 

S
e
rv

ic
e
s

C
E

0
2

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 S

a
fe

ty

C
S

0
4

C
u
s
to

m
e
r 

S
e
rv

ic
e
s

G
e
n
e
ra

l 
F

u
n
d
 R

e
v
e
n
u
e
 B

u
d
g
e
t

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix

 2

C
o
m

p
a
ri
s
o
n
 o

f 
2
0
1
2
/1

3
 P

e
ri
o
d
 1

0
 F

o
re

c
a
s
t 

O
u
tt

u
rn

 V
a
ri
a
n
c
e
 a

n
d
  

A
c
tu

a
l 
O

u
tt

u
rn

 V
a
ri
a
n
c
e

K
e
y

"-
" 

fi
g
u
re

 d
e
n
o
te

s
 a

 b
u
d
g
e
t 

u
n
d
e
r 

s
p
e
n
d
 o

r 
a
n
 i
n
c
o
m

e
 b

u
d
g
e
t 

o
r 

im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 

in
 o

u
tt

u
rn

"+
" 

fi
g
u
re

 d
e
n
o
te

s
 a

 b
u
d
g
e
t 

o
v
e
rs

p
e
n
d
 o

r 
a
n
 e

x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

 b
u
d
g
e
t 

o
r 

d
e
te

ri
o
ra

ti
o
n
 i
n
 o

u
tt

u
rn

P
e
ri

o
d

 1
0
 

F
o

re
c
a
s
t

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

O
u

tt
u

rn

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

F
o

re
c
a
s
t 

V
s

O
u

tt
u

rn
E

x
p

la
n

a
ti

o
n

£
0
0
0

£
0
0
0

£
0
0
0

-1
0
6

-1
4
3

-3
7

-4
1

-3
8

3

-4
1

-3
8

3

5
2

3
6

-1
6

-1
8

-1
7

1

4
7

3
8

-9

-3
9

-1
5
4

-1
1
4

R
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 e

x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

 o
n
 h

a
rd

w
a
re

 g
a
v
e
 a

 s
a
v
in

g
s
 o

f 
(£

8
k
).

  
D

u
e
 t

o
 p

a
rt

 y
e
a
r 

e
ff

e
c
t 

a
n
d
 

le
a
s
e
s
 e

x
p
ir
in

g
 t

h
e
re

 w
a
s
 a

n
 a

d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
s
a
v
in

g
s
 o

f 
(£

9
0
k
).

  
V

a
c
a
n

t 
p
o
s
ts

 i
n
 I

C
T

 n
o
t 

p
re

v
io

u
s
ly

 

fo
re

c
a
s
t 

g
a
v
e
 a

n
 a

d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
s
a
v
in

g
s
 o

f 
(£

6
k
).

  
T

h
e
 t

e
le

p
h
o
n
e
 c

o
s
ts

 i
n
c
u
rr

e
d
 b

y
 t

h
e
 L

e
is

u
re

 

T
ru

s
t 

w
e
re

 f
o
re

c
a
s
te

d
 i
n
 I

C
T

 b
u
t 

th
e
 i
n
c
o
m

e
 r

e
c
e
iv

e
d
 t

h
ro

u
g
h
 t

h
e
 S

e
rv

ic
e
 L

e
v
e
l 
A

g
re

e
m

e
n
t 

fo
r 

th
e
 t

e
le

p
h
o
n
e
s
 (

£
1
2
k
) 

w
a
s
 n

o
t.

0
-3

7
-3

7

T
h
e
 t

e
le

p
h
o
n
e
 r

e
n
ta

l 
a
n
d
 c

a
ll 

c
o
s
ts

 e
x
c
e
e
d
e
d
 t

h
e
 f

o
re

c
a
s
t 

b
y
 £

2
1
k
 h

o
w

e
v
e
r 

th
e
re

 i
s
 s

a
v
in

g
s
 

o
n
 t

h
e
 h

a
rd

w
a
re

 m
a
in

te
n
a
n
c
e
 o

f 
th

e
 o

ld
 p

h
o
n
e
 s

y
s
te

m
s
 o

f 
(£

3
0
k
).

  
A

d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
in

c
o
m

e
 w

a
s
 

re
c
e
iv

e
d
 f

o
r 

re
n
e
w

in
g
 t

h
e
 m

o
b
ile

 p
h
o
n
e
 c

o
n
tr

a
c
t 

(£
1
3
k
).

  
T

h
e
re

 w
e
re

 p
la

n
s
 t

o
 s

p
e
n
d
 (

£
1
2
k
) 

o
n
 

p
ro

fe
s
s
io

n
a
l 
s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 h

o
w

e
v
e
r 

la
te

r 
o
n
 i
n
 t

h
e
 f

in
a
n
c
ia

l 
y
e
a
r 

it
 w

a
s
 f

o
u
n
d
 n

o
t 

to
 b

e
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
d
.

5
1

-1
0
2

-1
5
3

4
4

2
-4

1
T

h
is

 i
s
 l
a
rg

e
le

y
 d

u
e
 t

o
 S

1
0
6
 i
n
c
o
m

e
 w

h
ic

h
 w

a
s
 h

ig
h
e
r 

th
a

n
 a

n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d
.

1
0

3
2

2
1

112



C
E

0
4

L
e
is

u
re

 C
o
n
tr

a
c
t

L
D

0
5

L
ic

e
n
s
in

g

P
E

0
7

P
e
s
t 

C
o
n
tr

o
l

P
E

1
0

C
o
m

m
e
rc

ia
l 
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

P
E

1
1

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
ta

l 
P

ro
te

c
ti
o
n

P
E

1
6

H
e
a
d
 o

f 
P

u
b
lic

 P
ro

te
c
ti
o
n

G
e
n
e
ra

l 
F

u
n
d
 R

e
v
e
n
u
e
 B

u
d
g
e
t

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix

 2

C
o
m

p
a
ri
s
o
n
 o

f 
2
0
1
2
/1

3
 P

e
ri
o
d
 1

0
 F

o
re

c
a
s
t 

O
u
tt

u
rn

 V
a
ri
a
n
c
e
 a

n
d
  

A
c
tu

a
l 
O

u
tt

u
rn

 V
a
ri
a
n
c
e

K
e
y

"-
" 

fi
g
u
re

 d
e
n
o
te

s
 a

 b
u
d
g
e
t 

u
n
d
e
r 

s
p
e
n
d
 o

r 
a
n
 i
n
c
o
m

e
 b

u
d
g
e
t 

o
r 

im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 

in
 o

u
tt

u
rn

"+
" 

fi
g
u
re

 d
e
n
o
te

s
 a

 b
u
d
g
e
t 

o
v
e
rs

p
e
n
d
 o

r 
a
n
 e

x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

 b
u
d
g
e
t 

o
r 

d
e
te

ri
o
ra

ti
o
n
 i
n
 o

u
tt

u
rn

P
e
ri

o
d

 1
0
 

F
o

re
c
a
s
t

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

O
u

tt
u

rn

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

F
o

re
c
a
s
t 

V
s

O
u

tt
u

rn
E

x
p

la
n

a
ti

o
n

£
0
0
0

£
0
0
0

£
0
0
0

-7
2
0

2
6

R
e
d
u
c
e
d
 p

re
m

is
e
s
 i
n
s
u
ra

n
c
e
 c

o
s
ts

 (
£
1
5
k
) 

w
e
re

 o
ff

s
e
t 

b
y
 t

h
e
 p

ro
v
is

io
n
 f

o
r 

k
n
o
w

n
  

in
s
u
ra

n
c
e
 

c
la

im
s
 £

4
3
k
.

6
-2

-7

-3
6

-4
1

-5

7
7

0

-1
1
4

-1
7
7

-6
3

(£
1
7
k
) 

in
c
re

a
s
e
d
 i
n
c
o
m

e
 l
a
rg

e
ly

 d
u
e
 t

o
 r

e
c
e
ip

t 
o
f 

p
ri
o
r 

y
e
a
r 

in
c
o
m

e
. 

(£
3
3
k
) 

c
a
rb

o
n
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

b
u
d
g
e
ts

 w
h
ic

h
 a

re
 n

o
t 

u
ti
lis

e
d
. 

(£
1
8
k
) 

re
d
u
c
e
d
 b

u
ri
a

l 
c
o
s
ts

 d
u
e
 t

o
 a

 g
re

a
te

r 

re
im

b
u
rs

e
m

e
n
t 

ra
te

 f
ro

m
 t

h
e
 e

s
ta

te
s
. 

-1
3

4

113



S
S

0
9

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
ta

l 
S

e
rv

ic
e
s
 C

o
n
tr

a
c
t

S
S

2
0

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
ta

l 
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

D
iv

is
io

n
 T

o
ta

l 
- 

H
e
a
d

 o
f 

P
u

b
li

c
 

P
ro

te
c
ti

o
n

C
E

0
3

E
v
e
n
ts

C
E

2
3

T
o
w

n
 C

e
n
tr

e
 M

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t

C
E

2
4

C
a
r 

P
a
rk

in
g

C
E

2
6

B
u
s
 S

ta
ti
o
n

G
e
n
e
ra

l 
F

u
n
d
 R

e
v
e
n
u
e
 B

u
d
g
e
t

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix

 2

C
o
m

p
a
ri
s
o
n
 o

f 
2
0
1
2
/1

3
 P

e
ri
o
d
 1

0
 F

o
re

c
a
s
t 

O
u
tt

u
rn

 V
a
ri
a
n
c
e
 a

n
d
  

A
c
tu

a
l 
O

u
tt

u
rn

 V
a
ri
a
n
c
e

K
e
y

"-
" 

fi
g
u
re

 d
e
n
o
te

s
 a

 b
u
d
g
e
t 

u
n
d
e
r 

s
p
e
n
d
 o

r 
a
n
 i
n
c
o
m

e
 b

u
d
g
e
t 

o
r 

im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 

in
 o

u
tt

u
rn

"+
" 

fi
g
u
re

 d
e
n
o
te

s
 a

 b
u
d
g
e
t 

o
v
e
rs

p
e
n
d
 o

r 
a
n
 e

x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

 b
u
d
g
e
t 

o
r 

d
e
te

ri
o
ra

ti
o
n
 i
n
 o

u
tt

u
rn

P
e
ri

o
d

 1
0
 

F
o

re
c
a
s
t

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

O
u

tt
u

rn

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

F
o

re
c
a
s
t 

V
s

O
u

tt
u

rn
E

x
p

la
n

a
ti

o
n

£
0
0
0

£
0
0
0

£
0
0
0

0
4
5

4
5

S
a
v
in

g
s
: 

£
2
8
k
 d

u
e
 t

o
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 d

e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
s
, 

£
3
3
k
 o

th
e
r 

m
in

o
r 

s
a
v
in

g
s
 

O
ff

s
e
t 

b
y
 £

8
8
k
 o

v
e
r 

a
c
c
ru

a
l 
o
f 

R
e
c
y
c
lin

g
 C

re
d
it
 i
n
c
o
m

e
 a

n
d
 n

o
n
-a

c
c
ru

a
l 
o
f 

£
3
6
k
 f

o
r 

H
ig

h
w

a
y
s
 

tr
e
e
 w

o
rk

s
 i
n
 2

0
1
1
/1

2
.

1
8

3
8
9

3
7
1

O
n
e
 o

ff
 c

o
s
t 

o
f 

£
9
0
k
 f

o
r 

b
in

 l
e
a
s
e
s
, 

re
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 i
n
c
o
m

e
  

fr
o
m

 H
R

A
 f

o
r 

s
u
p
p
ly

 o
f 

s
k
ip

s
 £

1
5
3
k
 

a
n
d
 f

o
r 

s
u
p
p
o
rt

 f
ro

m
 t

h
e
 I

n
te

g
ra

te
d
 A

d
m

in
 T

e
a
m

 £
2
7
k
, 

£
6
5
k
 r

e
d
u

c
e
d
 s

p
o
rt

s
 f

a
c
ili

ti
e
s
 r

e
n
ta

l 

in
c
o
m

e
, 

£
2
7
k
 o

n
e
 o

ff
 p

u
b
lic

 c
o
n
v
e
n
ie

n
c
e
 c

o
s
ts

, 
£
2
9
k
 m

a
rk

e
t-

te
s
ti
n
g
 i
n
c
o
m

e
.

-8
3

2
4
6

3
3
0

-3
3

-5
2
8

£
3
k
 a

g
e
n
c
y
 c

o
s
ts

. 
£
3
9
k
 i
n
 p

re
m

is
e
s
 a

n
d
 £

2
9
k
 i
n
 s

u
p
p
lie

s
 a

n
d
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 l
a
rg

e
ly

 d
u
e
 t

o
 

u
n
fo

re
s
e
e
n
 C

h
ri
s
tm

a
s
 a

n
d
 D

iw
a
li 

c
o
s
ts

.

1
4

3
4

2
0

£
1
5
k
 e

m
p
lo

y
e
e
 b

u
d
g
e
t 

s
a
v
in

g
 w

h
ic

h
 h

a
s
 n

o
t 

b
e
e
n
 m

e
t.

 £
3
k
 r

e
d
u
c
e
d
 t

o
w

n
 c

e
n
tr

e
 B

ID
 i
n
c
o
m

e
. 

4
1
0

1
0
7

-3
0
4

 D
u
e
 t

o
 t

h
e
 f

lu
c
tu

a
ti
n
g
 n

a
tu

re
 o

f 
c
a
r 

p
a
rk

in
g
 i
n
c
o
m

e
 a

n
d
 t

h
e
 m

a
te

ri
a
l 
v
a
lu

e
 o

f 
th

e
 i
n
c
o
m

e
 

b
u
d
g
e
t,

 a
 r

e
s
e
rv

e
 w

a
s
 c

re
a
te

d
 t

o
 c

u
s
h
io

n
 t

h
e
 i
m

p
a
c
t 

o
f 

lo
s
s
 i
n
 t

h
is

 a
re

a
. 

 T
o
 t

h
is

 e
ff

e
c
t,

 

(£
2
0
0
k
) 

 h
a
s
 b

e
e
n
 u

ti
lis

e
d
 t

o
 r

e
d
u
c
e
 t

h
e
 i
m

p
a
c
t 

o
f 

th
e
 r

e
d
u
c
e
d

 d
a
ily

 t
ic

k
e
t 

a
n
d
 s

e
a
s
o
n
 t

ic
k
e
t 

in
c
o
m

e
. 

In
 a

d
d
it
io

n
 t

h
e
 a

c
tu

a
l 
N

N
D

R
 i
s
 (

£
1
0
2
k
) 

le
s
s
 t

h
a
n
 b

u
d

g
e
t,

 a
n
d
 f

o
re

c
a
s
t.

-8
8

-1
0
6

-1
7

114



F
A

0
9

M
a
rk

e
ts

D
iv

is
io

n
 T

o
ta

l 
- 

H
e
a
d

 o
f 

T
o

w
n

 C
e
n

tr
e
 

M
a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t

D
ir

e
c
to

ra
te

 T
o

ta
l 

- 
D

ir
e
c
to

r 
o

f 

C
u

s
to

m
e
rs

 &
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

ie
s

T
o

ta
l

G
e
n
e
ra

l 
F

u
n
d
 R

e
v
e
n
u
e
 B

u
d
g
e
t

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix

 2

C
o
m

p
a
ri
s
o
n
 o

f 
2
0
1
2
/1

3
 P

e
ri
o
d
 1

0
 F

o
re

c
a
s
t 

O
u
tt

u
rn

 V
a
ri
a
n
c
e
 a

n
d
  

A
c
tu

a
l 
O

u
tt

u
rn

 V
a
ri
a
n
c
e

K
e
y

"-
" 

fi
g
u
re

 d
e
n
o
te

s
 a

 b
u
d
g
e
t 

u
n
d
e
r 

s
p
e
n
d
 o

r 
a
n
 i
n
c
o
m

e
 b

u
d
g
e
t 

o
r 

im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 

in
 o

u
tt

u
rn

"+
" 

fi
g
u
re

 d
e
n
o
te

s
 a

 b
u
d
g
e
t 

o
v
e
rs

p
e
n
d
 o

r 
a
n
 e

x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

 b
u
d
g
e
t 

o
r 

d
e
te

ri
o
ra

ti
o
n
 i
n
 o

u
tt

u
rn

P
e
ri

o
d

 1
0
 

F
o

re
c
a
s
t

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

O
u

tt
u

rn

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

F
o

re
c
a
s
t 

V
s

O
u

tt
u

rn
E

x
p

la
n

a
ti

o
n

£
0
0
0

£
0
0
0

£
0
0
0

-5
-6

9
-6

3

L
o
w

e
r 

th
a
n
 e

s
ti
m

a
te

d
 e

le
c
tr

ic
it
y
 (

£
9
k
) 

a
n
d
 N

N
D

R
 (

£
9
k
).

 (
£
1
1
k
) 

c
le

a
n
in

g
 a

n
d
 r

u
b
b
is

h
 r

e
m

o
v
a
l 

d
u
e
 t

o
 b

e
tt

e
r 

u
ti
lis

a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
re

s
o
u
rc

e
s
. 

(£
7
k
) 

re
d
u
c
e
d
 i
n
s
u
ra

n
c
e
 c

o
s
ts

. 
T

ra
n
s
p
o
rt

 c
o
s
ts

 w
e
re

 

(£
6
k
) 

le
s
s
 t

h
a
n
 f

o
re

c
a
s
t 

d
u
e
 t

o
 r

e
d
u
c
e
d
. 

In
te

rn
a
l 
re

s
p
o
n
s
iv

e
 w

o
rk

s
 (

£
1

0
k
).

 (
£
6
k
) 

m
o
re

 i
n
c
o
m

e
 

d
u
e
 t

o
 h

ig
h
e
r 

c
a
s
u
a
l 
s
ta

ll 
h
ir
e
 t

h
a
n
 f

o
re

c
a
s
t.

2
9
8

-3
9

-3
3
7

1
1
8

-7
5

-1
9
4

3
5

-4
2
3

-4
5
8

6
8

-4
2
3

3
3
.0

0
0
0
0

-0
.0

0
0
0
0

115



G
e
n
e
ra

l 
F

u
n
d
 R

e
v
e
n
u
e
 B

u
d
g
e
t

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix

 3

S
e
rv

ic
e
 B

u
d
g
e
t 

O
u
tt

u
rn

 P
o
s
it
io

n
 2

0
1
2
/1

3
K

e
y

"-
" 

fi
g
u
re

 d
e
n
o
te

s
 a

 b
u
d
g
e
t 

u
n
d
e
r 

s
p
e
n
d
 o

r 
a
n
 i
n
c
o
m

e
 b

u
d
g
e
t 

o
r 

im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 

in
 o

u
tt

u
rn

"+
" 

fi
g
u
re

 d
e
n
o
te

s
 a

 b
u
d
g
e
t 

o
v
e
rs

p
e
n
d
 o

r 
a
n
 e

x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

 b
u
d
g
e
t 

o
r 

d
e
te

ri
o
ra

ti
o
n
 i
n
 o

u
tt

u
rn

2
0
1
2
/2

0
1
3

R
e
v
is

e
d

B
u

d
g

e
t

O
u

tt
u

rn
O

u
tt

u
rn

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

E
x
p

la
n

a
ti

o
n

£
0
0
0

£
0
0
0

£
0
0
0

D
R

0
2

D
ir
e
c
to

r 
o
f 

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra

ti
o
n
, 

E
n
te

rp
ri
s
e
 

a
n
d
 P

la
n
n
in

g
2
5
5

2
6
4

9

D
iv

is
io

n
 T

o
ta

l 
- 

D
ir

e
c
to

r 
o

f 

R
e
g

e
n

e
ra

ti
o

n
, 

E
n

te
rp

ri
s
e
 &

 P
la

n
n

in
g

2
5
5

2
6
4

9

S
a
v
in

g
s
 o

f 
£
5
2
k
 f

ro
m

 s
ta

ff
 v

a
c
a
n
c
ie

s
 a

n
d
 £

1
1
k
 f

ro
m

 p
ro

c
e
e
d
s
 r

e
c
e
iv

e
d
 f

ro
m

 s
a
le

 o
f 

s
o
m

e
 

p
ro

p
e
rt

ie
s
 £

1
1
k
. 

O
ff

s
e
t 

b
y
: 

£
6
7
k
 y

e
a
r 

e
n
d
 i
n
s
u
ra

n
c
e
 c

h
a
rg

e
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
e
c
t 

o
f 

p
a
id

 a
n
d

 p
o
te

n
ti
a
l 
c
la

im
s
; 

 £
2
6
k
 

s
h
o
rt

fa
ll 

in
 e

s
ti
m

a
te

d
 r

e
b
a
te

s
 f

ro
m

 N
N

D
R

 r
e
v
ie

w
. 

F
A

0
6

O
th

e
r 

B
u
ild

in
g
s
 &

 L
a
n
d

-1
,4

1
1

-1
,4

2
0

-8

R
G

0
1

H
e
a
d
 o

f 
M

a
jo

r 
P

ro
je

c
ts

 a
n
d
 

E
n
te

rp
ri
s
e

9
8

9
1

-7

R
G

0
2

M
a
jo

r 
P

ro
je

c
ts

 a
n
d
 E

n
te

rp
ri
s
e

9
8
1

9
6
7

-1
3

D
iv

is
io

n
 T

o
ta

l 
- 

M
a
jo

r 
P

ro
je

c
ts

 a
n

d
 

E
n

te
rp

ri
s
e

1
,1

9
6

1
,1

9
7

1

P
E

0
2

B
u
ild

in
g
 C

o
n
tr

o
l

-3
6

-4
4

-8

S
a
v
in

g
s
 o

f 
£
8
2
k
 a

ri
s
in

g
 f

ro
m

 s
ta

ff
 v

a
c
a
n
c
ie

s
; 

 a
d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
in

c
o
m

e
 o

f 
£
1
0
0
k
 d

u
e
 t

o
 h

ig
h
 v

a
lu

e
 

p
la

n
n
in

g
 a

p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s
 r

e
c
e
iv

e
d
 a

t 
y
e
a
r 

e
n
d
; 

a
n
d
 £

4
3
k
 s

e
c
ti
o
n
 1

0
6
 c

o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n
s
.

O
ff

s
e
t 

b
y
: 

£
6
9
k
 o

v
e
rs

p
e
n
d
 d

u
e
 t

o
 P

la
n
n
in

g
 P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 A

g
re

e
m

e
n
t 

n
o
t 

b
e
in

g
 i
m

p
le

m
e
n
te

d
;

£
7
k
 d

u
e
 t

o
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 i
n
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

p
la

n
n
in

g
 n

o
ti
c
e
s
 a

n
d
 £

7
k
 i
n

c
re

a
s
e
 i
n
 o

th
e
r 

s
u
p
p
lie

s
 &

 

s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 e

x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

 d
u
e
 t

o
 r

e
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
. 

P
E

0
6

H
e
a
d
 o

f 
P

la
n
n
in

g
1
1
5

1
0
9

-6

P
E

1
5

J
o
in

t 
P

la
n
n
in

g
 U

n
it

2
5
2

2
3
8

-1
4

P
E

1
7

P
la

n
n
in

g
 &

 R
e
g
n
 P

ro
je

c
t 

S
u
p
p
o
rt

1
0
6

8
6

-2
0

S
a
v
in

g
s
 o

f 
£
1
9
k
 a

s
 a

 r
e
s
u
lt
 o

f 
s
ta

ff
 v

a
c
a
n
c
y
.

R
G

0
4

P
la

n
n
in

g
 P

o
lic

y
 &

 H
e
ri
ta

g
e

7
1
3

6
6
3

-4
9

S
a
v
in

g
s
 o

f 
£
4
4
k
 a

s
 a

 r
e
s
u
lt
 o

f 
s
ta

ff
 v

a
c
a
n
c
y
.

R
G

0
9

B
u
s
 S

e
rv

ic
e
 C

o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n

4
8

4
8

-0

D
iv

is
io

n
 T

o
ta

l 
- 

H
e
a
d

 o
f 

P
la

n
n

in
g

1
,5

9
0

1
,3

4
7

-2
4
4

D
ir

e
c
to

ra
te

 T
o

ta
l 

- 
D

ir
e
c
to

r 
o

f 

R
e
g

e
n

e
ra

ti
o

n
, 

E
n

te
rp

ri
s
e
 &

 P
la

n
n

in
g

3
,0

4
2

2
,8

0
8

-2
3
4

F
A

0
1

A
s
s
e
t 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t

1
,5

2
9

1
,5

5
8

2
9

P
E

0
3

D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

C
o
n
tr

o
l

3
9
3

2
4
6

-1
4
7

116



G
e
n
e
ra

l 
F

u
n
d
 R

e
v
e
n
u
e
 B

u
d
g
e
t

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix

 3

S
e
rv

ic
e
 B

u
d
g
e
t 

O
u
tt

u
rn

 P
o
s
it
io

n
 2

0
1
2
/1

3
K

e
y

"-
" 

fi
g
u
re

 d
e
n
o
te

s
 a

 b
u
d
g
e
t 

u
n
d
e
r 

s
p
e
n
d
 o

r 
a
n
 i
n
c
o
m

e
 b

u
d
g
e
t 

o
r 

im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 

in
 o

u
tt

u
rn

"+
" 

fi
g
u
re

 d
e
n
o
te

s
 a

 b
u
d
g
e
t 

o
v
e
rs

p
e
n
d
 o

r 
a
n
 e

x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

 b
u
d
g
e
t 

o
r 

d
e
te

ri
o
ra

ti
o
n
 i
n
 o

u
tt

u
rn

2
0
1
2
/2

0
1
3

R
e
v
is

e
d

B
u

d
g

e
t

O
u

tt
u

rn
O

u
tt

u
rn

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

E
x
p

la
n

a
ti

o
n

£
0
0
0

£
0
0
0

£
0
0
0

F
A

0
4

N
o
n
 D

is
tr

ib
u
te

d
 C

o
s
ts

4
,0

5
7

4
,0

5
7

-0

D
iv

is
io

n
 T

o
ta

l 
- 

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

4
,0

5
7

4
,0

5
7

-0

D
R

0
3

D
ir
e
c
to

r 
o
f 

R
e
s
o
u
rc

e
s

2
9
9

2
9
1

-8

D
iv

is
io

n
 T

o
ta

l 
- 

D
ir

e
c
to

r 
o

f 

R
e
s
o

u
rc

e
s

2
9
9

2
9
1

-8

G
C

0
8

C
o
m

m
u
n
ic

a
ti
o
n
s

1
8
8

2
0
8

1
9

G
C

1
5

E
m

e
rg

e
n
c
y
 P

la
n
n
in

g
5
3

6
2

1
0

C
o
s
ts

 i
n
c
u
rr

e
d
 r

e
 e

v
a
c
u
a
ti
o
n
s
 o

f 
B

ill
in

g
 A

q
u
a
d
ro

m
e
 d

u
e
 t

o
 f

lo
o
d
in

g
.

H
R

0
1

H
u
m

a
n
 R

e
s
o
u
rc

e
s

9
3
6

9
0
8

-2
8

S
a
v
in

g
 o

n
 O

c
c
u
p
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
H

e
a
lt
h
 a

n
d
 N

u
rs

e
 L

e
d
 c

o
n
tr

a
c
ts

 o
f 

£
3
0
k
.

O
ff

s
e
t 

b
y
: 

£
2
k
 m

in
o
r 

v
a
ri
a
ti
o
n
s
.

H
R

0
2

S
in

g
le

 S
ta

tu
s

6
9

6
9

0

H
R

1
4

B
u
s
in

e
s
s
 I

m
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t

3
0
5

3
0
5

0

P
I2

0
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 a

n
d
 c

h
a
n
g
e

1
5
5

1
3
1

-2
4

S
a
v
in

g
s
 o

n
 r

e
d
u
c
e
d
 o

p
e
ra

ti
o
n
a
l 
e
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

 d
u
e
 t

o
 s

e
c
o
n
d
m

e
n
ts

 t
o
 t

h
e
 B

u
s
in

e
s
s
 

Im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 

T
e
a
m

.

D
iv

is
io

n
 T

o
ta

l 
- 

H
e
a
d

 o
f 

B
u

s
in

e
s
s
 

C
h

a
n

g
e

1
,7

0
6

1
,6

8
3

-2
3

F
A

0
2

F
in

a
n
c
ia

l 
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

1
,3

5
5

1
,2

7
9

-7
6

S
a
v
in

g
s
: 

d
u
e
 t

o
 o

n
e
 o

ff
 a

d
ju

s
tm

e
n
ts

 t
o
 r

e
v
e
n
u
e
 t

o
 c

le
a
r 

b
a
la

n
c
e
s
 a

n
d
 t

ra
n
s
fe

r 
o
f 

p
ro

c
e
e
d
s
 i
n
 

re
la

ti
o
n
 t

o
 m

o
rt

g
a
g
e
 r

e
p
o
s
s
e
s
s
io

n
s
 p

re
v
io

u
s
ly

 h
e
ld

 o
n
 t

h
e
 b

a
la

n
c
e

 s
h
e
e
t.

 R
e
d
u
c
e
d
 c

o
s
ts

 o
f 

P
ro

fe
s
s
io

n
a
l 
S

e
rv

ic
e
s
 (

£
3
8
k
) 

a
n
d
 T

ra
in

in
g
 (

£
2
0
k
)

F
A

0
3

A
u
d
it

3
3
6

2
5
7

-7
9

S
a
v
in

g
s
 a

ri
s
in

g
 f

ro
m

 l
o
w

e
r 

p
a
y
m

e
n
ts

 t
o
 b

o
th

 I
n
te

rn
a
l 
a
n
d
 E

x
te

rn
a
l 
A

u
d
it
 a

s
 a

 r
e
s
u
lt
 o

f 

d
is

c
o
u
n
ts

 a
n
d
 r

e
fu

n
d
s
 b

e
in

g
 g

iv
e
n
 i
n
 2

0
1
2
/1

3
.

F
A

0
5

In
v
e
s
tm

e
n
ts

6
5

4
0

-2
6

S
a
v
in

g
s
: 

o
n
 b

a
n
k
 c

h
a
rg

e
s
 a

re
 a

s
 a

 r
e
s
u
lt
 o

f 
a
 n

e
w

 c
o
n
tr

a
c
t 

fo
r 

b
a
n
k
in

g
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
.

F
A

0
8

O
ff

ic
e
 A

c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n

1
,6

1
3

1
,5

6
0

-5
3

S
a
v
in

g
s
 d

u
e
 t

o
 e

n
e
rg

y
 p

ri
c
e
 r

is
e
s
 n

o
t 

b
e
in

g
 a

s
 h

ig
h
 a

s
 o

ri
g
in

a
lly

 a
n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d
 a

n
d
 N

N
D

R
 

c
h
a
rg

e
s
 b

e
in

g
 l
e
s
s
 t

h
a
n
 b

u
d
g
e
te

d
 a

s
 a

 r
e
s
u
lt
 o

f 
a
 c

h
a
n
g
e
 i
n
 t

h
e
 r

a
te

a
b
le

 o
f 

th
e
 G

u
ild

h
a
ll 

v
a
lu

e
 

F
A

1
9

E
x
c
h
e
q
u
e
r 

S
e
rv

ic
e
s

4
8
9

4
6
0

-2
9

S
a
v
in

g
s
: 

m
a
in

ly
 d

u
e
 t

o
 r

e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 c

o
s
ts

 f
o
r 

c
a
s
h
 c

o
lle

c
ti
o
n
 d

u
e
 t

o
 r

e
n
e
g
o
ti
a
te

d
 c

o
lle

c
ti
o
n
 

s
c
h
e
d
u
le

.

117



G
e
n
e
ra

l 
F

u
n
d
 R

e
v
e
n
u
e
 B

u
d
g
e
t

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix

 3

S
e
rv

ic
e
 B

u
d
g
e
t 

O
u
tt

u
rn

 P
o
s
it
io

n
 2

0
1
2
/1

3
K

e
y

"-
" 

fi
g
u
re

 d
e
n
o
te

s
 a

 b
u
d
g
e
t 

u
n
d
e
r 

s
p
e
n
d
 o

r 
a
n
 i
n
c
o
m

e
 b

u
d
g
e
t 

o
r 

im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 

in
 o

u
tt

u
rn

"+
" 

fi
g
u
re

 d
e
n
o
te

s
 a

 b
u
d
g
e
t 

o
v
e
rs

p
e
n
d
 o

r 
a
n
 e

x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

 b
u
d
g
e
t 

o
r 

d
e
te

ri
o
ra

ti
o
n
 i
n
 o

u
tt

u
rn

2
0
1
2
/2

0
1
3

R
e
v
is

e
d

B
u

d
g

e
t

O
u

tt
u

rn
O

u
tt

u
rn

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

E
x
p

la
n

a
ti

o
n

£
0
0
0

£
0
0
0

£
0
0
0

H
S

0
1

B
e
n
e
fi
ts

-1
1
8

1
3
2

2
5
0

A
d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
£
2
6
2
k
  

s
u
b
s
id

y
 s

p
e
n
d
 l
a
rg

e
ly

 d
u
e
 t

o
 a

n
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 i
n

 t
h
e
 n

e
t 

c
o
s
ts

 a
s
s
o
c
ia

te
d
 w

it
h
 

n
o
n
-H

R
A

 R
e
n
t 

R
e
b
a
te

s
, 

a
s
 a

 r
e
s
u
lt
 o

f 
th

e
 u

s
e
 o

f 
B

&
B

 a
c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o

n
 t

o
 h

o
u
s
e
 h

o
m

e
le

s
s
 

p
e
rs

o
n
s
 o

n
 a

 t
e
m

p
o
ra

ry
 b

a
s
is

.

H
S

0
2

H
e
a
d
 o

f 
F

in
a
n
c
e
 &

 R
e
s
o
u
rc

e
s

8
6

9
5

9

H
S

0
3

R
e
v
e
n
u
e
s

3
4
7

3
7
7

3
0

C
o
s
ts

: 
£
1
9
k
 v

a
ri
a
n
c
e
 o

n
 C

o
s
t 

o
f 

C
o
lle

c
ti
o
n
 p

lu
s
 o

th
e

r 
s
m

a
ll 

o
v
e
rs

p
e
n
d
s
.

P
R

0
1

P
ro

c
u
re

m
e
n
t

1
3
9

1
2
3

-1
6

D
iv

is
io

n
 T

o
ta

l 
- 

H
e
a
d

 o
f 

F
in

a
n

c
e
 &

 

R
e
s
o

u
rc

e
s

4
,3

1
3

4
,3

2
3

9

D
ir

e
c
to

ra
te

 T
o

ta
l 

- 
D

ir
e
c
to

r 
o

f 

R
e
s
o

u
rc

e
s

1
0
,3

7
6

1
0
,3

5
4

-2
2

D
R

0
5

D
ir
e
c
to

r 
o
f 

H
o
u
s
in

g
1
7
2

1
8
0

8

D
iv

is
io

n
 T

o
ta

l 
- 

D
ir

e
c
to

r 
o

f 
H

o
u

s
in

g
1
7
2

1
8
0

8

C
S

0
2

C
a
ll 

C
a
re

-2
2
3

4
5

2
6
8

S
a
v
in

g
s
: 

 £
1
2
8
k
 a

s
 a

 r
e
s
u
lt
 o

f 
s
ta

ff
 v

a
c
a
n
c
ie

s

O
ff

s
e
t 

b
y
: 

a
n
 i
n
c
o
m

e
 s

h
o
rt

fa
ll 

o
f 

£
3
5
0
k
 r

e
la

ti
n
g
 t

o
 l
o
s
t 

c
o
n
tr

a
c
ts

, 
£
2
1
k
 y

e
a
r 

e
n
d
 s

to
c
k
 

a
d
ju

s
tm

e
n
t,

 a
n
d
 u

n
b
u
d
g
e
te

d
 m

a
in

te
n
a
n
c
e
 o

f 
T

u
n
s
ta

ll 
h
a
rd

w
a

re
 o

f 
£
3
0
k
.

S
a
v
in

g
s
: 

£
7
6
k
 d

u
e
 t

o
 s

ta
ff

 v
a
c
a
n
c
ie

s

O
ff

s
e
t 

b
y
: 

lo
w

e
r 

e
x
te

rn
a
l 
in

c
o
m

e
 a

s
 a

 r
e
s
u
lt
 o

f 
th

e
 d

e
la

y
e
d
 i
m

p
le

m
e
n
ta

ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 S

u
p
p
o
rt

 a
n
d
 

E
n
h
a
n
c
e
d
 C

a
re

 s
c
h
e
m

e
 £

4
4
k
, 

h
ig

h
e
r 

e
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

 o
n
 h

o
m

e
le

s
s
n
e
s
s
 p

re
v
e
n

ti
o
n
 s

c
h
e
m

e
s
 

£
2
3
k
, 

m
in

o
r 

v
a
ri
a
ti
o
n
s
 £

4
k
. 

H
S

1
2

H
o
u
s
in

g
 O

p
ti
o
n
s

4
6
0

4
8
1

2
1

S
a
v
in

g
s
: 

£
1
3
k
 m

in
o
r 

s
a
v
in

g
s

O
ff

s
e
t 

b
y
 a

d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
c
o
s
ts

 o
f 

th
e
 D

e
p
o
s
it
 B

o
n
d
 S

c
h
e
m

e
 p

a
id

 o
u

t 
to

 l
a
n
d
lo

rd
s
 w

h
ic

h
 w

e
re

 

u
n
re

c
o
v
e
ra

b
le

 f
ro

m
 i
n
d
iv

id
u
a
ls

H
S

1
3

H
e
a
d
 o

f 
H

o
u
s
in

g
 N

e
e
d
s

1
3
0

1
3
7

7

P
E

0
9

T
ra

v
e
lle

rs
 S

it
e
s

2
7

-3
3

-6
0

S
a
v
in

g
s
: 

in
 r

e
la

ti
o
n
 t

o
 t

h
e
 E

c
to

n
 R

o
a
d
 s

it
e
, 

in
c
lu

d
in

g
  

£
1
3

k
 c

le
a
n
in

g
 a

n
d
 r

u
b
b
is

h
 r

e
m

o
v
a
l,
 

£
2
1
k
 r

e
p
a
ir
s
 a

n
d
 m

a
in

te
n
a
n
c
e
 a

n
d
 h

ig
h
e
r 

re
n
ta

l 
in

c
o
m

e
 d

u
e
 t

o
 l
o
w

 v
o
id

 l
o
s
s
. 

In
 a

d
d
it
io

n
, 

th
e
 

a
n
n
u
a
l 
c
o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n
 t

o
 t

h
e
 C

o
u
n
ty

 T
ra

v
e
lle

rs
 U

n
it
 w

a
s
 £

1
3
k
 l
o
w

e
r 

th
a
n
 b

u
d
g
e
t 

re
fl
e
c
ti
n
g
 

n
e
g
o
ti
a
te

d
 r

e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
s
.

H
S

0
5

H
o
m

e
 C

h
o
ic

e
 &

 R
e
s
e
tt

le
m

e
n
t

4
5
5

4
5
1

-5

118



G
e
n
e
ra

l 
F

u
n
d
 R

e
v
e
n
u
e
 B

u
d
g
e
t

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix

 3

S
e
rv

ic
e
 B

u
d
g
e
t 

O
u
tt

u
rn

 P
o
s
it
io

n
 2

0
1
2
/1

3
K

e
y

"-
" 

fi
g
u
re

 d
e
n
o
te

s
 a

 b
u
d
g
e
t 

u
n
d
e
r 

s
p
e
n
d
 o

r 
a
n
 i
n
c
o
m

e
 b

u
d
g
e
t 

o
r 

im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 

in
 o

u
tt

u
rn

"+
" 

fi
g
u
re

 d
e
n
o
te

s
 a

 b
u
d
g
e
t 

o
v
e
rs

p
e
n
d
 o

r 
a
n
 e

x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

 b
u
d
g
e
t 

o
r 

d
e
te

ri
o
ra

ti
o
n
 i
n
 o

u
tt

u
rn

2
0
1
2
/2

0
1
3

R
e
v
is

e
d

B
u

d
g

e
t

O
u

tt
u

rn
O

u
tt

u
rn

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

E
x
p

la
n

a
ti

o
n

£
0
0
0

£
0
0
0

£
0
0
0

P
E

1
2

P
ri
v
a
te

 S
e
c
to

r 
H

o
u
s
in

g
 S

o
lu

ti
o
n
s

6
8

-1
5
5

-2
2
2

£
2
3
3
k
 h

ig
h
e
r 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

fe
e
 i
n
c
o
m

e
 i
n
 r

e
la

ti
o
n
 t

o
 D

is
a
b
le

d
 F

a
c
ili

ti
e
s
 G

ra
n
t 

w
o
rk

s
 c

a
rr

ie
d
 

o
u
t 

w
it
h
in

 t
h
e
 c

a
p
it
a
l 
p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
.

O
ff

s
e
t 

b
y
 £

1
3
k
 a

d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
c
o
s
ts

 f
o
r 

th
e
 p

ro
v
is

io
n
 o

f 
te

m
p
o
ra

ry
 a

c
c
o

m
m

o
d
a
ti
o
n
 f

o
r 

h
o
m

e
le

s
s
 

p
e
rs

o
n
s

R
G

0
3

H
o
u
s
in

g
 S

tr
a
te

g
y

-3
4

-3
5

-1

D
iv

is
io

n
 T

o
ta

l 
- 

H
e
a
d

 o
f 

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 

H
o

u
s
in

g
8
8
3

8
9
1

7

D
ir

e
c
to

ra
te

 T
o

ta
l 

- 
H

o
u

s
in

g
1
,0

5
5

1
,0

7
0

1
5

C
X

0
1

C
h
ie

f 
E

x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

1
8
4

1
8
0

-4

G
C

0
2

C
iv

ic
 a

n
d
 M

a
y
o
ra

l 
E

x
p
e
n
s
e
s

1
0
4

1
0
4

-0

G
C

0
5

O
v
e
rv

ie
w

 &
 S

c
ru

ti
n
y

4
3

4
4

0

G
C

0
6

C
o
u
n
c
ill

o
r 

&
 M

a
n
a
g
e
ri
a
l 
S

u
p
p
o
rt

5
6
3

5
2
5

-3
8

S
a
v
in

g
s
 m

a
in

ly
 o

n
 M

e
m

b
e
rs

' 
tr

a
in

in
g
 o

f 
£
1
6
k
 a

n
d
 e

x
p
e
n
s
e
s
 o

f 
£
1
7
k

L
D

0
2

E
le

c
to

ra
l 
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

2
3
9

2
6
5

2
6

S
a
v
in

g
s
 o

f 
c
ir
c
a
 £

1
3
k
 o

n
 s

u
p
p
lie

s
 a

n
d
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s

O
ff

s
e
t 

b
y
 £

4
3
k
 P

o
s
ta

g
e
 f

o
r 

R
e
g
is

te
r 

o
f 

E
le

c
to

rs
.

L
D

0
3

L
a
n
d
 C

h
a
rg

e
s

-8
6

-8
6

-0

L
D

0
4

L
e
g
a
l

7
1
3

6
3
4

-7
9

S
a
v
in

g
s
: 

a
d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
e
x
te

rn
a
l 
in

c
o
m

e
 h

a
s
 b

e
e
n
 g

e
n
e
ra

te
d
 o

f 
£
1

0
5
k
 p

re
d
o
m

in
a
n
tl
y
 d

u
e
 t

o
 

in
c
re

a
s
e
 i
n
 R

ig
h
t 

to
 B

u
y
 a

d
m

in
 c

o
s
ts

O
ff

s
e
t 

b
y
: 

m
in

o
r 

o
v
e
rs

p
e
n
d
s
. 

L
D

0
8

D
e
m

o
c
ra

ti
c
 S

e
rv

ic
e
s

3
0
3

2
9
3

-1
0

D
iv

is
io

n
 T

o
ta

l 
- 

B
o

ro
u

g
h

 S
e
c
re

ta
ry

2
,0

6
4

1
,9

5
8

-1
0
6

D
ir

e
c
to

ra
te

 T
o

ta
l 

- 
B

o
ro

u
g

h
 

S
e
c
re

ta
ry

2
,0

6
4

1
,9

5
8

-1
0
6

G
C

0
4

P
o
lic

y
1
5
2

1
5
0

-2

G
C

0
9

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 a

n
d
 O

th
e
r 

G
ra

n
ts

1
,2

5
0

1
,2

3
6

-1
3

G
C

1
0

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
ts

1
6
3

1
0
5

-5
8

S
a
v
in

g
s
: 

 £
5
8
k
 d

u
e
 t

o
 a

 v
a
c
a
n
t 

p
o
s
t.

G
C

1
1

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 C

e
n
tr

e
s

4
3
4

3
8
4

-5
0

S
a
v
in

g
s
: 

a
s
 a

 r
e
s
u
lt
 o

f 
c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 c

e
n
tr

e
 t

ra
n
s
fe

rs
.

L
S

0
1

H
e
a
d
 o

f 
P

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 S
u
p
p
o
rt

1
3
7

1
3
8

1

S
S

0
1

N
e
ig

h
b
o
u
rh

o
o
d
 M

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t

1
4
8

1
2
7

-2
0

S
a
v
in

g
s
: 

m
a
in

ly
 s

ta
ff

 v
a
c
a
n
c
ie

s
.

119



G
e
n
e
ra

l 
F

u
n
d
 R

e
v
e
n
u
e
 B

u
d
g
e
t

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix

 3

S
e
rv

ic
e
 B

u
d
g
e
t 

O
u
tt

u
rn

 P
o
s
it
io

n
 2

0
1
2
/1

3
K

e
y

"-
" 

fi
g
u
re

 d
e
n
o
te

s
 a

 b
u
d
g
e
t 

u
n
d
e
r 

s
p
e
n
d
 o

r 
a
n
 i
n
c
o
m

e
 b

u
d
g
e
t 

o
r 

im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 

in
 o

u
tt

u
rn

"+
" 

fi
g
u
re

 d
e
n
o
te

s
 a

 b
u
d
g
e
t 

o
v
e
rs

p
e
n
d
 o

r 
a
n
 e

x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

 b
u
d
g
e
t 

o
r 

d
e
te

ri
o
ra

ti
o
n
 i
n
 o

u
tt

u
rn

2
0
1
2
/2

0
1
3

R
e
v
is

e
d

B
u

d
g

e
t

O
u

tt
u

rn
O

u
tt

u
rn

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

E
x
p

la
n

a
ti

o
n

£
0
0
0

£
0
0
0

£
0
0
0

D
iv

is
io

n
 T

o
ta

l 
- 

H
e
a
d

 o
f 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 

S
u

p
p

o
rt

2
,2

8
3

2
,1

4
1

-1
4
3

D
R

0
1

D
ir
e
c
to

r 
o
f 

C
u
s
to

m
e
rs

 &
 

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s
2
7
6

2
3
7

-3
8

U
n
d
e
rs

p
e
n
d
 d

u
e
 t

o
 s

ta
ff

 v
a
c
a
n
c
ie

s

D
iv

is
io

n
 T

o
ta

l 
- 

D
ir

e
c
to

r 
o

f 

C
u

s
to

m
e
rs

 &
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

ie
s

2
7
6

2
3
7

-3
8

C
E

0
6

M
u
s
e
u
m

s
 a

n
d
 A

rt
s

6
5
4

6
9
0

3
6

O
v
e
rs

p
e
n
d
 o

f 
£
3
2
k
  

o
n
 e

m
p
lo

y
e
e
s
 d

u
e
 t

o
 t

h
e
 n

o
n
 a

c
h
ie

v
e
m

e
n
t 

o
f 

th
e
 b

u
d
g
e
te

d
 v

a
c
a
n
c
y
 

fa
c
to

r 
a
n
d
 b

a
c
k
fi
lli

n
g
 v

a
c
a
n
t 

p
o
s
ts

 w
it
h
 a

g
e
n
c
y
/c

a
s
u
a
l 
s
ta

ff
. 

C
S

0
3

H
e
a
d
 o

f 
C

u
s
to

m
e
r 

&
 C

u
lt
u
ra

l 

S
e
rv

ic
e
s

1
0
6

8
9

-1
7

S
a
v
in

g
s
 o

f 
£
1
7
k
 a

s
 a

 r
e
s
u
lt
 o

f 
n
o
n
 r

e
n
e
w

a
l 
o
f 

m
e
m

b
e
rs

h
ip

 t
o
 I

n
s
ti
tu

te
 o

f 
C

u
s
to

m
e
r 

S
e
rv

ic
e
s

O
ff

s
e
t 

b
y
: 

£
2
3
k
 v

a
c
a
n
c
y
 f

a
c
to

r 
n
o
t 

m
e
t,

 £
1
2
k
 o

n
 p

u
rc

h
a
s
e
 o

f 
b
lin

d
s
 f

o
r 

O
n
e
 S

to
p
 S

h
o
p
, 

£
1
0
k
 

re
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 i
n
c
o
m

e
 d

u
e
 t

o
 c

o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n
s
 f

ro
m

 N
C

C
 b

e
in

g
 l
o
w

e
r 

th
a
n
 a

n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d
 a

n
d
 £

7
k
 

a
d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
te

le
p
h
o
n
e
 c

o
s
ts

 d
u
e
 t

o
 i
n
tr

o
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
0
3
0
0
 n

u
m

b
e
rs

. 

C
S

0
5

P
ri
n
t 

U
n
it

2
2
3

2
6
2

3
8

S
a
v
in

g
s
: 

£
6
k
 s

ta
ff

 v
a
c
a
n
c
ie

s
.

O
ff

s
e
t 

b
y
: 

£
2
4
k
 a

d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
c
o
s
ts

 o
f 

o
u
ts

o
u
rc

in
g
 w

o
rk

, 
a
n
d
 a

 £
1

6
k
 r

e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 i
n
c
o
m

e
 f

ro
m

e
x
te

rn
a
l 
o
rg

a
n
is

a
ti
o
n
s
 u

s
in

g
 t

h
e
 s

e
rv

ic
e
. 

P
I0

2
In

fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 T

e
c
h
n
o
lo

g
y

2
,1

0
9

1
,9

5
5

-1
5
4

S
a
v
in

g
s
:£

6
1
k
 t

h
ro

u
g
h
 s

ta
ff

 v
a
c
a
n
c
ie

s
, 

£
9
0
k
 s

a
v
in

g
 i
n
 l
e
a
s
in

g
 o

f 
P

C
s
 a

n
d
 h

a
rd

w
a
re

 e
q
u
ip

m
e
n
t 

(d
u
e
 t

o
 p

a
rt

 y
e
a
r 

e
ff

e
c
t)

 a
n
d
 £

1
7
k
 o

n
 o

th
e
r 

m
in

o
r 

v
a
ri
a
ti
o
n
s
.

O
ff

s
e
t 

b
y
 o

th
e
r 

 m
in

o
r 

v
a
ri
a
ti
o
n
s
.

P
I1

4
T

e
le

p
h
o
n
e
s

2
4
7

2
1
0

-3
7

S
a
v
in

g
s
: 

£
6
1
k
 o

n
 h

a
rd

w
a
re

 m
a
in

te
n
a
n
c
e
 o

f 
th

e
 o

ld
 p

h
o
n
e
 s

y
s
te

m
s
, 

£
1
9
k
 a

d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
in

c
o
m

e
 

re
c
e
iv

e
d
 f

o
r 

re
n
e
w

in
g
 t

h
e
 m

o
b
ile

 p
h
o
n
e
 c

o
n
tr

a
c
t

O
ff

s
e
t 

b
y
: 

£
4
1
k
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 i
n
 t

e
le

p
h
o
n
e
 r

e
n
ta

l 
a
n
d
 c

a
ll 

c
o
s
ts

.

D
iv

is
io

n
 T

o
ta

l 
- 

H
e
a
d

 o
f 

C
u

s
to

m
e
r 

&
 

C
u

lt
u

ra
l 

S
e
rv

ic
e
s

4
,8

7
1

4
,7

6
8

-1
0
2

C
E

0
2

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 S

a
fe

ty
3
8
9

3
9
1

2

C
S

0
4

C
u
s
to

m
e
r 

S
e
rv

ic
e
s

1
,5

3
1

1
,5

6
2

3
2

120



G
e
n
e
ra

l 
F

u
n
d
 R

e
v
e
n
u
e
 B

u
d
g
e
t

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix

 3

S
e
rv

ic
e
 B

u
d
g
e
t 

O
u
tt

u
rn

 P
o
s
it
io

n
 2

0
1
2
/1

3
K

e
y

"-
" 

fi
g
u
re

 d
e
n
o
te

s
 a

 b
u
d
g
e
t 

u
n
d
e
r 

s
p
e
n
d
 o

r 
a
n
 i
n
c
o
m

e
 b

u
d
g
e
t 

o
r 

im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 

in
 o

u
tt

u
rn

"+
" 

fi
g
u
re

 d
e
n
o
te

s
 a

 b
u
d
g
e
t 

o
v
e
rs

p
e
n
d
 o

r 
a
n
 e

x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

 b
u
d
g
e
t 

o
r 

d
e
te

ri
o
ra

ti
o
n
 i
n
 o

u
tt

u
rn

2
0
1
2
/2

0
1
3

R
e
v
is

e
d

B
u

d
g

e
t

O
u

tt
u

rn
O

u
tt

u
rn

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

E
x
p

la
n

a
ti

o
n

£
0
0
0

£
0
0
0

£
0
0
0

C
E

0
4

L
e
is

u
re

 C
o
n
tr

a
c
t

9
4
6

9
6
6

2
0

P
a
y
m

e
n
t 

o
f 

B
ig

 L
o
tt

e
ry

 g
ra

n
t 

re
c
e
iv

e
d
 d

u
ri
n
g
 2

0
1
1
/ 

2
0
1

2
 w

h
ic

h
 w

a
s
 d

u
e
 t

o
 t

h
e
 L

e
is

u
re

 T
ru

s
t.

 

L
D

0
5

L
ic

e
n
s
in

g
-2

3
9

-2
4
0

-2

P
E

0
7

P
e
s
t 

C
o
n
tr

o
l

4
2

1
-4

1
S

a
v
in

g
s
: 

T
h
e
 n

e
w

 r
a
t 

c
o
n
tr

o
l 
s
e
rv

ic
e
 f

o
r 

th
o
s
e
 o

n
 H

o
u
s
in

g
 o

r 
C

o
u
n

c
il 

T
a
x
 b

e
n
e
fi
t 

w
a
s
 o

n
ly

 

in
tr

o
d
u
c
e
d
 o

n
 1

s
t 

O
c
to

b
e
r,

 a
n
d
 t

a
k
e
 u

p
 h

a
s
 b

e
e
n
 s

ig
n
if
ic

a
n
tl
y
 b

e
lo

w
 e

x
p
e
c
ta

ti
o
n
s
.

P
E

1
0

C
o
m

m
e
rc

ia
l 
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

3
3
2

3
3
9

7

P
E

1
1

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
ta

l 
P

ro
te

c
ti
o
n

9
7
9

8
0
2

-1
7
7

S
a
v
in

g
s
: 

£
1
0
9
k
 l
a
rg

e
ly

 a
c
h
ie

v
e
d
 t

h
ro

u
g
h
 t

h
e
 r

e
o
rg

a
n
is

a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 N

e
ig

h
b
o
u
rh

o
o
d
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

S
e
rv

ic
e
, 

£
3
3
k
 s

ta
ff

 v
a
c
a
n
c
ie

s
, 

a
n
d
 o

th
e
r 

m
in

o
r 

v
a
ri
a
ti
o
n
s
.

P
E

1
6

H
e
a
d
 o

f 
P

u
b
lic

 P
ro

te
c
ti
o
n

7
3

7
6

3

121



G
e
n
e
ra

l 
F

u
n
d
 R

e
v
e
n
u
e
 B

u
d
g
e
t

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix

 3

S
e
rv

ic
e
 B

u
d
g
e
t 

O
u
tt

u
rn

 P
o
s
it
io

n
 2

0
1
2
/1

3
K

e
y

"-
" 

fi
g
u
re

 d
e
n
o
te

s
 a

 b
u
d
g
e
t 

u
n
d
e
r 

s
p
e
n
d
 o

r 
a
n
 i
n
c
o
m

e
 b

u
d
g
e
t 

o
r 

im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 

in
 o

u
tt

u
rn

"+
" 

fi
g
u
re

 d
e
n
o
te

s
 a

 b
u
d
g
e
t 

o
v
e
rs

p
e
n
d
 o

r 
a
n
 e

x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

 b
u
d
g
e
t 

o
r 

d
e
te

ri
o
ra

ti
o
n
 i
n
 o

u
tt

u
rn

2
0
1
2
/2

0
1
3

R
e
v
is

e
d

B
u

d
g

e
t

O
u

tt
u

rn
O

u
tt

u
rn

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

E
x
p

la
n

a
ti

o
n

£
0
0
0

£
0
0
0

£
0
0
0

S
S

0
9

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
ta

l 
S

e
rv

ic
e
s
 C

o
n
tr

a
c
t

6
,6

0
2

6
,6

4
7

4
5

S
a
v
in

g
s
: 

£
2
8
k
 d

u
e
 t

o
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 d

e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
s
, 

£
3
3
k
 o

th
e
r 

m
in

o
r 

s
a
v
in

g
s
 

O
ff

s
e
t 

b
y
 £

8
8
k
 o

v
e
r 

a
c
c
ru

a
l 
o
f 

R
e
c
y
c
lin

g
 C

re
d
it
 i
n
c
o
m

e
 a

n
d
 n

o
n
-a

c
c
ru

a
l 
o
f 

£
3
6
k
 f

o
r 

H
ig

h
w

a
y
s
 

tr
e
e
 w

o
rk

s
 i
n
 2

0
1
1
/1

2
 .

S
S

2
0

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
ta

l 
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

-2
6
0

1
3
0

3
8
9

O
n
e
 o

ff
 c

o
s
t 

o
f 

£
9
0
k
 f

o
r 

b
in

 l
e
a
s
e
s
, 

re
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 i
n
c
o
m

e
 f

ro
m

 H
R

A
 f

o
r 

s
u
p
p
ly

 o
f 

s
k
ip

s
 

£
1
5
3
k
 a

n
d
 f

o
r 

s
u
p
p
o
rt

 f
ro

m
 t

h
e
 I

n
te

g
ra

te
d
 A

d
m

in
 T

e
a
m

 £
2
7
k
, 

£
6

5
k
 r

e
d
u
c
e
d
 s

p
o
rt

s
 

fa
c
ili

ti
e
s
 r

e
n
ta

l 
in

c
o
m

e
, 

£
2
7
k
 o

n
e
 o

ff
 p

u
b
lic

 c
o
n
v
e
n
ie

n
c
e
 c

o
s
ts

, 
£
2
9
k
 m

a
rk

e
t-

te
s
ti
n
g
 

in
c
o
m

e
.

D
iv

is
io

n
 T

o
ta

l 
- 

H
e
a
d

 o
f 

P
u

b
li

c
 

P
ro

te
c
ti

o
n

8
,8

6
5

9
,1

1
1

2
4
6

C
E

0
3

E
v
e
n
ts

4
7
0

4
6
4

-5

C
E

2
3

T
o
w

n
 C

e
n
tr

e
 M

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t

-1
3
2

-9
8

3
4

O
v
e
rs

p
e
n
d
s
: 

£
1
4
k
 s

ta
ff

in
g
 b

u
d
g
e
t 

s
a
v
in

g
 n

o
t 

m
e
t,

 £
6
k
 b

in
 r

e
fu

rb
is

h
m

e
n
t 

a
n
d
 b

o
lla

rd
 p

a
in

ti
n
g
, 

£
5
k
 r

e
d
u
c
e
d
 t

o
w

n
 c

e
n
tr

e
 B

ID
 i
n
c
o
m

e
 a

n
d
 o

th
e
r 

m
in

o
r 

v
a
ri
a
ti
o
n
s
.

C
E

2
4

C
a
r 

P
a
rk

in
g

-1
,6

5
8

-1
,5

5
1

1
0
7

S
a
v
in

g
s
: 

£
1
0
2
k
 N

N
D

R
 r

e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
s
. 

O
ff

s
e
t 

b
y
: 

£
1
6
6
k
 r

e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 C

a
r 

P
a
rk

in
g
 d

a
ily

 t
ic

k
e
t 

in
c
o
m

e
, 

 £
2
5
2
k
 s

e
a
s
o
n
 t

ic
k
e
t 

in
c
o
m

e
 

re
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 d

u
e
 t

o
 c

a
n
c
e
lla

lt
io

n
 o

f 
s
o
m

e
 c

o
n
tr

a
c
ts

 o
ff

 s
e
t 

b
y
 a

p
p

lic
a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
£
2
0
0
K

 c
a
r 

p
a
rk

in
g
 

re
s
e
rv

e
.

C
E

2
6

B
u
s
 S

ta
ti
o
n

2
4
5

1
4
0

-1
0
6

S
a
v
in

g
s
: 

£
3
3
k
 l
o
w

e
r 

th
a
n
 e

s
ti
m

a
te

d
 u

ti
lit

y
 b

ill
s
, 

£
3
7
k
 r

e
d
u
c
e
d
 s

u
p
p
lie

s
 a

n
d
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 l
a
rg

e
ly

 

d
u
e
 t

o
 r

e
a
lig

n
e
d
 s

e
c
u
ri
ty

 c
o
s
ts

, 
£
3
9
k
 a

d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
in

c
o
m

e
 d

u
e
 t

o
 t

h
e
 p

a
y
m

e
n
t 

o
f 

p
re

v
io

u
s
ly

 

d
is

p
u
te

d
 i
n
v
o
ic

e
s
.

122



G
e
n
e
ra

l 
F

u
n
d
 R

e
v
e
n
u
e
 B

u
d
g
e
t

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix

 3

S
e
rv

ic
e
 B

u
d
g
e
t 

O
u
tt

u
rn

 P
o
s
it
io

n
 2

0
1
2
/1

3
K

e
y

"-
" 

fi
g
u
re

 d
e
n
o
te

s
 a

 b
u
d
g
e
t 

u
n
d
e
r 

s
p
e
n
d
 o

r 
a
n
 i
n
c
o
m

e
 b

u
d
g
e
t 

o
r 

im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 

in
 o

u
tt

u
rn

"+
" 

fi
g
u
re

 d
e
n
o
te

s
 a

 b
u
d
g
e
t 

o
v
e
rs

p
e
n
d
 o

r 
a
n
 e

x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

 b
u
d
g
e
t 

o
r 

d
e
te

ri
o
ra

ti
o
n
 i
n
 o

u
tt

u
rn

2
0
1
2
/2

0
1
3

R
e
v
is

e
d

B
u

d
g

e
t

O
u

tt
u

rn
O

u
tt

u
rn

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

E
x
p

la
n

a
ti

o
n

£
0
0
0

£
0
0
0

£
0
0
0

F
A

0
9

M
a
rk

e
ts

5
6

-1
2

-6
9

S
a
v
in

g
s
: 

£
6
2
k
 r

e
d
u
c
e
d
 s

u
p
p
lie

s
 a

n
d
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 s

p
e
n
d
 d

u
e
 t

o
 b

e
tt

e
r 

re
a

lis
a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
re

s
o
u
rc

e
s
, 

£
7
k
 r

e
d
u
c
e
d
 i
n
s
u
ra

n
c
e
 c

o
s
ts

. 

D
iv

is
io

n
 T

o
ta

l 
- 

H
e
a
d

 o
f 

T
o

w
n

 C
e
n

tr
e
 

M
a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t
-1

,0
1
8

-1
,0

5
8

-3
9

D
ir

e
c
to

ra
te

 T
o

ta
l 

- 
D

ir
e
c
to

r 
o

f 

C
u

s
to

m
e
rs

 &
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

ie
s

1
5
,2

7
6

1
5
,2

0
0

-7
5

T
o

ta
l

3
1
,8

1
3

3
1
,3

9
0

-4
2
3

3
1
,8
1
3
,0
3
0
.7
8

3
1
,3
9
0
,3
9
4
.3
1

-4
2
2
,6
3
6
.4
7

0
.0

0
.0

0
0
0
0

-0
.0

0
0
0
0

123



S
u

m
m

a
ry

 o
f 

G
e
n

e
ra

l 
F

u
n

d
 E

a
rm

a
rk

e
d

 R
e
s
e
rv

e
s
 2

0
1
2
/1

3
A

p
p

e
n

d
ix

 4

R
e
s
e
rv

e
A

u
d

it
e
d

 

B
a
la

n
c
e

1
 A

p
ri

l 
2
0
1
2

R
e
a
ll

o
c
a
ti

o
n

o
f 

R
e
s
e
rv

e
s

E
a
rm

a
rk

e
d

2
0
1
2
/1

3

U
n

e
a
rm

a
rk

e
d

2
0
1
2
/1

3

U
s
e
 o

f 

R
e
s
e
rv

e
s

 2
0
1
2
/1

3

U
n

a
u

d
it

e
d

B
a
la

n
c
e

3
1
 M

a
rc

h
 2

0
1
3

£
0
0
0

£
0
0
0

£
0
0
0

£
0
0
0

£
0
0
0

£
0
0
0

S
u
p
p
o
rt

in
g
 B

u
s
in

e
s
s
/E

c
o
n
o
m

ic
 G

ro
w

th
-2

8
3

0
0

5
8

0
-2

2
5

S
e
rv

ic
e
 I

m
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

/P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 a

n
d
 C

h
a
n
g
e

-8
1
8

0
0

1
1
6

0
-7

0
2

G
e
n
e
ra

l
-5

,8
4
5

7
6

-1
,0

1
1

9
5
5

2
4
9

-5
,5

7
6

G
e
n
e
ra

l 
G

ra
n
ts

-4
,8

0
2

8
8

-2
,2

1
1

1
,4

7
9

0
-5

,4
4
7

B
u
ild

in
g
 M

a
in

te
n
a
n
c
e
 R

e
s
e
rv

e
-3

0
9

0
0

7
5

0
-2

3
3

S
u
b
s
id

y
 E

q
u
a
lis

a
ti
o
n

-5
0
0

0
-6

2
0

0
-5

6
2

D
e
b
t 

F
in

a
n
c
in

g
-3

7
8

0
-1

0
9

1
0

-4
8
6

R
e
n
t 

D
e
p
o
s
it
 S

c
h
e
m

e
-1

6
0

0
0

0
0

-1
6
0

L
e
a
s
in

g
-7

0
0

0
0

-7

C
a
rb

o
n
 M

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

&
 S

a
lix

-1
7
0

0
-1

5
8
9

0
-9

5

In
s
u
ra

n
c
e
 R

e
s
e
rv

e
-2

,1
4
3

0
-3

9
0

9
0

0
-2

,4
4
3

C
o
re

 B
u
s
in

e
s
s
 S

y
s
te

m
s

-2
5
4

0
0

2
0

0
-2

3
4

A
rt

s
-1

9
0

0
0

0
-1

9

D
e
la

p
re

 A
b
b
e
y

-5
2
2

-1
6
4

-2
2
6

2
9

0
-8

8
3

-1
6
,2

0
9

0
-4

,0
2
5

2
,9

1
3

2
4
9

-1
7
,0

7
2

-0
.1
9

0
.0
0

0
.2
6

0
.3
1

0
.0
4

0
.4
1

124



Appendix 5

Summary of Housing Revenue Account Outturn Position 2012/13

Key

"-" figure denotes a budget under spend or an income budget

"+" figure denotes a budget overspend or an expenditure budget

 2012/13 

Revised

Budget

2012/13

Projected

Outturn as at 

Period 10

2012/13

Outturn

(Under) / 

Over

Spend

£000 £000 £000 £000

Rents - Dwellings Only -46,572 -46,853 -46,810 -238

Rents - Non Dwellings Only -1,112 -1,110 -1,094 18

Service Charges -2,453 -2,169 -2,261 192

Other Income -85 -51 -77 8

Repairs and Maintenance 10,990 11,042 11,033 43

General Management 6,469 6,236 5,539 -929

Special Services 3,273 3,190 3,474 200

Rents, Rates, Taxes & Other Charges 87 27 19 -69

Increase in Bad Debt Provision 450 275 369 -81

Rent Rebate Subsidy Deductions 643 20 0 -643

Housing Revenue Account Subsidy 0 0 1 1

Total within Budget Managers Control -28,309 -29,393 -29,808 -1,499

Capital Charges 11,394 12,059 12,236 842

Interest and Financing 6,072 6,366 6,351 279

Net Support Service Recharges 4,921 4,850 5,012                91

Technical Accounting Adjustments 22,387 23,275 23,599 1,212

HRA Net Expenditure 2012/2013 -5,922 -6,118 -6,209 -287

Net Contribution to/(from) Reserves 5,922 6,118 6,209 287

Housing Revenue Account Deficit (Surplus) 0 0 0 0

Balance  b/fwd 5,000

Balance c/fwd 5,000

125



H
R

A
 R

e
v
e
n
u
e
 B

u
d
g
e
t

A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

 6

S
e
rv

ic
e
 B

u
d
g
e
t 

O
u
tt

u
rn

 P
o
s
it
io

n
 2

0
1
2
/1

3
K

e
y

"-
" 

fi
g
u
re

 d
e
n
o
te

s
 a

 b
u
d
g
e
t 

u
n
d
e
r 

s
p
e
n
d
 o

r 
a
n
 i
n
c
o
m

e
 b

u
d
g
e
t 

o
r 

im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 

in
 o

u
tt

u
rn

"+
" 

fi
g
u
re

 d
e
n
o
te

s
 a

 b
u
d
g
e
t 

o
v
e
rs

p
e
n
d
 o

r 
a
n
 e

x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

 b
u
d
g
e
t 

o
r 

d
e
te

ri
o
ra

ti
o
n
 i
n
 o

u
tt

u
rn

2
0
1
2
/2

0
1
3

R
e
v
is

e
d

B
u

d
g

e
t

O
u

tt
u

rn
O

u
tt

u
rn

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

E
x
p

la
n

a
ti

o
n

£
0
0
0

£
0
0
0

£
0
0
0

H
S

0
5

H
o
m

e
 C

h
o
ic

e
 &

 R
e
s
e
tt

le
m

e
n
t

2
1
7

1
8
2

-3
5

C
o
m

p
e
n
s
a
ti
o
n
 p

a
y
m

e
n
ts

 m
a
d
e
 f

ro
m

 t
h
e
 U

n
d
e
r 

O
c
c
u
p
a
ti
o
n
  

S
c
h
e
m

e
 (

£
3
5
k
) 

w
e
re

 

lo
w

e
r 

th
a
n
 a

n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d
. 

H
S

0
7

In
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 

L
iv

in
g

1
,5

9
8

1
,6

8
1

8
3

V
a
ri
o
u
s
 o

v
e
rs

p
e
n
d
s
 i
n
c
lu

d
in

g
: 

 I
n
s
u
ra

n
c
e
s
 £

2
1
k
, 

 R
e
fu

rb
is

h
m

e
n
t 

&
 G

e
n

e
ra

l 

M
a
in

te
n
a
n
c
e
 o

f 
b
u
ild

in
g
s
 £

4
2
k
 a

n
d
 I

T
 H

a
rd

w
a
re

 £
9
k
. 

H
S

1
5

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
, 

Im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 

a
n
d
 

S
y
s
te

m
s

8
1
9

7
6
9

-5
0

L
o
w

e
r 

c
o
s
ts

 i
n
c
u
rr

e
d
 i
n
 r

e
la

ti
o
n
 t

o
 t

h
e
 P

a
th

 T
ra

in
e
e
 S

c
h
e
m

e
 t

h
a
t 

e
n
d
e
d
 p

a
rt

 w
a
y
 

th
ro

u
g
h
 t

h
e
 y

e
a
r.

 A
ls

o
, 

lo
w

e
r 

s
e
rv

ic
e
 t

ra
in

in
g
 c

o
s
ts

 i
n
c
u
rr

e
d
 w

it
h
in

 t
h
e
 s

e
rv

ic
e
. 

D
iv

is
io

n
 T

o
ta

l 
- 

H
e
a
d

 o
f 

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 

H
o

u
s
in

g
2
,6

3
4

2
,6

3
2

-2

H
S

0
4

H
o
u
s
in

g
 S

e
rv

ic
e
s

6
,5

6
7

5
,8

1
0

-7
5
8

S
a
v
in

g
s
 o

n
 t

h
e
 S

to
c
k
 O

p
ti
o
n
s
 A

p
p
ra

is
a
l 
w

o
rk

s
 (

£
3
3
4
k
) 

a
re

 o
ff

s
e
t 

b
y
 a

 r
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 

th
e
 c

o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n
 f

ro
m

 t
h
e
 e

a
rm

a
rk

e
d
 r

e
s
e
rv

e
 t

h
a
t 

fu
n
d
s
 t

h
is

 w
o
rk

, 
s
o

 t
h
a
t 

th
e
 f

u
n
d
in

g
 

is
 a

v
a
ila

b
le

 i
n
 f

u
tu

re
 y

e
a
rs

. 
In

s
u
ra

n
c
e
 s

a
v
in

g
s
 (

£
3
1
4
k
) 

th
a
t 

h
a
v
e
 a

ri
s
e
n
 a

s
 a

 r
e
s
u
lt
 o

f 

a
 l
o
w

e
r 

c
o
rp

o
ra

te
 i
n
s
u
ra

n
c
e
 c

o
s
ts

 h
a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 u

s
e
d
 t

o
 c

re
a
te

 a
n
 I

n
s
u

ra
n
c
e
 R

e
s
e
rv

e
 t

o
 

m
it
ig

a
te

 a
n
y
 f

u
tu

re
 r

is
k
s
. 

T
h
e
re

 h
a
s
 a

ls
o
 b

e
e
n
 a

 r
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 t

h
e
 u

ti
lit

ie
s
 a

n
d
 c

o
u
n
c
il 

ta
x
 c

o
s
ts

 a
s
s
o
c
ia

te
d
 w

it
h
 e

m
p
ty

 p
ro

p
e
rt

ie
s
 (

£
7
0
k
) 

fo
llo

w
in

g
 t

h
e
 r

e
fu

rb
is

h
m

e
n
t 

o
f 

P
a
g
e
t 

H
o
u
s
e
 a

n
d
 t

h
e
 d

e
m

o
lit

io
n
 o

f 
R

o
b
in

s
o
n
 H

o
u
s
e
.

H
S

0
6

H
R

A
 S

u
b
s
id

y
0

1
1

R
e
s
id

u
a
l 
b
a
la

n
c
e
 o

n
 H

R
A

 S
u
b
s
id

y
 -

 t
h
is

 s
c
h
e
m

e
 h

a
s
 n

o
w

 b
e
e
n
 r

e
p
la

c
e
d
 b

y
 S

e
lf
-

fi
n
a
n
c
in

g
.

H
S

0
8

H
o
u
s
in

g
 R

e
n
ts

 &
 O

th
e
r 

In
c
o
m

e
-4

9
,1

2
9

-4
9
,8

7
4

-7
4
5

T
h
e
 d

e
-p

o
o
lin

g
 o

f 
te

n
a
n
ts

 s
e
rv

ic
e
 c

h
a
rg

e
s
 l
e
d
 t

o
 a

 s
a
v
in

g
 o

n
 t

h
e
 R

e
n
t 

R
e
b
a
te

 

S
u
b
s
id

y
 L

im
it
a
ti
o
n
 m

e
c
h
a
n
is

m
 (

£
6
4
3
k
).

 T
h
e
 c

o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n
 t

o
 t

h
e
 B

a
d

 D
e
b
t 

P
ro

v
is

io
n
 

w
a
s
 l
o
w

e
r 

th
a
n
  

b
u
d
g
e
t 

(£
9
3
k
) 

a
s
 a

 r
e
s
u
lt
 o

f 
lo

w
e
r 

a
rr

e
a
rs

 l
e
v
e
ls

. 
In

 a
d
d
it
io

n
, 

o
v
e
ra

ll 

re
n
ta

l 
in

c
o
m

e
 w

a
s
 g

re
a
te

r 
th

a
n
 b

u
d
g
e
t 

(£
2
1
k
).

126



H
S

1
6

H
o
u
s
in

g
 A

s
s
e
t 

S
tr

a
te

g
y

3
,6

4
8

4
,1

6
4

5
1
5

H
ig

h
e
r 

c
o
s
ts

 w
it
h
in

 t
h
e
 T

e
c
h
n
ic

a
l 
S

e
rv

ic
e
s
 t

e
a
m

 £
2
7
3
k
, 

re
fl
e
c
ti
n
g
 a

d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
w

o
rk

s
 t

o
 

c
o
m

m
u
n
a
l 
h
e
a
ti
n
g
 s

y
s
te

m
s
. 

T
h
e
 P

la
n
n
e
d
 &

 M
a
jo

r 
W

o
rk

s
 T

e
a
m

 w
e
re

 h
ig

h
e
r 

th
a
n
 

b
u
d
g
e
t 

b
y
 £

2
6
0
k
 a

s
 a

 r
e
s
u
lt
 o

f 
a
d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
re

v
e
n
u
e
 c

o
s
ts

 a
s
s
o
c
ia

te
d
 w

it
h
 t

h
e
 

a
c
c
e
le

ra
ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 D

e
c
e
n
t 

H
o
m

e
s
 s

c
h
e
m

e
 w

it
h
in

 t
h
e
 c

a
p
it
a
l 
p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
. 

N
o
te

 t
h
a
t 

th
is

 i
s
 o

ff
s
e
t 

b
y
 £

1
2
8
k
 o

f 
s
ta

ff
 c

o
s
ts

 t
h
a
t 

w
e
re

 t
ra

n
s
fe

rr
re

d
 t

o
 C

a
p
it
a
l 
S

c
h
e
m

e
s
 a

n
d
 

re
fl
e
c
te

d
 i
n
 n

e
t 

re
c
h
a
rg

e
s
. 

H
S

1
7

H
e
a
d
 o

f 
L
a
n
d
lo

rd
 S

e
rv

ic
e
s

1
1
5

9
9

-1
5

S
ta

ff
 s

a
v
in

g
s
 a

s
 a

 r
e
s
u
lt
 o

f 
a
 p

a
rt

-t
im

e
 i
n
te

ri
m

 a
p
p
o
in

tm
e
n
t 

to
 a

 f
u
ll-

ti
m

e
 p

o
s
t.

H
S

1
8

S
to

c
k
 C

o
n
d
it
io

n
 S

u
rv

e
y

9
3

-1
3

-1
0
6

S
to

c
k
 c

o
n
d
it
io

n
 w

o
rk

 w
a
s
 c

a
rr

ie
d
 o

u
t 

a
s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 

th
e
 D

e
c
e
n
t 

H
o
m

e
s
 c

a
p
it
a
l 
s
c
h
e
m

e
. 

T
h
e
re

fo
re

, 
n
o
 r

e
v
e
n
u
e
 e

x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

 w
a
s
 i
n
c
u
rr

e
d
 d

u
ri
n
g
 t

h
e
 y

e
a
r.

S
S

1
8

H
o
u
s
in

g
 P

ro
p
e
rt

y
 M

a
in

te
n
a
n
c
e

7
,7

6
2

7
,3

7
3

-3
8
9

T
h
is

 r
e
fl
e
c
ts

 t
h
e
 h

ig
h
e
r 

a
llo

c
a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
c
o
s
ts

 t
o
 t

h
e
 c

a
p
it
a
l 
p

ro
g
ra

m
m

e
 a

n
d
 i
n
 p

a
rt

ic
u
la

r,
 

th
e
 D

e
c
e
n
t 

H
o
m

e
s
 c

a
p
it
a
l 
s
c
h
e
m

e
, 

ra
th

e
r 

th
a
n
 t

o
 r

e
v
e
n
u
e
 w

o
rk

s
. 

T
h

e
re

 w
a
s
 a

ls
o
 a

 

s
a
v
in

g
 o

f 
£
1
0
0
k
 t

h
a
t 

h
a
d
 b

e
e
n
 p

ro
v
id

e
d
 f

o
r 

th
e
 p

o
te

n
ti
a
l 
c
o
s
ts

 o
f 

th
e
 i
m

p
le

m
e
n
ta

ti
o
n
 

o
f 

a
 n

e
w

 p
a
y
 a

n
d
 p

ro
d
u
c
ti
v
it
y
 s

c
h
e
m

e
 t

h
a
t 

w
a
s
 b

e
in

g
 c

o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 i
n
 2

0
1
2
/1

3
, 

b
u
t 

d
e
la

y
e
d
 t

ill
 2

0
1
3
/1

4
.

D
iv

is
io

n
 T

o
ta

l 
- 

H
e
a
d

 o
f 

L
a
n

d
lo

rd
 

S
e
rv

ic
e
s

-3
0
,9

4
3

-3
2
,4

4
1

-1
,4

9
7

D
ir

e
c
to

ra
te

 T
o

ta
l 

- 
H

o
u

s
in

g
-2

8
,3

0
9

-2
9
,8

0
8

-1
,4

9
9

T
o

ta
l

-2
8
,3

0
9

-2
9
,8

0
8

-1
,4

9
9

127



H
S

0
5

H
o
m

e
 C

h
o
ic

e
 &

 R
e
s
e
tt

le
m

e
n
t

H
S

0
7

In
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 

L
iv

in
g

H
S

1
5

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
, 

Im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 

a
n
d
 

S
y
s
te

m
s

D
iv

is
io

n
 T

o
ta

l 
- 

H
e
a
d

 o
f 

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 

H
o

u
s
in

g

H
S

0
4

H
o
u
s
in

g
 S

e
rv

ic
e
s

H
S

0
6

H
R

A
 S

u
b
s
id

y

H
S

0
8

H
o
u
s
in

g
 R

e
n
ts

 &
 O

th
e
r 

In
c
o
m

e

H
R

A
 R

e
v
e
n
u
e
 B

u
d
g
e
t

A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

 7

C
o
m

p
a
ri
s
o
n
 o

f 
2
0
1
2
/1

3
 P

e
ri
o
d
 1

0
 F

o
re

c
a
s
t 

O
u
tt

u
rn

 V
a
ri
a
n
c
e
 a

n
d
  

A
c
tu

a
l 
O

u
tt

u
rn

 V
a
ri
a
n
c
e

K
e
y

"-
" 

fi
g
u
re

 d
e
n
o
te

s
 a

 b
u
d
g
e
t 

u
n
d
e
r 

s
p
e
n
d
 o

r 
a
n
 i
n
c
o
m

e
 b

u
d
g
e
t 

o
r 

im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 

in
 o

u
tt

u
rn

"+
" 

fi
g
u
re

 d
e
n
o
te

s
 a

 b
u
d
g
e
t 

o
v
e
rs

p
e
n
d
 o

r 
a
n
 e

x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

 b
u
d
g
e
t 

o
r 

d
e
te

ri
o
ra

ti
o
n
 i
n
 o

u
tt

u
rn

P
e
ri

o
d

 1
0
 

F
o

re
c
a
s
t

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

O
u

tt
u

rn

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

F
o

re
c
a
s
t 

V
s

O
u

tt
u

rn
E

x
p

la
n

a
ti

o
n

£
0
0
0

£
0
0
0

£
0
0
0

0
-3

5
-3

5
C

o
m

p
e
n
s
a
ti
o
n
 p

a
y
m

e
n
ts

 f
ro

m
 t

h
e
 U

n
d
e
r 

O
c
c
u
p
a
ti
o
n
 S

c
h
e
m

e
(£

3
5
k
) 

d
id

 n
o

t 
p
ro

g
re

s
s
 

a
s
 a

n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d
. 

3
6

8
3

4
7

L
a
te

 i
n
s
u
ra

n
c
e
 c

o
s
ts

 £
2
1
k
 w

e
re

 n
o
t 

a
n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d
. 
A

ls
o
, 

th
e
re

 w
e

re
 c

o
s
ts

 i
n
c
u
rr

e
d
 i
n
 

re
la

ti
o
n
 t

o
 R

e
p
a
ir
s
 &

 R
e
fu

rb
is

h
m

e
n
t 

o
f 

s
h
e
lt
e
re

d
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 t

h
a
t 

w
e
re

 n
o
t 

fo
rs

e
e
n
.

-1
1

-5
0

-3
9

L
o
w

e
r 

c
o
s
ts

 w
e
re

 i
n
c
u
rr

e
d
 i
n
 r

e
la

ti
o
n
 t

o
 I

T
 p

ro
je

c
t 

w
o
rk

s
 t

h
a
t 

a
re

 b
e
in

g
 f

u
n
d
e
d
 f

ro
m

 

th
e
 H

R
A

 S
e
rv

ic
e
 I

m
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 

&
 P

ro
je

c
t 

R
e
s
e
rv

e
. 

T
h
e
s
e
 p

ro
je

c
t 

c
o
s
ts

 w
ill

 b
e
 

in
c
u
rr

e
d
 i
n
 2

0
1
3
/1

4
. 

2
5

-2
-2

6

-3
7

-7
5
8

-7
2
1

P
e
n
s
io

n
 s

a
v
in

g
s
 (

£
2
6
9
k
) 

w
e
re

 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 a

t 
y
e
a
r 

e
n
d
 f

o
llo

w
in

g
 u

p
d
a
te

d
 a

c
tu

a
ri
a
l 

in
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
. 

In
s
u
ra

n
c
e
 s

a
v
in

g
s
 (

£
3
1
4
k
) 

w
e
re

 u
s
e
d
 t

o
 c

re
a
te

 a
n
 e

a
rm

a
rk

e
d
 r

e
s
e
rv

e
. 

T
h
e
 f

o
re

c
a
s
t 

fo
r 

th
e
 S

to
c
k
 O

p
ti
o
n
s
 A

p
p
ra

is
a
l 
w

a
s
 £

3
3
9
k
 h

ig
h
e
r 

th
a
n
 o

u
tt

u
rn

 b
u
t 

th
is

 

w
a
s
 o

ff
s
e
t 

b
y
 a

 r
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 t

h
e
 a

m
o
u
n
t 

d
ra

w
n
d
o
w

n
 f

ro
m

 t
h
e
 R

e
s
e
rv

e
. 

 T
h
e
re

 w
a
s
 

a
ls

o
 a

 l
a
te

  
in

te
rn

a
l 
c
h
a
rg

e
 f

ro
m

 t
h
e
 V

o
id

s
 T

e
a
m

, 
£
1
3
0
k
 f

o
r 

w
o

rk
 t

h
a
t 

w
a
s
 c

a
rr

ie
d
 o

u
t 

fo
r 

ru
b
b
is

h
 c

le
a
ra

n
c
e
 i
n
 t

h
e
 b

o
ro

u
g
h
.

0
1

1
R

e
s
id

u
a
l 
b
a
la

n
c
e
 o

n
 H

R
A

 S
u
b
s
id

y
 -

 n
o
w

 r
e
p
la

c
e
d
 b

y
 S

e
lf
-f

in
a

n
c
in

g
.

-7
5
4

-7
4
5

9
M

in
o
r 

v
a
ri
a
ti
o
n
s

128



H
S

1
6

H
o
u
s
in

g
 A

s
s
e
t 

S
tr

a
te

g
y

H
S

1
7

H
e
a
d
 o

f 
L
a
n
d
lo

rd
 S

e
rv

ic
e
s

H
S

1
8

S
to

c
k
 C

o
n
d
it
io

n
 S

u
rv

e
y

S
S

1
8

H
o
u
s
in

g
 P

ro
p
e
rt

y
 M

a
in

te
n
a
n
c
e

D
iv

is
io

n
 T

o
ta

l 
- 

H
e
a
d

 o
f 

L
a
n

d
lo

rd
 

S
e
rv

ic
e
s

D
ir

e
c
to

ra
te

 T
o

ta
l 

- 
H

o
u

s
in

g

T
o

ta
l

1
6
8

5
1
5

3
4
8

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 r
e
fl
e
c
ts

 a
n
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 i
n
 r

e
v
e
n
u
e
 c

o
s
ts

 a
s
s
o
c
ia

te
d
 w

it
h
 t

h
e
 a

c
c
e

le
ra

ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 

D
e
c
e
n
t 

H
o
m

e
s
 c

a
p
it
a
l 
s
c
h
e
m

e
 i
n
 2

0
1
2
/1

3
. 

T
h
e
s
e
 a

re
 p

a
rt

ly
 o

ff
s
e
t 

b
y
 a

n
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 i
n
 

re
c
h
a
rg

e
s
 t

o
 t

h
e
 c

a
p
it
a
l 
p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
.

4
6

-1
5

-6
2

In
te

ri
m

 e
x
te

rn
a
l 
s
u
p
p
o
rt

 c
o
s
ts

 w
e
re

 l
o
w

e
r 

th
a
n
 p

ro
je

c
te

d
.

-9
3

-1
0
6

-1
3

A
d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
s
a
v
in

g
s
 a

s
 a

 r
e
s
u
lt
 o

f 
a
 p

ri
o
r 

y
e
a
r 

a
d
ju

s
tm

e
n

t 
th

a
t 

h
a
d
 n

o
t 

b
e
e
n
 p

ro
je

c
te

d
.

-1
4
4

-3
8
9

-2
4
5

A
 r

e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 t

h
e
 l
e
v
e
ls

 o
f 

v
o
id

 w
o
rk

s
 i
n
 t

h
e
 f

in
a
l 
q
u
a
rt

e
r 

o
f 

th
e
 y

e
a
r 

a
n
d
 t

h
e
 l
a
te

 

c
a
p
it
a
lis

a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
v
o
id

 e
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

 r
e
s
u
lt
e
d
 i
n
 a

 l
o
w

e
r 

s
p
e
n
d

 t
h
a
n
 h

a
d
 b

e
e
n
 

a
n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d
. 

In
 a

d
d
it
io

n
, 

a
n
 i
n
te

rn
a
l 
c
h
a
rg

e
 w

a
s
 r

a
is

e
d
 f

o
r 

ru
b
b
is

h
 c

le
a
ra

n
c
e
 (

1
3
0
k
) 

a
t 

y
e
a
r 

e
n
d
.

-8
1
4

-1
,4

9
7

-6
8
3

-7
8
9

-1
,4

9
9

-7
1
0

-7
8
9

-1
,4

9
9

-7
1
0

129



A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

 8

S
u

m
m

a
ry

 o
f 

H
R

A
 E

a
rm

a
rk

e
d

 R
e
s
e
rv

e
s
 2

0
1
2
/1

3

E
a
rm

a
rk

e
d

 R
e
s
e
rv

e
A

u
d

it
e
d

 

B
a
la

n
c
e

 1
 A

p
ri

l 
2
0
1
2

R
e
a
ll

o
c
a
ti

o
n

 o
f 

R
e
s
e
rv

e
s

E
a
rm

a
rk

e
d

2
0
1
2
/1

3

U
n

e
a
rm

a
rk

e
d

2
0
1
2
/1

3

U
s
e
 o

f 

R
e
s
e
rv

e
s

2
0
1
2
/1

3

U
n

a
u

d
it

e
d

B
a
la

n
c
e

 3
1
 M

a
rc

h
 2

0
1
3

£
0
0
0

£
0
0
0

£
0
0
0

£
0
0
0

£
0
0
0

£
0
0
0

  
C

a
p
it
a
l 
P

ro
g
ra

m
m

e
 R

e
s
e
rv

e
2
,6

1
4

6
,1

8
1

0
8
,7

9
4

  
L
e
a
s
e
h
o
ld

e
r 

R
e
s
e
rv

e
1
6
8

0
1
6
8

  
S

e
rv

ic
e
 I

m
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 

&
 P

ro
je

c
t 

R
e
s
e
rv

e
1
,0

0
0

6
7
0

-2
7
4
 

1
,3

9
5

  
S

to
c
k
 O

p
ti
o
n
s
 A

p
p
ra

is
a
l

2
,0

0
0

-6
6
7
 

1
,3

3
3

  
S

u
p
p
o
rt

in
g
 P

e
o
p
le

 R
e
s
e
rv

e
5
5
8

5
5
8

  
H

R
A

 I
n
s
u
ra

n
c
e
 R

e
s
e
rv

e
0

3
0
0

3
0
0

T
o

ta
l 

(e
x
c
lu

d
in

g
 H

R
A

 W
o

rk
in

g
 B

a
la

n
c
e
)

6
,3

4
0

0
7
,1

5
0

0
-9

4
1
 

1
2
,5

4
9

130



A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

 9

C
a
p

it
a
l 

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 2

0
1
2
/1

3
 -

 O
u

tt
u

rn
 a

n
d

 C
a
rr

y
-F

o
rw

a
rd

s

C
o

s
t

C
e
n

tr
e

C
a
p

it
a
l 

S
c
h

e
m

e

L
a
te

s
t

A
p

p
ro

v
e
d

B
u

d
g

e
t 

2
0
1
2
/1

3

A
c
tu

a
l

E
x
p

e
n

d
it

u
re

2
0
1
2
/1

3

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

C
a
rr

y
-F

o
rw

a
rd

R
e
q

u
e
s
te

d

O
v
e
r/

(U
n

d
e
r)

-s
p

e
n

d
R

e
a
s
o

n
s
 f

o
r 

C
a
rr

y
-f

o
rw

a
rd

 o
r 

O
v
e
r/

(U
n

d
e
rs

p
e
n

d
)

 P
re

v
io

u
s
ly

 

A
p

p
ro

v
e
d

 C
a
rr

y
-

F
o

rw
a
rd

 (
s
e
e
 

n
o

te
 b

e
lo

w
) 

G
e
n

e
ra

l 
F

u
n

d
 S

c
h

e
m

e
s

B
A

1
4
4

P
la

y
b
u
ild

e
r 

- 
D

a
lli

n
g
to

n
3
0
0
 

0
 

-3
0
0
 

-3
0
0
 

B
A

1
5
0

C
h
a
n
g
e
 o

f 
S

c
e
n
e
 A

c
ti
v
it
y
 T

ra
ile

r
9
,5

0
0
 

9
,5

0
0
 

0
 

0
 

B
A

1
6
7

I 
L
o
v
e
 M

y
 P

a
rk

s
1
5
,2

5
4
 

1
3
,0

3
2
 

-2
,2

2
2

2
,2

2
2
 

0
 D

e
la

y
 i
n
 p

ro
g
re

s
s
io

n
 o

f 
re

fu
rb

is
h
m

e
n
t 

o
f 

ra
c
e
c
o
u
rs

e
 P

a
v
ill

io
n
 p

ro
je

c
t

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

1
7
,0

0
0
 

B
A

1
9
2

C
o
n
te

n
t 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

S
y
s
te

m
 U

p
g
ra

d
e
 f

o
r 

W
e
b
s
it
e
s

3
,6

5
0
 

3
,1

9
9
 

-4
5
1
 

-4
5
1
 

B
A

1
9
3

R
e
fu

rb
is

h
m

e
n
t 

- 
N

o
rt

h
a
m

p
to

n
 M

u
s
e
u
m

 a
n
d
 A

rt
 

G
a
lle

ry
0
 

9
,9

5
7
 

9
,9

5
7
 

9
,9

5
7
 A

d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
w

o
rk

s
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
d
 -

 f
u
n
d
e
d
 f

ro
m

 e
a
rm

a
rk

e
d
 c

a
p
it
a
l 
re

c
e
ip

ts
.

B
A

2
0
7

IT
 I

n
fr

a
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
 -

 S
e
rv

e
rs

 a
n
d
 N

e
tw

o
rk

 S
to

ra
g
e

1
6
9
,7

0
0
 

1
6
9
,7

4
1
 

4
1
 

4
1
 

B
A

2
1
1

E
x
te

n
s
io

n
 o

f 
D

u
s
to

n
 C

e
m

e
te

ry
2
,0

0
0
 

2
,0

0
0
 

0
 

0
 

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

4
0
,4

5
0
 

B
A

7
6
4

O
n
e
 S

to
p
 S

h
o
p
, 

C
R

M
2
9
,9

6
6
 

0
 

-2
9
,9

6
6

2
9
,9

6
6
 

0
 D

e
la

y
s
 i
n
 t

h
e
 i
m

p
le

m
e
n
ta

ti
o
n
 o

f 
in

te
g
ra

ti
o
n
 h

a
v
e
 l
e
d
 t

o
 d

e
la

y
e
d
 o

p
ti
o
n
s
 

a
n
a
ly

s
is

 f
o
r 

w
o
rk

fl
o
w

 m
o
d
u
le

s
 -

 t
h
e
 f

u
n
d
in

g
 i
s
 s

ti
ll 

re
q
u
ir
e
d
 t

o
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 

C
R

M
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

 t
o
 l
e
a
d
 t

o
 m

o
re

 e
ff

ic
ie

n
t 

w
a
y
s
 o

f 
w

o
rk

in
g
.

B
A

7
8
6

D
a
ta

 N
e
tw

o
rk

 I
m

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

2
9
,3

3
4
 

1
6
,1

9
2
 

-1
3
,1

4
2

9
,3

0
0

-3
,8

4
2

O
/S

 I
n
v
o
ic

e
. 

P
ro

je
c
t 

c
o
m

p
le

te
d
.

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

5
0
,0

0
0
 

B
A

8
0
8

IT
 N

e
tw

o
rk

 R
e
p
la

c
e
m

e
n
t 

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
3
4
,2

3
6
 

2
2
,5

3
8
 

-1
1
,6

9
8

1
1
,6

9
8
 

0
 A

d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
n
e
tw

o
rk

 e
q
u
ip

m
e
n
t 

re
q
u
ir
e
d
.

B
A

8
7
2

N
ig

h
t 

S
a
fe

 &
 T

a
rg

e
t 

H
a
rd

e
n
in

g
 -

 S
S

N
P

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

1
3
,8

2
5
 

B
A

8
9
3

M
ic

ro
s
o
ft

 O
ff

ic
e
 2

0
1
0
 U

p
g
ra

d
e

3
0
,2

0
0
 

2
9
,8

1
5
 

-3
8
5
 

-3
8
5
 L

ic
e
n
s
e
s
 n

o
t 

re
q
u
ir
e
d
.

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
1
4
5
,0

0
0
 

B
A

8
9
5

A
llo

tm
e
n
t 

P
ro

v
is

io
n

0
 

1
5
,0

3
0
 

1
5
,0

3
0
 

-1
5
,0

3
0

0
W

o
rk

s
 c

o
m

m
e
n
c
e
d
 e

a
rl
ie

r 
th

a
n
 e

x
p
e
c
te

d
, 

th
e
re

fo
re

 n
e
e
d
 t

o
 r

e
d
u
c
e
 

p
re

v
io

u
s
ly

 a
p
p
ro

v
e
d
 c

a
rr

y
-f

o
rw

a
rd

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
1
0
0
,0

0
0
 

B
A

8
9
6

G
u
ild

h
a
ll 

L
o
ft

 I
n
s
u
la

ti
o
n
 S

a
lix

 p
ro

je
c
t

4
,8

4
2
 

3
,4

8
0
 

-1
,3

6
2
 

-1
,3

6
2
 P

ro
je

c
t 

c
o
m

p
le

te
d

B
A

8
9
7

G
ro

s
v
e
n
o
r 

C
a
r 

P
a
rk

 T
5
 L

ig
h
ti
n
g
 U

p
g
ra

d
e
s

4
0
,1

1
7
 

3
2
,5

0
3
 

-7
,6

1
4

7
,6

1
4

-0
T

o
 m

e
e
t 

s
o
m

e
 a

d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
c
o
s
t

B
A

8
9
8

S
t 

M
ic

h
a
e
ls

 C
a
r 

P
a
rk

 L
e
d
 L

ig
h
ti
n
g

8
8
,8

3
9
 

7
1
,6

2
8
 

-1
7
,2

1
1

1
7
,2

1
1
 

0
 T

o
 m

e
e
t 

s
o
m

e
 a

d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
c
o
s
t

B
A

9
0
3

P
u
rc

h
a
s
e
 o

f 
IT

 E
q
u
ip

 (
e
n
d
 o

f 
le

a
s
e
)

2
0
,5

9
5
 

2
0
,5

9
5
 

0
 

0
 

C
u

s
to

m
e
rs

 &
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

ie
s
 T

o
ta

l
4
7
8
,5

3
3
 

4
1
9
,2

1
0
 

-5
9
,3

2
3

6
2
,9

8
1
 

3
,6

5
8
 

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
3
6
6
,2

7
5
 

B
A

1
2
2

F
ir
e
 S

a
fe

ty
 I

m
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 

W
o
rk

s
8
3
,2

9
1
 

7
5
,3

2
2
 

-7
,9

6
9

7
,9

6
9
 

0
 W

o
rk

s
 t

o
 b

e
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d

B
A

1
3
2

S
t 

C
ri
s
p
in

 C
h
a
n
g
in

g
 R

o
o
m

s
, 

T
o
ile

t,
 C

a
r 

p
a
rk

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 N

/A
 -

 c
a
rr

y
 f

o
rw

a
rd

 p
re

v
io

u
s
ly

 a
p
p
ro

v
e
d

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
7
5
0
,9

8
9
 

B
A

1
3
3

S
t 

C
ri
s
p
in

 F
o
o
tb

a
ll 

P
it
c
h
e
s
 a

n
d
 P

la
y
 P

ro
v
is

io
n

1
2
6
,6

3
9
 

1
2
4
,5

2
3
 

-2
,1

1
6

2
,1

1
6

-0
P

ro
je

c
t 

d
e
liv

e
ry

 a
n
d
 s

p
e
n
d
 c

ro
s
s
e
s
 o

v
e
r 

fi
n
a
n
c
ia

l 
y
e
a
rs

, 
F

u
n
d
in

g
 S

1
0
6
, 

a
n
y
 u

n
d
e
rs

p
e
n
d
 t

o
 g

o
 b

a
c
k
 i
n
to

 S
1
0
6
 f

u
n
d
s
 

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
1
0
0
,0

0
0
 

B
A

1
3
6

W
a
te

r 
M

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

W
o
rk

s
2
6
8
,5

8
5
 

2
6
7
,3

8
4
 

-1
,2

0
1

1
,2

0
0

-1
T

o
 c

o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t

h
e
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 

o
f 

w
a
te

rc
o
u
rs

e
s

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

9
3
,0

0
0
 

B
A

1
3
8

C
e
m

e
te

ri
e
s
 R

e
fu

rb
is

h
m

e
n
t 

W
o
rk

s
3
3
,2

3
4
 

3
3
,2

3
4
 

-0
 

-0
 

B
A

1
3
9

W
o
rk

s
 t

o
 C

h
u
rc

h
y
a
rd

s
 (

fo
o
tp

a
th

s
 a

n
d
 b

o
u
d
a
ry

 w
a
lls

)
2
,0

0
0
 

1
,8

7
1
 

-1
2
9
 

-1
2
9
 

B
A

1
4
0

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
 P

ro
p
e
rt

ie
s
 -

 D
D

A
 I

s
s
u
e
s

0
 

4
,5

2
7
 

4
,5

2
7
 

4
,5

2
7
 P

a
y
m

e
n
t 

o
f 

re
te

n
ti
o
n
 f

ro
m

 p
re

v
io

u
s
 y

e
a
rs

 w
o
rk

s

B
A

1
4
1

U
n
e
x
p
e
c
te

d
 i
n
 y

e
a
r 

F
a
ilu

re
s

0
 

-2
7
7
 

-2
7
7
 

-2
7
7
 

B
A

1
4
6

W
a
te

r 
H

y
g
ie

n
e
 -

 M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 I

m
p
s

1
2
,0

0
0
 

0
 

-1
2
,0

0
0

1
2
,0

0
0
 

0
 N

e
e
d
e
d
 f

o
r 

d
e
la

y
e
d
 w

o
rk

s
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
7
0
,0

0
0
 

B
A

1
6
9

N
o
rt

h
a
m

p
to

n
 S

k
a
te

p
a
rk

2
9
4
,1

0
5
 

2
9
2
,1

6
5
 

-1
,9

4
0

1
,9

4
0

-0
o
n
 g

o
in

g
 c

o
n
s
tr

u
c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
s
k
a
te

p
a
rk

 f
a
c
ili

ti
e
s
 b

u
ild

in
g

B
A

1
7
9

A
b
in

g
to

n
 P

a
rk

, 
C

h
a
n
g
in

g
 R

o
o
m

 r
e
fu

rb
is

h
m

e
n
t

1
9
7
 

0
 

-1
9
7
 

-1
9
7
 

B
A

1
8
0

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 P
ro

p
e
rt

y
 I

n
v
e
s
tm

e
n
t

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
5
0
0
,0

0
0
 

B
A

1
8
1

R
e
fu

rb
is

h
m

e
n
t 
A

b
in

g
to

n
 P

a
rk

 C
o
tt

a
g
e
s
 1

&
2

0
 

1
,7

8
0
 

1
,7

8
0
 

1
,7

8
0
 C

o
m

p
le

ti
o
n
 o

f 
w

o
rk

s

B
A

1
8
3

Im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 

to
 P

a
rk

s
 I

n
fr

a
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
0
 

8
2
7
 

8
2
7
 

8
2
7
 C

o
m

p
le

ti
o
n
 o

f 
w

o
rk

s

B
A

1
8
6

Im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 

to
 P

a
rk

s
 I

n
fr

a
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
2
7
5
,4

8
2
 

2
7
5
,4

8
2
 

0
 

0
 

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

2
7
,2

0
0
 

B
A

1
8
7

R
a
c
e
c
o
u
rs

e
 B

o
w

lin
g
 G

re
e
n
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

s
3
5
0
 

0
 

-3
5
0
 

-3
5
0
 W

o
rk

s
 c

o
m

p
le

te

131



C
o

s
t

C
e
n

tr
e

C
a
p

it
a
l 

S
c
h

e
m

e

L
a
te

s
t

A
p

p
ro

v
e
d

B
u

d
g

e
t 

2
0
1
2
/1

3

A
c
tu

a
l

E
x
p

e
n

d
it

u
re

2
0
1
2
/1

3

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

C
a
rr

y
-F

o
rw

a
rd

R
e
q

u
e
s
te

d

O
v
e
r/

(U
n

d
e
r)

-s
p

e
n

d
R

e
a
s
o

n
s
 f

o
r 

C
a
rr

y
-f

o
rw

a
rd

 o
r 

O
v
e
r/

(U
n

d
e
rs

p
e
n

d
)

 P
re

v
io

u
s
ly

 

A
p

p
ro

v
e
d

 C
a
rr

y
-

F
o

rw
a
rd

 (
s
e
e
 

n
o

te
 b

e
lo

w
) 

B
A

1
8
8

R
o
y
a
l 
a
n
d
 D

e
rn

g
a
te

 R
o
o
f 

R
e
p
la

c
e
m

e
n
t 

W
o
rk

s
0
 

3
8
1
 

3
8
1
 

3
8
1
 C

o
m

p
le

ti
o
n
 o

f 
w

o
rk

s

B
A

1
8
9

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
 A

s
s
e
t 

Im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

2
5
1
,7

7
7
 

2
8
1
,7

7
7
 

3
0
,0

0
0
 

-3
0
,0

0
0

0
 U

n
e
x
p
e
c
te

d
 i
n
 y

e
a
r 

fa
ilu

re
s
 m

e
a
n
t 

th
a
t 

c
/f

 a
n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d
 n

o
t 

re
q
u
ir
e
d

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

3
0
,0

0
0
 

B
A

1
9
0

In
v
e
s
tm

e
n
t 

P
ro

p
e
rt

y
 E

n
h
a
n
c
e
m

e
n
ts

7
6
,0

0
0
 

1
5
,8

9
3
 

-6
0
,1

0
7

6
0
,1

0
7

-0
P

ro
je

c
ts

 d
e
la

y
e
d
 i
n
 1

2
/1

3
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
2
4
,0

0
0
 

B
A

1
9
4

G
u
ild

h
a
ll 

R
e
n
e
w

a
ls

1
6
8
,0

0
0
 

1
6
8
,0

0
0
 

-0
 

-0
 

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

3
9
,0

0
0
 

B
A

1
9
6

G
ro

s
v
e
n
o
r/

G
re

y
fr

ia
rs

 -
 S

ta
g
e
c
o
a
c
h
 R

e
lo

c
a
ti
o
n

3
,0

0
0
,0

0
0
 

3
,0

0
0
,0

0
0
 

0
 

0
 

B
A

1
9
7

D
e
la

p
re

 A
b
b
e
y
 R

e
s
to

ra
ti
o
n
 M

in
o
r 

P
ro

je
c
ts

1
0
,0

0
0
 

2
8
 

-9
,9

7
2

9
,9

7
2
 

0
 R

e
s
to

ra
ti
o
n
 w

o
rk

s
 a

re
 o

n
g
o
in

g
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
9
0
,0

0
0
 

B
A

2
0
8

E
a
s
tf

ie
ld

 P
a
rk

 I
m

p
ro

v
e
d
 P

a
rk

 E
n
tr

a
n
c
e

0
 

-1
4
0
 

-1
4
0
 

-1
4
0
 

B
A

3
5
0

R
a
c
e
c
o
u
rs

e
 C

h
a
n
g
in

g
 R

o
o
m

s
0
 

1
1
2
 

1
1
2
 

1
1
2
 

B
A

3
5
6

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 C

e
n
tr

e
s
 R

e
fu

rb
is

h
m

e
n
t

2
0
,1

4
5
 

2
2
,8

0
1
 

2
,6

5
6
 

2
,6

5
6
 

B
A

3
6
8

U
p
to

n
 P

a
rk

 P
e
d
e
s
tr

ia
n
 &

 C
y
c
le

 B
ri
d
g
e

2
0
8
,0

1
1
 

2
0
7
,2

6
4
 

-7
4
7

7
4
7

-0
W

o
rk

s
 n

o
t 

c
o
m

p
le

te
, 

re
te

n
ti
o
n

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

7
8
,4

0
0
 

B
A

3
8
4

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
Q

u
a
rt

e
r 

S
ig

n
a
g
e

5
0
,0

0
0
 

2
5
,0

0
0
 

-2
5
,0

0
0

2
5
,0

0
0
 

0
 s

c
h
e
m

e
 h

a
s
 o

n
ly

 b
e
e
n
 p

a
rt

ia
lly

 c
o
m

p
le

te
d
 d

u
e
 t

o
 t

h
e
 n

e
e
d
 t

o
 

c
o
o
rd

in
a
te

 p
u
tt

in
g
 s

ig
n
a
g
e
 i
n
 p

la
c
e
 w

it
h
 t

h
e
 c

o
m

p
le

ti
o
n
 o

f 
o
th

e
r 

re
g
e
n
e
ra

ti
o
n
 p

ro
je

c
ts

B
A

3
8
5

T
o
w

n
 C

e
n
tr

e
 E

n
h
a
n
c
e
m

e
n
ts

5
0
,0

0
0
 

2
2
,7

7
0
 

-2
7
,2

3
0

2
7
,2

3
0
 

0
 C

o
m

m
e
n
c
e
m

e
n
t 

o
f 

w
o
rk

s
 d

e
la

y
e
d
 d

u
e
 t

o
 e

x
te

n
d
e
d
 n

e
g
o
ti
a
ti
o
n
s
 w

it
h
 

c
o
n
tr

a
c
to

r 
to

 e
n
s
u
re

 a
c
c
e
p
ta

b
le

 p
ri
c
e
s
 a

n
d
 p

ro
g
ra

m
m

e
.

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

5
0
,0

0
0
 

B
A

6
4
5

S
.1

0
6
 T

ra
n
s
fe

r 
to

 O
th

e
r 

A
u
th

o
ri
ti
e
s

1
3
7
,6

9
0
 

5
1
,0

0
2
 

-8
6
,6

8
8

8
6
,6

8
8
 

0
 T

h
is

 s
u
m

 i
s
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
d
 f

o
r 

th
e
 C

o
u
n
ty

 C
o
u
n
c
il 

to
 c

o
m

p
le

te
 w

o
rk

s
 a

t 

B
a
n
b
u
ry

 L
a
n
e
 t

o
 c

re
a
te

 a
 b

u
s
 l
in

k
 i
n
to

 S
w

a
n
 V

a
lle

y

B
A

8
8
3

P
la

n
n
in

g
 I

T
 I

m
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

 (
H

P
D

G
)

2
,2

7
8
 

2
,2

7
8
 

-0
 

-0
 

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
1
9
1
,3

3
5
 

B
A

8
8
7

G
ro

s
v
e
n
o
r 

G
re

y
fr

ia
rs

 C
a
r 

P
a
rk

 I
m

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 

W
o
rk

s
7
3
,0

0
0
 

7
5
,3

1
1
 

2
,3

1
1
 

-2
,3

1
1

0
 M

o
re

 w
o
rk

s
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d
 i
n
 y

e
a
r 

th
a
n
 a

n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

5
,0

0
0
 

B
A

8
8
9

M
a
y
o
rh

o
ld

 C
a
r 

P
a
rk

 -
  

D
ra

in
a
g
e
 W

o
rk

s
5
,0

0
0
 

3
,2

7
5
 

-1
,7

2
5

1
,7

2
5
 

0
 P

ro
je

c
t 

d
e
la

y
e
d
 d

u
e
 t

o
 t

e
c
h
n
ic

a
l 
in

v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n
s

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

7
5
,0

0
0
 

B
A

8
9
0

C
e
n
tr

a
l 
M

u
s
e
u
m

 -
 B

o
ile

r 
R

e
p
la

c
e
m

e
n
t

3
5
,0

0
0
 

3
4
,8

0
0
 

-2
0
0
 

-2
0
0
 

B
A

8
9
1

B
u
s
 I

n
te

rc
h
a
n
g
e

1
,2

1
6
,0

0
0
 

1
,2

6
3
,0

8
7
 

4
7
,0

8
7
 

-4
7
,0

8
7
 

-0
 P

ro
g
re

s
s
 f

a
s
te

r 
th

a
n
 e

x
p
e
c
te

d
, 

p
re

v
io

u
s
 c

a
rr

y
-f

o
rw

a
rd

 t
o
 b

e
 r

e
d
u
c
e
d

  
  

  
  

  
 4

,2
8
4
,0

0
0
 

B
A

8
9
2

U
rg

e
n
t 

L
if
t 

R
e
n
e
w

a
ls

1
3
1
,5

0
0
 

0
 

-1
3
1
,5

0
0

1
3
1
,5

0
0
 

0
 P

ro
je

c
t 

in
it
ia

ti
o
n
 d

e
la

y
e
d
 t

o
 a

c
h
ie

v
e
 b

e
tt

e
r 

v
a
lu

e
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
5
0
,0

0
0
 

B
A

8
9
4

M
o
u
n
ts

 B
a
th

s
 R

o
o
f

1
7
5
,4

0
0
 

1
7
1
,0

2
5
 

-4
,3

7
5

4
,3

7
5

-0
R

e
q
u
ir
e
d
 f

o
r 

P
h
a
s
e
 2

R
e
g

e
n

e
ra

ti
o

n
 E

n
te

rp
ri

s
e
 &

 P
la

n
n

in
g

 T
o

ta
l

6
,7

0
5
,6

8
4
 

6
,4

2
1
,5

0
0
 

-2
8
4
,1

8
4

2
9
3
,1

7
2
 

8
,9

8
8
 

  
  

  
  

  
 6

,4
5
7
,9

2
4
 

B
A

1
4
5

C
lif

to
n
v
ill

e
 M

o
v
e
; 

N
e
w

 w
a
y
s
 o

f 
w

o
rk

in
g

5
5
,2

4
6
 

4
0
,4

7
9
 

-1
4
,7

6
7

1
4
,7

6
7
 

0
 N

e
e
d
e
d
 f

o
r 

v
e
n
ti
la

ti
o
n
 w

o
rk

s
 (

G
'h

a
ll)

B
A

1
5
7

C
O

M
; 

T
e
le

p
h
o
n
y
 (

V
o
IP

)
7
,1

0
8
 

-1
,0

1
1
 

-8
,1

1
9
 

-8
,1

1
9
 P

ro
je

c
t 

c
o
m

p
le

te
d
 u

n
d
e
r 

b
u
d
g
e
t

B
A

1
6
4

C
O

M
; 

IT
 E

q
u
ip

m
e
n
t 

N
e
w

 w
a
y
s
 o

f 
w

o
rk

in
g

6
5
,9

0
0
 

6
5
,0

0
0
 

-9
0
0
 

-9
0
0
 P

ro
je

c
t 

c
o
m

p
le

te
d
 u

n
d
e
r 

b
u
d
g
e
t

B
A

1
6
5

C
O

M
; 

D
o
c
u
m

e
n
t 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t

9
8
,0

7
1
 

0
 

-9
8
,0

7
1

9
8
,0

7
1
 

0
 P

ro
je

c
t 

h
a
s
 f

o
c
u
s
e
d
 o

n
 d

e
liv

e
ri
n
g
 H

o
u
s
in

g
 m

o
d
u
le

s
, 

fu
n
d
in

g
 r

e
la

te
s
 t

o
 

G
e
n
e
ra

l 
F

u
n
d
 e

le
m

e
n
t 

w
h
ic

h
 w

ill
 b

e
 c

o
m

p
le

te
 i
n
 2

0
1
3
/1

4
.

B
A

1
7
3

M
u
lt
i-
F

u
n
c
ti
o
n
 D

e
v
ic

e
s
 (

M
F

D
´s

)
0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

2
9
,6

2
8
 

B
A

2
0
9

H
o
s
te

d
 D

e
b
it
 a

n
d
 C

re
d
it
 C

a
rd

 P
a
y
m

e
n
ts

3
9
,1

7
3
 

3
9
,1

7
3
 

0
 

0
 

B
A

2
1
0

J
e
ff

re
y
 R

o
o
m

 A
u
d
io

 a
n
d
 V

is
u
a
l 
Im

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

6
,5

3
9
 

4
,2

2
8
 

-2
,3

1
1

7
5
0

-1
,5

6
1

T
h
e
 a

c
o
u
s
ti
c
 b

o
a
rd

s
 h

a
v
e
 m

o
v
e
d
 a

s
 t

h
e
 b

u
ild

in
g
 h

a
s
 m

o
v
e
d
 a

n
d
 w

o
rk

s
 

a
re

 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 t

o
 a

d
d
re

s
s
 t

h
e
 c

ra
c
k
in

g
.

B
A

3
8
3

C
in

e
p
o
d
 -

 R
o
y
a
l 
&

 D
e
rn

g
a
te

 T
h
e
a
tr

e
3
5
0
,0

0
0
 

1
5
9
,7

8
4
 

-1
9
0
,2

1
6

1
9
0
,2

1
6
 

0
 P

ro
je

c
t 

c
o
m

p
le

ti
o
n
 d

e
la

y
e
d
 d

u
e
 t

o
 a

d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
w

o
rk

s
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
d
 t

o
 

fo
u
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s

B
A

6
4
6

R
e
-f

u
rb

is
h
m

e
n
t 

o
f 

th
e
 G

re
a
t 

H
a
ll 

k
it
c
h
e
n

6
0
,0

0
0
 

6
3
,8

0
5

 
3
,8

0
5
 

-3
,8

0
5

0
W

o
rk

s
 h

a
v
e
 p

ro
g
re

s
s
e
d
 f

a
s
te

r 
th

a
n
 e

x
p
e
c
te

d
, 

th
e
re

fo
re

 n
e
e
d
 t

o
 r

e
d
u

c
e
 

p
re

v
io

u
s
ly

 a
p
p
ro

v
e
d
 c

a
rr

y
-f

o
rw

a
rd

.
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
6
1
,5

0
0
 

B
A

7
4
3

E
le

c
tr

o
n
ic

 R
e
c
o
rd

 M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t

5
,9

1
1
 

0
 

-5
,9

1
1
 

-5
,9

1
1
 N

o
 l
o
n
g
e
r 

re
q
u
ir
e
d

B
A

9
0
0

R
e
v
e
n
u
e
 t

o
 C

a
p
it
a
l 
- 

T
e
c
h
n
ic

a
l 
T

ra
n
s
fe

r
1
0
6
,5

0
6
 

1
0
6
,5

0
6
 

0
 

0
 

R
e
s
o

u
rc

e
s
 T

o
ta

l
7
9
4
,4

5
4
 

4
7
7
,9

6
5
 

-3
1
6
,4

8
9

2
9
9
,9

9
8

-1
6
,4

9
1

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

9
1
,1

2
8
 

B
K

0
1
0

C
o
u
n
tr

y
w

id
e
 C

lim
a
te

 F
ri
e
n
d
ly

 C
o
m

m
m

u
n
it
ie

s
9
8
,5

1
1
 

5
1
,8

9
4
 

-4
6
,6

1
7

4
6
,6

1
7
 

0
 A

w
a
it
e
d
 t

h
e
 g

o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t 

to
 i
n
tr

o
d
u
c
e
 n

e
w

 l
e
rg

is
la

ti
o
n
 t

o
 i
n

c
o
rp

o
ra

te
 i
n
 

th
e
 N

e
w

 G
re

e
n
 d

e
a
l 
E

C
O

 s
c
h
e
m

e
s

132



C
o

s
t

C
e
n

tr
e

C
a
p

it
a
l 

S
c
h

e
m

e

L
a
te

s
t

A
p

p
ro

v
e
d

B
u

d
g

e
t 

2
0
1
2
/1

3

A
c
tu

a
l

E
x
p

e
n

d
it

u
re

2
0
1
2
/1

3

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

C
a
rr

y
-F

o
rw

a
rd

R
e
q

u
e
s
te

d

O
v
e
r/

(U
n

d
e
r)

-s
p

e
n

d
R

e
a
s
o

n
s
 f

o
r 

C
a
rr

y
-f

o
rw

a
rd

 o
r 

O
v
e
r/

(U
n

d
e
rs

p
e
n

d
)

 P
re

v
io

u
s
ly

 

A
p

p
ro

v
e
d

 C
a
rr

y
-

F
o

rw
a
rd

 (
s
e
e
 

n
o

te
 b

e
lo

w
) 

B
K

0
1
3

E
m

p
ty

 H
o
m

e
s
 P

ro
g
ra

m
m

e
2
0
0
,0

0
0
 

0
 

-2
0
0
,0

0
0

2
0
0
,0

0
0
 

0
 F

D
A

 A
g
re

e
m

e
n
t 

w
a
s
 n

o
t 

s
ig

n
e
d
 w

it
h
 H

C
A

 u
n
ti
l 
la

te
 F

e
b
 1

3
 w

h
ic

h
 l
e
ft

 

d
e
liv

e
ry

 o
f 

n
u
m

b
e
rs

 a
lm

o
s
t 

im
p
o
s
s
ib

le
 f

o
r 

Y
e
a
r 

1
. 

 T
h
e
re

fo
re

 t
h
is

 w
ill

 

n
e
e
d
 t

o
 b

e
 c

a
rr

ie
d
 f

o
rw

a
rd

 t
o
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 d
e
liv

e
ry

 f
o
r 

2
0
1
3
/1

4

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
4
3
2
,0

9
0
 

B
K

0
1
5

D
F

G
´s

 O
w

n
e
r 

O
c
c
u
p
ie

rs
2
,2

0
3
,9

7
2
 

2
,2

7
0
,6

4
9
 

6
6
,6

7
7
 

-6
6
,6

7
7

0
E

x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

 i
n
c
u
rr

e
d
 f

ro
m

 2
0
1
3
/1

4
 p

ro
v
is

io
n
, 

b
u
d
g
e
t 

to
 b

e
 b

ro
u
g

h
t-

fo
rw

a
rd

.

B
K

0
2
9

H
o
t 

P
ro

p
e
rt

y
 3

1
,3

9
2
 

-2
,4

8
2
 

-3
,8

7
4
 

3
,8

7
4
 

0
 A

w
a
it
e
d
 t

h
e
 g

o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t 

to
 i
n
tr

o
d
u
c
e
 n

e
w

 l
e
rg

is
la

ti
o
n
 t

o
 i
n

c
o
rp

o
ra

te
 i
n
 

th
e
 N

e
w

 G
re

e
n
 d

e
a
l 
E

C
O

 s
c
h
e
m

e
s

B
K

0
3
0

H
e
a
ts

tr
e
e
ts

-5
6
 

-5
6
 

-5
6
 

B
K

0
4
3

E
c
to

n
 L

a
n
e
 I

m
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

1
1
,6

2
0
 

1
1
,6

2
0
 

0
 

0
 

B
K

0
4
4

G
O

E
M

 D
e
c
e
n
t 

H
o
m

e
s
 A

s
s
is

ta
n
c
e

1
5
3
,6

0
2
 

1
1
4
,7

9
3
 

-3
8
,8

0
9

3
8
,8

0
9
 

0
 I

n
it
ia

l 
p
o
t 

fo
r 

e
m

e
rg

e
n
c
y
 D

e
c
e
n
t 

h
o
m

e
s

B
K

0
5
0

W
ra

p
p
e
d
 u

p
 S

c
h
e
m

e
5
0
,0

0
0
 

2
5
,9

4
7
 

-2
4
,0

5
3

2
4
,0

5
3
 

0
 W

o
rk

s
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d
 e

a
rl
y
 i
n
 2

0
1
3
/1

4

B
K

0
5
1

F
u
e
l 
P

o
v
e
rt

y
 F

u
n
d
 C

o
u
n
ty

 W
id

e
5
0
4
,0

0
0
 

3
7
,7

2
6
 

-4
6
6
,2

7
4

4
6
6
,2

7
4
 

0
 W

o
rk

s
 d

e
la

y
e
d
 d

u
e
 t

o
 t

h
e
 i
n
c
le

m
e
n
t 

w
e
a
th

e
r 

th
is

 w
in

te
r,

 w
o
rk

s
 

c
o
m

p
le

te
d
 b

y
 e

n
d
 o

f 
M

a
y
 b

y
 a

g
re

e
m

e
n
t 

w
it
h
 D

e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
t 

fo
r 

E
n
e
rg

y
 

a
n
d
 C

lim
a
te

 C
h
a
n
g
e
.

H
o

u
s
in

g
 G

e
n

e
ra

l 
F

u
n

d
 T

o
ta

l
3
,2

2
3
,0

9
7
 

2
,5

1
0
,0

9
3
 

-7
1
3
,0

0
4

7
1
2
,9

4
9

-5
6

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
4
3
2
,0

9
0
 

T
o

ta
l 

G
e
n

e
ra

l 
F

u
n

d
1
1
,2

0
1
,7

6
8
 

9
,8

2
8
,7

6
7
 

-1
,3

7
3
,0

0
1

1
,3

6
9
,1

0
0

-3
,9

0
0

  
  

  
  

  
 7

,3
4
7
,4

1
7
 

H
R

A
 S

c
h

e
m

e
s

B
H

0
0
3

G
a
ra

g
e
s
 R

o
o
fs

 &
 D

o
o
rs

 R
e
p
la

c
e
m

e
n
t

6
5
,2

0
1
 

7
2
,5

3
8
 

7
,3

3
7
 

7
,3

3
7
 R

o
lli

n
g
 p

ro
g
ra

m
m

e
 o

f 
w

o
rk

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

- 

B
H

0
0
6

W
o
o
d
s
id

e
 W

a
y
 N

e
w

 B
u
ild

1
5
,9

6
6
 

1
5
,9

9
6
 

3
0
 

3
0
 N

/A
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
- 

B
H

0
0
9

F
ir
e
 S

a
fe

ty
 W

o
rk

s
 -

 c
o
m

m
u
n
a
l 
a
re

a
s

1
5
0
,0

0
0
 

1
3
4
,9

4
8
 

-1
5
,0

5
2
 

-1
5
,0

5
2
 B

e
tt

e
r 

p
ri
c
e
s
 a

c
h
ie

v
e
d
 t

h
a
n
 f

o
re

c
a
s
t

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

- 

B
H

0
1
1

C
a
p
it
a
l 
Im

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 

W
o
rk

s
1
0
1
,5

9
8
 

9
6
,9

3
5
 

-4
,6

6
4
 

-4
,6

6
4
 S

m
a
ll 

u
n
d
e
r 

s
p
e
n
d

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
2
0
0
,0

0
0
 

B
H

0
1
4

E
s
ta

te
 R

e
g
e
n
e
ra

ti
o
n

3
4
8
,2

2
4
 

4
9
6
 

-3
4
7
,7

2
8

3
4
7
,7

2
8
 

0
 L

e
g
a
l 
le

a
s
e
h
o
ld

 i
s
s
u
e
s
 h

a
v
e
 h

e
ld

 u
p
 t

h
is

 p
ro

je
c
t,

 b
u
t 

th
e
 w

o
rk

 i
s
 o

n
 

s
it
e
, 

th
e
re

fo
re

 t
h
e
 f

u
n
d
s
 a

re
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
d
 t

o
 b

e
 c

a
rr

ie
d
 f

o
rw

a
rd

 
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
- 

B
H

0
1
9

W
in

d
o
w

 R
e
s
tr

ic
to

rs
2
6
,2

8
3
 

0
 

-2
6
,2

8
3
 

-2
6
,2

8
3
 W

o
rk

 i
s
 n

o
w

 p
a
rt

 o
f 

D
e
c
e
n
t 

H
o
m

e
s
 p

ro
g
ra

m
m

e
s
 o

r 
L
e
g
a
l 
a
c
ti
o
n
; 

b
u
d
g
e
t 

n
o
 l
o
n
g
e
r 

re
q
u
ir
e
d

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

- 

B
H

0
2
0

P
e
ri
o
d
ic

a
l 
E

le
c
tr

ic
a
l 
W

o
rk

s
1
8
5
,4

8
9
 

2
4
5
,7

7
2
 

6
0
,2

8
3
 

6
0
,2

8
3

 A
d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
w

o
rk

 w
a
s
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
d
 a

s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 

th
e
 S

C
A

T
E

 p
ro

je
c
t.

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

- 

B
H

0
2
1

N
e
w

 C
o
m

m
u
n
a
l 
B

o
ile

rs
0
 

1
,7

0
5
 

1
,7

0
5
 

1
,7

0
5
 R

e
te

n
ti
o
n
 o

n
 n

e
w

 b
o
ile

rs
 f

ro
m

 t
h
e
 p

re
v
io

u
s
 y

e
a
rs

 w
o
rk

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

- 

B
H

0
2
2

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 E

n
e
rg

y
 S

a
v
in

g
s
 P

ro
g
ra

m
m

e
 (

C
E

S
P

)
2
,9

7
6
,8

2
8
 

2
,5

9
0
,2

3
4
 

-3
8
6
,5

9
4

2
5
2
,0

6
0

-1
3
4
,5

3
4

C
la

ri
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
e
x
te

rn
a
l 
fu

n
d
in

g
 c

a
u
s
e
d
 d

e
la

y
. 

S
o
m

e
 o

f 
th

e
 w

o
rk

 i
n
 

2
0
1
2
/1

3
 w

a
s
 c

o
d
e
d
 t

o
 B

H
3
2
1
, 

D
o
o
r 

a
n
d
 W

in
d
o
w

 R
e
p
la

c
m

e
n
t.

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

- 

B
H

0
2
3

E
x
te

rn
a
l 
G

a
s
 S

u
p
p
ly

 R
e
p
la

c
e
m

e
n
t

5
,5

5
0
 

2
,6

7
0
 

-2
,8

8
0
 

-2
,8

8
0
 M

e
ta

l 
th

e
ft

s
 h

a
v
e
 s

to
p
p
e
d
; 

b
u
d
g
e
t 

n
o
 l
o
n
g
e
r 

re
q
u
ir
e
d

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

- 

B
H

1
4
0

D
is

a
b
le

d
 G

ra
n
t 

- 
M

a
jo

r 
R

e
p
a
ir
s

1
,2

0
0
,0

0
0
 

1
,3

7
2
,8

3
0
 

1
7
2

,8
3
0
 

1
7
2
,8

3
0
 O

v
e
rs

p
e
n
d
 d

u
e
 t

o
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
d
 M

a
jo

r 
a
d
a
p
ta

io
n
s
 r

e
q
u

ir
e
d

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

- 

B
H

3
0
2

M
in

o
r 

A
d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
s
 f

o
r 

P
e
o
p
le

 w
it
h
 D

is
a
b
ili

ti
e
s

1
7
0
,0

0
0

 
1
6
8
,0

8
5
 

-1
,9

1
5
 

-1
,9

1
5
 M

in
o
r 

u
n
d
e
rs

p
e
n
d
 n

o
 n

e
e
d
 t

o
 c

a
rr

y
 f

o
rw

a
rd

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  
  

  
- 

B
H

3
0
4

C
o
m

p
le

te
 R

o
o
fs

6
7
5
,1

1
0
 

3
3
9
,7

9
8
 

-3
3
5
,3

1
2

3
3
5
,3

1
2
 

0
 D

e
la

y
 d

u
e
 t

o
 b

a
d
 w

e
a
th

e
r;

 w
o
rk

 i
s
 o

n
 s

it
e

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
2
1
6
,0

0
0
 

B
H

3
0
5

S
tr

u
c
tu

ra
l 
R

e
p
a
ir
s

4
0
0
,0

0
0
 

4
7
0
,0

2
7
 

7
0
,0

2
7
 

7
0
,0

2
7
 S

tr
u
c
tu

ra
l 
w

o
rk

s
 S

t 
K

a
th

e
ri
n
e
s

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

- 

B
H

3
1
7

D
e
c
e
n
t 

H
o
m

e
s
 a

n
d
 P

o
o
r 

C
o
n
d
it
io

n
 I

m
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t

1
7
,9

4
5
,0

0
0
 

1
8

,2
9
5
,2

2
5
 

3
5
0
,2

2
5
 

3
5
0
,2

2
5
 C

o
n
ti
n
u
a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
w

o
rk

 o
n
 s

it
e
/a

d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
w

o
rk

 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 d

u
ri
n
g
 p

e
ri
o
d

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

- 

B
H

3
2
1

D
o
o
r 

&
 W

in
d
o
w

 R
e
p
la

c
e
m

e
n
t

3
3
,4

9
5
 

1
6
8
,0

2
9
 

1
3
4
,5

3
4
 

1
3
4

,5
3
4
 O

v
e
rs

p
e
n
d
 r

e
la

te
s
 t

o
 C

E
S

P
 p

ro
je

c
ts

 b
e
in

g
 c

o
d
e
d
 t

o
 t

h
is

 b
u
d
g
e
t,

 

o
v
e
rs

p
e
n
d
 i
s
 o

ff
s
e
t 

b
y
 u

n
d
e
rs

p
e
n
d
 o

n
 B

H
0
2
2
.

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

- 

B
H

3
2
4

G
a
s
 A

p
p
lia

n
c
e
 R

e
p
la

c
e
m

e
n
t 

- 
P

la
n
n
e
d
 P

tn
rs

h
ip

7
0
0
,0

0
0
 

8
1
4
,3

8
4
 

1
1
4
,3

8
4
 

1
1
4
,3

8
4
 O

v
e
rs

p
e
n
d
 d

u
e
 t

o
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
d
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

b
o
ile

rs
 f

a
ili

n
g
 i
n
 t

h
e
 w

in
te

r 

p
e
ri
o
d

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

- 

B
H

3
2
5

G
a
s
 A

p
p
lia

n
c
e
 R

e
p
la

c
e
m

e
n
t 

- 
R

e
s
p
o
n
s
iv

e
5
0
0
,0

0
0
 

5
0
0
,1

9
5
 

1
9
5
 

1
9
5
 N

/A
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
- 

B
H

3
2
9

A
s
b
e
s
to

s
 R

e
m

e
d
ia

l 
A

c
ti
o
n

1
0
0
,0

0
0
 

1
2
2
,8

6
2
 

2
2
,8

6
2
 

2
2
,8

6
2
 A

d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
w

o
rk

 i
d
e
n
ti
fe

d
 d

u
ri
n
g
 p

e
ri
o
d

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

- 

B
H

3
3
8

C
a
p
it
a
l 
V

o
id

s
1
,0

8
9
,5

5
7
 

9
9
9
,4

5
7
 

-9
0
,1

0
0
 

-9
0
,1

0
0
 U

n
d
e
rs

p
e
n
d
 

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

- 

B
H

3
4
5

K
it
c
h
e
n
 r

e
p
la

c
e
m

e
n
t

2
4
6
,6

6
6
 

2
3
4
,8

2
5
 

-1
1
,8

4
1

1
1
,8

4
1
 

0
 W

o
rk

s
 i
n
 p

ro
g
re

s
s

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

- 

B
H

3
5
1

D
o
o
r 

E
n
tr

y
 U

p
d
a
te

s
1
3
5
,1

1
9
 

1
0
9
,1

7
9
 

-2
5
,9

4
0

2
5
,9

4
0
 

0
 W

o
rk

s
 i
n
 p

ro
g
re

s
s

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

- 

B
H

3
5
4

L
if
t 

R
e
fu

rb
is

h
m

e
n
t

1
4
,1

1
9
 

1
9
,7

4
4
 

5
,6

2
5
 

5
,6

2
5
 R

e
te

n
ti
o
n
 o

n
 l
if
t 

w
o
rk

s
 f

ro
m

 t
h
e
 p

re
v
io

u
s
 y

e
a
rs

 w
o
rk

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

- 

B
H

3
6
4

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
ta

l 
e
n
h
a
n
c
e
m

e
n
ts

 t
o
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 l
a
n
d

3
2
7
,5

2
1
 

2
6
3
,4

5
6
 

-6
4
,0

6
5

6
4
,0

6
5
 

0
 U

n
d
e
rs

p
e
n
d
 d

u
e
 t

o
 b

a
d
 w

e
a
th

e
r 

w
o
rk

 w
ill

 b
e
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d
 i
n
 1

3
/1

4
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
- 

B
H

3
6
5

W
a
lk

w
a
y
s

1
0
0
,0

0
0
 

0
 

-1
0
0
,0

0
0

1
0
0
,0

0
0
 

0
 W

o
rk

s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

- 

B
H

3
6
6

S
h
e
lt
e
re

d
 H

o
u
s
in

g
 I

m
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

3
5
0
,0

0
0
 

3
3
4
,9

9
8
 

-1
5
,0

0
2
 

-1
5
,0

0
2
 S

lig
h
t 

u
n
d
e
rs

p
e
n
d
 o

n
 t

h
e
 p

ilo
t 

p
ro

p
e
rt

y
 a

t 
E

le
a
n
o
re

 H
o
u
s
e
. 

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
6
5
0
,0

0
0
 

133



C
o

s
t

C
e
n

tr
e

C
a
p

it
a
l 

S
c
h

e
m

e

L
a
te

s
t

A
p

p
ro

v
e
d

B
u

d
g

e
t 

2
0
1
2
/1

3

A
c
tu

a
l

E
x
p

e
n

d
it

u
re

2
0
1
2
/1

3

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

C
a
rr

y
-F

o
rw

a
rd

R
e
q

u
e
s
te

d

O
v
e
r/

(U
n

d
e
r)

-s
p

e
n

d
R

e
a
s
o

n
s
 f

o
r 

C
a
rr

y
-f

o
rw

a
rd

 o
r 

O
v
e
r/

(U
n

d
e
rs

p
e
n

d
)

 P
re

v
io

u
s
ly

 

A
p

p
ro

v
e
d

 C
a
rr

y
-

F
o

rw
a
rd

 (
s
e
e
 

n
o

te
 b

e
lo

w
) 

B
H

3
6
7

IT
 C

a
p
it
a
l

3
0
,0

0
0
 

1
5
,4

8
6
 

-1
4
,5

1
4

1
4
,5

1
4
 

0
 C

a
rr

y
 f

o
rw

a
rd

 t
o
 h

e
lp

 s
u
p
p
o
rt

 2
0
1
3
/1

4
 p

ro
g
ra

m
m

e
. 

 T
h
is

 y
e
a
r 

w
a
s
 

u
n
d
e
rs

p
e
n
t 

d
u
e
 t

o
 h

a
v
in

g
 t

o
 r

e
s
p
o
n
d
 t

o
 G

o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t 

le
g
is

la
ti
o

n
 o

n
 

L
o
c
a
lis

m
 a

n
d
 W

e
lf
a
re

 R
e
fo

rm
 a

n
d
 m

o
s
tl
y
 i
n
c
u
rr

e
d
 R

e
v
e
n
u
e
 c

o
s
ts

 a
n
d
 

n
o
t 

c
a
p
it
a
l.
  

2
0
1
3
/1

4
 i
s
 e

x
p
e
c
te

d
 t

o
 c

o
v
e
r 

la
rg

e
 I

T
 m

o
d
u
le

s
 t

h
a
t 

w
ill

 

re
q
u
ir
e
 l
a
rg

e
 C

a
p
it
a
l 
In

v
e
s
tm

e
n
t 

to
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 d

e
liv

e
ry

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
1
7
0
,0

0
0
 

B
H

3
6
8

C
o
m

m
u
n
a
l 
A

re
a
 U

p
g
ra

d
e
s

2
0
0
,0

0
0
 

5
2
,7

9
0
 

-1
4
7
,2

1
0

1
4
7
,2

1
0
 

0
 W

o
rk

 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 o

n
 s

it
e
, 

w
ill

 b
e
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d
 1

3
/1

4
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
- 

B
H

3
7
0

R
e
p
u
rc

h
a
s
e
 o

f 
F

o
rm

e
r 

C
o
u
n
c
il 

H
o
u
s
e
s

5
0
0
,0

0
0
 

0
 

-5
0
0
,0

0
0

5
0
0
,0

0
0
 

0
 N

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

p
u
rc

h
a
s
e
s
 a

re
 i
n
 p

ro
c
e
s
s

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

- 

B
H

3
7
1

O
ff

 G
ri
d
 t

o
 R

e
n
e
w

a
b
le

 T
e
c
h
n
o
lo

g
ie

s
1
6
2
,2

5
4
 

3
,2

5
5
 

-1
5
8
,9

9
9

8
2
,9

9
9

-7
6
,0

0
0

T
h
is

 p
ro

je
c
t 

w
a
s
 d

e
la

y
e
d
 i
n
 s

ta
rt

in
g
 d

u
e
 t

o
 a

d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
s
u
rv

e
y
 w

o
rk

s
. 

W
o
rk

 i
s
 o

n
 s

it
e
 a

n
d
 t

h
is

 H
R

A
 f

u
n
d
in

g
 w

ill
 b

e
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
d
, 

a
lt
h
o
u
g
h
 g

ra
n
t 

fu
n
d
in

g
 c

o
u
ld

 n
o
t 

b
e
 c

a
rr

ie
d
 f

o
rw

a
rd

. 

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

- 

T
o

ta
l 

H
R

A
2
8
,7

5
3
,9

8
0
 

2
7
,4

4
5
,9

1
8
 

-1
,3

0
8
,0

6
2

1
,8

8
1
,6

7
0
 

5
7
3
,6

0
8
 

  
  

  
  

  
 1

,2
3
6
,0

0
0
 

G
ra

n
d

 T
o

ta
l 

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
3
9
,9

5
5
,7

4
8
 

3
7
,2

7
4
,6

8
6
 

-2
,6

8
1
,0

6
2

3
,2

5
0
,7

7
0
 

5
6
9
,7

0
8
 

  
  

  
  

  
 8

,5
8
3
,4

1
7
 

N
o
te

: 
P

re
v
io

u
s
ly

 A
p
p
ro

v
e
d
 C

a
rr

y
-F

o
rw

a
rd

s
 -

 t
h
e
s
e
 b

u
d
g
e
ts

 h
a
v
e
 a

lr
e
a
d
y
 b

e
e
n
 c

a
rr

ie
d
 f

o
rw

a
rd

 t
o
 2

0
1
3
/1

4
, 

s
u
p
p
o
rt

e
d
 b

y
 V

a
ri
a
ti
o
n
 F

o
rm

s
 s

u
b
m

it
te

d
 b

y
 b

u
d
g
e
t 

m
a
n
a
g
e
rs

. 
T

h
e
 L

a
te

s
t 
A

p
p
ro

v
e
d
 B

u
d
g
e
t 

fo
r 

2
0
1
2

/1
3

re
c
o
g
n
is

e
s
 t

h
e
s
e
 c

a
rr

y
-f

o
rw

a
rd

s
 a

s
 a

 r
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
.

S
C

A
T

E
 =

 S
a
fe

r 
C

le
a
n
e
r 

a
n
d
 T

id
ie

r 
E

s
ta

te
s

134


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	6a Recommendations of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee - Serious Acquisitive Crime, Violent Crime and Community Safety
	executive summary version 1

	6b Recommendations of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee - Infrastructure Requirements and Section 106 Agreements
	Appendix A to cabinet report

	6c Recommendations of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee - Retail Experience
	Appendix A to Cabinet Report

	7 Northampton Town Football Club and Northampton Saints Rugby Club - expansion plans.
	Appendix 1 - Land at Sixfields - July 2013
	Appendix 2 - Northampton Borough Council Agreement 2013-2014 - V2

	8 Northampton Town Centre - The Next Steps
	9 Corporate Outturn Performance Report
	2012-2013 Outturn Report - FINAL

	10 Finance and Monitoring Outturn report
	Appendix 1
	Appendices 2 and 3
	Appendix 4_pdf
	Appendix 5
	Appendices 5 6 7 8
	Appendix 9_Capital Outturn


